## NASA CONTRACTOR REPORT



NASA CR-2513

## MOLECULAR FLUORESCENCE AS A MONITOR OF MINOR STRATOSPHERIC CONSTITUENTS

K. Schofield

Prepared by DELCO ELECTRONICS GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION Santa Barbara, Calif. for Ames Research Center



NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION • WASHINGTON, D. C. • FEBRUARY 1975

1 Report No.	2 Gouernment Accession No.	2 Regiment's Catalor	3 No.
NASA CR $-2513$	2. Government Accession No.	5. Recipient's Catalou	<b>J</b> 140.
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date	
"Molecular Fluorescence as a Mon	itor of Minor Stratospheric	February 197	5 <sup>.</sup>
Constituents"	ator of minor orracospheric	6. Performing Organi	zation Code
		o, renorming organi	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organiz	ation Report No.
K. Schofield			
		10. Work Unit No.	······································
9. Performing Organization Name and Address			
Delco Electronics			
General Motors Corporation		11. Contract or Grant	No.
Santa Barbara Operations		NAS 2-7861	
Santa Barbara, California	•:	13. Type of Report an	nd Period Covered
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		Contractor Repor	t/Technical
National Aeronautics & Space Adm	inistration		Report
Washington, D.C. 20546		14. Sponsoring Agency	/ Code
15. Supplementary Notes			
	·		
	•		
16. Abstract		,	
An extensive evaluation is repor	ted assessing the potential	of molecular fluorescenc	e as a
stratospheric monitor of the con	centrations of various minor	species. Seventeen mol	ecules
have been considered and all spe	ctral regions from the vacuum	m ultraviolet through to	the
infrared and included The among			
initiated are included. The exer	cise has produced few surpris	ses; however, further co	nfirmation
has, emerged as to the feasibilit	cise has produced few surprise y of this sensitive technique	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos	nfirmation pheric OH,
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo	nfirmation pheric OH, r these
has emerged as to the feasibilit NO <sub>2</sub> , and SO'2, sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of C10 whi	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated its fluorescence spe	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with itional information before i ctrum is as yet universidat	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with itional information before i actrum is as yet uninvestigate	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed.	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence specified In addition, this report constit	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy as have been eliminated with ditional information before i actrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy as have been eliminated with ditional information before i actrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surprises y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy as have been eliminated with ditional information before i actrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mode	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with ditional information before i ctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy as have been eliminated with ditional information before i actrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with ditional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
has emerged as to the feasibilit $NO_2$ , and $SO_2$ , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>Inflated are included. The exernation of the exernation.</li> <li>In addition, this report constituincludes a compilation of all refers to the excitation.</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>Inflated are included. The exernation of the exernation o</li></ul>	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before i cctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before i cctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In a line and the exernation of all re- has emerged as to the feasibilit NO <sub>2</sub> , and SO <sub>2</sub> , sufficient to warr species. All the other molecule to have promise but requires add calculated; its fluorescence spe In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re- excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i cctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In factor and the factor of th	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In factor and the factor of th	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In addition, this report constit includes a compilation of all re excitation.	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of ClO whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
In factor of the	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mo	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of C10 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surpri- y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy s have been eliminated with litional information before i cctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple model 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of C10 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple model 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of C10 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Molecular Fluorescence Trace Gas Detection Ontical Detection of Gases</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surprisy of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy as have been eliminated with ditional information before in ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple models 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Molecular Fluorescence Trace Gas Detection Optical Detection of Gases Atmospheric Minor Constituents</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mode 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Trace Gas Detection</li> <li>Optical Detection of Gases</li> <li>Atmospheric Minor Constituents</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surpris y of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before i ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook ported studies for simple mode 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Trace Gas Detection</li> <li>Optical Detection of Gases</li> <li>Atmospheric Minor Constituents</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surprisy of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before in ectrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple models 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc	nfirmation pheric OH, r these ch appears e ce and e
<ul> <li>11. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))</li> <li>Molecular Fluorescence</li> <li>Trace Gas Detection</li> <li>Optical Detection of Gases</li> <li>Atmospheric Minor Constituents</li> <li>Stratospheric Minor Constituents</li> </ul>	cise has produced few surprisy of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with litional information before is ctrum is as yet uninvestigate utes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple model 18. Distribution	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc lecules using line sourc UNCLASSIFIED-UNLIMITED STAR Category 21. No. of Pages	72 72 72 72 72
<ul> <li>11. Intrated are included. The exernation of the excitation.</li> <li>17. Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Molecular Fluorescence Trace Gas Detection Optical Detection of Gases Atmospheric Minor Constituents Stratospheric Minor Constituents 19. Security Classif. (of this report) UNCLASSIFIED</li></ul>	cise has produced few surprisy of this sensitive technique ant its development as analy is have been eliminated with ditional information before in ectrum is as yet uninvestigate sutes somewhat of a handbook sported studies for simple mode 18. Distribution 18. Distribution 20. Security Classif. (of this page) UNCLASSIFIED	ses; however, further co e for monitoring stratos tical flight hardware fo the exception of Cl0 whi ts detection limit can b ed. for molecular fluorescen lecules using line sourc lecules using line sourc UNCLASSIFIED-UNLIMITED STAR Category 21. No. of Pages 169	72 72 72 22. Price*

\*For sale by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22151

.

. •

8 8. L. L

.

الهوار المراجعة المحكم المراجع المراجع المحكم والمحكم المراجع المحكم المحكم المحكم المحكم والمحكم والمحكم والم المحكم المحكمة المحكم المحكم

#### ABSTRACT

An extensive evaluation is reported assessing the potential of molecular fluorescence as a stratospheric monitor of the concentrations of various minor species. Seventeen molecules have been considered and all spectral regions from the vacuum ultraviolet through to the infrared are included. The exercise has produced few surprises; however, further confirmation has emerged as to the feasibility of this sensitive technique for monitoring stratospheric OH,  $NO_2$ , and  $SO_2$ , sufficient to warrant its development as analytical flight hardware for these species. All the other molecules have been eliminated with the exception of ClO which appears to have promise but requires additional information before its detection limit can be calculated; its fluorescence spectrum is as yet uninvestigated.

In addition, this report constitutes somewhat of a handbook for molecular fluorescence and includes a compilation of all reported studies for simple molecules using line source excitation. Page Intentionally Left Blank • : • • .  $(-\infty)_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ 

چر : سرو :

. . .

. . . ÷

> •

> > .. •

. •

. ·

....

e. 1

٠. .

.

١,

...

(j, j, k)· ...

. ·

. •

23

۰.

. . : • 1

> 4 ·. . . ..

> > ۰.

Ļ

. . . • *.,*i

٠.,

. . . .

### CONTENTS

•

Section	
Abstract	
Symbols and Conversion Factors	
Introduction	
Stratospheric Composition	
Line Induced Electronic Fluorescence in Gas	seous Molecules
Infrared Fluorescence Excited by Monochron	matic Spectral Line Sources
Principles Involved in Establishing the Mole	cular Fluorescence Detection Limits
Fluorescence Signals	•
The Noise Level	· · · · · ·
Optimum Conditions	
Experimental Parameters	· · · · ·
Equipment Dimensions	
Source Intensities	· · · · · ·
Line Shapes	· · · · ·
Spectral Considerations	
Scattered Radiation	· · · · · ·
Detection Systems	
Calculated Fluorescence Detection Limits fo	r Individual Species
Atomic Chlorine, Cl	
Chlorine, Cl <sub>2</sub>	
Chlorine Monoxide, ClO	
Chlorine Dioxide, ClO <sub>2</sub>	
Carbon Monoxide, CO	
Hydrogen, H <sub>2</sub>	
Formaldehyde, HCHO	
Hydrogen Chloride, HCl	
Nitrous Acid, HONO	
Nitric Acid, HONO <sub>2</sub>	
Hydrogen Sulfide, $\bar{H_2}S$	. · · ·
Ammonia, NH <sub>2</sub>	· · · · · ·

v

and the second

And the state

1997 - 1992 - 1997 - 19

1.1.1

Section	Page
Nitric Oxide, NO	89
Nitrogen Dioxide, NO <sub>2</sub>	100 - 10 - L
Nitrous Oxide, N <sub>2</sub> O	107
Hydroxyl Radical, OH	109
Sulfur Dioxide, SO <sub>2</sub>	112 Sec 1
Summary and Recommendations	118
References	IZI AND A
వారు. ఇది విజానా విజానాలు విజానాలు విజానాలు ఉంది. ఈ ఆర్. కార్ కారు కారు కూడా విజానాలు కూడా కూడా కార్ కార్ కార్ కార్	9 19 19
and the second	
and the second state of th	L
an a	н — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —
	•
factorial official and an and the state of the	t đ
and the second	· ~ ·
and a second	· •
and and a second se Name	
a tha an an an tao an tao an tao an tao an tao an tao an tao.	
the standard standard standard standards and standards and standards and standards and standards and standards	ar e Er
	, - <u>i</u>
and the second	
te de la companya de	2 2 2
${ m eff}$ is the first of ${ m H}$ is the first of ${ m H}^{2}$ is the first of ${ m H}^{2}$	· ;
en en la seconda de la companya en la seconda de la companya en la seconda de la companya en la seconda de la s	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
an de mais anglé e servició and	L
States - Level Berger and Budd	
	•
	÷
¥1	

	SYMBOLS AND CONVERSION FACTORS
25	
1 atm <sup>1</sup> =	760 torr
Ç* =	$1.01325 \times 10^5$ Nm <sup>-2</sup>
	7.3398 x $10^{21}$ / T particles cm <sup>-3</sup>
1 cal =	4.1840 J
$1 \text{ cm}^{-1} =$	2.85912 cal mole <sup>-1</sup>
a <sub>ŕ</sub>	Cross-sectional area of lens used to collimate the exciting source, $\mathrm{cm}^2$
a L	Cross-sectional area of laser beam, $cm^2$
a s	Surface area of light source, cm <sup>2</sup>
A <sub>T</sub>	Total absorption factor, sec <sup>-1</sup> ; fraction of the incident radiation that is absorbed
b	Effective refractive index of an interference filter material
<b>C</b> .	Detector photocathode radiant sensitivity, amp watt $^{-1}$
εJ	Energy of the J rotational level above the ground state
f	Fraction of the total fluorescence monitored
f ບ່ບ"	Vibrational transition probability for the ("v") band
FWHM	Full linewidth at half peak intensity
G	Photodetector gain
g <sub>e</sub>	Degeneracy of an electronic state
g <sup>J</sup> "	Electronic degeneracy associated with a particular rotational level
θ	Transmission factor for the detector filter system
i an	Photodetector anode dark current noise
ied	Photodetector cathode dark current
i <sub>s</sub>	Photodetector signal anode current

vii

Ia	Total radiant energy absorbed over full bandwidth
$I_a^{\nu}$	Intensity of the radiation absorbed at the frequency $ u$
I <sup>0</sup> continuum	Amplitude of the continuum radiant intensity, watts - sec cm $^{-2}$ ster $^{-1}$
I <sub>f</sub>	Intensity of the fluorescence, watts
I <sub>L</sub>	Intensity of laser beam, watts $cm^{-2}$ or watts
I V	Intensity of the transmitted radiation at frequency $ u$
$I_{\nu}^{0}$	Intensity of the incident radiation at frequency $ u$
I <sub>s</sub>	Radiant intensity of source, watts $cm^{-2} ster^{-1}$
<sup>I</sup> scatt	Intensity of scattered radiation
k, k d, q	Rate constants for dissociation and quenching processes
<sup>k</sup> f	Rate constant for fluorescence, $\sec^{-1}$ ; equal to the inverse of the natural radiative lifetime, $\tau$
k	Absorption coefficient, $cm^{-1} NTP^{-1}$ , base e
l	Path length of interest, cm
λ <sub>J'J''</sub>	Wavelength of the transition between J' and J'' rotational levels
$\lambda_{N}$	Wavelength of the peak transmission of an interference filter for radiation at normal incidence
λ,,',,''	Wavelength of the band origin of the (יטיט) band
λ <sub>φ</sub>	Wavelength of the peak transmission of an interference filter for radiation at an angle of incidence $oldsymbol{arphi}$
n	Total number density of absorbing or scattering species, ${ m cm}^{-3}$
n <sub>i</sub>	Total number density of species in the $i^{th}$ absorbing level, cm <sup>-3</sup>
N	Equivalent noise input of a detector, watts
$\Delta \nu_{\rm D}$	Doppler line half-width (FWHM), sec <sup>-1</sup>
$\Delta \!  u _{ m L}$	Lorentz, or pressure-broadened line half-width (FWHM), $\sec^{-1}$
$\Delta \nu_{\rm N}$	Natural line half-width (FWHM), $\sec^{-1}$
$\Delta \nu_{\rm s}$	Source line half-width (FWHM), sec <sup>-1</sup>

.

viii

$\Delta \nu_{ m voight}$	Voight line half-width (FWHM), sec <sup>-1</sup>
ppb	Parts per billion by volume
Q <sub>rot</sub>	Rotational partition function
Q <sub>vib</sub>	Vibrational partition function
σ <u>,</u>	Absorption or scattering cross-section, cm <sup>2</sup> , at frequency $ u$
σο	Absorption cross-section at a line center, $cm^2$
$\sigma_{s}$	Absorption cross-section at the source freqency, $\mathrm{cm}^2$
s <sub>J'J''</sub>	Line strength of a rotational line transition
τ	Radiative lifetime, sec
υ.	Vibrational quantum number
o an	Angle of incidence, measured from the normal
$\Omega_{\mathbf{F}}$	Detector effective solid angle, steradians
0-	Effective solid angle of source radiation, steradians

and a second second

,

ix

.

#### INTRODUCTION

The National Aeronautics and Space Administration is implementing a program to monitor the temperal and spatial concentrations of particulates and trace gas constituents in the upper troposphere and the stratosphere. Boeing 747 airliners are in use together with such supersonic aircraft as the Concorde and a U2 plane capable of attaining high altitudes but somewhat limited in its payload. Growing concern over the possible deleterious effects on the environment by SST and Space Shuttle engine exhaust emissions, particularly in the stratosphere, necessitates the collection of a reliable data base of current atmospheric concentration levels at these altitudes. Such data also is required to validate and refine more sophisticated atmospheric models to permit reliable assessments of any potentially harmful effects and hopefully illustrate methods for their minimization. The Climatic Impact Assessment Program of the US Department of Transportation has assumed this overall responsibility.

The generally low concentrations of many of the minor constituents in the stratosphere, most often measured on a parts per billion by volume (ppb) scale have made their monitoring a very demanding task. Several systems are being assessed as to their potential and for their feasibility as fully automated flight hardware. Currently, data are being obtained for NO using the chemiluminescent detector (detection limit 0.02 ppb, Ridley et al., 1974) and for  $O_3$  by uv absorption (detection limit 3 ppb). A  $C^{16}O$ ,  $C^{18}O$  fluorescent source NDIR detector (detection limit 200 ppb) is being further refined in an attempt to sufficiently increase its sensitivity to the required 30 to 120 ppb range (McClatchie, 1972). Extensive data already have been collected for NO and O<sub>3</sub>. Infrared emission and absorption techniques under high resolution conditions, the latter using the sun as a source, have been instrumented for balloon or aircraft platforms (Farmer, 1974). Such methods give an integral measure of a minor constituents concentration and require a more sophisticated analysis to provide its distributions as a function of altitude. Spectrometers and interferometers are being used in the 1 to  $8 \,\mu m$  region (Farmer et al., 1972b; Ackerman and Muller, 1972a, b), 1 to 30 µm (Murcray et al., 1972), 50 to 300 µm (Baluteau et al., 1972). and 300 to 3000 µm (Harries, 1973). As a result of the growing concern for environmental quality, various new approaches have been considered for their suitability as pollution monitors. Line center absorption appears to be one that holds promise for detection at

low concentration levels (Lowder et al., 1971; McGregor et al., 1972; Sulzmann et al., 1973). Another, using very sensitive opto-acoustic detectors reportedly can monitor CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, or spin-flip Raman infrared laser absorptions by species at the parts per billion level (Kreuzer and Patel, 1971; Kreuzer, 1971; Kreuzer et al., 1972; Dewey et al., 1973; Rosengren et al., 1974). Gelbwachs (1974) has considered the extent to which water vapor absorptions will interfere and limit the sensitivity of such detectors. A total sulfur flame chemiluminescent detector, that monitors the  $S_2$  band emission at 394 nm, has been reported to have a detection limit of 4 ppb (Krost et al., 1973). The enhanced absorptions noted if a species is inserted within a laser cavity is yet another area open to extensive exploitation (Chackerian and Weisbach, 1973; Atkinson et al., 1973). However, other techniques, ideally simple in nature and free from interferences also need to be developed. This report considers in detail, the feasibility of one such approach which is only now beginning to be exploited to its full analytical potential. Namely, molecular fluorescence, such an approach has been largely disregarded. However, solar induced fluorescence has been monitored for many years in the upper atmosphere by rockets and satellites to obtain NO and OH concentrations in the mesosphere and ionosphere (Barth, 1964, 1966a, b; \* Anderson, 1971a, b; Rusch, 1973). Its selectivity and potential freedom from spectral interferences when excited with line sources now is well recognized. The advent of the laser as an intense excitation source sufficiently monochromatic to excite only a limited number of levels has fostered renewed interest and broadened the potential of fluorescence studies. The development of more intense atomic line sources primarily for atomic absorption and atomic fluorescence measurements also has played a contributary role in providing an increased number of intense, stable, electrodeless discharge and hollow cathode lamps. The ability to populate selectively has opened up new studies of the fundamental characteristics of individual states. A narrow line rarely excites more than one electronic, vibrational and rotational state. Consequently, fluorescence spectra are greatly simplified in comparison with continuum source excitation and most overlapping features are removed. This eliminates possible ambiguities in the spectral interpretations. Molecular constants, energy transfer processes, band intensity ratios, Franck-Condon factors, electric dipole and magnetic moments and various fine and hyperfine structure splittings, together with lifetime measurements and collisional quenching parameters are all being studied with renewed interest. Molecular level crossing and optical, radio, and microwave double-resonance experiments incorporating fluorescence techniques have introduced a precision into molecular spectroscopy approaching that of microwave and electron spin resonance studies.

Until recently, gas-phase fluorescence has been a minor area of molecular spectroscopy, whereas there has always been a vast accumulation of work with condensed phased systems. In fact, induced laser fluorescence from oil pollution on water using a He. Cd laser is being successfully used as an airborne monitor ("Nightime Detection of Pollutants," 1973). From the analytical point of view, the principal advantage of fluorescence techniques relates to the linear proportionality between the signal intensity and the species concentration. Accuracy depends solely upon how well the magnitude of the signal can be measured relative to the detector noise. In contrast, absorption methods rely on being able to accurately monitor the difference between two transmitted signals. At low concentrations this entails measuring a small difference between two large values and consequently is more demanding. Fluorescence can be a particularly sensitive analytical tool as illustrated by its ability to measure the vapor pressure of sodium at room temperature (Fairbank et al., 1973). This corresponds to about  $4 \times 10^5$  atoms cm<sup>-3</sup> and, since with the cw tunable dve laser system used, the signal to noise (S/N) ratio at this level was more than  $10^3$  it is expected that concentrations 3-4 orders of magnitude smaller could be monitored. The, ... detection of only several atoms in an exciting beam appears not an unreasonable expectation for the near future with certain species. Similarly, an enterprising group at the Ford Scientific Research Laboratories (Wang, 1974; Wang and Davis, 1974) has reported successfully monitoring an atmospheric trace constituent using molecular fluorescence. Utilizing a tunable laser source, OH concentrations have been measured at ground level in ambient air to a detection limit of about  $5 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, corresponding to 0.2 parts per trillion. Concentrations were found to range to a high value of  $1.5 \times 10^8$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in the early afternoon and drop below the detection limit if it was raining, overcast, or nighttime. That such a difficult measurement has been achieved at the present time lends tremendous impetus to the present quest of exploiting molecular fluorescence as a sensitive analytical technique for a wide range of simple molecular species. · · · · · · ·

> المعادلة المحالية المعالية من المحالية والمحالية والمحالية المحالية المحا محالية المحالية المحال محالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالي المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالي

3

.

۰.

#### STRATOSPHERIC COMPOSITION

The lower boundary of the stratosphere is defined by the temperature minimum that exists in the atmosphere. This altitude region, the so-called tropopause, is latitude dependent being at about 10 km at the poles and 15-16 km in the tropics. Above it and up to about 50 km is the stratosphere, a region owing its existence to its ozone content which absorbs most of the incoming ultraviolet solar radiation. This report will place emphasis on the 10 to 30 km region (33,000-98,000 ft). Although the major atmospheric constituents are well mixed up to these altitudes and even higher, as illustrated by the constancy of the mean atmospheric molecular weight, the minor components are affected by aeronomic reactions which result in their concentrations differing quite markedly through this region.

In these assessments of various fluorescing systems, a knowledge of the approximate composition of stratospheric air samples is required to calculate the extent of potential interferences or other background contributions to the fluorescent signal. Obviously, the extent of analytical sophistication is governed by the ultimate concentration levels to be measured. Sophistication beyond that necessary to accomplish the task is unnecessary. Consequently, a current list of stratospheric concentrations has been compiled in Table I to illustrate the required performance levels of suitable analyzers. The approximate range of values has been given for the 10 to 30 km region expressed both as a volume mixing ratio and as a molecular concentration. Some identification of the source of the data has also been listed. Atmospheric temperatures and number densities have been taken from Kantor and Cole (1973), (10 km, 223.1 K, 8.6 x  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>; 30 km, 226.6K, 3.7 x  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>). The data for  $H_2O$ ,  $O_3$ , and  $CH_4$  are in reasonably good shape. The water content of the stratosphere has been extensively studied during the past ten years. Mastenbrook (1974) has most recently reviewed the situation and quotes a median value of about 4 ppm, values falling in the range 1.6 to 6.4 ppm. Values for NO concentrations now are becoming much better established; Schiff (1974) has reviewed stratospheric measurements for NO, NO<sub>2</sub> and HNO<sub>2</sub>. Although several balloon and plane measurements have provided some data for such species as  $H_2$ ,  $N_2O$ , CO,  $HNO_3$ , and  $NO_2$ , these are very limited in most cases and more measurements are required to better establish their abundances and variabilities. The situation for  $NH_3$ ,  $SO_2$ ,  $H_2S$ , HCHO, O, HNO<sub>2</sub>, and OH is such that hardly any experimental data exist at all for their stratospheric concentrations.

	Major	Stable Constituents (f	rom Valley, 19	965)
	Species	Volume Mixing R (ppm)	atio	Concentration (molecule cm <sup>-3</sup> )
`	No	780,840		$(0.3-6.7) \times 10^{18}$
	2 0	209.480	· · · · · ·	$(0, 8-18) \times 10^{17}$
	Ar	9,340	·	$(0.3-8.0) \times 10^{16}$
Sector Sector	CO	320		$(0, 1-2, 7) \times 10^{15}$
	Ne.	18		$(0.7-16) \times 10^{13}$
The second se	He	5	1 1 1	$(0.2-4.5) \times 10^{13}$
and a specification of	Kr	1	N	$(0.4-9.8) \times 10^{12}$
All and straight	Xe	0.09		$(0.3-7.4) \times 10^{11}$
	•••••••	Minor Constitu	ents	
ar state that is a	. Ratio	Concentration	Data	
Species	(ppb)	(molecule cm <sup>-0</sup> )	Source	Reference
H <sub>2</sub> O	2000-6000	(0.1-5.0) x 10 <sup>13</sup>	Balloon,	McKinnon and Morewood,
	s and the second se	y the state of the	aircran	Mastenbrook, 1971, 1974;
		the second second	sî (t. t.	harnes and purrougns, 1971; Sissenwine et al., 1972; Coldmon et al. 1973b
0 <sub>3</sub>	150-4000	(1-3) x 10 <sup>12</sup>	Extensively	Banks and Kockarts, 1973.
CH.	900-1400	(0.3-12.0) x 10 <sup>12</sup>	Balloon,	Ackerman and Muller, 1972a;
	11 1 e		aircraft	Lowe and McKinnon, 1972; Ehhalt and Heidt, 1973a, b; Cummings & Lowe, 1973.
H <sub>2</sub>	500-750	(0.3-4.3) x 10 <sup>12</sup>	Balloon	Ehhalt and Heidt, 1973a.
N <sub>o</sub> O	<10-270	(<0.04-23.0) x10 <sup>11</sup>	Balloon:	Schutz et al., 1970:
2			aircraft	Harries, 1973; Goldman et al., 1973a; Ebhait. 1974.
2011 - 11 - 11 - 12 <b>CO</b>	30-120	(0.01-1.0) x 10 <sup>12</sup>	Balloon, air- craft ≤ 15 km	Seiler and Warneck, 1972; Goldman et al., 1973c.
HNO3	1-10	(0.4-2.5) x 10 <sup>10</sup>	Balloon,	Williams et al., 1972; Harries, 1973;
and the second second		1. 1. A.	antitan	Murcray et al., 1973.
NH <sub>3</sub>	< 10	<(0.4-8.0) x 10 <sup>10</sup>	Ground level	Junge, 1963;
n and the structure NO	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(1 3-43 0) = 10 <sup>9</sup>	analyses.	Pate et al., 1970.
18.09 - 1808 <sup>2</sup> 1		(100 100 0) × 10	aircraft	Ackerman et al., 1974; Brewer et al., 1973.
5 80 <sub>2</sub>	< 5	<(0.2-4) x 10 <sup>10</sup>	Aircraft, ground level	Kellogg et al., 1972; Harries, 1973.
NO	0.02-2.3	(1.7-8.5)x10 <sup>8</sup>	Balloon,	Ackerman et al., 1973,
an VE THE MANY POP	i un el xa		aircraft	1974; Tothet al., 1973; Pedler et al. 1973 1974
H <sub>2</sub> S	<1	<(0.4-8.0)x10 <sup>9</sup>	Ground level	Lodge and Pate, 1966; Kellogg et al., 1972.
нсно нсно	≤ 1-2	≤ 2 x 10 <sup>10</sup>	Rain analy-	Wofsy et al., 1972;
- 12 <b>-3</b> 34-1		ಪ್ರತಿಯ ನಿ	ses, armo- spheric models,	Levy, 1973a, 0; Whitten et al., 1973; Farmer, 1974.
5. 5.52.03.6.57	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	9	aircraft	
HCl	<0.18	<1.5 x 10 <sup>-</sup>	Aircraft	Farmer, 1974.
0 8.1.1.1	<b>€ 0.1</b>	₹ 4 X-10"	Atmospheric models	Cruzen, 1971.
HNO <sub>2</sub>	~0.01	~ 2 x 10 <sup>8</sup>	Tropospheric	Levy, 1972.
OH	< 0.01	(1-5) x 10 <sup>6</sup>	Atmospheric	Leovy. 1969:
Ling the Contract of the Cont	Server and a server		Models	McConnell et al., 1971.

#### Table I. Range of Concentrations in the Stratosphere (10 to 30 km)

•••

~

Recently, Breeding et al. (1973) have monitored the levels of  $NH_3$ ,  $NO_2$ ,  $SO_2$ ,  $H_2S$ , and total aldehydes (RCHO) at ground level in clean rural air. They obtained background levels for  $NH_3$  in the range of 2-6 ppb, for  $NO_2$  1-3 ppb,  $SO_2$  1-2 ppb,  $H_2S < 0.2$  ppb, and RCHO 1-2 ppb. Stratospheric concentrations are expected to be below these mixing ratios.

This report considers the feasibility of using molecular fluorescence techniques aboard aircraft flying through the stratosphere. Detection limits have been calculated for various possible systems for most of these minor species. Owing to an interest in the chlorinebased solid fuel (ammonium perchlorate) for the Space Shuttle engines, limits have also been calculated for such species as Cl, Cl<sub>2</sub>, HCl, ClO, ClO<sub>2</sub>, which may be exhausted in large quantities in the upper atmosphere.

÷ •,

 $\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} + \frac{$ 

دیکھ میں بعد میں کی جانب کی ایک میں جو رہ یہ کامی میں طلاق میں ہیں ہے۔ 1942 میں میں کاریک کی کار میں میں میں کاریک ہے۔ 1943 میں کاریک میں جانب میں میں کی کو کاریک ہے۔ ایک کی کاریک کی کاریک ہے۔

هي المكتر معطولي المكتر بيني المحصولة المراجع والمحصولة المراجع المحصول المحصول المحصول المكتر المحصول المكتر ا في المحصول المحصول في الاقتراف المحصول في معنون المحصول المحصول المحصول المحصول المحصول المحصول المحصول المحصول وهذه المحصول في الاقتراف المحصول المحصو

#### LINE INDUCED ELECTRONIC FLUORESCENCE IN GASEOUS MOLECULES

а •. к

. .

Fluorescence studies of molecules have long been a useful and practical tool in elucidating molecular structure and the nature of radiative processes. However, excitation with monochromatic light sources, particularly laser lines, has renewed interest in the technique since this provides a convenient method for selectively producing nonequilibrium concentrations in specific electronic, vibrational and rotational states. Studies of the fundamental processes that lead to the re-establishment of equilibrium, such as rates of relaxation, energy transfer, and radiative lifetimes, provide a basic wealth of general information. At reduced pressures, in the absence of collisions, molecules emit a strikingly simple fluorescence spectrum in many cases, which consists solely of a line progression in v" and serves well to also accurately characterize the ground electronic state.

Line excitation of molecular fluorescence has its special difficulties and rewards. Owing to the specific selectivity of the pumping process, suitable coincidences between atomic and molecular lines are required. Generally, a degree of mismatch in the uv-visible region must be less than about  $0.4 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  if an adequate overlap between the lines is to occur, and even more exact in the infrared where linewidths at reduced pressures can be particularly narrow. This constitutes a major drawback to the general applicability of the technique since such coincidences are quite rare. By using tunable line sources or species with a quasi-continuum absorption spectrum, the problem is alleviated to a large extent. The magnitude of the fluorescence intensity is a consequence of a delicate balance between rates of absorption, radiation and quenching. For a fluorescent system to be highly sensitive, it is necessary to have an intense source located in a spectral region where the absorption given is large, and with an excited state lifetime short so that collisional quenching will not reduce the fluorescence efficiency.

Fluorescence can be excited in a variety of ways. These include illumination with a resonance lamp or laser line, with continuum light, or radiation from radio-frequency or microwave discharges. The term 'fluorescence' is also applied to photo-dissociation processes that yield an excited fragment or to processes involving photo-sensitization with metastable excited atoms. Fluorescence has also been loosely applied to systems where excited states

produced in the initial absorption undergo reactions that lead to excited molecular species which ultimately radiate. Such an example is that of mercury vapor where excitation by means of the 253.7 nm Hg line results in a 335 nm band of Hg<sub>2</sub>. This is explained by the following sequence of reactions (Phaneuf et al., 1973),

$Hg + h\nu (253.7 \text{ nm}) \rightarrow Hg (^{3}P_{1})$	1999年,1991年至1999年(1991年)。 1991年-
$Hg({}^{3}P_{1}) + N_{2} \rightarrow Hg({}^{3}P_{0}) + N_{2}$ $Hg({}^{3}P_{1}) + Hg + N \rightarrow Hg({}^{3}P_{1}) + N$	an product de la desarra a la desarra de la desarra de Esta de la desarra de la de
$\operatorname{Hg}({}^{3}1_{u}) \rightarrow \operatorname{Hg} + \operatorname{Hg} + \mathrm{h}\nu$	en en en en en santan en el fa

Since this exercise is to establish the feasibility of molecular fluorescence as a stratospheric monitor of species at the ppb concentration level, as free from spectral interferences as possible, only fluorescence directly excited by line sources or specific band systems such as CO, NO, or OH will be considered. Systems that require energy exchange processes are not feasible at such low concentrations.

In order to illustrate the extent of gas-phase fluorescence studies induced by line sources, a fairly complete survey of the literature has been made. All diatomic and triatomic molecular species have been included. Electronic fluorescence for larger polyatomic species (mainly organic in nature) is not of interest in this current work, but has been reviewed elsewhere by Parmenter (1972). Fluorescence studies excited by uv-visible line sources are listed according to the molecular species, in alphabetical order, in Table II. This illustrates, immediately, the extensive number of fundamental studies that have been reported, the majority within the last few years. The Table generally does not include investigations utilizing continuum light sources, but an exception has been made in one or two cases where quite narrow bandwidths were isolated. Likewise, emission band sources such as the NO ( $A^2\Sigma^+$ ,  $X^2\Pi$ ), CO (4th positive) or OH ( $A^2\Sigma^+ \rightarrow X^2\Pi$ ) are not included. Such alternative exciting sources are discussed in detail later in the appropriate section dealing with these molecules. The spectral range of the fluorescence bands monitored is noted, occasionally with some indication of their intensity. The absorbing transitions are listed to indicate the states involved. These are quite often the original assignments. Some have been corrected in view of later work but no extensive effort has been made to check their current accuracy. Whereas some of them are quite well characterized, many are still uncertain and further analysis of the particular states involved is necessary. In the original

analyses, transitions have often been identified either by a direct comparison under high resolution of the exciting line with the absorption spectra to note the overlapping feature or by using Franck-Condon factors and established molecular constants. The magnitude of the observed P, R branch doublet splittings observed in u" fluorescence progressions, in many cases can identify the particular J quantum numbers involved. From Table II it is possible, by noting the ground state vibrational level involved, to assess the extent of the absorption process as a function of temperature.

The ultimate in state selection in the uv-visible region is achieved using lasers oscillating in a single mode. The spectral resolution becomes so fine that individual isotopic components can be excited (Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973a). For a fluorescence analyzer, such resolution is not required and the narrowness of the exciting line is only important in the context of maximizing the overlap with an absorption feature or minimizing any overlap with a possible interfering absorption line.

(Page 1 of 11)

...

Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Εxc λ <sub>air</sub> ,	Line <u>vac</u> , nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum State in Absorption; u	es Involved ນຸບ", J', J"	( i Reference
AIO	465.789 487.986	(0.015W) Ar <sup>+</sup> (1W) laser	$\begin{array}{rrr} 465-564 & (1,0 \rightarrow 1,4) \\ 485-564 & (0,0 \rightarrow 0,3;1,1 \rightarrow 1,4) \end{array}$	8 5	$B^{2}\Sigma^{+} - \chi^{2}\Sigma^{+}$ (0, 0; 48, 49)	(1, 0; 17, 18) (1, 1; 57, 56)	Johnson et al., 1972b.
·	447.0 465.0 484.0	Pulsed, tunable N <sub>2</sub> dye laser		8 8 8		(2,0) (1,0) (0,0)	• •
	514.532	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	•. •	w	$B^{2}\Sigma^{+} X^{2}\Sigma^{+}$		Johnson, 1971.
BaBr	520.831	(0.03W) Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	520-540 (0,0→0,1)	8	$c^2 \pi - x^2 \Sigma^+$	(0,0)	Capelle et al., 1973
÷	520.8	Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	520-540 (0,0→0,1)	8		(0, 0)	
	514.532	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	504-525 (11,8→11,12)			.(11,10)	the second second
BaCl	520.831	(0.03W) Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	513-532 (0,0→ 0,1)		$c^2\Pi \leftarrow x^2\Sigma^+$	(0,1)	Ca <b>p</b> elle et al., 1973
	524.3	Pulsed, tunable N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	513-532 (0,0→0,1)			(0,1)	
BaF	487.986 514.532	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser. (1W)	fluorescence reported		not identified	• .	Capelle et al., 1973.
BaO	450-650	Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	450-650 (U)	8	$A^{1}\Sigma \vdash X^{1}\Sigma$	(v'=0 tov '=17)	Schultz et al., 1972
	454-598	(1-4 kW peak) Pulsed tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	(U)		$A^{1}\Sigma \vdash X^{1}\Sigma$	$(\upsilon'=0 \text{ to } \upsilon'=11)$	Johnson, 1972
	457.935	(0.12W) Ar <sup>+</sup>	460 - (12, v '')	vw	Α <sup>1</sup> Σ- Χ <sup>1</sup> Σ	(12,1;4 or5,	Sakurai et al., 1970; Johnson 1971
	472.686	(0.09W) laser	473→ (12, ບ'')	<b>.</b> w	$(12, 2; 21 \pm 1)$	or $14 \pm 1$ , $20 \pm 1$	Jourson, 1911
	476.486 487.986 496.507 501.716 514.532	(0.22W) (1W) (0.5W) (0.22W) (1W)	$\begin{array}{c} 476 \rightarrow (9, \upsilon'') \\ 405 - 955 & (8, 0 \rightarrow 8, 16) \\ 496 - 1060 & (7, 0 \rightarrow 7, 17) \\ 496 - 1060 & (7, 0 \rightarrow 7, 17) \\ 496 - 1060 & (7, 0 \rightarrow 7, 17) \end{array}$	w 8.8 w m	(9, 0; 38, 37) (8, 0; 49, 48) (7, 0; 3, 2) ( (7, 0; 52 = 1) (7, 1; 19, 20)	) ) 7,0;7,6) 1,53±1) )	. ·
	496.507	(0.2W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	513.5 (7,1)	8	$A^{1}\Sigma - X^{1}\Sigma$	(7,0;2,1)	Field et al., 1972a,b
	568.188	(0.065) Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	560-1000 $(2, 0 \rightarrow 2, 12)$	8	$A^{1}\Sigma \vdash X^{1}\Sigma$	(2,0;41,40) (2,0;52,53)	Johnson, 1971
BeO	337.1	(100-200kWpeak) N <sub>2</sub> pulsed laser	(R)	w		•	Capelle et al., 1972
	442.7 471.0 473.3	(2kW peak) Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	(R) > 470 (R)	vw s vw	<sup>1</sup> Σ⊢ x <sup>1</sup> Σ	(1, 0) (0, 0) (1, 1)	· . *
BiBr	496.507	(0.5W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	481.5-528 (2,0→2,9)		A ← X	(2,3)	Capelle et al., 1973
BiCl	472.686 487.986 514.532	(0.1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> (1W) laser (1W)	$\begin{array}{c} 466-516 \ (0,0 \rightarrow 0,8) \\ 446-556 \ (3,0 \rightarrow 3,15) \\ 451-545 \ (2,0 \rightarrow 2,13) \end{array}$		A0 <sup>+</sup> - X0 <sup>+</sup>	(0,2) (3,6) (2,9)	Capelle et al., 1973
Γr <sub>2</sub>	513.1522.1522.5532.5541.1549.6561.5573.8587.4	(1-4kW peak) Pulsed, tunable N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	540-650 (U) 540-650 (U) 570-650 (U) 555 and 590-650 (U) 570-650 (U) 590-650 (U) 590-650 (U) 610-650 (U)		в <sup>3</sup> П <sub>о</sub> <sup>+</sup> - х <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> <sub>g</sub>	$\begin{array}{l} (\upsilon'=31*\ or\sim40)\\ (\upsilon'=27*\ or\sim31)\\ (\upsilon'=27*\ or\sim31)\\ (\upsilon'=23*,27\ or30)\\ (\upsilon'=20*,23\ or27)\\ (\upsilon'=17*,20\ or23)\\ (\upsilon'=14*,17\ or19)\\ (\upsilon'=1*,13\ or16)\\ (\upsilon'=9*,11\ or13) \end{array}$	Capelle et al., 1971

.

÷

:

.

۰.

۰.

-----

Main excitation s strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved hw handwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp k(i kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

~

(Page 2 of 11)

# (Page 2 of Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Exc -λ <sub>air</sub> ,	iting Line $\frac{\lambda_{vac}}{nm}$	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum States in Absorption; U'	s involved	Reference
Br <sub>2</sub> (Cont)	597.0 602.5 614.0 626.0		610-650 (U) 610-650 (U) 645-650 (U) 645-650 (U)		(ບ ໃນ (ນ (ນ	y'=6,8 or 10*) y =5*,7 or 9) y =3*,6 or 7) y =1*,3 or 5)	* most probably excited
	576,960 579,066	Hg arc lamp	fluorescence reported			;	Plumley, 1933, 1934
	632.816	He-Ne laser	fluorescence reported		$B^{3}\Pi_{o_{u^{+}}} X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$		Menke (priv. comm.); Kiefer and Schrotter, 1970
	694.3	(0.2W) Ruby laser	694-759 (4 bands R)	w	$B^{3}\Pi_{o_{u^{+}}} \times {}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+} (u)$	)'≥5)	Kiefer and Schrotter, 1970
79,79 <sub>Br2</sub>	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (single mode)	522.6-523.7 (R)		$B^{3}\Pi_{0_{u}} + X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}(J_{u})$ ±2; J'=43 ± 2,	''≈33 ±2, J''=32 J'' 42 ± 2	Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973a :
	546.073	Hg arc lamp	556-760 (R)		$B^{3}\Pi_{o_{u^{+}}} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$ (2)	1,0;73,74)	Plumley, 1933, 1934
79,81 <sub>Br2</sub>	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (single mode)	522.6-523.7 (R)	÷ .•	$B^{3}\Pi_{o_{u}} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	$(=20_{\pm}2,$ $(=19\pm2)$	Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973a
•	546.073	Hg arc lamp	556-760 (R)		(19,0;9,8) (25 21,0; 77,76)	,1;63,64)	Plumley, 1933, 1934
<sup>81,81</sup> Br,	514.532	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	515-685 (39,1 →39,16)	8	$B^{3}\Pi_{0_{u^{+}}} \sim X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	י~ 39,ט'≈0, ∎15)	Holzer et al., 1970a,b
,	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (single mode)	522.6-523.7 (R)		(J'≈15± 2, J'' J'≈38+ 2, J'	= 16±2; '≈39±2)	Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973a
	546.073	Hg arc lamp	556-760 (R)		(23,1;18,17)	•	Plumley, 1933,1934
c2	501.716 514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (1.5W)	455-560 (R) 470-575 (R)	s s	$A^{3}\Pi_{g} \sim X^{3}\Pi_{u}$ (v	b' = 0, 1 b' = 0, 1	Vear et al., 1972
CD20	308.2-353.	5 (100kW peak) Pulsed, tunable laser (ruby + dye laser summed)	420 (20 nm bw) (U) .440 (20 nm bw) (U) 320-560 (U)	•	$\tilde{A}^{1}A_{2} \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$	nany levels opulated)	Yeung and Moore, 1973
	313.9	(200 kW peak) Pulsed laser (ruby +573nm dye laser summed)	422 (2 nm bw) (U)	·	$\tilde{A}^{1}A_{2}\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (2)	$2_0^3 4_0^1$ band)	Yeung and Moore, 1971
	347.2	(6:MW peak power) Doubled ruby laser	422 (2 nm bw) (U) 350-500 (R)		$\widetilde{A}^{1}A_{2} \widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (4	0 band)	Yeung and Moore, 1971, 1973
СН	425.0-435.	0 Pulsed, tunable N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	425-435 (0,0)	w	<sup>~</sup> A <sup>2</sup> ∆← x <sup>2</sup> Π (0	), 0)	Barnes et al., 1973
сң <sub>2</sub> о	326.2 329.6 353.2	(100 kW peak) Pulsed, tunable laser (ruby + dye laser summed)	420 (20 nm bw) (U) 440 (20 nm bw) (U) 420 (20 nm bw) (U)	- ( ) - ( )	$\mathbf{\tilde{A}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{2}^{-}\mathbf{\tilde{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{1}$ (2 (2	2043  band) 2043  band) 10  band)	Yeung and Moore, 1973
i	337.1	(100-200 kW peak) N <sub>2</sub> pulsed laser	420-500 (U)	8.	$\tilde{A}^{1}A_{2}\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (4)	$10^{2} 6^{1}_{0}$ band)	Sakurai et al., 1971b
	337.1	(200 kW.peak) N <sub>2</sub> pulsed laser	350-700 (R) and (U)	••• • • •	$x^{1}A_{2} - x^{1}A_{1}$ (4)	$1_0^2 6_0^1$ band)	Aoki et al., 1973
CHDO	307.1-352.	8 (100 kW peak) Pulsed, tunable laser (ruby + dye laser summed)	420 (20 nm bw) (U) 440 (20 nm bw) (U) 350–520 (U)		<b>λ<sup>1</sup>A<sub>2</sub>-λ<sup>1</sup>A<sub>1</sub></b> (γ	various levels opulated)	Yeung and Moore, 1973
	337.1	(200 kW peak) N <sub>2</sub> pulsed laser	350-700 (R) and (U)		$\tilde{A}^{1}A_{2} - \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (2)	$2_0^{14_0,4_0^{14_0^{6}}}$ levels)	Aoki et al., 1973

.

Main excitation s strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved hw handwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp k(G kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

51 A.

بر بر د

(Page 3 of 11)

Table II.	Line-Induced	Electronic	Fluorescence	of M	olecules	in	the (	Gaseous	Phase	
-----------	--------------	------------	--------------	------	----------	----	-------	---------	-------	--

Species	Exc λ <sub>air</sub>	lting Line λ <sub>vac</sub> , nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum Stat in Absorption; u	es Involved	Reference
<sup>35</sup> C1 <sub>2</sub>	487.986	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	500-550 (22,1→ 22,4)	₩.	$A \overset{3}{\Pi}_{o_{u^{+}}} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	(v'=22,v''=0; J=38 ± 1)	Holzer et al., 1970a,b
ClO <sub>2</sub>	457.935 465.789 472.686	(0. 032W) Ar <sup>+</sup> (0. 025W) laser (0. 08W)	exciting line-700 (R)	8 8 8	A <sup>2</sup> A <sub>2</sub> -X <sup>2</sup> B <sub>1</sub>	(1, 2, 0 - 0, 1, 0) (0, 5, 0 - 1, 0, 0) (0, 2, 0 - 0, 1, 0)	Sakurai et al., 1971c; Curl et al., 1973
	476.486 487.986	(0.36W) (0.8W)	, m, m, r	w w m		$(0, 4, 0 \leftarrow 1, 0, 0) (0, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0) (0, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 2, 0) (0, 2, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 1)$	* $(v_1', v_2', v_3' - v_1')$
	496.507 501.716	(0.3W) (0.1W)	· vi Vi	w W		(0, 0, 0 - 0, 2, 0) (0, 0, 0 - 0, 0, 1)	$(2, 0_3)$
•	476.486	(0.8W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser, single and multi- mode	480-780 (R) (17 bands)	m	rotational stat	$(0, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0; ]$ $(0, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0; ]$ $(0, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0; ]$ (0, 0, 0, 0, 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0; 0;	Curl et al., 1973
CN	386.5-388.	5 Pulsed dye laser	421.6 (10 nm bw) (U)	8	$B^2\Sigma^+ \leftarrow X^2\Sigma^+$	(0, 0)	Jackson, 1973
со	130.603	Oxygen atom line	228-280 (9,17→ 9,22)	•	$A^1\Pi - X^1\Sigma^+$	(9,0;22,22)	Tilford et al., 1972
$\operatorname{co}_2^+$	<u>58.433</u>	He microwave discharge	288-458 (R)		$A^2\Pi_u, B^2\Sigma_u^+$ (CO	$(\mathcal{O}_2) \leftarrow X^1 \Sigma_g^+ (\mathcal{O}_2)^{-1}$	Wauchop and Broida, 1971
CS	257.610	(0.1-0.5A) Mn <sup>+</sup> hollow cathode lamp	< 800 (U)		$A^{1}\Pi \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$	(0, 0;8, 7)	Silvers et al., 1970; Silvers and Chiu, 1972
	244.555	$0^+$ microwave discharge	< 650 (U)	۰.		(2,0;7,7)	
	244.58	CO <sup>+</sup> microwave discharge				(2,0)	
	244.618 <sub>2</sub>	(0.1A) Pd <sup>+</sup> hollow cathode lamp				(2,0;6,7)	
•.	244.618 <sub>8</sub> 257.726	(0.1A) Pb hollow cathode lamp		;	· .	(2,0;6,7) (0.0;12,12)	
	257.610	(0.03A) Mn <sup>+</sup> hollow cathode lamp				(0, 0;8, 7)	·.
cs <sub>2</sub>	280-350	(5 nm bandwidth) Xe lamp	350-612.5 (R) 430-650 (U)		Unassigned	· .	Lambert and Kimbell, 1973
	337.1	(100 kW peak) N <sub>2</sub> pulsed laser	367.5-555 (U) 396,440,463,480,503,537, 570,614 (15 nm bw) (U)		Unassigned	· ·	Brus, 1971
Cs <sub>2</sub>	457.935 472.686 476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	· (U)		D or higher st	ates	Baumgartner et al., 1970
	487 <b>.</b> 986	(0.15W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	470-540,595-615,703-724		B or C States		McClintock and
	632,816	He-Ne laser	703-724 (R)				Daming, 2000
CuBr	487.986	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	488-519.5 (0,0→0,4)		$A \leftarrow x^1 \Sigma^+$	(0,0)	Capelle et al., 1973
CuCl	476.486	(0.25W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	, 476.5-506 (2,1→ 2,4)	r	$c^1 \Sigma^+ - x^1 \Sigma^+$	(2,1)	Capelle et al., 1973
D <sub>2</sub>	106.666	Ar microwave discharge	159-163 (4,14-4,15) (R) and (U	J). N. 1	$B^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	(4,0;6,5)	Akins et al., 1970; Becker and Fink, 1971 Fink et al., 1969,1972
н <sub>2</sub>	<u>106.66</u> 6	Ar microwave discharge (pressure broadened)	110-164 (3,1 -3,11) (R) and (U)	) w	$B^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+}-X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	(3,0;1,2)	Akins et al., 1970; Becker and Fink, 1971

(U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

ار می ایند. مراجع بر ایند می بادید می ایند می ایند می ایند. ایند ایند می بادید ایند ایند می بادید می ایند می ایند می ایند ایند ایند می می می می بادید می ایند می می می ایند می ایند. ایند ایند می می می می بادید می بادید می ایند می ایند می •

.

- ....

184

,

#### E. A. C.

~

#### ms te (-, -)•

#### (Page 4 of 11)

#### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	λ air'	$\frac{\lambda_{\text{vac}}}{\lambda_{\text{vac}}}$ nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm	Quantum States Involved in Absorption; u', u'', J', J''	Reference
HD 	<u>104.822</u>	Ar microwave discharge	130-166 (5,6→5,15) (R) and (U) s 110-163 (6,1→6,15) (R) and (U) s 130-166 (5,6→5,15) (R) and (U) w 110-165 (3,1→3,13) (R) and (U) s 151-163 (4,10→4,13) (R) and (U) w	$B^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+} \times X^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+} (5,0;2,3)$ H P. lamp (6,0;5,6) L P. lamp (5,0;5,4) press. broad. lamp (3,0;2,1) (4,0;4,5) H P. lamp	Akins et al., 1970; Becker and Fink 1971; Pink et al.,1969,1972
He <sub>2</sub>	465.0	(1.5 MW peak) Pulsed, tunable dye laser	470.5 (J'=8, J''=9) (R)	$e^{3}\Pi_{g} - a^{3}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$ (J'=8, J'=7)	Collins and Johnson, 1972
I <sub>2</sub>	499.6-640	(1-5 kW peak) Pulsed, tunable, N, dye laser (95 wavelefigths)	line - 650 (U)	$B^{3}\Pi_{0_{u}} + X^{1}\Sigma_{0_{g}} (0 - 5 \text{ to} - 70)$	Capelle and Broida, 1973
₹°¢	505-595.8	(1-5 kW peak)Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser (17 wavelefigths)	line - 650 (U)	(v=11-16, 19, 22, 23, 26, 38, 45, 55)	Capelle and Broida, 1972
1041 - 14 5 - 1040	501.716 514.532	(0.05W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (1W)	507-650 (R) 520-650 (R)	(64,0;40,39) (62,0;27,26) (43,0;12,13) (43,0;16,15)	Holzer et al., 1970a; Yee and Miller, 1972
151	501.716	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(R) 520-583 (43, 1→43, 11)	(?,0;27,26) (43,0;12,13) (43,0;16,15)	Menke, 1970; Halldors- son and Menke, 1970
	501.716	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	507-629 (62,1 - 62,20)	(62,0;27,26)	Lobet et al., 1971; Yee and Miller, 1972
	501.716 514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(R) (R)	(62,0;27,26) (43,0;12,13) (43,0;16,15)	Levenson and Schawlow, 1972
	508.582	Cd Osram lamp	(U)	(50,0;41,40) (49,0;8,9)	Chutjian et al., 1967; Yee and Miller, 1972
	508.582	Cd discharge lamp	510-650 (R)	(50,0;41,40) (49,0;8,9)	Steinfeld and Schweid, 1970;Yee and Miller, 1972
	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	500-1300 (U)	(43,0;12,13) (43,0;16,15)	Ezekiel and Weiss, 1968; Yee and Miller, 1972; Reuben et al., 1973; Youmans et al., 1973
	514.532	Pulsed and cw Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	520-611 (43,1→ 43,15)	(43,0;11,12)* (43,0;15,14)* (45,0;63,64) (49,1;19,18) (50,1;38,39) (51,1;52,53)	Kurzel and Steinfeld, 1970; Kurzel et al., 1971
	514.582	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (single mode)	520-858 (43,1→ 43,42)	(43,0;12,13) (43,0;16,15)	Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973b; Williams et al., 1974
•	520.831 530.865 568.188	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	<b>(R)</b>	(40, 0;78, 77)*(48, 0;145,144) (50, 0;152, 151) (32, 0;9,10)* (32, 0;14, 13)* (17, 0;35, 36)* (18, 0;95, 96)* (21, 1;116, 117) (21, 1;122; 12 (24, 3;22, 23) (26, 3;111, 112) (27, 3;133, 134)	Vigue and Lehmann, 1972 1)
•	647.088			(11, 7;99, 98)* (12, 7;137, 138)	) <b>*</b>
13 13	520.831 530.865 568.188	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	<b>(R)</b>	(40, 0;79, 78) (32, 0;9, 10) (21, 1;116, 117) ?	Levenson and Schawlow, 1972
: .	528.689	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	fluorescence reported	-	Dworetsky and Hozack, 1973
	546.073	Hg low pressure arc	546-700 (25,0→25,19)	(25,0)	Arnot and McDowell, 1958
	546.073	(250W) Hg medium pressure arc	546-883 (25,0 → 25,37)	(25,0)	Polanyi, 1958
e.	546.073	(100W) Hg discharge	(U)	(v'=25, 26, 28)	Chutjian et al., 1967

Main excitation s strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

#### (Page 5 of 11)

· · · · · · · · ·

· .

#### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Exciting Line $\lambda_{air}, \frac{\lambda_{vac}}{vac}, nm$		Exciting Line Fluorescence r' $\frac{\lambda}{vac}$ , nm Reported, nm		Reference	
I <sub>2</sub> (Con't)	546.073	Hg low pressure arc	552.5 - 691 (25, 1 - 25,19)	$B^{3}\Pi_{0_{u}}^{+} - X \Sigma_{0_{d}}^{+} (25, 0; 34, 33)$	Steinfield et al., 1965; Steinfield and Klemperer, 1965; Yee and Miller, 1972	
	546.2 - 636.1	(1-5 kW peak) Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser (17 wavelengths)	line - 650 (U)	(∪' = 0, 3-14, 17, 20, 24, 25, ∪'' = 0)	Sakurai et al., 1971a	
	568.188	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser (1W within cavity)	530 - 972 (R)	vs (18,0;95,96) (17,0;36,37)	Sakurai and Broida. 1969a; Yee and Miller, 1972	
	588.995 589.592	Na lamp	575-652.5 (15,0→15,9; 14,0→14,9;16,0→16,9) 582-644 (14,0→14,9)	(15,2;44,43) (15,2;37,36) (14,1;106,107) (16,2;106,105 (14,1;113,114)	Brown and Klemperer, )1964	
	588 <b>. 995</b> 589 <b>. 592</b>	Na Osram lamp	(L)	(14,1;106,107) (14,1;113,114 (15,2;44,43) (15,2;37,38) (16,2;106,105)	) Chutjian et al., 1967	
	632.816	He-Ne laser	601-806 (6,2 →6,20; 11,1 → 11,11)	(6,3;32,33) (11,5;128,127)	Menke, 1970; Halldorsson and Menke, 1970	
	632.816	He-Ne laser (intracavity cell)	593→695 (6,0→6,8; 11,0→11,12)	s (6,3;32,33) (11,5;128,127)	Sakurai and Broida, 1970	
	632,816	(0.080W) He-Ne laser	( <b>R</b> )	(6,3;32,33)* (11,5;128,127)	Kurzel et al., 1972	
129 I <sub>2</sub> .	514.532	Ar <sup>†</sup> laser	(R)	$B^{3}\Pi_{0_{1}}^{+} \sim X^{1}\Sigma_{0_{1}}^{+} + (51 \pm 1, 0; \\110, 109) (53 \pm 1, 1; 68, 67)$	Levenson and Schawlow, 1972	
	520.831 568.188	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser		(40, 0; 72, 71) (17,0; 19, 20)		
ICI	582 <b>-610</b>	Pulsed, tunable dye laser	600-800 (U)	$\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{A}^3 \Pi_1 - \mathbf{X}^1 \Sigma^+$	Holleman and Steinfield, 1971	
к2	632.816	(0.050W) He-Ne laser	630-700 (7,0→7,17;6,υ"; 8,υ" progressions)	s, s, B $\mathbf{B}^{1}R_{\mu} \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$ (7, 0; 81, 82) (6, 0; 17, 18) (8, 1; 72, 72)	Tango et al., 1968	
	632.816	(0.001W) He - Ne laser	>640 (U)	(7,0;81,82) (6,0; 17,18) (8,1; 72,72)	Baumgartner et al., 1970	
	694.3	(2MW peak) Pulsed ruby laser	620-900 (R) and (U)	(v'~11-16, v''~20)	Abramov et al., 1968	
КН	440-470 480-493	Pulsed, tunable N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	(R)	$A^{1}\Sigma^{+} X^{1}\Sigma^{+} (\upsilon' = 8 - 18, \upsilon' = 0)$	Cruse and Zare, 1974	
	487.986 496.507	cw Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(7,0 → 7,4)	s (7,0;6,5) vw	Cruse and Zare, 1974	

.

.

Main excitation
 strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities
 (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved
 bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp
 kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

#### (Page 6 of 11)

### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

.

Species	Excit $\lambda_{air}, \lambda_{air}$	ing Line <u>vac</u> ' nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum States Involved in Absorption; U', U'', J', J''	Reference
<sup>6</sup> Lio	476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	452-604 (9, 2 - 9, 19;	s	$B^{1}\Pi_{u} - X^{1}\Sigma_{\sigma}^{+}$ (9, 3; 31, 31)	Velasco et al., 1969
,+ 4			11, 2 - 11, 21)	s	(11,5; 29, 28)	Ottinger et al., 1970
·.	187.986		488-555 (1,0→1,7)	8	(1,0;41,40)	Ottinger and Poppe,
1. 3	514.532		478-555 (1,0→1,7; 3,0→3,8)	8,5	(1,3;41,40) (3,4;45,46)	1971
<sup>6</sup> Li <sup>7</sup> Li	476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	468.5-572 (5,1→5,13)	8	(5,2;9,8)	
	496.507		496.5-544 (0,0→0,5)	· 8	(0,0;45,45)	
7.LI2	476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	469-571 (4,0→4,12)	8	(4,1;24,24)	
tat is	487.986		480-550 (2,0→2,8)	8		
	514,532		470-596 (3,0→3,8;	8,8	(3,5;30,29) (9,9;30,37)	
• ~		· · ·	9,3 → 9,18;7,0 → 7,18)	8	(7, 7;01, 01)	•
Na <sub>2</sub>	457.935	(0.02 W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	470-560 (R)		$B^{1}\Pi - X^{1}\Sigma_{+}^{+}$ (27, 0";27, J")	Demtroder et al.,
	465.789	(0.02 W)		m	u g (17.4; 37,38)	1969;
	472.686	(0.02 W)		s,w, w	(9,1;38,37) $(19,7;50,50)(13,4;10,9)$	Bergmann and Demtroder, 1972
• .	476.486	(0. 03 W)		<b>v</b> s,s, w	(10,3;12,13) (6,0;27,28) (10,1;91,91)	
ч" 4	487.986	(0.3 W)		vs,m, m,m,	(6,3;43,43)(10,6;42,41) (7,2;99,99)(9,5;56,55) (15,7;97,98)	
	496.507	(0.025W)			(7.6;43,44) (8.7;28.29)	
	501.716	(0.02 W)		m	(5,6;37,38)	
:	514.532	(0.3 W)		m, m, m, w	(11, 14; 49, 49) (2, 6; 84, 85) (9, 12; 63, 64) (9, 11; 96, 97)	·
	465.789 472.686 476.486 487.986 (1W)	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser,	480-560 (U)		$B^{1}\Pi_{u} = X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}(17, 4; 37, 38)$ (9, 1; 38, 37) (10, 3; 12, 13) (6, 3; 43, 43)	Baumgartner et al., 1970
	476.486	(0.15W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	534 (0.5 nm bw) (U)	vs	(10,3;12,13) (6,0;27,28) (10,1;91,91)	McClintock et al., 1969
	476,486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	$512-535$ (10, 13 $\rightarrow$ 10, 19; 6, 10 $\rightarrow$ 6, 15)	<b>V8,</b> S	(10,3;12,13) (6,0;27,28)	Sinha et al., 1973
•,	487,986	(1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	528.8 (6,14) (R)		(6,3;43,43)	Bergmann and Demtroder, 1971
	487.986	(0.4W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	477-560 (6,0 → 6,20) 525 ± 0.5 (U)		(6,3;43,43)	Drullinger and Zare, 1969, 1973
	632,816	(0.025W) He-Ne	590-850 (16,0-16,17;	8	$A^{1}\Sigma_{-}^{+} - X^{1}\Sigma_{-}$ (14, 2;44, 45)	Johnson et al., 1970
	640.107	laser (0.01W)	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 14, 0 & \neg & 14, 19 \\ (11, 0 & \neg & 11, 23) \end{array}$	s` s w	(16, 4;16, 17) (11, 0;72, 73) (20, 8;52, 51 or 46, 47)	
NaK	487.986	(0.5W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	470-580 (R)		$D^{1}\Pi - X^{1}\Sigma (\upsilon', \upsilon'' = 7, 1; 10, 3;$ 12; 4; 15, 6; 24, 10; 26, 11;	Alzetta et al., 1973
	496.507				28,12) (U', U''=4, 2;7,4;10, 6;13, 8 17, 10;24, 13)	;
	501.716				$(0^{\prime}, 0^{\prime\prime} = 3, 3; 6, 5; 9, 7; 15, 1$	1;
	514.532	(0.86W)	500-560 (R)		(0', 0"=1, 6;4, 8;7, 10; 10, 12;13, 14)	
	568.188	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	565-770 (R)		$B^{1}\Sigma, C^{1}\Pi - X^{1}\Sigma$	
· Mai s stro (U) spec bw ban	in excitation ong; m, medium ctrally unresol dwidth; EDL, e	n; w, veak; vw, very w ved; (R), resolved electrodeless discharge	eak intensities lamp			• •

#### (Page 7 of 11)

:• .

#### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Exciting Line		Fluorescence		Qu ntum States Involved	Reference
	^air' <u>^ vac</u> ' <sup>nm</sup>		Reported, nm		in Absorption; u', u", J', J"	
NaLi	496.507	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	495-560 (R) (progression ט"≃0-10)		B <sup>1</sup> Π - X <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (υ', 0;28, 29)	Hessel, 1971; Vidal and Hessel, 1972
NO	196.090	(3kG)(1000W) Se	196-365 (3, 0→3, 14 $\gamma$ )	m	$A^{2}\Sigma^{+} - X^{2}\Pi (3, 0; 1, 5/2)$	Melton, 1971;
	203.985	(13, 17kG) 27 MHz EDL	205-355 (2, 0 $\rightarrow$ 2, 12 $\gamma$ )	w	(2, 0; 25, 47/2)	Melton and Klemperer, 1973
	206.279	(18kG)	210-500 $(3, 0 \rightarrow 3, 17\beta)$	w	$B^{2}\Pi \leftarrow X^{2}\Pi (3,0; 5,13/2) (3,0; 10,19/2)$	•
	202.551	≥20kG) (1000W) Zn <sup>+</sup>	205-470 (4, 0 - 4, 17 $\beta$ )	m	` (4,0;6,13/2) (4,0;11,23/2)	н — <sup>н</sup>
	206.191	(20kG) 27 MHz EDL	210-500 $(3, 0 \rightarrow 3, 17\beta)$	m	(3, 0; 3, 9/2) (3, 0; 8, 15/2)	
	204.169	(1000W) Ge	205-355 (2, 0 → 2, 12γ)	vw	$A^{2}\Sigma^{+} - X^{2}\Pi$ (2, 0; K', J'')	···
	204.376	27 MHz EDL	205-355 (2, 0 $\rightarrow$ 2, 12 $\gamma$ )	vw	(2,0; K', J")	
	225.600	(2kG)	226-320 $(0, 0 \rightarrow 0, 7 \gamma)$	m	(0,0;16,31/2)	
	205.293	(19kG) (1000W) Hg <sup>+</sup>	205 - 335 (2, 0 - 2, 12 v)	w	(2.0:10.23/2) (2.0:11.25/2	2)
	226.223	(16, 20kG) 27 MHz EDL	226-320 (0, 0 $\rightarrow$ 0, 7 $\gamma$ )	w	(0, 0; 1, 5/2) (0, 0; 14, 31/2)	-, L
	213.856	Zn (90W) 2450 MHz EDL	215-387 (1, 0 → 1, 12 $\gamma$ )		(1,0;19,35/2) (1,0;23,45/2 (1,0;29,59/2)	2) Broida and Carring- ton 1963; Poland and Broida
	214.438	Cd 2450 MHz EDL	215-387 $(1, 0 \rightarrow 1, 12 \gamma)$		(1, 0;13, 25/2)	1971a,b
	213.856	(18kG) (1000W) Zn 27 MHz EDL	215-343 $(1, 0 \rightarrow 1, 10 \gamma)$	m	(1,0;29,59/2)	Melton, 1971; Melton and Klemperer, 1973
	214.281	(12,21kG) (1000W)Te	215-345 $(1, 0 \rightarrow 1, 10 \gamma)$	m	(1,0;22,45/2)	, t .
	214.725	(2kG) 27 MHz EDL	215-345 (1, 0 - 1, 10 $\gamma$ )	m	(1,0;10,21/2)	
	225.903	(13,18kG)	226-320 $(0, 0 \rightarrow 0, 7 \gamma)$	m	(0,0;7,11/2)(0,0;10,19/2	<b>)</b>
	226.553	(18kG)	226-320 $(0, 0 \rightarrow 0, 7 \gamma)$	m	(0, 0;10, 19/2)	· .
	214, 438	(11,21kG) (1000W) Cd <sup>+</sup>	215-345 (1.0 → 1.10v)	8	(1, 0; 13, 25/2)	
	226.502	(17kG) 27 MHz EDL	226-320 $(0, 0 \rightarrow 0, 7 \gamma)$	8	(0,0; 11,21/2)	· · ·
	214.438	Cd <sup>⊤</sup> discharge lamp	214-300 (1,0 - 1,7 y)		(1,0; 13, 25/2)	Gouedard and Lehmann, 1970
	214.438	$Cd^{+}$ 2450 MHz EDL	215-330 $(1, 0 - 1, 9\gamma)$		(1,0; 13,25/2)	German et al., 1971
	214.725	Te 2450 MHz EDL	226-268 (1,5 γ) 230-420 (U)		(1,0; 10,21/2)	Weinstock et al., 1972
	226.345 226.909 226.921	(1000W) Al 27 MHz EDL	226-320 (0, 0 → 0, 7 γ)	w	(0, 0)	Melton, 1971; Melton and Klemperer, 1973
15 <sub>N</sub> 16	191.379	(1-2kG) (1000W) Se	192-250 (0,0 → 0,7 Ô)	. w.	$c^{2}\pi - x^{2}\pi(0,0)$	Melton, 1971;
~ 0	191.919	(1-2kG) 27 MHz EDL	192-250 (0,0-0,78)	w	(0, 0)	Melton and
	196.090	(4kG)	196-365 (3,0 → 3,14 γ)	m	$A^{2}\Sigma^{+} \sim X^{2}\Pi (3, 0; 2, 5/2)$	Klemperer, 1973
	225.903	(1000W) Te 27 MHz EDL	226-320 (0,0→ 0,7 y)	<b>m</b>	(0, 0, 0; 0, 17, 31/2) (0, 0, 17, 31/2)	
	226.502	(17kG) (1000W) Cd <sup>+</sup> 27 MHz EDL	226-320 (0, 0 → 0, 7γ)		(0, 0;12, 23/2)	

Main excitation strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

#### The second se

### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Spec	cies λ <sub>air</sub>	xciting Line , λ <sub>vac</sub> , nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum States Involved in Absorption; u', u'', J', J''	Reference
NO2	404 • 656 407 • 783 }	(500W) Hg high pressure lamp	462-700(U), 436-785 (5-7.5 nm bw) (U)	8	-	Myers et al., 1966; Keyser et al., 1971
	435.833		462-700 (R) and (U), 470-785 (5-7.5 nm bw) (U)	5	- `	
	546.073		570-700(R) and (U), 599-785 (5-7.5 nm bw) (U)	m	-	
	576.960 579.066		594-700 (U), 635-785 (5-7.5 nm bw) (U)	m	-	-
	404.656 407.783 435.833	Hg high pressure lamp	470-785 (10 wavelengths with 5-10 nm bw) (U)	•	• •	Keyser et al., 1968
	546.073 576.960 } 579.066 }		· · ·		•	
	422.0 451.0 484.0	(10kW peak) Pulsed, tunable, N <sub>2</sub> dye laser	430-700 (U) 490~700 (U) 500-700 (U)	•	Unassigned	Sakurai and Capelle, 1970
	520.0		-	yw yw		
	436.5	Frequency doubled, Raman shifted, ruby laser	475 (20 nm bw), > 480, > 630 (U)		${}^{2}B_{1} - \widetilde{x}  {}^{2}A_{1}$	Sidebottom et al., 1972
	440-490	Pulsed, tunable, dye laser	520-750, 610-750 (U)		-	Sackett ard Yardley, 1970
	451.5-460	5 Pulsed, tunable, dye laser	520-750, 610-750, 660-750 (U)		-	Sackett and Yardley, 1972
	454.4-455	.0 Pulsed, tunable, dye laser	520-750 (U)			Sackett and Yardley, 1971
	457.935 465.789 472.686 476.486 487 986	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	line-750 (bands and continuum) (R)		Continuous and discrete spectral features over whole range	Sakurai and Broida, 1969b
	496.507 501.716 514.532	(0.15w) (5w within cavity)				
	461.915 476.243 520.831	Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	line-750 (bands and continuum) (R)			Sakurai and Broida, 1969b
	487.986 514,532	(0.25W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser (0.25W)	505-550 (R) 535-585 (R)	5 5	${}^{2}B_{2} \rightarrow \widetilde{X}^{2}A_{1} (N'=9, K'=4)$ $\nu_{2}^{2}$ bending mode excited)	Abe et al., 1971
	487.986	(0.25W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	7 <b>00-</b> 830 (U)			Tucker et al., 1973
	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	495-496, 534-536.5 (R)	s	$^{2}B_{2} - \tilde{X}^{2}A_{1}$ (Difficult to	Abe, 1973
	632.816	He-Ne laser	· <b>-</b> · ·	w	assign, one transition to ${}^{2}B_{1}$ state from 000 ground state)	
	532.4 17	(IMW peak) Frequency doubled, pulsed Nd laser	570 (40 nm bw), > 570, > 600 (U)		<sup>2</sup> B <sub>1</sub> - X <sup>2</sup> A <sub>1</sub>	Sidebottom et al., 1972
	593,4-594	Pulsed dye laser	594-733 (R) 610-650 (U)	•	${}^{2}B_{0} \leftarrow \tilde{X} {}^{2}A_{1}$ (Weak fluor- éscence also from ${}^{2}B_{1}$ , no continuum observed)	Stevens et al., 1973
	593.6	(0.05W) cw tunable, dye laser	~ 620 (U) (band to $v''_{2} = 1$ )		${}^{2}B_{2} \leftarrow \tilde{X}^{2}A_{1}$ (N'=9, K'=0, J'=17/2, 19/2;10 J''=19/2, 21/2)	Tanaka et al., 1973 0,10'
				2	(N'=8, K'=1, J'=15/2, 17/2;91 J''=17/2, 19/2)	, 9'

•

·· · .

general contraction

•-

and the second

and a second second

\* Main excitation

,

.

.

Main excitation s strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

• • • •

## (Page 9 of 11)

#### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Exci λ <sub>air</sub>	lting Line λ <sub>vac</sub> , .nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum States Involved in Absorption; v', v'', J', J''	Reference
NO <sub>2</sub> (Cont)	647.088	(0.6W) Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	647-855 (R)		<sup>2</sup> B <sub>2</sub> - x <sup>2</sup> A <sub>1</sub> ( <sup>1</sup> ' <sub>1</sub> , <sup>1</sup> ' <sub>2</sub> , <sup>1</sup> ' <sub>3</sub> ; <sup>1</sup> '' <sub>1</sub> , <sup>1</sup> '' <sub>2</sub> , <sup>1</sup> '' <sub>3</sub>	Brand et al., 1973a
	694.3	Pulsed ruby laser	> 720 (U)		0, 5, 0; 0, 0, 0) ${}^{2}B_{1} - \tilde{X}^{2}A_{1}$	Sidebottom et al., 1972
NS	230.424	Ba <sup>+</sup> discharge lamp	fluorescence from various K'levels		$C^{2}\Sigma^{+} - X^{2}\Pi_{1/2} (0, 0)$	Silvers and Chiu, 1973
OD .	307.158	Ba 2450 MHz flowing EDL	230-420 (U)	·	A <sup>2</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> ← X <sup>2</sup> Π (0,0;1,3/2,1,3/2) (∿∿";K'J', K"J')	German et al., 1973; Weinstock and
		· . · · ·	··*			Zare, 1973
он	282. 17	Pulsed, frequency double, ruby-dye	303-315 (0,0) (R)		A <sup>2</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> ← X <sup>2</sup> Π ψ',υ''; K', J',K'',J''; 1,0;0,1/2,1,3/2)	Baardsen and Terhune, 1972:
	282.58	laser			(1, 0; 1, 3/2, 2, 5/2)	Wang, 1974; Wang and Davis, 1974
	306.766 306.767 306.775 306.775	Bi 2450 MHz EDL	(R)		(0,0;11,21/2,10,19/2) (0,0;10,19/2,9,17/2)	Carrington, 1959, 1960
	306.772	(15mA, 3W) Bi hollow cathode lamp	<b>310 ± 10 (U)</b>		(0,0;11,21/2,10,19/2) (0,0,10,19/2,9,17/2)	Hooymayers and Alkemade, 1967
	300-320	Frequency doubled, pulsed, tunable, dve laser	(0,0) (R)		(0, 0)	Becker et al., 1972, 1974
	307.206	Zn 2450 MHz, heated EDL	308 ± 5, 230-420 (U)	4 ° .	(0,0;2,3/2,1,8/2)	German and Zare, 1969a, b: German et al., 1973 Weinstock and Zare,
					**	1973
Pb2	496.507 514.532	(0.5W) Ar single (1W) mode laser	$\begin{array}{c} 496.5 - 520 & (4, 0 \rightarrow 4.8) \\ 490 - 520 & (3, 0 \rightarrow 3, 7; \\ 5, 0 \rightarrow 5, 9) \end{array}$	- 8 6	$B \leftarrow X (4, 0)$ (3,5) (5,8)	Johnson, 1971; Johnson et al., 1972
	647.088	(0.3W) Kr <sup>+</sup> laser	630-670 (6,0 → 6,4; 8.0 → 8,7)	5	A ~ X (6,0) (8,3)	
	Excited by	most lines of Ar <sup>+</sup> and Kr <sup>+</sup>	lasers			
PbBr	476,486	(0.25W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	462-532 (5,0 → 5,22)	w	$A \leftarrow X^2 \Pi_{1/2}$ (5,3)	Capelle et al., 1973
	514.532	(1W)	496-540 (0,2 → 0,14)	w	(0,7)	
		(0. 00 mm 7/m <sup>+</sup> 1/mm	AAB = BAB (B = A = B = 19)	-	$\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{Y}^2 \mathbf{\overline{\Pi}}  (2, 2)$	Capelle et al., 1973
PbCl	461.915	(U.UIW) Ar Hager	$449-540 (2, 0 \rightarrow 2, 13)$	w	(2, 6)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	401.000	(0.5W)	$444-534 (3, 0 \rightarrow 3, 13)$	w	(3, 8)	
	514.532	(1W)	464-546 (0, 1 - 0, 18)	w	(0, 8)	1 <b>1.</b> .
РЬО	420-485	Pulsed, tunable, No dye laser	440-550 (R)	8	$B1 \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(0,0)$ (1,1) (3,0)	Johnson, 1971
Rb	457, 935	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	໌ (ຫ		$c - x^{1} \Sigma_{r}^{+}$	Baumgartner et al.,
1.52	465.789	···· ···	•		<sup>1</sup> Π, c <sup>*</sup> - x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> <sup>1</sup> Π - x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup>	79.10
	487.986	(1W)			B <sup>+</sup> Π <sup>i</sup> <sub>u</sub> − X <sup>+</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> g	

. . .

ar The second

..

•••

5.1

Main excitation .

Main excitation
 strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities
 (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved
 bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp
 kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

#### (Page 10of 11)

# (Page 10of Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

pecies	$\lambda_{air}, \lambda$	vac' nm	Fluorescence Reported, nm		Quantum States Involved in Absorption; U', U'', J', J''	Reference
Rb <sub>2</sub> (Cont)	487,986	(0.15W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	593-608 (3 bands resolved)		$B^{1}\Pi_{u} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$	McClintock and Balling, 1969
	694.3	Pulsed ruby laser	680-725 (R), 720-900 (U)		$B^{1}\Pi_{u} - X^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}(v) \sim 2-6, v'' \sim 6-10)$	Kostin et al., 197
s <sub>2</sub>	292.863 293.651	Mg <sup>+</sup> spark source	$286-375 (8, 0 \rightarrow 8, 2)$ (R) and (U)		$B^{3}\Sigma_{u} \sim X^{3}\Sigma_{g}$ (8,1; K'=37,41)	Durand, 1940
in the second	307.590 326.106	Zn discharge lamps Cd	300-586 (4,0→ 4,25) 303-562 (3,0→3,23)		(4, 1; K', J', 40, 41, K'', J'', 41, (3, 3; 42, 43, 43, 44)	42) Meyer and Crosley, 1973a,b Yee et al., 1972
•••••	312.567 313.155 313.184 334.148 365.015	Hg lamp	?		(5,1; 70,69 or 70; 69,68 or ( (5,1; 68,67 or 68; 69,68 or ( (4,2; 14,13, 13, 12) (1,3;30,29,29,28,28) (0,6,0,0,0,0,2,29)	39) Meyer and 39) Crosley, 1974
an a	514.532	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	306-531 (4,1-4,22)	w	(4, 21; 42, 41, 39, 40)	<i></i>
<sup>78</sup> Se <sub>2</sub>	476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(R)	w	$B^{3}\Sigma_{u}^{-}(0_{u}^{+}) - X^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}(0_{g}^{+})$ (1, 13; ~155, ~ 156)	Yee and Barrow, 1972a
•	487.986		(R)	s m	$(1_u) \leftarrow (i_g) (2, 13; 67, 66)$ $(0^+) \leftarrow (0^+) (1, 15; 55, 56)$	
NE 12	514.532		483.5~586.5 (0,4 → 0,16)	m w	$(1_u) - (1_g) (2, 14; \sim 115, \sim 114)$ n - a (0, 8; ~ 54, ~ 55)	)
Sose2	476.486	(0.1W) Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	<b>417.5-502 (0,4 → 0,15)</b>	•	$  B^{3} \overline{\Sigma}_{u}^{-} (1_{u}) \leftarrow X^{3} \overline{\Sigma}_{g}^{-} (1_{g}) $ $  (0, 12; 16, 15) $	Beattie et al., 11 Barrow et al., 1
107 11	487.986	(0.5W)	407.0-588 (1,3 - 1,24)		s (1 <sub>u</sub> ) - (1 <sub>g</sub> ) (1, 14; 39, 38	) )
	487.986	Ar <sup>†</sup> laser	460.5-656 (2,2 - 2,24)	·	w n - a (2,6;~30,~29)	Yee and Barrow,
	496.507		(R)		$ = B^{3}\Sigma_{u}^{-}(0_{u}^{+}) \leftarrow X^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}(0_{g}^{+}) $ (0, 15, 131, 130)	19728
	501.716	·	(R)		$\begin{array}{cccc} w & (1_{u})^{-} & (1_{g})^{-} (0, 13; \sim 178, \sim \\ w & (0_{u}) \leftarrow (0_{g})^{-} (1, 16; \sim 149, \sim \\ w & (1_{u}) \leftarrow (1_{g})^{-} (0, 14; \sim 153, \sim \end{array}$	-148) -154)
	514.532		(R)		$w  (0^+_{\mathbf{u}}) \leftarrow (0^+_{\mathbf{g}})  (5,21;59,58)$	4. 19.41.40)
so,	209.986	Zn <sup>+</sup> high voltage	212-245 (R)			-12 <sub>1,11</sub> )Brand et al., 1
	210.221	AC discharge lamp	215-239 (R)		w $(17_{5,12} - 16_{5,11})$	
	213.856	Zn	214-245 (R)		$\mathbf{B}_2 - \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^1 \mathbf{A}_1$	
	213.856 228.802	Zn (15W) Osram Cd discharge lamp	290–400 (U) 290–400 (U), 280–420 (R)			Okabe et al., 197
а •	215.24	D <sub>2</sub> flash lamp (0.081 nm bw)	(U)		vw D-X <sup>1</sup> A <sub>1</sub> \$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_3\$\varphi_1\$\varphi_2\$\varph_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\varphi_2\$\va	$\nu''_{3}$ ; Hui and Rice, 19
	216.93		·		vw (0,5,0;0,0,0)	
	218.78		•_		vw (0,4,0;0,0,0)	
	220,63				m (0,8,0;0,0,0)	
	222.41 224.3	·			m (0, 2, 0; 0, 0, 0) s (0, 1, 0; 0, 0, 0)	
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Main e strong U) spectru	xcitation ; m, medium ally unresolv	n; w, weak; vw, very weak ved; (R), resolved lectrodeless discharge lan	intensities			

#### (Page 11of 11)

#### Table II. Line-Induced Electronic Fluorescence of Molecules in the Gaseous Phase

Species	Exc λ <sub>air</sub>	$\frac{\lambda_{\text{vac}}}{\lambda_{\text{vac}}}, \text{ nm}$	Fluorescence Reported, nm	ir	Quantum States involved Absorption; u', u'', J', J''	Reference
SO <sub>2</sub> (Cont)	225.8 226.09 227.71 229.75			8 8 8 8	$\widetilde{C} - \widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}(1, 3, 0; 0, 0, 0)$ $\widetilde{D} - \widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}(0, 0, 0; 0, 0, 0)$ $\widetilde{C} - \widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}(1, 2, 0; 0, 0, 0)$ (1, 1, 0; 0, 0, 0)	
• • •	230-320	Frequency doubled, pulsed, tunable dve laser	311	8		Morey and Penney, 1973
· ·	260-320	Frequency doubled, pulsed, tunable, doubled Nd. Yag dve laser	310-450 (U)		$\tilde{\mathbf{A}}^{1}\mathbf{B}_{1} - \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{1}$	Brus and McDonald 1973
	265 275 285 296 302 313	(1000W) Hg. Xe lamp	line-470 (R)		$\widetilde{\mathbf{A}}^{1}\mathbf{B}_{1}-\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{1}$	.Mettee, 1968
	266.2	4th harmonic, pulsed Nd laser	295-345, 295-395, 365-395 (U)		$\tilde{\mathbf{A}}^{1}\mathbf{B}_{1} \leftarrow \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{1}$	Sidebottom et al.
	289.36 296.73 302.15 312.57-31	(1000W) Hg discharge lamp 13.18	300-525 (R)		$\tilde{\mathbf{A}}^{1}\mathbf{B}_{1} - \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{1}$	Strickler and Howel 1968
128 <sub>To</sub>	476.486	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(R)	s	$B 0_{11}^{+} \leftarrow X 0_{\pi}^{+} (2, 6; 77, 76)$	Yee and Barrow, 197
162	487.986		(R)	s	A $0_{u}^{\dagger} - X 0_{g}^{\dagger}$ (10, 1; 79, 78)	
		<b>ч</b>	(R)	w	$B 0_{u}^{+} - X 0_{g}^{+} (0, 6; -177, -176)$	)
	496,507		(R)	w	A $0^+_{\mu} - X 0^+_{g}$ (9,1; ~163, ~164	<b>i)</b> (21)
	501.716		(R)	m ·	$A 0_u - X 0_g (11, 4; 31, 32)$	
	-	.1	408-590 (3,5 - 3,24)	8	(3,11;85,86)	
	514.532	· .	457.5-576.5 (0,1→0,20)	6	$B 0_{u}^{+} - X 0_{g}^{+} (0, 11; 91, 92)$	
		· · ·.	$535-641 (0, 5 \rightarrow 0, 18)$	w	$B 0_{u}^{+} \leftarrow X 1_{g} (v' = 0)$	
<sup>130</sup> Te <sub>2</sub>	441.563	(0.05W) He. Cd <sup>+</sup> laser	437-670.5 (5,0 - 5,35)		$B 0_{u}^{+} - X 0_{g}^{+} (5, 1; 103, 102)$	Degenkolb et al., 1971
	487.986	Ar <sup>+</sup> laser	(R) $(B0^+_u \rightarrow X0^+_g)$		$B 0_{u}^{+} - X 0_{g}^{+} (0, 6; -177, -176)$	Yee and Barrow,
•			549-604 (0,7 $\rightarrow$ 0,14 B0 <sup>+</sup> <sub>u</sub> $\rightarrow$	X 1 <sub>g</sub> )		19720
				•••	•	
			· ·	••		្រុងរូបមាន 🖓
		e set to set	· .	· .		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
				• •	1	;
•.	· · .		. ,		· · ·	. · · · · ·

.

Main excitation s strong; m, medium; w, veak; vw, very weak intensities (U) spectrally unresolved; (R), resolved bw bandwidth; EDL, electrodeless discharge lamp kG kilogauss magnetic field required to Zeeman shift into coincidence

fa starter

مرغوقه فالمحافظ ويه

# MONOCHROMATIC SPECTRAL LINE SOURCES

In principle, three possible techniques may be invoked using infrared fluorescence. The most straight-forward and obvious entails absorption in for example one part of the fundamental band with subsequent detection of radiation from another. In various instances P branch laser lines have been used as the exciting source with detection in part of the R branch, which is isolated with an interference filter. Polyatomic systems offer the possibility that the initially produced state may either be partially relaxed to an intermediate state, which then fluoresces, or have an additional allowed radiative transition. The third possibility invokes energy transfer from the vibrationally excited state, initially produced, to another species which then radiates. Such processes as

> HCl ( $\upsilon$ =1) + HCl ( $\upsilon$ =1) → HCl ( $\upsilon$ =2) + HCl ( $\upsilon$ =0) CO (1) + CO (1) → CO (2) + CO (0)

cannot be exploited at the very low concentrations being considered here. However, at higher concentrations such energy level climbing mechanisms are frequently observed and can produce fluorescence at much shorter wavelengths than that of the excitor. For a polyatomic species such as  $CH_3F$  or  $CH_3Cl$ , such mechanisms are so fast that a rapid equilibration occurs amongst all of the vibrational modes, somewhat contracting the benefits of single-mode excitation. Only the direct approach of excitation followed by the normal fluorescence process would appear feasible for the current application.

The first laser excited vibrational relaxation studies were reported eight years ago (Hocker and Kovacs, 1966; Yardley and Moore, 1966), from which time the field has become increasingly active, interest centering particularly on energy exchange processes. Table III has been compiled to illustrate the extent of the work that has already been accomplished with line excited infrared fluorescence. This is a fairly complete and up-to-date listing of the various reported investigations and illustrates among other things the potential line sources that have been most used.

> الم المراجع ال المراجع المراجع

21

For many such systems, owing to the long radiative lifetimes of the vibrational levels in the ground electronic state, the fluorescence efficiency is much reduced and intensities generally are quite weak. This coupled to the fact that opto-electronic radiation detectors in the infrared do not have the sensitivity of uv-visible photomultipliers, makes it appear unlikely that infrared fluorescence is exploitable as a sensitive detection technique particularly for sub ppm concentration levels. Another factor to be considered concerns the more demanding requirements for spectral coincidences in this region. Doppler broadened linewidths in the infrared are very narrow at room temperatures, for example, lines in the: fundamental NO band at around 5.3  $\mu$ m have a Doppler width of about 0.004 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Pressure broadening is more important in this spectral region and at atmospheric pressure can be an order of magnitude larger (Ludwig et al., 1973). However, at stratospheric pressures of 10 to 100 torr, pressure broadening is much reduced, although still evident to some extent, and the requirements for a coincidence between exciting and absorbing lines can be quite severe. In order to predict spectral coincidences, it is of course necessary to have sufficiently accurate spectroscopic data. In this instance it has to be characterized to better than a few hundredths of a wavenumber and refer to vacuum conditions. For example, the frequency doubled CO<sub>2</sub> laser line  $(90^{0}1 \rightarrow 10^{0}0 \text{ band}, P(8))$  at 1909.092 cm<sup>-1</sup> appears to be in better coincidence with the NO<sup>2</sup>  $\Pi_{1/2}$  (1,0) R(19/2) line if the wavelength for this is taken from James and Thibault's (1964) analysis (1909.139), rather than that of Shaw (1956) (1909.16). Although this coincidence has been used by Stephenson (1973a) to study vibrational relaxation in NO, the coincidence may not be sufficiently close, or limited only to the wings of the absorption line at low pressures. It is not unreasonable therefore, to expect that the fluorescence intensity may be strongly pressure dependent.

Generally, laser line wavelengths have been taken from the tabulations of Willett (1971) or the CRC Handbook of Lasers (Pressley, 1971). In many instances through more accurate values now are available, particularly for various  $CO_2$  (Chang, 1970; Schiffner, 1972), CO (Mantz et al., 1970; Yardley, 1970b; Eng et al., 1974; Roh and Rao, 1974), and  $N_2O$  (Sokoloff and Javan, 1972) laser lines. As an illustration of the rapidity of growth of the laser field, 200 additional CO infrared lasing lines already can be added to the 1971, CRC Handbook of Lasers compilation.

#### (Page 1 of 6 )

Table III.	Infrared	Fluorescence	Excited	by	Monoc	hromati	c S	Spectral	Line	Sources	
------------	----------	--------------	---------	----	-------	---------	-----	----------	------	---------	--

Species	Exciting Source $\lambda_{vac \ \mu m}, (1 \Lambda_{vac} cm^{-1})$	Fluorescence Monitored $\lambda_{\mu m}$ , (1/ $\lambda$ cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Quantum States Involved in Absorption	Reference
сңзсі	9.603573 (1041.2791) P(26) CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	~ 13 (~ 770) $\nu_3$ band ~ 3* (~ 3300) $\nu_1$ , $\nu_4$ bands - weak	${\mathfrak X}^{1}{\mathbf A}_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{6}$ band)	Lee and Ronn, 1973; Knudtson and Flynn, 1973b
	9.603573 (1041.2791) P(26) CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	~7.4* (~1350) $\nu_2$ band ~3 <sup>*</sup> (~3300) $\nu_1$ , $\nu_2$ bands	${\ensuremath{\tilde{X}}^{1}}{\ensuremath{A}_{1}}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{6}$ band)	Grabiner and Flynn, 1974
Сңзғ	9.552428 (1046.8542) P(20) CO <sub>2</sub> TEA laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -N <sub>2</sub> -He mixture)	$\sim 3.4^{*}$ (~2940) $\nu_1$ , $\nu_4$ bands	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{3}$ band)	Karny et al., 1972
	2 2 9.552428 (1046.8542) P(20) CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	$\sim 3.4^{*}$ (~2940) $\nu_{1}, \nu_{4}$ bands	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $v_{3}$ band)	Weitz et al., 1972; Weitz and Flynn,
	9.50-9.67 (1033-1052) P(14)-P(34)	No fluorescence except with P(20) line		1973a; Grabiner et al. , 1973
	9.552428 (1046.8542) P(20) 3.5W CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	~ 3.3 <sup>*</sup> (~ 3030) $\nu_1$ , $\nu_4$ bands ~ 6.7 <sup>*</sup> (~ 1495) $\nu_2^2$ , $\nu_5^2$ bands ~ 8.6 <sup>°</sup> (~ 1160) $\nu_6^2$ , band ~ 4.8 <sup>*</sup> (~ 2080) $\mathcal{D}_3^2$ overtone ~ 4.5 <sup>*</sup> (~ 2220) $\nu_3^2 + \nu_6^2$ combinati	$X^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $v_{3}$ band)	Weitz and Flynn, 1973b
<sup>13</sup> Сн <sub>3</sub> ғ	9.657416 (1035.4736) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	~ 3.4* (~2940) $\nu_1$ , $\nu_4$ bands .	${^{1}A_{1}}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{3}$ band)	Weitz et al., 1972
сн <sub>4</sub>	1.6451 (6078) Er: Yag laser	Absorption noted	${\hat{X}}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidence with R(6) 2 $\nu_{3}$ overtone band)	White and Schleusener, 1972; Fox, 1974
	3.3922 (2947.90) 10 mW He-Ne laser	~ 7.7 (~ 1300) (U) $\nu_4$ band 3.12-3.38 (2960-3200) $\nu_3$ band	${^{1}A_{1}}$ (coincidence with P(7) $\nu_{3}$ band)	Yardley and Moore, 1966, 1968 a,b; Yardley et al., 1970
с <sub>2</sub> н <sub>4</sub>	10.233167 (977.2146) R(22) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 10.532080 (949.4800) P(14) 10.653156 (938.6890) P(26)	Strong absorption noted	$\hat{X}^{1}A_{\dot{g}}$ (coincidences in $\nu_7$ band)	Hanst, 1971
1	10.513114 (951.1930) P(12) cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser	~ $3^{*}$ (~ 3330) $\nu_{9}$ , $\nu_{11}$ bands ~5 <sup>*</sup> (~2000) $\nu_{7}$ + $\nu_{8}$ , $\nu_{6}$ + $\nu_{10}$	$\hat{X}^{1}A_{g}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{7}$ band)	Robinson and Dake, 1973a,b
·	10.532080 (949.4800) P(14) 10.551387 (947.7427) P(16) 10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 10.591035 (944.1948) P(20) 10.611385 (942.3841) P(22) 10.632090 (940.5488) P(24) 10.635156 (932.68090) P(26) 10.674586 (936.8045) P(28) 10.696386 (934.8952) P(30) 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 10.741113 (931.0022) P(34)	combinations	· · ·	
	10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W CO <sub>2</sub> laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -N <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)	9.9-11.2 (890-1010) (R) $\nu_7$ band	$\mathbf{\hat{X}}^{1}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{7}$ band)	Ronn, 1968
	10.6 (940) cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser	~ 10.5 (950) $\nu_7$ band ~ 6.9 <sup>*</sup> (1440) $\nu_{12}$ band ~ 3.3 <sup>*</sup> (2990) $\nu_{11}$ band ~ 3.2 <sup>*</sup> (3105) $\nu_9$ band	${\mathbf X}^{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}}$ (coincidences in $\nu_7$ band)	Bailey et al.,1971

,

•

\* Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer collisions to populate these higher energy levels.

s, m, w. strong, medium, weak fluorescence.

(U), (R) unresolved, resolved.

FWHM filter characteristic, full width at half maximum transmission.

11.4

(Page 2 of 6 )

			(Page 2 OI
Table III.	Infrared Fluorescence Excited b	y Monochromatic Spectral	Line Sources

Species	Exciting Source $\lambda_{vac} \mu_{m} (1 \Lambda_{vac} cm^{-1})$	Fluorescence Monitored $\lambda_{\mu m}$ , (1/ $\lambda$ cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Quantum States Involved in Absorption	Reference
C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>4</sub> (Cont)	10.653156 (938.6890) P(26) CO <sub>2</sub> cw and Q-switched laser	~ $5^{*}$ (1890) $\nu_{7} + \nu_{8}, \nu_{6} + \nu_{10}$ combination (U) 3. 22 <sup>*</sup> (3105) $\nu_{9}$ band (U) 3. 34 <sup>*</sup> (2990) $\nu_{11}$ band (U)	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{g}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{7}$ band)	Yuan and Flynn 1972, 1973
		4.99 <sup>*</sup> (2000) $\nu_6 + \nu_{10}$		
		$\begin{array}{c} \text{combination}^{\text{T}}(\mathbf{R}) \\ 5.25^{\text{*}} (1905) \nu_7 + \nu_8 \\ \text{combination (R)} \end{array}$		•
	10.84101 (922.423) P(19) N <sub>2</sub> O Q-switched laser	Absorption noted	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{g}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{7}$ band)	Brunet and Voignier, 1969; Sokoloff and Javan, 1972
<b>co</b>	2,33372 (4285.00) (100W peak) Opt. 2,33555 (4281.65) Parametric Oscill., Nd. Yag laser	~4.7 (~2130) 2,1 band (U)	X <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (∿'∿''; J'J'') (2,0;7.6) (2,0;6,5)	Sackett et al., 1973
	4,009845 (2169,270) R(30) Frequency doubled (Te crystal) CO <sub>2</sub> pulsed	(2,1) <sup>*</sup> (1,0) (U)	X <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1,0;7,6 at 2169.198 cm <sup>-1</sup>	) Green and Hancock, 1973b; Stephenson 1973b
, -	TEA laser 4. 641222 (2154. 605) R(18) 4. 793113 (2086. 323) P(24)		(1,0;3,2 at 2154.598 cm <sup>-</sup> (1,0;13,14 at 2086.328 cr	1) n <sup>-1</sup> )
	5,05-6.20 (1610-1980) P lines CO <sub>2</sub> flowing Q-switched laser	2.3-2.7 (3700-4350) (U) (13,11) to (2,0) overtone bands	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (5, 4) to (19, 18)	Yardley, 1970a
co <sub>2</sub>	10.6 (940) CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser $(CO_2 - N_2^{-}He \text{ mixture})$	~ 4.3 (~ 2325) (U) (00°1 → 00°0)	X <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> <sub>g</sub> (00°1-10°0)	Hocker et al., 1966; Moore et al., 1967; Vardley and Moore
				1967;
	•		e	Alexander et al., 1968; Kovacs et al., 1968; Stephenson et al., 1968, 1971, 1972a, b;
			× 1'	Rosser et al., 1969, 1971;
	· ·		47. <del>7</del>	Rosser and Gerry 1969, 1971; Heller and Moore,
				Stephenson and Moore,
	· .	· · · ·	. * • •	Margottin-Maclou et al., 1971; Christophe and Offen-
				berger, 1972; Rao et al., 1972; Cramp and Lambert, 1973:
		. •		Rosenberg and
••	10.6 (940) 50W cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser	~ 4.3 (2325) ( $00^{\circ}1 \rightarrow 00^{\circ}0$ ) (U) ~ 9.4 (1060) ( $00^{\circ}1 \rightarrow 02^{\circ}0$ ) (U) ~ 10.6 (940) ( $00^{\circ}1 \rightarrow 10^{\circ}0$ ) (U) (0.5 FWHM filter)	$\tilde{X}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}(00^{0}1 - 10^{0}0) (U)$	Offenberger et al., 1972
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•
<b>DC1</b>	~ 4,9-5.2 (~1925-2040) DCl pulsed laser (Cl <sub>2</sub> -DI mixture)	(1,0) (U)	x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1,0)	Zittel and Moore, 1973a,b
* Invol	ves multiphoton absorption or, more gen sions to populate these higher energy leve	erally, energy transfer els.	an a	· - · · · · · · ·
s,m,w.	strong, medium, weak fluorescence.		ا دائيلا و الدين اليكن المواقع الماد الماد. التي الدينة المائل والمائي	ne v se <mark>itet</mark> Vite state
(U), (R) ( FW LDM 6	mresouved, resouved. ilter characteristic, full width at half ma	ximum transmission.	4 .	5 1 - S 40-
rwnum I	HEEL SHALASSOLDS AND ALL WINSIN & LAND HAL		• • •	5 1 151 M

.

ŧ ·· 3\* · . . . · .

(Page 3 of 6 )

(Page 3 of Table III. Infrared Fluorescence Excited by Monochromatic Spectral Line Sources

.

Species	Exciting Source	Fluorescence Monitored	Quantum States	
	$\lambda_{\rm vac\mu m}^{-}$ (1 $\Lambda_{\rm vac}$ cm <sup>-1</sup> )	$\lambda_{\mu m}$ , (1/ $\lambda \ cm^{-1}$ )	Involved in Absorption	Reference
DF	3.5811 (2792.4) P(5) 0.5W, Cw DF transverse flow laser, (He-SFD, mixture)	3.23-3.42 (2920-3095) 1,0 band (U).	x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1,0;4,5)	Stephens and Cool, 1971, 1972
	3 6128 (2767, 9) P(6)	• •	(1, 0:5, 6)	
	3 6456 (2743, 0) P(7)		(1,0,6,7)	
	3 (0.83/9703, 98) P(5)		(2, 1-4, 5)	
	3 7310 (2680 28) P(6)		(2, 1, 5, 6)	
	8 7651 (2655 97) P(7)		(2, 1, 6, 7)	
	5.1051 (2005151) 1 (1)		(0,1,0,1)	
¥	3.5811 (2792.4) P(5) DF helical pin laser	(1,0) (2,1)*	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0;4,5)	Ernst et al., 1973
ì	3.6128 (2767.9) P(6) DF laser, pulsed pin, transverse excited ( $SF_6-D_2$ -He mixture)	3.25-3.39 (2950-3075) 1,0 band (U)	x <sup>1</sup> 5 <sup>+</sup> (1, 0;5, 6)	Hinchen, 1973a, b
4 °	$\sim$ 3.7 (~2700) P <sub>1-0</sub> lines DF, pulsed, TEA laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -D <sub>2</sub> )	(1,0) (2,1)*	x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1, 0)	Bott, 1973, 1974; Bott and Cohen, 1973
HBr	4.017 (2489) $P(4)$ HBr pulsed, TEA laser (flowing $H_2$ -Br <sub>2</sub> mixture)	(1,0) (2,1)*	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1, 0; 3, 4)$	Burak et al., 1972a
	4.047 (2471) P(5)		(1,0;4,5)	
	4.078 (2452) P(6)		(1,0;5,6)	
	4.111 (2432) P(7)		(1,0;6,7)	
L.	4.078 (2452) P(6) HBr pulsed laser (flowing Br <sub>2</sub> -HI mixture)	$(1,0)$ $(2,1)^*$	$x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1, 0; 5, 6)	Chen, 1971a,b; Chen and Chen, 1972;
· ·	4.111, (2432) P(7)		(1, 0; 6, 7)	Hopkins and Chen,
• • •	'4.144' (2413) P(8)		(1, 0; 7, 8)	1972a, 1973;
•4	4.180 (2392) P(9)		(1,0;8,9)	Zittel and Moore,
j t		• ·		19130
нсно	3.4883 (2866.7) Kr laser 3.4895 (2865.7)	Absorption noted	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidence in $\mu$ band)	Hanst, 1971
	3.5080 (2850.6) Xe laser (He-Xe mixture)	Absorption noted	$\tilde{X}^{1}A$ (absorption line mis- 1 matched by 190 MHz)	Sakurai et al., 1967
•	5.85519 (1707.887) P <sub>16-15</sub> (13) CO laser	Absorption noted	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}^{1}$ (coincidence in $\nu_{2}^{\text{band}}$ )	Johns and McKellar, 1973; Nielsen, 1934
HC1	1.7472 (5723.3) Pulsed, tunable parametric oscillator (irequency	(2,1) (1,0) (U)	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(2,0;3,2)$	Leone and Moore, 1973
	3.3957 (2944.9)	(2,1) <sup>*</sup> (1,0) (U)	(1,0;3,2)	
	~ 3.37-3.70 (~2700-2960) HCl P(1)-P(6), R(0)-R(3) Q-switched laser (flowing H <sub>2</sub> -NOCl mixture)	(1,0)	X <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1, 0)	Margottin-Maclou et al., 1971
	- 3.57-3.89 (2570-2800) P(4)-P(13) HCl pulsed laser (Cl <sub>2</sub> -HBr mixture)	(2,1)*	$x^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1,0)$	Hopkins and Chen, 1972b
	3.63-3.81 (2625-2750) P(6)-P(11) HCl pulsed, TEA laser (H <sub>2</sub> -Cl <sub>2</sub> mixture)	(2,1)*	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1,0)$	Burak et al., 1972b; Noter et al., 1973
	2 -			

.

Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer collisions to populate these higher energy levels. .

s, m, w. strong, medium, weak fluorescence.

. •

(U), (R) unresolved, resolved.

۰. .

FWHM filter characteristic, full width at half maximum transmission.

.

25

ł

. . . .

· · :

$ \frac{\lambda_{vac, \mu m}}{\lambda_{vac, \mu m}} (LA cm^{-1}) \qquad \lambda_{\mu m}, (LA cm^{-1}) \qquad Involved in Absorption. The entropy of the second second$	oecies	Exciting Source $\lambda_{vac} \mu m, (1/\lambda_{vac} cm^{-1})$	Fluorescence Monitored	Quantum States	Deferrer
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			$\lambda_{\mu m}$ , (1/ $\lambda$ cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Involved in Absorption	নজানানালন হাজ্যান
laser (flowing CL=H)       1,0 band (0)       Chen and Moc         8.700 (2632.0)       (1,0;1,0;1,0)       (1,0;1,0;1,0)       (1,0;1,0;1,0)         F       1.3404 (7460.4) NA. YALO, pulsed       2.7 (3700) (2,1) (1,0) $x^1 \Sigma^4$ (2,0;5,6)       Bina and Moc         2.600 (3788) P(4)       2.97-2.50 (4000-4400) 1.0; $x^1 \Sigma^4$ (1,0;2,3)       Bott, 1972;         2.640 (3788) P(4)       0.85-6, 6 (15,000-16,200) 2.0; brand       (0,0;5,6)       Bina and Jone         2.640 (3788) P(4)       0.85-7, 6 (15,000-16,200) 5.0; brand       (0,0;5,6)       Bina tet al., 1         2.640 (3788) P(4)       0.85-7, 6 (15,000-16,200) 5.0; brand       (1,0;5,6)       Stat all Chee         2.640 (3788) P(4)       W, w       (1,0;2,1)       (1,0;6,6)       State chee         2.640 (3788) P(4)       W, w       (1,0;2,1)       (1,0;6,6)       State chee         2.7755 (3685.5) P(6)       (2,1;5,6)       (2,1;5,6)       State chee         2.7853 (3577.5) P(6)       (2,1) (1,0) (3,2)       (2,1;4,5)       Stephena and         2.7975 (3685.3) P(6)       (2,1;6,6)       (2,1;5,6)       Stephena and         2.7975 (3685.3) P(6)       (2,1;6,6)       (2,1;6,6)       Stephena and         2.7975 (3685.3) P(6)       (2,1;6,6)       (2,1;6,6)       Stephena <t< td=""><td>1 (Cont)</td><td>3.7345 (2677.7) P(9) HCl pulsed</td><td>3.33-3.52 (2840-3000)</td><td><math>X^{1}\Sigma^{+}</math> (1, 0; 8, 9)</td><td>Chen et al., 1968;</td></t<>	1 (Cont)	3.7345 (2677.7) P(9) HCl pulsed	3.33-3.52 (2840-3000)	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1, 0; 8, 9)	Chen et al., 1968;
$ \begin{array}{c} 1.100 \ (100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100$	•	laser (flowing ClHI)	1,0 band (U)	(1.0.9.10)	Chen and Moore, G.
$ \begin{array}{c} Extend and Monon Stress and Jone Str$		3. 8085 (2625, 7) P(11)		(1,0; 10,11)	Hopkins et al., 1973
1.3404 (7460.4) Nd. YALO3 pulsed laser, temperature tuned       2.7 (3700) (2,1) (1,0) $x^{1}\Sigma^{4}$ (2,0;5,6)       Bins and Jone Distance (Idowing Frg_1-B) 2.4 <sup>1</sup> band 2.400 (3788) P(4)       Distance 2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0; 2.4 <sup>1</sup> band 1.25-1.5 (530-4000) 2.0 <sup>1</sup> band 1.25-1.5 (530-4000) 2.0 <sup>1</sup> band 1.25-1.5 (530-4000) 4.0 <sup>1</sup> band 0.45-5.0 6 (12,600-15,200) 5.0 <sup>2</sup> band 0.45-5.0 6 (12,600-14,200) 5.0 <sup>2</sup> band 0.40 (378) P(4) HF pulsed, belical pin laser (HSFg mithtree) 2.7725 (3683.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3683.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3683.5) P(6) HF pulsed 1.671 (36,6) 2.7075 (3683.5) P(6) HF pulsed 1.857 (CF <sub>0</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , CgH <sub>6</sub> , CgH <sub>6</sub> - He mixture) 2.7725 (3683.5) P(6) HF pulsed 1.857 (CF <sub>0</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , CgH <sub>6</sub> , CgH <sub>6</sub> - He mixture) 1.0.718560 (932.9611) P(92) 10.7181360 (932.9611) P(92) 10.7181360 (932.9611) P(92) 10.5103 (944.194) P(20) 10.5103 (944.1944)					Zittel and Moore,
1.3404 (740.4) NG. YAUG pulsed       2.7 (3700 (2, 1) (1, 0)       X T (2, 0; 5, 6)       Bins and Jone         2.606 (3684) P(6)       2.7 (3700 (2, 1) (1, 0)       X T (2, 0; 5, 6)       Bott, 1972;         pin laser (lowing SF_H2)       2.7 (3700 (2, 1) (1, 0)       X T (1, 0; 2, 3)       Bott, 1972;         2.606 (3788) P(6)       2.7 (3700 (2, 1) (3, 0) tand       (1, 0; 3, 4)       Balar et al., 1         2.7075 (3835.5) P(6)       0.8 -1.2 (6330 - 12, 500) (3, 0) tand       (1, 0; 5, 6)       1871, 1972;         2.606 (3788) P(4) W, cw       2.27 - 2.64 (3790 - 4405) 1, 0 band       X T (1, 0; 5, 6)       1871, 1972;         2.6705 (3833.5) P(6)       (1, 0; 0, 0, 1, 2) (0, 0)       (1, 0; 5, 6)       1971, 1972;         2.6705 (3833.5) P(6)       (1, 0) (2, 1)* (R) and (U)       X T (1, 0; 3, 4)       Stephens and 200;         2.6705 (3653.5) P(6)       (2, 1; 1, 4, 5)       (2, 1; 1, 4, 5)       (2, 1; 1, 4, 5)         2.6705 (3653.5) P(6)       (2, 1) (1, 0) (3, 2)*       (2, 1; 1, 4, 5)       (2, 1; 2, 3)         2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excled laser       (1, 0) (2, 1)* (R) and (U)       X T (1, 0; 3, 4)       Hinchen, 1973         2.7075 (3683.5) P(6)       (2, 1) (1, 0) (3, 2)*       (2, 1; 2, 3)       (1, 0; 5, 6)       1971         2.7075 (3683.5) P(6)       (2, 1) (1, 0) (3, 2)*       (2, 1; 2	-		· · ·	1	
2.606 (38.8) P(9) HF pulsed, pin lacer (flowing SF <sub>g</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> ) 2.640 (3788) P(4) 2.640 (3788) P(4) 2.640 (3788) P(4) 2.675 (689.5) P(6) 2.675 (689.5) P(6) 2.675 (689.5) P(6) 2.675 (689.5) P(6) 2.675 (689.5) P(6) 2.775 (689.5) P(6) 2.7775 (689.5) P(6) 1.7785 (977, 2146) P(22) 1.632090 (440.548) P(24) 1.0, 71855 (622.841) P(22) 1.0, 632090 (440.548) P(24) 1.0, 71855 (622.841) P(22) 1.0, 71855 (627.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> C laser Absorption noted 3. <sup>1</sup> A <sub>1</sub> ( $^{C}_{0}$ (6, 7) Ins, $\nu$ band) 4.107 ( $^{C}_{1}$ (6, 9, 7) Ins, $\nu$ band) 4.107 ( $^{C}_{1}$ (6, 7) Ins, $\nu$ band) 4.107 ( $^{C}_{1}$ (7, 1) Ins, $\nu$ band) 4.107 ( $^{C}_{1}$ (7, 2) Ins, $\nu$ ba		laser, temperature tuned	2.7 (3700) (2,1) (1,0)	X <sup>-</sup> Σ (2,0; 5,6)	Bina and Jones, 197.
2.640 (3788) P(4) (1.25-1,8 (530-3600), 2, 0 band (1,0; 5, 6) (0.52-0,8 (02), 3, 0 band (1,0; 5, 6) (0.52-0,8 (02), 5, 0 band (1,0; 5, 6) (1,0; 6, 7) (1,0;	• 2 *	2.608 (3834) P(3) HF pulsed, pin laser (flowing SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> )	2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0; 2,1* band	x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1,0;2,3)	Bott, 1972; Bott and Cohen, 197;
2.7075 (3693.5) P(6). 2.602 (3786) P(4) LW, cw H transverse flow laser. (He-SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> mbxture) 2.673 (3741) P(5) 2.673 (3741) P(5) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>6</sub> mbxture) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(6) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(6) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(6) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(6) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(6) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(7) 2.7275 (3696.33) P(7) 2.7275 (3696.35) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(7) 2.7485 (927.446) P(7) 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) P(3) 10.632060 (940.5488) P(24) 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32)		2.640 (3788) P(4)	1.25-1.8 (5550-8000) 2,0"band 0.8-1.2 (8330-12.500) 3.0*band	(1,0;3,4)	Blair et al., 1973
2. 240 (9768) P(4) 1W, w HF transverse f(New laser. (He-SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> mbxture) 2. 673 (3741) P(5) 2. 7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2. 604 (3622.7) P(4) 0.8 W 2. 753 (3571.5) P(5) 2. 8318 (3531.3) P(6) 2. 640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>6</sub> mbxture) 2. 7275 (3668.38) P(3) 2. 7275 (3668.38) P(3) 2. 7275 (3668.38) P(6) 2. 7075 (3698.5) P(6) 3. 714 (364.18) P(7) F) Pulsed 1. 718560 (932.9611) P(32) 1. 658 (932.9611) P(32) 1. 658 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 1. 708 (97.7124) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser 1. 71860 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 1. 71860 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 1. 71860 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 1. 71860 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub></sub>		2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)	0.62-0.8 (12,500-16,000) 4,0*ban 0.55-0.6 (16,600-18,200) 5,0*ban	nd (1,0;5,6) 👊 🕬	
HF transverse triow laser:       1971, 1972;         HF transverse triow laser:       2.673 (3741) P(6)       (1,0; 4,5)         2.7075 (3633,5) P(6)       (2,1; 5,4)         2.7075 (3636,3) P(6)       (2,1; 5,4)         2.8318 (3511,3) P(6)       (2,1; 5,6)         2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed,       (1,0) (2,1)* (R) and (U) $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 3,4)         1972, 1973       (2,1; 2,3)         2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin,       (2,1; 0,1) (1,0) (3,2)*       (2,1; 2,3)         2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin,       (2,1; 0,1) (1,0) (3,2)*       (2,1; 2,3)         2.640 (3788) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4405) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 3,4)       Hinchen, 1973         2.7075 (3693,5) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693,5) P(6) HF pulsed       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7441 (3644,16) P(7) HF pulsed       2.4 (4170) 1,0 band (U) $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 6,7)       Hancock and C         10.718560 (632, 9611) P(32)       Absorption noted       m $x^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $v_{2}$ band)       Hanst, 1971         10.718560 (632, 9611) P(32)       Planer       Absorption noted $x^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $v_{2}$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, .1968      <		2.640 (3788) P(4) 1W, cw	2.27-2.64 (3790-4405) 1,0 band	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1,0;3,4)$	Stephens and Cool,
2.673 (3741) P(6) 2.763 (3741) P(6) 2.7075 (3683,5) P(6) 2.7076 (3692,27) P(4) 0.8 W 2.7075 (3696,36) P(6) 2.8318 (3531.3) P(6) 2.8318 (3531.3) P(6) 2.8318 (3531.3) P(6) 2.7075 (3696.38) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser ( $\mathbb{K}_2 - \mathbb{F}_2$ mixture) 2.7075 (3696.38) P(3) 2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser ( $\mathbb{S}_F - \mathbb{K}_2 - \mathbb{H} m$ ixture) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(7) HF pulsed 1.7718 (10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10,		(He-SFH_ mixture)	<b>.</b>	1 - 1	Ahl andCool, 1973
2.7075 (3695.5) P(6) (1,0;5,6) 2.7064 (3622,7) P(4) 0.8 W (2,1;3,4) 2.7858 (3577.5) P(5) (2,1;5,6) 2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>6</sub> mixture) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) (2,1) (1,0) (3,2)* (2,1;2,3) 2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed (2,1; (1,0) (3,2)* (2,1;2,3) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed (2,27-2.47 (4050-4405) 1,0 band X <sup>1</sup> Σ* (1,0; 3,4) Hinchen, 1973 (SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed (2,27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band X <sup>1</sup> Σ* (1,0; 5,6) (1,0; 5,6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed (2,27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band X <sup>1</sup> Σ* (1,0; 5,6) (1,0; 5,6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed (2,27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band X <sup>1</sup> Σ* (1,0; 6,7) (1, Hancock and C TFA laser (F <sub>2</sub> O-HC inture) 2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed (2,4 (4170) 1,0 band (U) X <sup>1</sup> Σ* (1,0; 6,7) (1, Hancock and C (1,0; 5,6) (2,77,2146), R(22) (2, Laser (0,7)) (3,2) (4,1) (3,2) (4,1) (4,	•	2.673 (3741) P(5)	· · · ·	(1.0:4.5)	
2.7804 (3622.7) P(4) 0.8 W 2.7804 (3622.7) P(4) 0.8 W 2.7853 (3577.5) P(5) 2.8316 (3531.3) P(6) 2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser ( $H_2$ -SF <sub>6</sub> mkture) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(7) HF pulsed 2.7075 (3693.5) P(7) HF pulsed 3.10, 233167 (977, 2146), R(22) 10, 7113560 (932.9611) P(32) 10, 613385 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 61385 (942.3841) P(		2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)	· ·	(1.0; 5.6)	
2. 7953 (3577.5) P(5) 2. 8318 (3531.3) P(6) 2. 640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>6</sub> mixture) 2. 7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2. 7275 (3666.38) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -L <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 2. 7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2. 7075 (3693.5) P(6) 3. 7075 (3693.5) P(6) 3. 7075 (3693.5) P(6) 3. 7075 (3693.6) P(2) 10, 671037 (945.910) P(16) 50W w 10, 771035 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 631385 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 631385 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 631385 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 631385 (942.3841) P(22) 10, 71855 (922.611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser Absorption noted 3. 71A <sub>1</sub> (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_2$ band) 3. 71A <sub>1</sub> (Q (6,7)		2.7604 (3622.7) P(4) 0.8 W		(2,1;3,4)	{**
2.8318 (3531.3) P(6) (2,1; 5,6) 2.640 (3768) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>2</sub> mixture) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed 2.7075 (3693.5) S) P(6) HF pulsed 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed 2.4 (4170) 1, 0 band (U) $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6) Airey and Fri 1.6 (S <sub>6</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> -He mixture) 3 (0.233167 (077.2146), R(22) Absorption noted m $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band) Hanst, 1971 10.718560 (332.9611) P(32) 5 10.651035 (944.186) P(20) 10.651035 (944.1946) P(20) 10.7185560 (332.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 10.7185560 (332.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser Absorption noted X <sup>1</sup> A <sub>1</sub> (Q (5.3) line, $\nu_2$ band) Letokhov, 187 Absorption noted X <sup>1</sup> A <sub>1</sub> (Q (6.7) line, $\nu_2$ band) Shimizu, 1977 mismatch 7.4 MHz) Shimizu and Ci 1970a, b Freund et al. (PO) (PO) (PO) (PO) (PO) (PO) (PO) (PO)		2.7953 (3577.5) P(5)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(2,1;4,5)	$r \rightarrow \Sigma^{+}$ .
2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (H <sub>2</sub> -SF <sub>6</sub> mixture) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7275 (3666.38) P(3) 2.7275 (3693.5) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) 2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed laser (F <sub>2</sub> O-HC mixture) 2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed TEA laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> -He mixture) 2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed TEA laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> -He mixture) 2.64 (4170) 1.0 band (U) 3.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 3.0.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 3.0.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 3.0.591037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -N <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 3.0.591037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -N <sub>2</sub> -He mixture) 3.0.591035 (944.1948) P(20) 10.611385 (942.3641) P(22) 10.611385 (942.3641) P(22) 10.611385 (942.3641) P(22) 10.611385 (942.3641) P(22) 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser 10.77685 (827.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser 10.77685 (827.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser 10.77685 (827.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser 10.70107 a borption noted 1970a, b 5 Shimizu, 1970 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band) Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy 1970a, b 7 Tan (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu and Cy		2.8318 (3531.3) P(6)		(2,1;5,6)	٠.
2.7275 (3666.38) P(3)       (2,1) (1,0) (3,2)*       (2,1; 2,3)         2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser       2.72-2.47 (4050-4405) 1,0 band $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 3,4)         1.757 (3693.5) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed       2.4 (4170) 1,0 band (U) $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 6,7)       Hancock and C         2.7075 (3693.5) P(7.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Hanst, 1971         CO <sub>2</sub> laser       10.718560 (932.9611) P(32)       s       w       w       w       Norescence reported $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.51035 (944.1948) P(22)       10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)       w       w       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N       N <td>: -</td> <td>2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser (<math>H_2</math>-SF<sub>6</sub> mixture)</td> <td>(1,0) (2,1)* (R) and (U)</td> <td><math>x^{1}\Sigma^{+}</math> (1,0;3,4)</td> <td>Osgood et al., 1972, 1973</td>	: -	2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, helical pin laser ( $H_2$ -SF <sub>6</sub> mixture)	(1,0) (2,1)* (R) and (U)	$x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0;3,4)	Osgood et al., 1972, 1973
2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser       2.27-2.47 (4050-4405) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 3,4)       Hinchen, 1973         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1,0 band $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7074 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed       2.4 (4170) 1,0 band (U) $x^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 6,7)       Hancok and C         7EA laser       (5F <sub>6</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> -He mixture)       Absorption noted       m $x^{1}\Lambda_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band)       Henst, 1971         3       10.233167 (977.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m $x^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band)       Henst, 1971         3       10.74113 (931.0022) P(34)       w       w       w       w       w       w         10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W       Fluorescence reported $x^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.71856 (922.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted $x^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (6,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)       Letokhov, 197         10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted $x^{1}A_{1}$ ( <sup>Q</sup> (6,		2.7275 (3666.38) P(3)	$(2,1)$ $(1,0)$ $(3,2)^*$	(2,1;2,3)	£ -
$ \begin{array}{c} (1, 6_{1}, 6_{2}, 7_{2}, 7_{16} \text{ infitt(1)}) \\ \hline 2, 7075 (3693.5) P(6) \\ \hline 2, 7075 (3693.5) P(6) \\ \hline 1 \\ \hline 3 \\ \hline 10, 233167 (977, 2146) R(22) \\ \hline 10, 718560 (932, 9611) P(32) \\ \hline 10, 571037 (945, 9810) P(18) 50W \\ \hline 10, 571037 (945, 9810) P(18) 50W \\ \hline 10, 571037 (945, 9810) P(18) 50W \\ \hline 10, 581035 (944, 1948) P(20) \\ \hline 10, 611385 (942, 3841) P(22) \\ \hline 10, 718560 (932, 9611) P(32) \\ \hline 10, 77885 (927, 7425) P(13) N_2O laser \\ \hline 10, 77885 (927, 7425) P(13) N_2O laser \\ \hline 10, 70885 (927, 7425) P(13)$		2.640 (3788) P(4) HF pulsed, pin, transverse excited laser	2.27-2.47 (4050-4405) 1,0 band	$X^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1,0;3,4)$	Hinchen, 1973a,b
2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed laser ( $F_2O$ -HCl mixture)       2.27-2.50 (4000-4400) 1, 0 band       X ${}^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Airey and Fri         2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed TEA laser (SF_6-CH_4, C_2H_6, C_3H_6-He mixture)       2.4 (4170) 1, 0 band (U)       X ${}^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 5,6)       Hancock and ( 1971         10.233167 (977.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Hanst, 1971         CO2 laser       0.718560 (932.9611) P(32)       s       w       w       N         10.718560 (932.9610) P(18) 50W cw CO2 laser (CO2-N2-He mixture)       Fluorescence reported       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.551037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W cw CO2 laser (CO2-N2-He mixture)       Fluorescence reported       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) 10.632090 (940.5488) P(24)       Absorption noted       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_2$ band)       Etokhov, 197 Shimizu, 1970 mismatch 7.4 MHz)         10.77865 (927.7425) P(13) N_2O laser       Absorption noted       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band), Mismatch 7.4 MHz)       Shimizu, 1970 Shimizu and C 1970a, b         10.77865 (927.7425) P(13) N_2O laser       Absorption noted       X ${}^{1}A_1$ (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band), Mismatch 7.4 MHz)       Shimizu and C 1970a, b	;	2.7075 (3693.5) P(6)		(1,0;5,6)	. <b>n</b>
2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed       2.4 (4170) 1,0 band (U) $X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ (1,0; 6,7)       (1) Hancock and (1) (1972a, b, 1973) (2766 - 274, c, 2H_6, C_3H_6 - He mixture)         10.253167 (977.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Hanst, 1971         10.253167 (977.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Hanst, 1971         10.253167 (977.2146) R(22)       Absorption noted       m $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Hanst, 1971         10.718560 (932.9611) P(32)       s       w       w       w       w       w         10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W       Fluorescence reported       w $X^{1}A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)       No.6312960 (940.5488) P(24)       W       W       No.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_1$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_2$ band)       Letokhov, 197         10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_1$ (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band)       Shimizu, 1970         10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_1$ (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band)       Shimizu, 1970         1970a, b       Freund et al., Ore senders       Shimizu and Constant of the al., Ore sender of the al., I970a, b       <		2.7075 (3693.5) P(6) HF pulsed laser (F <sub>2</sub> O-HCl mixture)	2.27-2.50 (4000-4400)1,0 band	$x^{1}\Sigma^{+}(1,0;5,6)$	Airey and Fried, 1971
TEA laser       1972a, b, 1973         (SF <sub>6</sub> -CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> -He mixture)       Absorption noted       m $\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band) Hanst, 1971         10. 233167 (977. 2146), R(22)       Absorption noted       m $\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band) Hanst, 1971         10. 718560 (932. 9611) P(32)       s         10. 741113 (931.0022) P(34)       w         10. 764052 (929.0182) P(36).       w         10. 571037 (945. 9810) P(18) 50W       Fluorescence reported         cw CO <sub>2</sub> laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -N <sub>2</sub> -He mixture)       fluorescence reported         10. 591035 (944.1948) P(20)       fluorescence reported         10. 718560 (932. 9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted         10. 718560 (932. 9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted         10. 77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted         10. 77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted         10. 70885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted         10. 70885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted         1970a, b       Freund et al. Jones and Eyu	• •	2.7441 (3644.16) P(7) HF pulsed	2.4 (4170) 1,0 band (U)	x <sup>1</sup> Σ <sup>+</sup> (1,0;6,7)	Hancock and Green,
$ \begin{array}{c} 10.233167 \ (977.2146) \ R(22) \\ CO_{2} \ laser \\ 10.718560 \ (932.9611) \ P(32) \\ 10.741113 \ (931.0022) \ P(34) \\ 10.764052 \ (929.0182) \ P(36) \\ 10.571037 \ (945.9810) \ P(18) \ 50W \\ cw \ CO_{2} \ laser \ (CO_{2}-N_{2}-He \ mkture) \\ 10.591035 \ (944.1948) \ P(20) \\ 10.611385 \ (942.3841) \ P(22) \\ 10.632090 \ (940.5488) \ P(24) \\ 10.718560 \ (932.9611) \ P(32) \ CO_{2} \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.77885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.7885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.7885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.7885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.7885 \ (927.7425) \ P(13) \ N_{2}O \ laser \ Absorption \ noted \\ 10.7885 \ N_{2}O \ N_{2}$		TEA laser (SFCH., C.H., C.HHe mixture)			1972a, b, 1973; Green and Hancock
$\begin{array}{c} 10.233167 (977.2146) R(22) \\ CO_{2} laser \\ 10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) \\ 10.741113 (931.0022) P(34) \\ 10.764052 (929.0182) P(36) \\ 10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W \\ cw CO_{2} laser (CO_{2}-N_{2}-He mixture) \\ 10.591035 (944.1948) P(20) \\ 10.611385 (942.3841) P(22) \\ 10.632090 (940.5488) P(24) \\ 10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N_{2}O laser \\ Absorption noted \\ 10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N_{2}O laser \\ Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} m \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1} (coincidences in \nu_{2} band) \\ m \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1} (coincidences in \nu_{2} band) \\ m \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1} (Q (5,3) line, \nu_{3} band) \\ m \tilde{X}^{1}A_{1} (Q (5,3) line, \nu$	м.).	(516 514, 52.6, 53.6 10 11212)			.1973a
10.233167 (977.2148) $R(22)$ Absorption index       in $X A_1$ (considence $I = \frac{1}{2}$ and $I = $			Absorbian noted m	$\tilde{\mathbf{x}}^{1}$ (coincidences in $\boldsymbol{v}$ , band)	Hanst, 1971
$10.718560$ (932. 9611) P(32)       s $10.718560$ (932. 9611) P(32)       w $10.764052$ (929. 0182) P(36)       w $10.764052$ (929. 0182) P(36)       w $10.571037$ (945. 9810) P(18) 50W       Fluorescence reported $cw CO_2$ laser ( $CO_2-N_2-He$ mixture)       Fluorescence reported $10.591035$ (944. 1948) P(20)       Fluorescence reported $10.611385$ (942. 3841) P(22) $10.632090$ (940. 5488) P(24) $10.718560$ (932. 9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_1$ (Q (5, 3) line, $\nu_2$ band)       Letokhov, 197 $10.77885$ (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_1$ ( <sup>Q</sup> Q (8, 7) line, $\nu_2$ band, Shimizu, 1970         Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer       Shimizu and Current of the state of the	3	10.233167 (977.2146) R(22)	Absorption noted in		
10.741113 (931.0022) P(34)       w         10.764052 (929.0182) P(36)       w         10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W       Fluorescence reported $x^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band) Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)       10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)         10.632090 (940.5488) P(24)         10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser       Absorption noted $x^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)       Letokhov, 197         10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser       Absorption noted $x^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band, mismatch 7.4 MHz)         Shimizu and Construction of the station of the sta		10.718560 (932.9611) P(32)	8		· ·
10.764052 (929.0182) P(36)       w         10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W cw CO2 laser (CO2-N2-He mixture)       Fluorescence reported $X^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band)       Borde et al., Ronn, 1968         10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)       10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)       5000 (940.5488) P(24)       10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO2 laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)       Letokhov, 197         10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N2O laser       Absorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band, mismatch 7.4 MHz)       Shimizu and C         10.708ves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer       Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally.       Stanza (2000) (2000)		10.741113 (931.0022) P(34)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		••
10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W $cw CO_2$ laser $(CO_2-N_2-He mixture)$ Fluorescence reported $X^1A_1$ (coincidences in $\nu_2$ band)Borde et al., Ronn, 196810.591035 (944.1948) P(20)10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)10.632090 (940.5488) P(24)10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO_2 laserAbsorption noted $X^1A_1$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_2$ band)Letokhov, 19710.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N_2O laserAbsorption noted $X^1A_1$ (Q (6,7) line, $\nu_2$ band, mismatch 7.4 MHz)Shimizu, 1970 Shimizu and C 1970a, b Freund et al., Mirend et al., Dimensioner and Eye		10.764052 (929.0182) P(36)	w		•
10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)         10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)         10.632090 (940.5488) P(24)         10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser Absorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)         Letokhov, 197         10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser Absorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band, Shimizu, 1970         mismatch 7.4 MHz)         Shimizu and C         1970a, b         Freund et al.         Jones and Eye		10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 50W	Fluorescence reported	$X^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{2}$ band)	Borde et al., 1966 Ronn, 1968
10. 611385 (942.3841) P(22)         10. 632090 (940.5488) P(24)         10. 718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO <sub>2</sub> laser Absorption noted         10. 77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser Absorption noted         X <sup>1</sup> A <sub>1</sub> (Q (5,3) line, ν <sub>2</sub> band)         Letokhov, 197         mismatch 7.4 MHz)         Shimizu and C         1970a, b         Freund et al.         Jones and Eyer		10.591035 (944.1948) P(20)			
10. 632090 (940.5488) P(24) $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)Letokhov, 1910. 718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO2 laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)Letokhov, 1910. 77885 (927.7425) P(13) N2O laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band,Shimizu, 197010. 77885 (927.7425) P(13) N2O laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band,Shimizu, 1970Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transferFreund et al.Jones and Eye		10.611385 (942.3841) P(22)	, · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	
10.718560 (932.9611) P(32) CO2 laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)Letokhov, 19'10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N2O laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band,Shimizu, 197010.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N2O laserAbsorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{2}$ band,Shimizu, 1970Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transferFround et al.Jones and Eye		10.632090 (940.5488) P(24)	·		4 M 1 1 1 1
10.77885 (927.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> O laser Absorption noted $X^{1}A_{1}$ ( <sup>q</sup> Q (8,7) line, $\nu$ , band, Shimizu, 197( mismatch 7.4 MHz) Shimizu and C 1970a, b Freund et al. Jones and Eye	ζų.	10 718560 (992 9611) P(92) CO lager	Absorption noted	$X^{1}A_{1}$ (Q (5,3) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)	Letokhov, 1973
10. 17855 (521. 1420) F(15) K <sub>2</sub> O mset Abbrighten inter mismatch 7. 4 MHz) Shimizu and ( 1970a, b Freund et al. Jones and Eyu		10. 77695 (997 7495) D(13) N O lagar	Absorption noted	$X^{1}A_{1}$ ( <sup>q</sup> Q (8,7) line, $\nu_{0}$ band,	Shimizu, 1970a,b;
Fround et al. Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer Jones and Eyo		10.77885 (827.7425) P(13) N <sub>2</sub> C laber		mismatch 7.4 MHz	Shimizu and Oka,
<ul> <li>Involves multiphoton absorption or, more generally, energy transfer</li> <li>Jones and Eyo</li> </ul>					Freund et al., 1973;
collisions to populate these higher energy levels.	Invo colli	lves multiphoton absorption or, more gen isions to populate these higher energy lev	erally, energy transfer els.	and a second	Jones and Eyer, 197 Kreiner et al., 1973
s, m, w. strong, medium, weak fluorescence.	3, m, w.	strong, medium, weak fluorescence.			<ul> <li>Kreiner and Rudolpl 1973</li> </ul>
# And the second s

(Page 5 of 6 ) Table III. Infrared Fluorescence Excited by Monochromatic Spectral Line Sources

Spècies	Exciting Source $\lambda_{vac  \mu m}, (1 \wedge vac  cm^{-1})$	Fluorescence Monitored $\lambda_{\mu m}$ , $(1/\lambda \text{ cm}^{-1})$	Quantum States Involved in Absorption	Reference
15 <sub>NH</sub>	10.551387 (947.7427) P (16) CO, laser	Absorption noted	$X^1$ A, (R(0,0) line, $\nu_{a}$ band)	Letokhov, 1973
алы <b>, "</b> э	10.114826 (988.6477) R(42) CO2 laser	Absorption noted	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (R(2, 0) line, $\nu_{2}$ band)	Shimizu, 1970b
NO	2.70752 (3693.42) 'P <sub>1-0</sub> (6) HF pulsed laser (SF <sub>6</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> mixture)	Absorption noted	$X^{2}\Pi_{1/2}^{(2,0;15/2,17/2 at 3693.504 cm^{-1})}$	Nachshon and Coleman, 1973
•1 *	5.16667 (1935.484) P7-6(13) CO laser	Absorption noted	X <sup>2</sup> II, /2 (1, 0; 39/2, 37/2 at	Monster 1071.
	5.18865 (1927.282) P7-6 (15)	· · · ·	$^{2}\Pi_{3/2}(1,0;33/2;31/2 \text{ at})$	Mantz et al., 1970;
	5.26304 (1900.043) P <sub>9-8</sub> (9)		$^{2}\Pi_{1/2}(1,0; 15/2, 13/2 \text{ at})$	1964
	5.30682 (1884.369) P9-8 (13)		$^{2}\Pi_{9}$ (1.0; 5/2, 3/2 at	·
•	5.42646 (1842.82) P <sub>9-8</sub> (23) 5.42646 (1842.821) P <sub>10-9</sub> (17)		$^{2}$ 1884.316) $^{2}\Pi_{1/2}(1,0;17/2,19/2 at)$ 1842.933)	••• ••
,	5.21163 (1918.785) P(2) CO frequency doubled, helical,	~5.3 (~1890) (1,0) (2,1)*	$X^2\Pi_{3/2}(1,0; 27/2, 25/2 \text{ at} 1918.69 \text{ cm}^{-1})$	Stephenson, 1973a; James and Thibault,
	5.28809 (1909.092) P(8)	, . ·	$2\Pi_{1/2}(1,0;21/2,19/2 \text{ at})$	1704
	5.31604 (1881.098) P(24)		<sup>1909.14</sup> ) $2\Pi_{1/2}(1,0; 3/2, 1/2 \text{ at})$	
	5.42988 (1841.660) P(44)		$^{2}\Pi_{3/2}(1,0;17/2,19/2 \text{ at})$ 1841.78	
•.	5.4048 (1850.21) Ne laser	Absorption noted	$X \stackrel{2}{\Pi}_{1/2}$ (1,0;13/2,15/2 at 1850.164 cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Hanst, 1971; James and Thibault,
	5.4987 (1818.6) I atom laser		${}^{2}\Pi_{3/2}$ (1,0;29/2,31/2 at 1818.74)	1964; Shaw, 1956
	5.4987 (1818.6) I atom laser	Absorption noted	$X {}^{2}\Pi_{3/2} (1, 0; 29/2, 31/2 \text{ at} 1818.74 \text{ cm}^{-1})$	Menzies et al., 1970; Shaw, 1956
	5.60436 (1784.33) P <sub>12-11</sub> (19) CO laser		<sup>2</sup> Π <sub>1/2</sub> (1, 0;47/2, 49/3 at 1784.40)	
NO2	6.03059 (1658.212) P <sub>18-17</sub> (13) CO laser	Absorption noted	X <sup>2</sup> A <sub>1</sub> # <sub>3</sub> band coincidences at 1658, 228 cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Menzies et al., 1970 Menzies, 1971;
·	6.05582 (1651.303) P <sub>19-18</sub> (8)		1651.304	Hurlock, 1970;
	6. 12250 (1633. 320) P20-19 (6)		1633.301	Roh and Rao, 1974;
	6. 17449 (1619. 568) P20-19(10)		1619.561	
	6.36799 (1570.855) P <sub>22-21</sub> (10)		1570.365	
	6.44076 (1552.611) P <sub>22-22</sub> (8)	•	1552.614	1.
	6.48314 (1542,462) Pop co(11)	en en en para a d	1542.461	
N20	10.6 (940.0) 0.5 kW N <sub>2</sub> O Q- switched laser (flowing	4.5 (2220) (U) (100→000)	${\ensuremath{\hat{X}}}^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ [100 (2224 cm <sup>-1</sup> ) - 001 (1285 cm <sup>-1</sup> )]	Bates et al., 1968; Yardley, 1968; Margattin-Maclou
	<sup>2</sup> 0 <sup>-</sup> <sup>10-</sup> <sup>2</sup> <sup>11</sup> <sup>12</sup> <sup>14</sup> <sup>10</sup>	• •		et al., 1971;
		• • • •		ommanoucm, 1972
	n an the second seco	÷ ••.1	s the second second	
31 4 <sup>1</sup> 1	· · ·	, · ·	··· , . <sup>·</sup>	
	(ci. )		en en la sur en la s La sur en la	

ν.

 $\sim 10$ 

s, m, w. strong, medium, weak fluorescence.

(U), (R) unresolved, resolved.

FWHM filter characteristic, full width at half maximum transmission.

۰,

••••

and a second s and a second s

### (Page 6 of 6 )

#### Table III. Infrared Fluorescence Excited by Monochromatic Spectral Line Sources

pecies	Exciting Source $\lambda_{\text{vac} \ \mu m}$ , $(1/\lambda_{\text{vac}} \text{ cm}^{-1})$	Fluorescence Monitored $\lambda_{\mu m}$ , $(1/\lambda \text{ cm}^{-1})$		Quantum States Involved in Absorption	Reference
	0 170000 (1055 6951) D(10) CO	9 6 (1040) (JI)		₹1. (optrotideness in the band)	Debia con cont
03	9.473060 (1055.6251) P(10) CO2 tunable laser	9.2-10 (1000-1087) (R)	w	X A <sub>1</sub> (concruences in v <sub>3</sub> band)	Guagliardo, 1973
	9.488355 (1053.9235) P(12)		m		
	9.503937 (1052.1956) P(14)		8		
	9.519808 (1050.4413) P(16)	,	8	· · · · · · ·	· ** •
	9.535972 (1048.6608) P(18)	•	5		· . !
	9.552428 (1046.8542) P(20)		m ·	1	
	9.569179 (1045.0217) P(22)		m		
·	9.586227 (1043.1633) P(24)	· · · · ·	ŵ	سد: آن ا	£ 1
	9, 603573 (1041, 2791) P (26)		'n		1
• •	9, 621219 (1039, 3693) P(28)		m	-	
	9 639166 (1037 4341) P(30)		•••• •••	1	200 21
•	9.488355 (1053.9235) P(12) 200W peak, CO <sub>2</sub> Q-switched laser	Absorption noted		$\tilde{X}^{A_1}$ (coincidence in $\nu_3$ band)'	Gordon and Lin, 1973
,	9.488355 (1053.9235) P(12) CO2	4.76 <sup>*</sup> (2100) 0.2 µm FWHM	w	$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ (coincidences in $\nu_{3}$ band)	Rosen and Cool,
	pulsed, TEA laser ( $CO_2$ -He mixture)	filter (101 → 000)		. <b>1</b>	1973
	9.503937 (1052, 1956) $P(14)9.639166$ (1037, 4341) $P(30)$				* <u></u>
		÷.,			٠·. ^
	9.694831 (1031.4775) P(36) CO <sub>2</sub>	Absorption noted		$\tilde{X}^{1}A_{1}^{\prime} \psi_{3}^{\prime}$ band coincidences	Young and Bunner.
	9.713998 (1029.4423) P (38)		-	at 1031.4618 cm <sup>-1</sup> )	1974; Chang. 1970
	9. 733473 (1027. 3825) P(40)			1029.4450	fill -
-		A.S		$\sim 1$	
$\mathbf{so}_2$	$(1376.596)$ $P_{30-29}(10)$	Absorption noted	·	$X = A_1 + \frac{1}{2} band coincidences at -1$	Menzies, 1971; Shelton et al., 195
	7 37583 (1355 779) P ((9)			13/0.5/ Cm )	Yardley, 1970b;
	7 40988 (1249 55) P (11)			1330.03	Roh and Rao, 1974
1	7 41126 (1242 84) D (5)			1343.45	• • •
· .	7.44136 (1343.64) F32-31 (3)			1343.87	
	7.45781 (1340.877) $P_{32-31}$ (6)			1340.93	
	7.52561 (1328.796) $P_{32-31}$ (10)			1328.79 <del>)</del>	
	7.4237 (1347.03) Ne laser	Absorption noted		$\hat{X}^{1}A_{1}$ ( $\nu_{2}$ band coincidences at	Hanst, 1971;
•	12	•		$1346.83, 1347.55 \text{ cm}^{\pm 1}$	Shelton et al., 195
	· · · · ·	•	14 I.		. 1
				~1	
SF <sub>6</sub>	10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) 10 kW peak,	~10.5 (~952) $\nu_3$ band (U)	·	$X^{-A}$ (coincidences in $1g \mu$ , $2\mu$ , $\nu + \mu$ , bands)	Wood and Schwarz 1970
-	10 591035 (944, 1948) P(20)			3, -3, -3, -6,,	· · ·
	10.611995 (042 3841) D(22)		.1		-
	10.011365 (342.3041) P(22)			,	and the second
	10.571037 (945.9810) P(18) CO <sub>2</sub>	16 (625) $\nu_4$ band		$X^{-}A_{1g}$ (coincidences in $v_3$ ,	Knudtson and Flyn
	Q-switched laser	\$ *		203, 03+06 omios)	19138
	10.591035 (944.1948) P(20) CO <sub>2</sub> laser	~ 10.6 (~ 943) $\nu_3$ band 16 (625) $\nu_4$ band		$X^{1}A_{1g}(coincidences in \nu_3, 2\nu_3, \nu_3^+\nu_6^{\text{bands}})$	Brunet, 1967
	~ 10.6' (~ 943) CO, Q-switched	$\sim 10.6 \ (\sim 943) \nu_0 \text{ band}$	· ·	$\hat{X}^{1}$ A, (coincidences in $\nu_3$ , '	Bates et al., 1970.
	laser (CO <sub>2</sub> -He-N <sup>2</sup> <sub>2</sub> mixture)	16 (625) V, band		$^{1g_2}\nu_3, \nu_3 + \nu_6 \text{ bands})$	1971, 1972;
	<b>-</b> -	· · · 4			Bailey et al., 1971 Garbuny and
			-	·	Feichtner, 1972

and the second second

.

s, m, w. strong, medium, weak fluorescence.

.

(U), (R) unresolved, resolved.

FWHM filter characteristic, full width at half maximum transmission.

· .

28

#### PRINCIPLES INVOLVED IN ESTABLISHING THE MOLECULAR FLUORESCENCE DETECTION LIMITS

#### **FLUORESCENCE SIGNALS**

Atomic fluorescence, emission, and absorption techniques have become invaluable aids for the analytical chemist and often complement rather than compete against each other in resolving analyses problems. Their relative sensitivities have been well documented for the various elements of the periodic table. Through their importance in this role, many studies have been made determining the optimum operating conditions and establishing the factors that control the recorded signal to noise ratios (McCarthy et al., 1967; Winefordner et al., 1967 a,b; Jenkins, 1967; Parsons et al., 1967; DeGalan et al., 1967; Omenetto et al., 1973b; Svobada et al., 1973). The principles invoked describing atomic fluorescence apply equally well to molecular systems. However, the latter become more involved owing to the multitude of available rotational and vibrational levels which may be involved in either the absorption or re-emission of radiation. Consequently, a molecular fluorescence spectrum excited with a broadband continuum source generally will become complex as a result of the many levels that are populated. Recent renewed interest in the technique is a result of being able to selectively excite particular rotational and vibrational states using atomic line or laser sources. The resulting fluorescence in many cases then consists of rather simply analyzed line progressions in u". Dependent upon the radiative lifetime of the excited state, a molecule suffers many collisions with other gaseous constituents before fluorescing, and there is a certain probability that it will be quenched, either completely or partially, during this period. The fluorescence efficiency is completely controlled by the relative rates of the various radiative and quenching processes. Its spectral dependence is determined by the relative Franck-Condon factors for an electronic transition or a consequence of the appropriate selection rules for rotation-vibration transitions.

The kinetics of molecular fluorescence can be simply illustrated by the following scheme:

Absorption	$NO_2 \xrightarrow{I_a} I_r$	NO2*	
Fluorescence	$NO_2^* \xrightarrow{K_f} K$	$\frac{NO}{2} + h\nu$	• • • • • • • • •
Dissociation	$NO_2^* \xrightarrow{K_d}$	NO + O	ا میں اور

Quenching

$$NO_2^* + M \xrightarrow{k_q} NO_2 + M$$

For such a system, assuming a steady state  $NO_2^*$  concentration, the total fluorescence intensity, I<sub>f</sub>, may be expressed as:

$$I_{f} = \frac{k_{f} I_{a}}{k_{f} + k_{d} + k_{q} [M]}$$

where  $I_a$  represents the absorbed intensity.  $k_f$  has the value of  $\tau^{-1}$  where  $\tau$  is the natural radiative lifetime of the excited state involved. Any evaluation of a process involving absorption must entail a consideration of the line shapes of the exciting source and the absorbing line. This has been discussed already in the literature for atomic absorption and fluorescence cases, approximate limiting case solutions being derived for systems involving continuum or line sources, broad or narrow absorbing lines and conditions of high and low concentration levels. In the present study line sources are to be considered. The absorbing gas pressure (10 to 100 torr) is sufficiently low that an assumption of a Doppler shaped absorption line is a satisfactory approximation. Concentrations will be low and Beers absorption Law applicable:

$$\mathbf{I}_{\mathcal{V}}/\mathbf{I}_{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathbf{0}} = \exp\left(-\mathbf{n}\,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\mathcal{V}}\,\boldsymbol{\ell}\right)$$

 $I_{a}^{\nu} = I_{\nu}^{0} - I_{\nu} = I_{\nu}^{0} [1 - \exp(-n\sigma_{\nu} t)]$ 

where

 $I_{\nu}^{0} = \text{intensity of the incident radiation at frequency } \nu$   $I_{\nu} = \text{intensity of the transmitted radiation at frequency } \nu$   $I_{a}^{\nu} = \text{intensity of the radiation absorbed at frequency } \nu$   $n = \text{number density of absorbing species, cm}^{-3}$   $\sigma_{\nu} = \text{absorption cross-section, cm}^{2}, \text{ at the frequency } \nu$  l = absorbing path length in the field of view, cm.

Quite often, absorptions are described by means of an absorption coefficient,  $k_{\nu} \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ NTP}^{-1}$  (base e). This is a function of temperature, T K, and pressure, p atm, and is related to the absorption cross-section by the expression (see next page):

$$n \sigma_{\nu} = p \frac{273}{T} k_{\nu}$$

$$r \sigma_{\nu} = 3.72 \times 10^{-20} k_{\nu}$$

Two limiting cases will require consideration, those resulting from a source linewidth being broader or narrower than the absorption line. Consider a source of radiant intensity I<sub>a</sub>, watts  $cm^{-2} ster^{-1}$ , of area a<sub>s</sub>. Using a lens of area a<sub>F</sub> to collimate the radiation falling within a solid angle  $\Omega_{\rm s}$ , then the exciting radiancy is given by  $I_{\rm s} a_{\rm s} \Omega_{\rm s} / a_{\rm F}$  watts cm<sup>-2</sup>. For a laser beam of energy  $I_{\rm L}$  watts cm<sup>-2</sup> and cross-sectional area  $a_{\rm L}$  the corresponding exciting radiancy will be  $I_{\rm L} a_{\rm L} / a_{\rm F}$  watts cm<sup>-2</sup> if the beam is modified to have a cross-sectional area of  $a_{\rm F}$ .

For a continuum source, the total energy absorbed,  $I_a$ , by a spectral line can be described by the expression:

$$I_a = I_{continuum} = \frac{a_s \Omega_s}{a_r} A_T$$
, watts cm<sup>-2</sup>

0

where  $I_{continuum}^{o}$  = amplitude of the continuum radiant intensity, watts-sec cm ster<sup>-1</sup>

 $A_T$  =total absorption factor, sec<sup>-1</sup>. The fraction of the incident radiation that is absorbed in the frequency bandwidth considered.

When the exciting radiation is a line source I continuum can be replaced by:

$$I_{s} 2(\ln 2)^{1/2} / (\pi^{1/2} \Delta \nu_{s})$$

which represents the peak amplitude of the source intensity and  $\Delta \nu_s$  its line half-width (FWHM) in sec<sup>-1</sup> for a line with Gaussian contour. The  $2(\ln 2)^{1/2}/\pi^{1/2}$  factor is necessary to convert the Gaussian half-width to a triangular half-width which simplifies the calculation of line areas. Its value is close to unity. Consequently, for a line source

$$I_{a} = \frac{2(\ln 2)^{1/2}}{\pi^{1/2}} - \frac{I_{s} a_{s} \Omega_{s}}{a_{F} \Delta \nu_{s}} A_{T}, \text{ watts cm}^{-2}$$

The total absorption factor,  $A_{T}$ , is evaluated from the following expression:

· \* • • • • •

$$A_{T} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{I_{\nu}^{0} - I_{\nu}}{I_{\nu}^{0}} d\nu$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} [1 - \exp(-n\sigma_{\nu} \ell)] d\nu$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} n \sigma_{\nu} \ell d\nu, \text{ sec}^{-1}$$
  
this latter approximation holds for the small values of  $n \sigma_{\nu} \ell$  encountered in this study.

56 S S

14 Jan 14

.

. . .

Evaluation of this integral is the crux of the problem and will be derived for the two limiting cases of specific interest here.

#### (i) Absorption linewidth much narrower than the source linewidth

It has been shown by Winefordner et al. (1967 a) that the integral in the expression for A  $_{\rm T}$ under these conditions reduces to:

$$A_{T} = \frac{\pi^{1/2}}{2(\ln 2)^{1/2}} n \sigma_{0} \ell \Delta \nu_{D}, \text{ sec}^{-1}$$

where  $\sigma_0$  is the absorption cross-section at the absorption line center, and  $\Delta \nu_D$  the Doppler half-width of the absorption line,  $\sec^{-1}$ . For this case the absorbed intensity per unit area will be given by: 

$$I_{a} = \frac{I_{s} a_{s} \Omega}{a_{F}} n \sigma_{o} \ell \frac{\Delta \nu_{D}}{\Delta \nu_{s}}, \text{ watts cm}^{-2}$$

(ii) Absorption linewidth large compared to the source linewidth

In this case the integration for  $A_T$  is taken over the source line rather than the absorption line.

$$A_{\rm T} = \frac{\pi^{1/2}}{2(\ln 2)^{1/2}} \quad n \sigma_{\rm g} \ell \Delta \nu_{\rm g}, \ {\rm sec}^{-1}$$

$$I_{a} = \frac{\frac{1}{3} \frac{a}{s's}}{a_{F}} n_{s}^{\sigma} l, watts cm^{-2}$$

32

1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 -1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 -

4 . .

A third case that may also be included at this point, owing to its simple form, concerns the case where source and absorbing lines are of identical shape and are superimposed. In such a situation, the above expression reduces to:

I<sub>a</sub> = 
$$\frac{I_{s} a_{s} \Omega}{a_{F}}$$
  $\frac{n \sigma}{(2)^{1/2}}$ , watts cm<sup>-2</sup>

In order to estimate the fluorescence signal, various additional factors need to be considered. These include the fluorescing volume,  $a_F \ell \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , in the field of view, the detector solid angle,  $\Omega_F$  steradians, the fraction, f, of the total fluorescence that lies within the detector bandpass, and the transmission factor,  $\theta$ , for the detector wavelength discriminant. Taking these into account for a system as in case (ii) the total fluorescence signal incident on the photodetector can be described by the expression:

$$I_{f} = \frac{\Omega_{F}}{4\pi} f \theta \cdot \frac{k_{f}}{k_{f} + k_{d} + k_{q}} [M] \cdot I_{s} a_{s} \Omega_{s} n \sigma \ell, \text{ watts}$$

The first factor represents the detection efficiency, the second the fluorescence efficiency, and the last the exciting source energy absorbed. Factors accounting for any decrease in the intensity of the exciting radiation between the source and the field of view, and similar attenuation of the fluorescence enroute to the detector are considered to be negligible and have not been included. The expression illustrates the linear relationship between the intensity of the fluorescence and the absorbing species number density which is observed at low concentrations.

• 3

For a photomultiplier with a photocathode radiant sensitivity of C amps/watt at the detection wavelength, and with a gain of G, the fluorescence will produce an anode current,  $i_s$ , given by:

 $i_s = I_f C G$ , amps

#### THE NOISE LEVEL

The rms noise recorded by the detector can arise from various sources. It can be a result of the contributions from the electronic circuits, from the photodetector, or from the random fluctuations in the intensity of the exciting source. Background dc levels arising from scattered light or other species are regarded as interferences and do not contribute to any fluctuations. In detection systems utilizing photomultiplier tubes at very low light levels, the limit of detection is generally controlled by the tubes dark current noise level. This is the case for the NO chemiluminescent detector now in use as a stratospheric NO monitor, (Ridley et al., 1972a, b, 1974). In this analysis it has been assumed that the noise level in the exciting source can be made negligibly small or can be so controlled that detection will likewise be dark current limited. The rms anode dark current noise,  $i_{an}$ , measured with a bandwidth of  $\Delta f$  for a cathode dark current of  $i_{cd}$  amps is given by the expression:

1 . TA ...

. . .

 $i_{an} = (2 e_{cd} \Delta f)^{1/2}$  Ga, amps

where e is the electron charge,  $1.6 \times 10^{-19}$  coulombs, and 'a' is a factor which accounts for random variations in the interdynode amplification. 'a' decreases with increasing gain of the first dynode stage. Operating the tube with a high first-stage gain gives a minimum 'a' value which closely approximates to unity. With pulse counting electronics a = 1 because the contribution of every photoelectron to the recorded signal is made equal by pulse shaping. Manufacturers generally quote the tubes anode or cathode dark current, or occasionally give the equivalent noise input of the tube. The latter represents a value of the radiant flux or the incident luminosity that would produce a signal equal to that of the dark current noise level.

Tubes of high sensitivity and low dark current noise level are required in the detection of very low light levels. Cooling to  $-20^{\circ}$ C generally will be necessary to reduce the noise level to as low a value as possible. Dependent upon the photocathode material, this can decrease the tube's noise level by several orders of magnitude and is one way of producing a significant improvement in detection performance.

In this analysis, the limit of detection will be defined as the concentration level at which the mean fluorescence signal is equal to the rms variations of any dc background signal. The latter variation will be assumed to approximate to that of the tube's dark current noise level.

#### **OPTIMUM CONDITIONS**

100

A comparison of the equations representing the fluorescence signal and the dark current noise illustrate the various requirements for optimum sensitivity. These may be summarized as:

(i) A source with as high an intensity as possible, concentrated in the fluorescence cell.

(ii) A system with a high photon absorption cross-section.

(iii), Dissociation and collisional quenching rates of the excited state should be small compared to the rate of fluorescence.

(iv) A light collection system of high efficiency with as long a fluorescing

path length as possible in its field of view.

(v) Fluorescence bands of high transition probability require to be monitored.

- (vi) A photomultiplier tube of high cathode radiant sensitivity at the fluorescing wavelength region and low cathode dark current. Tube gain is not a S/N controlling factor.
- (vii) The fluorescent detector bandpass should be spectrally removed as far as possible from the exciting wavelength so that scattered light can be efficiently discriminated against by choosing appropriate filter and photomultiplier characteristics.

For the low level concentrations to be considered in these present analyses, gas sample flow rates through the fluorescence cell will not be a controlling factor. In the NO chemiluminescent reactor, radiation resulting from the NO +  $O_3$  chemical reaction is monitored and the detection system is optimum for high flow rates. This results from the requirement to maintain NO and  $O_3$  concentrations as large as possible in the field of view. In fluorescence studies, although the effective lifetime of the excited state is very short, reversion to the initial ground level state will not occur directly but via a chain of vibrational relaxation steps. At the low concentration levels and the low absorption rates being considered here, only in cases where a very intense source is used in a system with a relatively large absorption cross-section, will a substantial fraction of the absorbing species be excited. Even so, at the pressures in the cell, rotational relaxation wfll rapidly equilibrate the absorbing state and no saturation effects are to be expected. Consequently, there would appear to be little reason to invoke high flow rates through the cell in the majority of cases.

#### EXPERIMENTAL PARAMETERS

#### EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS

In a general discussion, experimental parameters are always difficult to tie down to specific values if many options are available for the individual systems of interest. For instance, in the present case, sources may consist of a laser beam, a hollow cathode line source or an RF excited molecular source. The latter two would require a certain degree of collimation using a lens or, possible, a concave reflecting mirror and lens assembly for greater collection efficiency of the radiating light. In such cases it has been assumed that an f/2 system can be designed to couple the source energy into the fluorescing cell. That is the source has an effective aperture of  $4\pi/64$  steradians. Similarly, the detector arrangement might be one of several. Three possible approaches are illustrated in Figure 1. The photomultiplier tube, fitted with an appropriate interference filter may be placed close to the beam to maximize a collection solid angle with auxiliary mirrors on the opposite side of the beam to increase the efficiency. Another approach might utilize an inverse cassagrain (convex/torroidal concave) mirror system (West and Cresser, 1973) or an elliptical reflector. An f/2 collection efficiency should be attainable with such systems and will be the assumed solid angle in these assessments. The calculated detection limits can be scaled accordingly if superior or inferior systems are designed. Observed beam length will be assumed equal to the size of the photomultiplier photocathode. These vary in dimensions and improvement realized in a lower dark current noise level from a smaller photocathode will have to be offset against the reduced light collection solid angle of the detector unless some focusing system is incorporated.

The transmission characteristics of an interference filter depend on the angle of incidence of light falling on the filter face. Its peak transmission is shifted to shorter wavelengths for off-normal incident light. With filters in the ultraviolet through near infrared regions the magnitude of this shift can be predicted by the equation:

$$\lambda_{\varphi} = \lambda_{\rm N} \left(1 - \sin^2 \varphi / b^2\right)^{1/2}$$

where  $\varphi$  = angle of incidence, measured from the normal

 $\lambda_{ij}$  = wavelength of peak transmission at an angle  $\varphi$ 

 $\lambda_{N}$  = wavelength of peak transmission at normal incidence

b = effective refractive index of the filter material, typically ~1.7.



We appreciate the second of the Area State and the second second

This has to be considered in assessing the actual filter transmission bandpass, and it generally imposes a certain restriction on the accepted angles of incidence. The latter can be controlled by placing a honeycomb grid in front of the filter face. The magnitude of the shift in the peak transmission for light at several wavelengths and at various angles of incidence is illustrated in Table IV. It is to be noted that at larger angles these shifts are quite significant. Restriction of the field of view, although undesirable from the S/N point of view will be necessary to maintain a desired wavelength bandpass.

λ <sub>N</sub> , nm	5 <sup>0</sup>	10 <sup>0</sup>	20 <sup>0</sup>	30 <sup>0</sup>	40 <sup>0</sup>	50 <sup>0</sup>	. •
300	0.39	1.57	6.13	13.3	22.3	32.2	
<b>500</b>	0.66	2.61	10.2	22.1	37.1	53.6	•
700	0.92	3.66	14.3	31.0	52.0	75.1	۰,
900	1.18	4.71	18.4	39.8	66.8	96.5	
						· • .	

TABLE IV. Wavelength Shift (nm) of the Peak Transmission of an Interference Filter with Angle of Incidence  $\varphi$ 

Measurements will be made on flowing atmospheric samples brought into the aircraft by ram flow lines. These samples will flow directly through the fluorescence cell and will be at slightly higher pressure than the ambient static pressure at the particular altitude due to this sampling technique. A pressurized system can be invoked if the sensitivity for a particular system is pressure dependent and there is a requirement to maximize the response. Although this is undesirable, if it can be avoided, calculations for atmospheric pressure samples have been included in this report for comparison.

#### SOURCE INTENSITIES

Fluorescence studies require intense light sources, free of self-absorption, with relatively narrow lines and possessing minimum drift and intensity fluctuation characteristics. Such sources are of prime importance particularly for atomic absorption and atomic fluorescence analytical studies. As a result of extensive development efforts, spurred by the wide-scale, general acceptance of these techniques, a multitude of hollow cathode and RF or microwave, excited electrodeless discharge lamps have become available. In assessing the feasibility of any experiment incorporating such sources a problem arises owing to the limited documentation available concerning the absolute lamp intensities and line shape characteristics. Manufacturers

. · .

1

. .

of hollow cathode and electrodeless discharge lamps tend to provide only the relative intensities of the various lines emitted by a particular lamp together with the analytical detection sensitivity measured on a particular atomic absorption spectrophotometer. Consequently, comparison of lamps of one manufacturer with another is rather difficult since this sensitivity is a function of the entire instrumentation system employed and depends for example on the particular flame burner efficiency, fuel mixture, light geometry and detection electronics.

For specificity, fluorescence studies require the isolation of a single exciting line from others emitted by the source. This is generally achieved with a selective filter which may be either an interference or glass filter, a chemical filter (Muel and Malpiece, 1969), an absorption cell or a combination of these.

The suitability of four types of line sources, namely, metal vapor, hollow cathode, electrodeless discharge lamps, and lasers, will now be described in some detail.

#### Metal Vapor Discharge Lamps

Osram and Philips gas discharge spectral lamps have been commercially available for many years. Although available for only a limited number of elements, these have become a convenient standard laboratory light source. Lamps are available for Zn, Cd, Hg; He, Ne, Ar, Kr, Xe; Na, K, Rb, Cs; Ga, In, Tl. Generally more intense than hollow cathode lamps, these can be subject to strong line-broadening and self-absorption effects. However, the Zn, Cd and Tl sources have been used quite extensively in analysis work (Winefordner and Mansfield, 1967). The Hg and alkali metal lamps are highly self-reversed; other metal vapor lamps such as In and Ga are very weak. The lamps generally show a continuum background radiation. To illustrate the magnitude of the intensity to be expected for some of the strongest lines emitted, together with the corresponding background at these wavelengths, Table V has been compiled from some literature supplied for the various Osram lamps. In cases where the background radiation cannot be ignored, steps have to be taken to discriminate against it by selectively isolating the particular line of interest with a narrow bandpass filter.

Where coincidence with a narrow absorption line is important, some consideration is necessary of the isotopic splitting of the source lines in lamps containing a natural isotopic mixture of the element. Zn, Cd, and Tl all have two or more major stable isotopes. Herzberg (1944), for example, quotes the separation between the  $^{64}$ Zn and  $^{68}$ Zn atomic ion lines at about 0.2 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the vicinity of 620 nm which is an order of magnitude larger than the corresponding Doppler

:		The Strongest Lines and Corresponding Background Intensities for Various Osram Spectral Lamps							
	Туре	$\lambda$ , nm	Line Intensity W cm <sup>-2</sup> ster	$\frac{7}{1}$ (x 10 <sup>4</sup> )	Continuum Inter W cm <sup>-2</sup> ster <sup>-1</sup>	nsity 4m <sup>-1</sup> (x 10 <sup>4</sup> )			
	Cđ	326.1 480.0 508.6	31 22 25		1.5 1.4 1.3	· · · · ·			
	Cs	455.5) 459.3) 658.6 697.3	1.2 1.2 1.5		4.0 13 13	1997 - 1997 -			
· *	Не	587.6 667.8 706.5	44 12 7		2.7 1.9 2.7				
· · ·	Hg	253.6 312.6] 313.2]	5 <b>20</b> 1200		$4 \times 10^{-5}$ 1 × 10 <sup>-5</sup>				
		365.0 366.3 404.6 407.8	1330 500		$1 \times 10^{-5}$ 5 x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	· · · ·			
	· · ·	435.8 546.1 577.0	700 800 660	н • 1	$<5 \times 10^{-6}$ < 5 x 10 <sup>-6</sup> < 5 x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	National de la Astro 19 - La Astro 19 - La Astro-			
	К	404.4 404.7 691.1	0.55		0.4				
; '		693.9) 766.5) 769.9)	0.45 114	•	0.7 1.1	, ,			
	Rb	420.2 421.5 620.6 629.8	0.9 1.1		1.5 1.0				
. '		775.8 775.9 780.0	138	. <u>'</u>	45				
. `	Tl	377.6 535.0	14 24	•••••	0.6 0.8				
		330.3 334.5 468.0] 472.2	6.5 20		1.0 1.1 1.3				
	:	481.0	21		1.3				

Table	V.
-------	----

width of a line at room temperature. Hyperfine splitting for those isotopes having nuclear spin also has to be considered in such cases. Bismuth, for example, has no isotopes but four hyperfine components in its 412.2 nm line resulting from a nuclear spin, I = 9/2. The resulting total splitting is of the order of 2.6 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Herzberg, 1944). Consequently, these two effects which are relevant to any type of atomic line source, may severely impair the amount of energy in the source that overlaps the absorption feature. A lamp consisting of only the pertinent isotope would then increase its useful output. The consequences of hyperfine nuclear splitting cannot be avoided and necessarily imply a reduced coupling efficiency with a narrow absorption line.

#### Hollow Cathode Lamps

These lamps are available for more than 65 elements, the major suppliers being - Perkin-Elmer, Varian, Beckman, Westinghouse, and EMI. Several years ago, for a limited period, lamps were manufactured incorporating two discharges, one to produce the cathodic sputtering and the second to excite the atomic vapor. At the time, intensity enhancements of one to two orders of magnitude were achieved over the conventional design (West and Cresser 1973). These are no longer available. Improvements in design and a recognition that the brightness was a strong function of the filler gas made the conventional lamp sufficiently intense for its major application in atomic absorption spectrophotometers. Hollow cathode lamps are not a particularly intense source of line radiation and comparison of the various manufacturers' lamps is difficult through a lack of absolute spectral radiancy data. Prugger (1969) has reported their absolute intensities and compared them with other radiation sources. His data is reproduced in Figures 2 and 3. If operated in the usual continuous current mode the intensities are generally less than an available metal discharge lamp. However, the lamps do provide excellent stability with low noise. Neon or argon gases are used as fillers and their presence has to be borne in mind. The resulting neon emission will offer most interference in the 330 to 370 and 500 to 650 nm regions, argon in the 400 to 500 nm region. The temperature of the discharge is moderate so that Doppler widths of the spectral lines are reasonably small. Wagenaar and DeGalan (1973) measured the shape for various lines emitted for nine elements (Al, Ca, Cr, Ga, In, K, Mn, Mo, and Ti) operating at a low current level. Their data, reproduced in Table VI gives Doppler temperatures ranging from 400 to 700 K. Increasing the lamp current as a means of increasing the emission causes a broadening of the linewidth beyond that generally desired and self-absorption becomes increasing severe. These workers also indicated that, except for a few elements (Ca. Si), hyperfine structure is the most



Figure 2. Radiation of the Sensitive Resonance Lines of Commercially Available Hollow Cathode Lamps (from Prugger, 1969)

42

; :



Figure 3. Comparison of the radiation from several hollow cathode lamps (o-o), high intensity lamps, with (+-+) and without (x - x) additional arc, respectively, metal vapor lamps with the specified current (△ -△) or reduced current (▲ -▲) of 0.8 amps for Cd, Cs, K, Na, and 1.3 amps for Zn. Concentrated glow discharge (■ - ■) from Grimm (1968) and electrodeless high-frequency lamp data from Mansfield et al. (1968). By way of comparison, the intensities of a continuum, 0.003 nm bandwidth are illustrated: black body Xe arc XBO 450 (+ - - - +) at its maximum, W ribbon at 3000 K (from Prugger, 1969).

Figure 2: Article of the structure and structure former. Some of a second structure for the line of the structure former.

Transition (λ in nm)	Make <sup>a</sup>	Current (mA)	Experimental Profile Width (10 <sup>-3</sup> cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Doppler Temp. (K)
Al 394.4	PEI	7	142 + 0.5	440 + 10
Al 396.1	PEI	7	86 <u>+</u> 1	$480 + 20_{m}$
CaI 422.7	PEI	6	65 <u>+</u> 1	590 <u>+</u> 20 <sup>g</sup>
CaII 393.3	PEI	8	65 + 1.5	510 <u>+</u> 25
CaII 396.8	PEI	8	64 + 2	$500 \pm 30$ h
Cr 425.4	PEI	10	61 + 1	$(680 \pm 20)^{0}$
Ga 403.3	VT	6	223 + 1	550 <del>+</del> 10
Ga 417.2	VT	6	101 + 0.5	570 + 20
In 410.2	ASL	6	$44.4 + 1^{d}$	630 + 40
K 404.4	PE	7	62 + 1	430 + 10
K 404.7	PE	7	60 + 1.5	410 + 15
K 404.4	of	1200	119 + 1	1200 + 100
K 404.7	of	1200	109 + 0.5	1000 + 100
Mn 403.1	ASL	7	· ·	720 + 10
Mn 403.3	ASL	7		625 + 10
Mn 403.4	ASL	7		630 + 10
Mo 390.3	ASL	9	75 + 2	$(1600 + 100)^{D}$
Ti 398.2	PE	15	80 + 2	$(945 + 30)^{b}$
Ti 399.0	PE	15	74 + 2	$(815 + 30)^{b}$
Ti 399.8	PE	15	74 <u>+</u> 2	(815 <u>+</u> 30) <sup>b</sup>
		·	· · ·	
				τ, <sub>γ</sub> μ
(a) Hollow-c ASL is Atomi Vapour disch	athode lamps: ic Spectral La arge lamp: O	PE(I) is Perkin mps. is Osram (lamp	-Elmer (Intensitron), N was air cooled to reduc	VT is Varian Techtron, ce self-absorption).
(b) effective	values calcula	ted from overall	profiles without spectr	rum simulation.
(d) single co	mponent line v	vidth not correct	ed for instrument broad	lening.
(f) red shift shows $\Delta \sigma_n^0$	relative to hol $.090 \text{ cm}^{-1}, \Delta$	low-cathode line $\sigma^{\rm C}$ 0.032 cm <sup>-1</sup> , a	in $10^{-3}$ cm <sup>-1</sup> is 6 ± 2: a-value 0.3 ± 0.1.	profile analysis
		ton compositor fo		-

:

· . ·

· · · · · ·

.. ·

. .

• •

.

.

Table VI. Linewidths and Doppler Temperatures of Various Hollow Cathode Lamps (from Wagenaar and DeGalan, 1973)

2. 21. 42.

÷.,

÷ .

.

·, \_•,

.

\$° .

and a second second

· · · · · · ·

important factor in determining the profile of atomic transitions. Bruce and Hannaford (1971) have extensively studied the line profiles for a calcium hollow cathode lamp and report linewidths predominantly controlled by the Doppler component.

Improvements in lamp design since Prugger's experiments undoubtedly have taken place and it may not be unrealistic to assume that such lamps may now be available with slightly higher intensities than those illustrated in Figure 2.

Dawson and Ellis (1967), Weide and Parsons (1972) and Omenetto et al. (1973a) have assessed hollow cathode line sources utilized in a pulsed mode in atomic absorption and atomic fluorescence spectrometry. It has been noted that lamps that normally are operated continuously at some arbitrary current will provide much higher peak radiancies if pulsed at greater current levels. In the normal mode, in order to maintain a satisfactory heat dissipation in the lamp, the current flow has to be limited. Pulsing at much higher current levels enhances the intensity output by at least one to two orders of magnitude without sacrificing the desired line shape characteristics. In addition there is no corresponding increase in the intensity of the spectrum of the filler gas. The enhancement obtained is greatest with the metals of lower melting points. For others, a supplementary low constant current through the lamp is necessary. Results obtained for detection limits using hollow cathode lamps operating in such modes compared well with those obtained with intense electrodeless discharge lamps. In this pulsed mode, lamps generally are operated with a low dc current component upon which are superimposed short pulses  $(15-100 \,\mu sec)$  of up to at least ten times the normal current rating at frequencies up to a kilohertz. Linewidths appear unchanged (Dawson and Ellis, 1967; Katskov et al., 1969). For the copper hollow cathode lamp, for example, optimum operating conditions were found to be: dc component 0.4 mA, pulse current 300 mA, pulse width 15  $\mu$ sec, pulse frequency 400 Hz. These conditions produced a 200-fold gain in light output over dc operation at the same mean current.

#### Electrodeless Discharge Lamps - Atomic

Analytical work has stimulated the development of radio-frequency and the more commonly used microwave powered discharge tubes as intense and economical sources for more than 50 elements (Mansfield et al., 1968; Zacha et al., 1968). Excited by suitable coils, antennas, or resonant microwave cavities, such lamps produce stable, narrow resonance lines with little if any self-reversal (Bazhov and Zherebenko, 1971; Browner and Winefordner, 1973). This is due to the nature of the discharge which maintains an intense relatively thin layer of excited material near the lamp wall. Their preparation, operation and performance has been reviewed most recently by Haarsma et al. (1974). Although Headridge and Richardson (1970) did report comparable detection limits for several electrodeless discharge lamps and hollow cathode tubes, the superiority of the former, in the majority of cases by several orders of magnitude is now well established. Smith (1971a) has illustrated their performance for various elements relative to other light sources; his data is reproduced in Table VII. Typical intensities for several such lamps are illustrated in Tables VIII and IX for 2450 MHz and radio-frequency (17-120 MHz) excitations. The latter also lists some measured line half-widths. Jansen et al. (1974) have compared electrodeless discharge lamps (EDL) and hollow cathode lamps (HCL) for strontium. Whereas the EDL gave a half-width (FWHM) of about (7-10) x  $10^{-4}$  nm independent of microwave power the dc HCL hulf-width increased from about (7-20) x  $10^{-4}$  with increasing current and up to 25 x  $10^{-4}$  nm at its maximum rating at which it was heavily self-reversed.

Generally home-made, such tubes are available commercially from Ophthos Instruments, and EMI. Perkin-Elmer now are introducing a line of radio-frequency (27.5 MHz) excited discharge lamps (As, Cd, Sb, Se, Sn, Te) having very similar dimensions to their Intensitron hollow cathode lamps and equally easy to use. Intensities reportedly are 5 to 10 times better than the hollow cathode sources. Vacuum uv line sources for H, O, N, S, C, F, Cl, Br, I, Xe and Kr also have been developed with intensities greater than at least  $10^{14}$  quanta sec<sup>-1</sup> (Davis and Braun, 1968; Clyne and Cruse, 1971, 1972; Bemand and Clyne, 1973).

Intensities are a function of the exciting frequency and can be several orders of magnitude more intense in microwave than in radio-frequency discharges. Also, the process that gradually discolors the walls of the tube and shortens the lamp life, referred to as 'clean-up' proceeds more slowly at higher frequencies. Electronic modulation of such lamps often improves the lamp's noise level and drift, besides also prolonging lamp lifetime (Haarsma et al., 1974). When thermostated and operated at the correct temperature, the 2450 MHz excited source appears to be the most intense, stable and long-lived source presently used in atomic absorption or fluorescence work (Browner and Winefordner, 1973).

#### Electrodeless Discharge Lamps - Molecular

Such lamps have been used in molecular absorption studies particularly for OH, NO and CO and have been excited with radio or microwave frequency discharges. Carrington and Broida (1958) compared 150 MHz, 2450 MHz and 9000 MHz excitation of OH in a flowing

	•. ;	By Using Differ	rent Excitation Lig	ht Sources <sup>a</sup> (from (	Smith, 1971a)
	a. († 135	• • • • • • • • • • •		• .•	
		· · · ·		4 <sup>2</sup>	<u>.</u>
<u>R</u>	Element line,	150-Watt Xe arc	"Intensitron" hollow cathode	High-intensity hollow cathode	Electrodeless discharge tube
~.(`	, A <u>}</u>	(b)	. <b>(b)</b>	(C)	(d)
-	Ag 3281	0.2	0.003	0.002 <sup>e</sup>	0.02
	As 1937	• • •	• • •	1.0	0.4
	Bi 3068	200	10	• • •	0.1
	Cd 2288	2.0	0.1	• • •	0.0001
	Cr 3579 -	- 10	20		0.05
	Co 2407	2.0	0.2	0.04	0.04
	Cu 3247	0.3	0.01	0.001	0.03
	Fe 2483	1.0	0.4	0.1	0.008
	Ga 4172	5.0	0.5	•••	0.3
. •	In 4105	2.0	0.2	• • •	1.0
	Mg 2852	0.1	0.01	0.001 f	• • •
	Mn 2795	0.5	0.05	• • •	0.01
	Ni 2320	3.0	0.1	0.003	0.006
	РЬ 4058	3.0	1.0	0.02	0.06
	Zn 2138	20	0.05	• • •	0.0002

Table VII. Detection Limits (#g cm<sup>-3</sup>) in Atomic Fluorescence Obtained By Using Different Excitation Light Sources<sup>a</sup> (from Smith, 1971a)

"The results given have been obtained on modified, commercially available, atomic absorption instruments, namely, Perkin-Elmer PE 303 (b, c), Hilger AA2 (d), and Techtron AA4 (e, f). Although not the best detection limits appearing in the literature, these results have been chosen because they represent the fairest comparison of the several light sources used.

.

. . <sup>. .</sup> .

. . .

1 1. 9.1

• . •

.

• .

47

y 200 - 100

*.* .

and the second second

1. E

1.54

4.

· .

11<sup>11</sup>

. .

				<u> </u>	
Eloment-lino (Å)	Output power microwavo supply (percent)	Sourco intensity (W/cm² sternd)	Source r.m.s. Noise† $(W/cm^2 storad^{-1}/(\Delta f))$	Source drift‡ (W/cm² storad/min)	Self- reversal§
	10	$4 \times 10^{-3}$	$3 \times 10^{-7}$	4 × 10 <sup>-7</sup> (B)	· 8
Hg 2537**	10	$3 \times 10^{-3}$	$3 \times 10^{-6}$	$1 \times 10^{-4}(L)$	S
Ga 4172	90	$3 \times 10^{-3}$	$3 \times 10^{-5}$	$3 \times 10^{-3}(O)$	. <b>G</b>
Cd 2288	100	$2 imes 10^{-3}$	$4 \times 10^{-6}$	$2 \times 10^{-5}(0)$	S
In 4105	90	$1 \times 10^{-3}$	$- < 1 \times 10^{-6}$	$<3 \times 10^{-9}$	8
In 4105††	100	$1 \times 10^{-5}$	$2 \times 10^{-6}$	$4 \times 10^{-3}(0)$	G
Zn 2139	100	$6 \times 10^{-4}$	$2 \times 10^{-5}$	$1 \times 10^{-4}(0)$	S
T1 3776 ++++	100	$5 \times 10^{-4}$	$1 \times 10^{-6}$	$2 \times 10^{-4}(0)$	· 8
TI 3776§§.***	100	$4 \times 10^{-4}$	$3 \times 10^{-6}$	$4 \times 10^{-5}(0)$	8
To 2143	100	$4 \times 10^{-4}$	$3 \times 10^{-6}$	$2 \times 10^{-5}$ (L)	·
Mn 2794	90	$2 \times 10^{-4}$	$8 \times 10^{-8}$	$3 \times 10^{-9}(L)$	· 8
Mn 2794 <b>††</b>	100	$2 \times 10^{-4}$			G
Cu 3248	60	$2 \times 10^{-4}$	$8 \times 10^{-7}$	$2 \times 10^{-6}$ (O)	<sup>'</sup> S
Cu 3248	60	$2 \times 10^{-4}$	$1 \times 10^{-6}$	$1 \times 10^{-5}(0)$	S
Cu 3248††	100	$7 \times 10^{-5}$	$6 \times 10^{-6}$	$2 \times 10^{-7}$ (L)	, S
Sn 2863	70	$1 \times 10^{-4}$	$8 \times 10^{-7}$	$8 \times 10^{-6}(0)$	G
Bi 3068††	100	$5 \times 10^{-5}$	$1 \times 10^{-6}$	$2 \times 10^{-6}$ (L)	S
Bi 3068	90	$5 \times 10^{-5}$	$5 \times 10^{-7}$	$1 \times 10^{-6}(L)$	S
Mg 2852	100	$4 \times 10^{-5}$	$8 \times 10^{-7}$	$5 \times 10^{-6}(O)$	) G
Pb 4057	100	$1 \times 10^{-5}$	$3 \times 10^{-7}$	$2 \times 10^{-6}$ (O) . *	1 8
Pb 2833	100	$4 \times 10^{-6}$	$3 \times 10^{-7}$	$8 \times 10^{-7}$ (O)	S
Ag 3281	100	$7  imes 10^{-6}$	$1 \times 10^{-7}$	$4 \times 10^{-7}$ (B)	, <b>S</b>
Au 2676	100	$1 \times 10^{-6}$	$1 \times 10^{-8}$	$3 \times 10^{-8}$ (L)	់ន
Co 2407	100	$5 \times 10^{-7}$		$1 \times 10^{-7}$ (B)	S

#### Table VIII. Spectral Characteristics of 2450 MHz Frequency, Electrodeless Discharge Lamps (from Mansfield et al., 1968)

\* Elements are listed in order of decreasing source intensities. Lamps of Se and As were not measured because their resonance lines were outside the spectral response of the detector. Lamps of Sb, Fe, Ni, Ba, and Ca emitted resonance lines too weak to be detected. All lamps were 9 mm i.d., had 2 mm argon pressure, and were made from the metal iodide except for the following: the commercial Hg lamp (see footnote §); the Zn, Cd, Te, and Hg lamps were made from the metals; the amalgam lamps (see footnote \*\*) were made from the metals and were 11 mm i.d.; the second copper lamp in the table is 5 mm i.d.; the Mn and Bi lamps have 10 mm argon pressure and 9 mm i.d. An intensity of 10<sup>-3</sup> W/cm<sup>2</sup> sterad for a 9 mm i.d. lamp corresponds to a total output radiant power of about 0.15 W.

† Source r.m.s. noise and source drift are relative to the source intensity for the specified metal and line. The frequency response bandwidth of the electrometer-amplifier-readout system is 1 Hz.

<sup>‡</sup> O, slow oscillatory drift. L, long torm drift. B, slow oscillatory drift superimposed on long term drift. § S, no measurable self-reversal. G, measurable self-reversal.

·\* ·\* ·

الوحد بيني والمراجع

\*\* Commercial lamp (Ophthos Instrument Co., Rockville, Md.)

†† Amalgam lamps (lamps contain a small quantity of morcury and 2 mm argon prossure as woll as a small amount of motal).

11 TI lamp operated with no central arc column.

§§ TI lamp operated with a central arc column.

\*\*\* A heated nichrome wire was wrapped around the bulb of the TI lamp.

Table IA.	Basic Characteristics of Electrodeless Discharge Lamps												
	at 17-120 MHz Excitation Frequencies (from Baronov et al., 1969)												

¥	Style *	Element	Line, nm	Max. striking current (mA)	Min. Cn	rren mA tido	ng,	Line output at opt current (mW/ster- cm <sup>5</sup> )	Half-width, nm at opt. current	Working life (h) at opt. current	Main lines emitted, nm
	H	Na	589,0	140	90	170	180	2,1	0,01	1000	589,6; 589,0; 818,3: 819,4
	ij	Rb	780,0	120	70	86	130	9,3	0,02	1000	420,0; 421,5;
	II	Cs	852,0	200	75	80	110	5,8	0,08	1000	455,5; 459,3; 807,9; 852,0;
	п	K ·	769,9	140	90	120	140	6,1	0,02	1000	894,3; 1002,4; 1012,4 404,4; 404,7;
	II	Cd	<b>50</b> 8,6	180	100	150	160	5,0	0,006	1000	466,4; 769,9; 228,8; 298,0; 346,6;
		Zn	481,0	200	140	60 175 60	175	1,2	0,003	1000	508,6; 643,8; 734,6; 738,5 213,8; 328,2; 330,2; 334,5; 468,0; 472,2; 481,0; 636,2
	п	Те	535,0	180	175	260	275	1,3	0,0024	100	322,9; 315,9; 276, 8;
•••	IÌ	Hg	435,8	260	125	155	22 <b>0</b>	0,8	0,003	300	377.5; 535,0 365.0; 404.7; 435.8; 546,1; 579.0; 253.6; 296,7; 312,6; 334.0
	11 11 11 11 11 11 11 - 11	Bi Sb In Pb Sn Cn Se	306,8 231,1 303,9 283,3 286,3 324,7 203,9	250 250 250 250 250 250 250	260 200 160 200 80 120 80	260 240 160 260 100 140 100	260 260 240 260 100 180 100	5 2,5 0,75 0,75 0,27 4 	0,003 0,003 0,006 0,0013 0,002 0,003 	200 200 50 200 200 50 200	289,8; 222,8; 223,1; 306, 8 252,8; 206,8; 217,5; 231,1 451,1; 410,2; 325,8; 303,9 405,8; 217,0; 283,3 452,5; 317,5; 286,3; 224,6 521,8; 578,2; 324,7; 327,4 473,1; 207,5; 206,3; 203,9

\* I 1 cm diameter lamp

11

.

 $\epsilon_{\rm MAC}$ 

II 2 cm diameter lamp

Filled with xenon, 1-3 torr

stream containing a trace of  $H_2O$  in argon at low pressure. The highest frequency discharge produced only weak emission. Spectral intensities from sources utilizing the other frequencies were not particularly different, although their overall rotational distributions did vary significantly. The radiation was concentrated in the  $A^2 \Sigma^+ \rightarrow X^2\Pi$  (0,0) vibrational band. Houghton and Jachimowski (1970) have used a 28 MHz excitation frequency. As normally operated, such lamps emit narrow lines of Doppler shape very suitable for analytical studies (Kaufman and DelGreco, 1963). Intense CO (4th positive) bands (140-200 nm) radiate from discharge lamps containing traces of CO or CO<sub>2</sub> (Slanger and Black, 1969; Comes and Fink, 1972). Felder et al. (1970) indicate combined output of about 10<sup>15</sup> quanta sec<sup>-1</sup>. Kurzeg et al. (1957) and Young also have investigated discharges in  $N_2/O_2$  mixtures as a source of the NO band systems. A high voltage discharge between electrodes in flowing water vapor/argon or nitrogen, oxygen, argon mixtures at low pressure in a capillary tube has been used for OH and NO absorption studies, respectively (McGregor et al., 1972). Urani et al. (1973, 1974) have excited NO emission by applying a 27 MHz radio-frequency discharge between parallel plates in a cell.

#### Laser Line Sources

Lasers surpass the limitations of incoherent sources in many ways; they can radiate more energy, produce short pulses, have narrower spectral lines and be better collimated and focused. Table X has been compiled from a "Laser Selection Guide" (1973) and the Laser Focus Buyers Guide (1974) to illustrate which lasers are currently available on the commercial market and give an indication of their power levels and operating wavelengths. The models, cw or pulsed, can be categorized into one of four types, gas, solid state, liquid dye, or semiconductor.

Gas lasers, in most common use for practical applications, utilize either an electric discharge, a chemical reaction, or gas-dynamic flow to produce the population inversion. Their dimensions generally are not small since power output depends primarily on length, which can be a meter or more. Available power levels are constantly increasing. Alferov et al. (1973), for example, now have reported the initial development of the 500 W cw argon ion laser. The natural lifetimes of the excited levels involved in a laser transition are relatively short,  $10^{-8}$  sec is typical for an atomic transition, so that the natural linewidth

 $\Delta \nu_{N} = (2\pi \tau)^{-1}, \text{ sec}^{-1}$ 

	· ·	cw		· · ·		Pulsed	•		
Read and the T	Wave- length, nm	Туре	Power, W	Wave- length, nm	Туре	Pulse Energy, J	Rep Rate, Hz	Max Average Power output, W	-
	226	Quad	0.1	265	Quad Nd.	0.0025-0.0750	0.02-50	1.0	
	\$25 ·	Nd. Yag ' He. Cd	0.001-0.015	266	Glass Quad	(1-10) X 10 <sup>-5</sup>	0. 5-24. 000	0. 2	•
				•	Nd. Yag	_8	•		
	350/356	Kr 4- <sup>+</sup>	0.040-0.500	337	N <sub>2</sub>	3 X 10 - 0. 3	1-1000	8,0	
	301/304	<b>л</b> г	0.020-0.740	941	ruby	0. 020-0. 150	ř-20	1.0	
हैं से किस में कि		• •	•	850/356	Kr <sup>+</sup>	10 <sup>-8</sup>	20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0.2	
				351/364	Ar <sup>+</sup>	2 X 10 <sup>-8</sup>	20 X 10	0.4	
						5 X 10	50-8000	0.15	
	1			354	Nd. Glass	0.020	1-50	1.0.	· •
	· .			364	Xe <sup>+</sup>	50 X 10 <sup>-6</sup> .	10	0.5mW	•
	. : .						6		
Visible	442	He. Cd	0.005-0.050	442	He. Cd	(5,0-7.5) X 10	10-	0.015	•
.:	-462/676	Kr <sup>+</sup>	0.025-20	404/014	AF .	$(0.008 - 1.0) \times 10^{-6}$	20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	10.0	
	402, 010			462/676	Kr <sup>+</sup>	(20-60) X 10 <sup>-6</sup>	60	4.0mW	
	460/627	Xe <sup>+</sup>	?	<i>,</i>		0.5 X 10 <sup>-6</sup>	20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	19.0	
	532	Doubled Nd. Yag	0.010-2	495/596	Xe <sup>+</sup>	(80-150) X 10 <sup>-6</sup>	10-60	0.010	
	633	He. Ne	0.0001-0.0500	473/679	Doubled Nd. Yag	(0. 2-1. 0) X 10 <sup>-3</sup>	30-75	0.075	
	670	Doubled Nd. Yag	1.0	511	Cu	(0. 4-1. 0) X 10 <sup>-3</sup>	1000	1.0	
	525-700	Tunable dye	0.050-1.50	532	Doubled Nd. Yag	0.0002-0.50	0. 5-24, 000	4.8	
• <b>1</b>		•	• ,	530	Doubled Nd. Glass	0.35-2.0	0.03-0.06	4.0	
f haj	· · ·	• .	-	. 540 🔍	Ne	30 X 10-6	1-500	0.015	
				633	He. Ne	10-9	10	0.001	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•		•	694	Ruby	0.005-400	0.01-10	100.0	
1			1 e .	XX0-880	dye	5 x 10 - 10.0	0.02-2000	10.0	
			. '	415-3400	Para- metric	(5-70) X 10 <sup>-0</sup>	1-2000	0.1	
·					oscil-	1		•	
• • • • •			. •		JECOT		-		
Red-Near IR	782/799	Kr <sup>+</sup>	0.030-0.150	850	GaAlAs diode	(0. 3-27. 0) X 10 <sup>-6</sup>	1000-5000	0.027	
	1064	Nd. Yag	0.100-1000	852	GaAs diode	(0. 050-3. 0) X 10 <sup>-3</sup>	10,000	80.0	
	1840	Nd. Yag	0.100-12.0	1060	Nd. Glass	1 X 10 <sup>-9</sup> -1000	0. 002-50	225	•
a state a	1152	He. Ne	0.0007-0.0800	1064	Nd. Yag	0.0001-100.0	0. 03-50, 000 A	100	
						1.5 X 10	(100-200) X 10"	0.8	•
	•••	· .		, 946/1358 1840	NG. YEG	70 X 10 -0.001	30-75 0. 5-10	0.6	· ·
	· .		·· · ·	1817	Ar	0.002	10	0.02	
mhoved	3. 391 µm	HR. Ne	50 X 10 <sup>-6</sup> -0 090	9 0/9 0	Te Ye	0 0001-0 0090	10-50	0:09	
	5.0/5.54m	CO	2.0	2. 9/7. 341	m Ar	0.0001-0.0020	10-50	0.08	
	9. 2/10. 841	n CO	1-10	2. 6/9. 041	n HTF	0.015-1.0	0.5-8.0	9.0	
••	10.6µm	cog	1-2000	3. 44 m	No	0.002	10	0.02	-
	10.54m	N <sub>8</sub> 0	5	8. 5/4. jūz	n DF	0. 8-0. 7	1-8	1.8	
	28/2204m	H <sub>2</sub> O	0.001-0.010	5.1/5.641	m CO	0.001-0.100	0:5-80 12	5.0	
	311/ 83 (4 m	HCN	v. 001-10	9.1/11.0	m cog	0.04-15.0	1-0V .	9V 700	
				8/194m	х.О.	0.004-1000	1-50	5.0	
				28/118um	H <sub>0</sub> O	(10-100) X 10 <sup>-6</sup>	1-80	0.001	
				128/87841	n HCN	10 <sup>-5</sup> -10 <sup>-3</sup>	1-80	0.020	

## Table X. Commercially Available Lasers

is about 16 MHz. Other factors, Doppler, isotopic, or Zeeman broadening are more significant and overall linewidths of 5 GHz (0.2 cm<sup>-1</sup>) are not uncommon in the visible spectral region for gas laser systems. However, the laser output is not continuous over the broadened line but occurs only at discreet frequencies. A laser cavity is resonant only for frequencies whose corresponding wavelengths are integral multiples of twice the cavity length. These frequencies or longitudinal cavity modes are separated by c/2L where L is the cavity length. Consequently, for a laser one meter in length, c/2L = 150 MHz, so that about 30 modes can oscillate within the gain curve of the laser line. At any instant, several of these modes will be oscillating simultaneously. As a result the effective laser radiation has a characteristic spectral distribution given by the Doppler gain curve. In fluorescence, to enhance the probability of a coincidence between laser frequencies and molecular absorptions and to eliminate intensity fluctuations, it may be preferable to use a laser in such multimode operation. Situations can arise where fluorescence is very weak or may not be observed at all if a small gas laser oscillating in a single frequency mode is used, but can become quite intense for a long cavity laser having many axial modes. The competition between oscillations at the various mode frequencies may result in large amplitude fluctuations at the individual frequencies on a short time scale. However, the total power output will remain the same since when one mode goes up another tends to come down. In cases where the absorption line is only partially overlapped by a multi-mode laser amplitude stability may not be satisfactory for these reasons unless integrated over a finite time period. When a very sharp line is required, this can be produced with single mode operation using for example a tilted etalon as a frequency selector.

The Doppler linewidth is proportional to frequency. Consequently, the cavity frequency spacing, c/2L is larger in the infrared spectral region than the Doppler widths and in such cases the laser can operate only at a single frequency. In fact, in the very far infrared the cavity length has to be tuned to the laser transition. Typical gas laser overall linewidths (FWHM) are He. Ne, 633 nm, 1500 MHz; He.Cd, 442 nm, 1800 MHz (single isotope), 4000 MHz (natural mixture); Ar<sup>+</sup>, 488, 514 nm, 2000 to 7000 MHz; CO<sub>2</sub>, 10.6 $\mu$ m, 100 MHz (Arecchi and Schulz-Dubois, 1972).

Although many gas lasing transitions have been reported (Pressley, 1971) few have yet been exploited commercially. Rapidly advancing E-beam technology undoubtedly will increase the number of available gas lasers in the near future.

Solid state lasers consist of a rod which is a transparent matrix doped with the active material. They are pumped with flashlamps or other intense light sources. Ruby and neodymium are the best known examples and are available in small portable sizes. By incorporating various non-linear optical crystals, frequency doubled ruby, and up to quadrupoled neodymium lasers are available. Linewidths for these lasers are quite broad, typically being of the order of 6000 MHz for ruby and 6000 to 30,000 MHz for Nd. Yag lasers (Arecchi and Schulz-Dubois, 1972).

Dye or liquid lasers constitute the best characterized class of tunable laser frequencies. Efficiently pumped by flashlamps or other lasers, a particular dye provides tunability over several decades of nanometers for a particular dye. A summary of the various dyes used and their wavelength ranges is available in the Handbook of Lasers (Pressley, 1971). By using a highly frequency selective optical resonator (grating, etalon and mirror combination) the spectral linewidth can be narrowed to about  $10^{-3}$  nm. Without this sophistication, linewidths are much broader being typically 0.05 to 0.5 nm for grating/mirror cavities. Their overall dimensions generally are large owing to their more complex nature. However, this has not prevented their incorporation into laser radar equipment aboard aircraft (Fox et al., 1973).

Other tunable devices, cw or pulsed, are the semi-conductor lasers and systems utilizing non-linear interactions such as the spin-flip Raman laser, optical parametric oscillators and optical mixers. A multitude of semi-conductor laser materials in the 1 to 30  $\mu$ m region are in various stages of advanced development. Wavelength ranges which can be covered with such alloyed materials are illustrated in Figure 4 taken from Hinkley (1972b). Operating best at cryogenic temperatures these low power lasers can be tuned by changing their temperature, pressure, magnetic field or the diode current. They can be of very small dimensions. Also, linewidths are particularly narrow, that of a Pb<sub>0.88</sub>Sn<sub>0.12</sub>Te diode laser at 10.6  $\mu$ m was measured as 54kHz (1.8 X 10<sup>-6</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>) (Schlossberg and Kelley, 1972). Spin-flip Raman lasers use a fixed frequency CO or CO<sub>2</sub> gas laser to pump a semi-conductor crystal in a magnetic fields. Other important non-linear optical devices such as optical mixers and parametric oscillators rely on the properties of non-linear crystals. Parametric oscillators extend into the infrared to about 4 $\mu$ m and require laser pump sources.

The important contribution that lasers can make to the analytical field is rapidly gaining

111

- 3 È

recognition, particularly for atmospheric environmental monitoring. Power levels, amplitude and frequency stabilization now are sufficient for most applications.

#### LINE SHAPES

In low pressure systems, absorption lines are predominantly Doppler broadened and at low temperatures linewidths are quite narrow. Typical magnitudes at 250 K for various molecular weights are illustrated in Table XI as a function of wavelength. To fall within this linewidth, coincidences have to be quite exact calling for wavenumber agreements between the source and absorption line to within a few hundredths or thousandths of a wavenumber. The prediction of coincidental overlap can in fact be hampered occasionally by the inaccuracy of available spectroscopic data particularly in the infrared where lines are very narrow. For systems at higher pressures, collisional or Lorentz pressure broadening begins to make a significant contribution as can be seen from Table XII, particularly at atmospheric pressure or above. For such cases, a good approximation to the total Voight linewidth is given by the expression (Whiting, 1968)

$$\Delta \nu_{\text{Voight}} = \frac{\Delta \nu_{\text{L}} + \Delta \nu_{\text{N}}}{2} + \left\{ \left( \frac{\Delta \nu_{\text{L}} + \Delta \nu_{\text{N}}}{2} \right)^2 + \Delta \nu_{\text{D}}^2 \right\}^{1/2}$$

. 1

Collisional and natural broadening halfwidths are due to a damping type of broadening and add linearly whereas Doppler broadening is of a Gaussian type. These two different types add quadratically (Svobada et al., 1972, 1973).

Consequently, in assessing previous fluorescence studies, the operating pressure must be taken into account. At a lower pressure, fluorescence may no longer occur if the region of overlap depends heavily on the collisional broadening factor. Similarly, attempts to promote fluorescence by increasing the systems operating pressure may be thwarted by other factors such as enhanced rates of collisional quenching. As previously mentioned, considerations of fluorescing systems introduce the problems normally encountered in high resolution spectroscopic studies. Wavelengths must be carefully identified and refer to vacuum conditions, and the spectral positions of isotopic and nuclear hyperfine components noted. Zeeman, Stark, or absorption pressure effect studies are particularly useful in many instances in accurately establishing the closeness of spectral coincidences. Examples are to be found in the work of Melton and Klemperer (1973) who investigated NO fluorescence from the  $A^2\Sigma^+$  and  $B^2\Pi$  states excited by a



,

ð,

ļ

٤,

Figure 4. Wavelength Ranges for Semiconductor Lasers Made from Different Alloys and Compositions (from Hinkley, 1972b)

	Tal	ble XI.	Doppler	Linewid	ths <sup>*</sup> (25	(250 K; MHz,		) Harristovenski je		<u>.</u>			
Species	Molecular Weight	200	400	- T	Wavelength, 800	nm 1000	2500	5000	10,000	es los a			
н <sub>2</sub>	2.0	11,955	5977	3985	<b>29</b> 89	2391	956	478	239	्यःः 1.			
н <sub>2</sub> s	34.0	2910	1455	970	727	582	233	116	58.2	MHz			
Cl <sub>2</sub>	70.9	2016	1008	672	504	403	161	80.6	40.3	19 02.			
н <sub>2</sub>	2.0	0.399	0. 199	0.133	0.099 <sub>7</sub>	0.079 <sub>7</sub>	0.031 <sub>9</sub>	; 0.015 <sub>9</sub>	. 0 <b>.</b> 008 <sub>0</sub>	<b>7</b> 3			
н <sub>2</sub> S	34.0	0.097 <sub>1</sub>	0.0485	0.032 <sub>3</sub>	0.024 <sub>3</sub>	0.019 <sub>4</sub>	0.0078	.0.0039	0.0019	cm <sup>-1</sup>			
C1 <sub>2</sub>	70.9	0.0672	0.0336	0.0224	0.016 <sub>8</sub>	0.0134	0.0054	0.002 <sub>7</sub>	0.001 <sub>3</sub>	1			
-	* $\Delta \nu_{\rm D} = \frac{2}{\lambda} \left( \frac{2 \rm E}{\Delta} \right)$	$\left(\frac{1}{M}\right)^{1/2}$	$= c\Delta(1/\lambda)$	D ·	· · · ·		۴.		inter dat	22. 101.			
					- 10	, <b>,</b>	: :::		•	1947 1947			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				÷.,			44 1 <del>1</del>	""	1. •			

Table XII. Lorentz Pressure Broadening Linewidths<sup>\*</sup> (250K; MHz, cm<sup>-1</sup>)

Species	10 torr (1. 333 x 10 <sup>2</sup> Nm <sup>-2</sup> )	Pressure 100 torr (1.333 x 10 <sup>3</sup> Nm <sup>-2</sup> )	760 torr (1.013 x 10 <sup>5</sup> Nm <sup>-2</sup> )
H <sub>2</sub> in Air	62. 21	622.1	4728
H <sub>2</sub> S in Air,	24.47	244.7	1880. J MHz
Cl <sub>2</sub> in Air	25.40	254.0	19 <b>30</b> ( <sup>201</sup> ) - 19 (201) (19 <b>10</b> ) (201)
H <sub>2</sub> in Air	0.0020 <sub>7</sub>	0.0207	0.1577, John Contraction
H <sub>2</sub> S in Air and	0.00082	0.0081 <sub>6</sub>	0.0620
Cl <sub>2</sub> in Air	0.0008 <sub>5</sub>	0.00847	0.0644
-			se la 12 al 12 al 12 al 14 de la 14 de la
· · · ·			

\* Collision diameters: Air, 0.36; H<sub>2</sub>, 0.26; H<sub>2</sub>S, 0.30; Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0.36 nm  $\Delta \nu_{\rm L} = \frac{2}{\pi} d^2 n \left(\frac{2\pi RT}{\mu}\right)^{1/2} = c\Delta(1/\lambda)_{\rm L}^{4}$ where d = collision diameter n = number density, cm<sup>-3</sup>, of perturber u = reduced mass, molecular weight (gms), of colliding species

**56**,

variety of Zeeman shifted line sources. Similarly, Shimizu (1970a) has measured the electric field strengths necessary for about 100 coincidences between  $NH_3$  and laser lines of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. Sakurai et al. (1967) and Johns and McKellar (1973) have examined laser coincidences in HCHO and the deuterated compound at 3.5 and 5.8  $\mu$ m, respectively. Studies of the absorption as a function of pressure of the HF P<sub>1,0</sub>(6) laser line by a line of NO at 3693.5 cm<sup>-1</sup> have accurately located their relative positions (Nachshon and Coleman, 1973).

From the point of view of designing a simple analytical technique suitable as flight hardware, the possibility of invoking such Zeeman or Stark effects to shift one of the components of a source or absorption line into exact coincidence is not attractive. Shifts of the order of 1 cm<sup>-1</sup> can require magnetic fields as high as 20,000 gauss (2T), and electric field strengths of the order of 200 esu (60kV/cm). Such high intensity fields automatically introduce a variety of experimental difficulties. However, as a more general analyzer such considerations may be justifiable. This appears to be the case for the extensive efforts that have been directed into producing an NO monitor by Zeeman shifting one of its absorption lines into coincidence with the CO laser line at 1884. 37 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Kaldor et al., 1972; Bonczyk and Ultee, 1972).

For the species of current interest, vibrational frequencies are of the order 500 to 4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>. In systems at temperatures in the vicinity of 250 K this implies that at least 95% of the species will be in the v = 0 level of the ground state. Consequently, only fluorescence resulting from absorptions from this lowest level are relevant to this study.

#### SPECTRAL CONSIDERATIONS

Fluorescent emissions have been induced in a wide spectral region ranging from the vacuum ultra-violet through to the infrared. However, in systems which contain air, water vapor, and only a trace of the species that is to be optically pumped, spectral considerations alone may rule out the appropriateness of various regions. For example, in the 0.74 to  $25\,\mu$ m region extensive band systems of CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O eliminate all but various narrow window regions at about 1.06, 1.27, 1.55 to 1.75, 2.04 to 2.35, 3.50 to 4.18, and 8.6 to 13.1  $\mu$ m (Pressley, 1971; McClatchey and Selby, 1974). Similarly, at the other end of the spectral range, absorption bands of the Schumann-Runge system of O<sub>2</sub> (B<sup>3</sup>  $\Sigma_{u}^{-}$  - X<sup>3</sup>  $\Sigma_{g}^{-}$ ) lie below 200 nm and merge into a strong dissociative continuum between 175 and 125 nm, with complex absorption bands in the 100-125 nm region.

Consequently, most of the vacuum uv spectral region is automatically eliminated from our considerations. For example, a path length of 1 cm of air at 100 torr absorbs at least 98% of the incident radiation at wavelengths between 135 and 160 nm ( $\sigma \ge 5 \times 10^{-18} \text{ cm}^2$ ). A 10 cm pathlength will absorb about 46% of the radiation between 120 and 135 nm  $(\sigma \ge 10^{-19} \text{ cm}^2)$  and at least 20% between 160 and 175 nm ( $\sigma \ge 2 \ge 10^{-19} \text{ cm}^2$ ; Hudson, 1971). The Schumann-Runge band system ( $B^{3}\Sigma_{11}^{-} - X^{3}\Sigma_{\sigma}^{-}$ ) lies between 175 and 200 nm. At low temperatures contributions from the  $\upsilon''=1$  bands are small and the region then consists of a band progression from  $\upsilon' = 0$  to  $\upsilon' = 21$ . Cross-sections increase from a value of about  $2 \ge 10^{-23}$  cm<sup>2</sup> for the (0,0) band at 202.5 nm, to  $2.5 \ge 10^{-19}$  cm<sup>2</sup> for the (21,0) band at 175 nm (Ackerman et al., 1970). Such absorption, besides drastically reducing the intensity of the incident beam also constitutes a potential interference since fluorescence to high lying u" values occurs in the uy and blue spectral regions. In well characterized systems, if an absorption line is known to lie within a window of this region, such that at least portions of the line are not overlapped by O, absorbing lines, the fluorescence technique may still be feasible. By passing the source line first through a cell containing O, it can be effectively reshaped so that it becomes completely transparent to oxygen and absorption in a test cell then would only occur with the desired species. However, for wavelengths shorter than the (4,0) band at 192 nm, the absorption lines are quite densely populated and it is unlikely that such an approach can be invoked here.

It would therefore appear from the outset that the most profitable spectral region for sensitive fluorimetry, most free from potential interference effects will lie in the uv and visible regions between 200 and 700 nm.

#### SCATTERED RADIATION

Incident radiation is scattered by various mechanisms in a fluorescence cell. Resonance fluorescence re-emits at the same wavelength as the emitting source and its magnitude relative to other fluorescent emissions at various wavelengths is controlled by the relative Franck-Condon factors. Rayleigh and Raman scattering effects also arise through interactions with the various gaseous components of the mixture. The intensity of the scattered light in these cases is inversely proportional to the fourth power of the wavelength. Mie scattering from potential stratospheric particulates can also arise and is much less wavelength dependent being more important in the visible and infrared

#### regions.

Rayleigh scattered light is of the same frequency as that of the incident beam. However, if viewed perpendicular to the direction of the exciting beam, it is almost completely plane polarized with the plane of vibration perpendicular to the common plane of the incident and scattered beams. If necessary, this feature offers one well-recognized method for its partial discrimination. However, large aperture polarizers with a high rejection ratio are very expensive if available at all. If the incident beam is plane polarized, for example, using a polarized laser source, a matching of its vibrational plane with that of the incident and scattered beams will effectively attenuate the Rayleigh scattering to a certain extent. Complete rejection is not possible owing to the finite angular size of the detector. Raman scattering for completely symmetrical vibrations also results in highly polarized lines, whereas fluorescence is completely unpolarized if excited with non-polarized radiation. A polarized light source will produce partially de-polarized fluorescence dependent upon the collisional history of the excited state. Rayleigh, Raman and Mie scattering occur in approximately 10<sup>-14</sup> sec, whereas fluorescence lifetimes fall in the range  $10^{-6} - 10^{-9}$  sec. In the present case Raman scattering will be predominantly from molecules in v = 0 and, therefore, will consist of one Stokes rotation - vibration band separated from the exciting wavelength by the  $\upsilon'' = 1 - \upsilon'' = 0$  energy ( $\omega_a - 2\omega_a x_a \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ). Overtone Stokes lines ( $\Delta \upsilon \ge 2$ ) are very weak and can be neglected.

An estimate of the Rayleigh, Raman, and Mie scattering effects is necessary in these assessments. Although it is well known that they are extremely weak and their cross-sections are many orders of magnitude below those for fluorescence, this may be more than compensated for by the correspondingly large discrepancy between the concentrations of nitrogen and oxygen and the ppb levels of the species of interest. Consequently, estimates will be necessary for the combined Rayleigh, Mie and resonance fluorescence scattering of the incident wavelength in order to insure sufficient blocking in the interference filter of the detection system at this wavelength and prevent leakage of light through the filter at any but the designated bandpass. Similarly by noting the location of the various Stokes lines, any such interfering radiation can be discriminated against by prudent choice of the exciting wavelength and detector bandpass. The Raman shift in cm<sup>-1</sup> for the molecules of interest are:  $CO_2$  1285. 4, 1388. 1,  $O_2$  1556. 2 and  $N_0$  2329. 7. It is not mandatory to eliminate these scattering effects since they

will produce a constant background signal which can be removed by calibration. However, too large a contribution to the signal will increase the photomultiplier noise and degrade the sensitivity. Consequently, steps are recommended to minimize their effects.

Rayleigh cross-sections for a dry air mixture as a function of wavelength are given in Table XIII. Penndorf (1957) has calculated the total scattering cross-sections and their angular dependence. Taking the value for the direction perpendicular to the incident beam and integrating over an f/2 detector aperture the required cross-sections for scattering into the detector optics have been obtained. Raman cross-sections are typically about three orders of magnitude smaller. Cooney (1968) obtained:

$$\sigma_{\rm Raman} / \sigma_{\rm Rayleigh} = 1.88 \times 10^{-3}$$

for  $N_2$  at 694.3 nm. In the current assessments, this value is assumed to be valid for all wavelengths. Cross-sections for  $O_2$  and the two Raman-active vibrations for  $CO_2$  (1285, 1388 cm<sup>-1</sup>) are about 1.3, 0.9 and 1.5 times larger, respectively, than for  $N_2$  (Penney et al., 1972; Lidholt, 1972; Fenner et al., 1973).

Scattered intensities,  $I_{scatt}$ , are related to the incident intensity,  $I^{0}$ , by the expression:

 $I_{scatt} = I^{0} n \sigma \ell$ n = number density of the scattering species, cm<sup>-3</sup>  $\sigma$  = scattering cross-section, cm<sup>2</sup>

As measurements are to be made directly on stratospheric samples brought into the aircraft by Ram flow lines, particulates may be present in the system to various extents particularly at those altitudes where aerosol layers are known to be concentrated (20 km in the Tropics). Elterman (1968) and McClatchey et al. (1971) have developed atmospheric attenuation models for various spectral wavelengths based on absorption and scattering. Values for the relative importance of Mie to Rayleigh scattering as a function of altitude and wavelength in the atmosphere can be derived from their tabulated data. Values from the two sources are in reasonable agreement. Elterman's data are listed in Table XIV and illustrated in Figure 5. It is seen that at wavelengths up to 500 nm, Mie scattering is less or equal to the Rayleigh component of the scattered intensity. However, at longer wavelengths particle scattered light. The extent of the sum of Mie and Rayleigh scattering are calculated later for stratospheric samples at 10 torr (30 km) and 100 torr (15km).

60

where

Table XIII. Rayleigh Sc	cattering Cross-S	ections for	Standard A	ir
	(from Penndorf,	1957)		

		-188	Approximate Cros Section for f/2	Cross-Section/		l Cross Cross		•	n # 1 16 - 1		· ·	
	·		Detector at 90°		Steradian at 90"	, cm*	Sectio	λ, um ————	· ·	· .	· .	
			4.312 x 10 <sup>-27</sup> 3.402		2. 196 x 10 <sup>-26</sup> 1. 733	x 10 <sup>-25</sup>	3. 55 2. 60	0.20 0.21				
			2. 725 2. 229		1.268 1rt135 9.344 = 10-27		2. 24	0.23		•		
			1.527	• .	7.780	۰.	1. 25	0.25				
• •			1. 283 1. 088 9. 283 x 10 <sup>-28</sup>		5.540 4.725	x 10 <sup>-25</sup>	1.05 8.95 7.64	0.25				
			7.975		4.063		6.56	0.29 0.30	•	• •		
•			5.990 5.232		1.051 2.665		4.93	0.31 0.32		•		
			4. 592 4. 048		2. 339 2. 062		3, 78 3, 33	0.33				
			3, 583 3, 184		1.825		. 2.95	0.35				
н <b>н</b>			1. 539 1. 279		1. 293		2.09	0.38	-;			
÷.,			2, 051 1, 852		1.045 9.431 x 10 <sup>-28</sup>		1.68	0.40	. <b>`t</b>			
			1.676		8.534 7.743		1.38	0.42				
			1, 383 1, 260	•	7.044 6.419	-	1.13	0.44 0.45				
			1.151		8.864 5.368	x 10 <sup>-27</sup>	9.46	0.48 0.47				•
			9.667 x 10		4.933 4.534		7.96 7.31	0.48 0.49	÷ .			
			8,178 7,542		4.165		6.73 6.21	0.50	¥ ·			
			6.444 . 5.971	••	8. 283 3. 041	•	5.30	0.53		-	~	
			8, 641 5, 147	. •	2. 523		4.56	0.55		• •	· · ·	
			4. 790 4. 462		1. 440 1. 173		8.94 3.87	0.57 0.58				
			4. 163 3. 888		2.120 1.980		3.41 3.20	0.69 0.60				
			2, 636 3, 402		1.852	,	1.99 1.80	0.61				
•			2,992		1.534	•	8.46	0.64		•		
			2.641 2.484		1.345		2. 17	0.66				
			1, 340 2, 205	•	1.193		1.93	0.68				
		•	2.030 1.965		1.089 1.001 _99		1.71	0.70 0.71	•			
			1.857		9.456 x 10		1.52	0.72			,	
			1.874		8.015		1.29	0.78			•	
			1.416		7.211		1.16	0.77				
	: ·		1,276		* 6.500 6.177	× 10 <sup>-28</sup>	. 1.05	0.79				
· ·			7.548 x 10 <sup>-80</sup>		3.643 2.614	5 °	6.21	0.90	. •		at a staff	
			8.365 8.373		1.714		2. 77	1.10				
. <b>.</b>			1.721 1.277		6.763 x 10 6.506		1.41	1.30 1.40				
			9.689 x 10 <sup>-34</sup> 7.480		4.934	x 10	7.97	1.50				
			4.865		2.988 2.376 1.913		4.83 3.84 3.09	1.80		. •		
·			3,059		1.558 6.875 x 10 <sup>-81</sup>	i.	8.61	2.0				
			6,033 x 10 <sup>-32</sup> 3,255		3.072 1.658	x 10 <sup>-30</sup>	4.96	3.0 3.8		• • •		
		:	1.908		9.716 x 10 4	x 10 <sup>-31</sup>	1.57 9.60	4.0 4.5		,		
			7.818 x 10 <sup>-40</sup> 5.336		3.979 2.717		6.43 4.39	5.0		-		
. ·			3. /0/ 2. 734 1.921		1.293 9.784 x 10 <sup>-33</sup>	•	2. 25	6.5				
:			1.543		7.860	* 10-32	1. 27	7.5		•	-	1 .
· .	,		9.851 x 10 <sup>-34</sup> 7.440		4.763 3.789		7.70	8.5			ч.	
,			5.992 4.881		3.059 2.465		4.93	9.5 10.0				
			3.334 2.353		1.698 1.198	· ·	2,74	11.0			· · · · ·	
			1. 970		6.489	- 10-83	1.40	14.0	!			
			V. 041 X 10		4.910 3.793 8.976	x 10	7.94 8.13 4. 11	15.0	•• .		•	
	•		4.649 3.745		2.368	~	3.85	18.0 19.0				
			3.050		1.553	1	3. 01	20.0				
61										• ,	• •	

.

·

.

. •



÷

#### Table XIV. Ratio of the Intensities of Mie to Rayleigh Scattering (from Elterman, 1968)

Figure 5: Relative Magnitude of Mie to Rayleigh Scattering in the Atmosphere as a Function of Wavelength (Elterman, 1968)
For a sample pressurized to atmospheric pressure it is assumed that all particulates will be removed and only the Rayleigh component is therefore evaluated in this particular case.

Actual aerosol or particulate concentrations in the troposphere are variable but generally have a magnitude measured in thousands  $\text{cm}^{-3}$  at ground level. Their concentration falls off exponentially to 5 to 10km and at the tropopause are of the order of several particles cm<sup>-3</sup>. McClatchey et al. (1971) have taken an atmospheric model based on particle concentrations in the range 2 to 57 cm<sup>-3</sup> in the 30 to 10km region. However, measurements in the Southern hemisphere have reported densities of 0.1 to 1.5 particles cm<sup>-3</sup> (Clemesha and Rodrigues, 1971). It would appear safe to conclude that the ratio of stratospheric to ground level concentrations is of the order of at least 10<sup>-2</sup> to 10<sup>-3</sup>.

Gelbwachs and Birnbaum (1973) have noted an unusual interference in their ground level monitoring of NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations at El Segundo, California. They report observing broadband fluorescence in the visible region from aerosol particles. For heavy aerosol loadings this interference was equivalent to NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations as high as 1ppm. The nature of the fluorescence, whether it arises from an organic component of the aerosol has not been determined. However, the fact that the interference was removed by filtering through a 54m pore size glass frit indicates that the effect is produced predominantly by large particles. Mean particle size estimates for stratospheric aerosols have been made by Bigg et al. (1970), who find values in the range 0.2 to 0.8 4m and that most consist of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> with varying degrees of ammoniation. This coupled with the very low particulate densities makes it unlikely that such an effect will constitute an interference even at concentrations in the ppb level for stratospheric fluorescence measurements.

## DETECTION SYSTEMS

The detection system will consist of a filter, a photomultiplier and the necessary electronic and recording components. Preliminary discussion has already been presented of the possible need to restrict the field of view to limit the angles of incidence of fluorescent radiation falling on the face of an interference filter (q.v. equipment dimensions). Such filters are readily available and can be custom made to almost any desired specifications. Accuracy is now such that filters can be centered to within 0.1 nm in the visible region with required half-widths tailored to very close tolerances. Peak transmission is usually

about 20% to 60%. Leakage through the filter outside of the bandpass is a critical factor and filters are normally supplied with blockage (rejection factor) to better than  $10^{-5}$  in the uv,  $10^{-3}$  to  $10^{-5}$  in the visible, and  $10^{-5}$  to  $10^{-4}$  in the infrared. They are usually completely blocked on the short wavelength side and at longer wavelengths may be complete or to the detector sensitivity limit. It is known that most filter glasses fluoresce particularly when irradiated with uv light. Interference filters are no exception since fluorescent glasses are commonly used as a substrate layer (Turner, 1973). However, for the intensity levels in the detection system, this hopefully will not be a problem. The use of chemical filters in certain cases should also be considered since prudent choice may provide the desired characteristic with an overall higher transmission.

For optimum detection sensitivity using pulse-counting techniques a photomultiplier is required with high quantum efficiency at the fluorescing wavelength and with a large cathode area but low refrigerated cathode dark current noise (Morton, 1968). In general, the larger the factor: cathode sensitivity x cathode area/equivalent noise input, the better will be the tube for this application. This consideration is necessary since dark noise is a function of cathode size. Characteristics are listed in Table XV for the most suitable tubes, 2" diameter or less, manufactured by RCA, EML and EMR. When cooled to -20°C most of these have particularly low equivalent noise inputs (ENI) or dark current count rates. Wide variations in dark current readings for a particular tube often arise and it is desirable that a required tube be individually selected for the desired property (Rodman and Smith, 1963). In the development of the NO chemiluminescent detector for stratospheric measurements Ridley et al. (1972a, b; 1974) have used the dry-ice cooled EMI 9558, 9659, and RCA C31034A tubes. The first two of these produced NO detection limits of the order of 0.03 ppb. Slight improvement to about 0.02 ppb was obtained with the latter RCA tube. This is compatible with the approximate manufacturer's specifications listed in the table. However, for detection in the 300 to 500 nm region, owing to its large cathode size, a tube such as the EMI 9813 may be superior. For the detection of fluorescence over a narrow bandwidth, wide spectral response tubes are not necessary and may aggravate detection problems. An optimum situation is one where the tube discriminates against the spectral region of the exciting and scattered radiation.

Infrared detectors do not have the sensitivity of photomultipliers as is evidenced by the fact that Bott (1972) while monitoring the fundamental band of HF at 2.7  $\mu$ m could also detect up to the  $\Delta v = 5$  overtone band of HF in the vicinity of 600 nm in spite of its much lower intensity. The noise equivalent power (ENI) of these detectors is given by

the reciprocal of the detectivity value (D\*), which figure is usually quoted for a particular material:

$$ENI = D^{*-1}$$
,  $W \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ sec}^{1/2}$ 

For a detector of area A, with a bandpass of  $\Delta f$ ,

$$\Delta t^{1/2} = D^{*-1} A^{1/2} \Delta f^{1/2}$$
, watts

In the 1 to  $15\,\mu$ m spectral region, values of D\* are of the order of  $5 \times 10^{12}$  to  $5 \times 10^{10}$  W<sup>-1</sup> cm sec<sup>-1/2</sup> so that with a bandpass  $\Delta f = 1$  and 0.1 cm<sup>2</sup> area, equivalent noise inputs are of the order of  $6 \times 10^{-12}$  to  $6 \times 10^{-14}$  W, many orders of magnitude larger than the corresponding values for uv - visible photomultiplier tubes. Infrared photocathode areas generally are much smaller than the 0.1 cm<sup>2</sup> figure assumed here. However, to maximize the collection solid angle in fluorescence studies, as large an area as possible is fequired.

a de la competencia d Recommendades de la competencia de la co

Table XV. Characteristics of Some of the Most Suitable Photomultiplier Tubes

Tube	Cathode Material	Spectral Response, nm	Stages	Useful* Range, nm	Quantum* efficiency,	Peak Catho Luminous µA/1m	de Sensitivity : Radiant mA/W	Cathode dimensions, cm	Cathode equivalent noise input, W 20°C -20°C
RCA C31034A†	GaAs	200-920	11	280-880	15-48	1000	155	0.4x1.0	6 x 10 <sup>-16</sup> 1 x 10 <sup>-18</sup> (10,000 cps) (12 cps)
EMR 681B-01-13	GaAs	260-900	13	290-870	7-22 <sub>;**</sub>	600	73	0.76x0.51	$\begin{array}{l} 3.5 \times 10^{-16} & 1 \times 10^{-18} \\ (8000 \text{ cps}) & (10 \text{ cps}) \end{array}$
EMI 9658 R	Trialkali	300-950	11	300-600	14-33	350	95	4.4 dia	5 x 10 <sup>-16</sup> 6 x 10 <sup>-17</sup>
EMI '9558 <sup>†</sup>	Trialkali	300-840	-11	340-570	9-22	180		4.4 dia	$3.5 \times 10^{-16}$ $4 \times 10^{-17}$
EMI_9659†	Trialkali	340-930	11 -	340-600		250	76	4.4 dia	4 x 10 <sup>-16</sup> 5 x 10 <sup>-17</sup>
EMR 543E-01-14	Trialkali	270-850	14	300-600	10-22	150	74	4.3 dia.	$1 \times 10^{-16}$ $2 \times 10^{-17}$ (1600 cps) (50 cps)
EMI 9789`B QB	Bialkali	310-650 . 170-650	13	320-480 170-480	14-20 14-20	50 ·	· · <u>·</u> · ·	1.0 dia	$\begin{array}{c} 1.5 \times 10^{-17} & 5 \times 10^{-18} \\ (50 \text{ cps}) & (10 \text{ cps}) \end{array}$
EMI 9813 B QB	Bialkali	300-650 170-650	14	325-500 290-500	15-27 15-27	· · · -	86	4.6 dia	8 x 10 <sup>-17</sup> 1 x 10 <sup>-17</sup>
EMR 543N~01-14	Bialkali	270-700	14	270-480	12-18	55	60	4.3 dia	$\begin{array}{rrr} 4 \times 10^{-17} & 1.5 \times 10^{-17} \\ (125 \text{ cps}) & (35 \text{ cps}) \end{array}$
RCA C31005	CsTe	180-350	12	190-280	. 3- 5		9.2	.1.3 dia 🖤	1 x 10 <sup>-17</sup>
EMI G26H315	CsTe	110-360	15	130-260	9-13	-	-	1.6 dia	5 x 10 <sup>-18</sup> - (1. cps)
EMR 542F-08-18	CsTe	105-350	18	200-280	- 57		· 14	2.8 dia	2 x 10 <sup>-16</sup> -

\* Sensitivity≥70% peak value: corresponding quantum efficiencies
† Used by Ridley et al.: (1972a,b; 1974) in the NO chemiluminescent detector

and the second second second second

· .

,

- **B**WW C. Lat. 1. 1

#### CALCULATED FLUORESCENCE DETECTION LIMITS FOR INDIVIDUAL SPECIES

It is required to calculate the concentration of a particular species that will produce fluorescent signals leading to a S/N detection ratio of unity. Fluorescent intensities have been calculated from the previously derived expression:



where N is the equivalent noise input, in watts, of an appropriate detector. An f/2 effective aperture has been assumed for the fluorescence collection system throughout  $(\Omega_F/4\pi = 1/64)$ . f, the fraction of the total fluorescence monitored, is dependent upon the bandwidth of the detector filter.  $\theta$ , the filter transmission, also depends on the detection wavelength and bandwidth; appropriate values have been taken from manufacturers' literature. For light sources, other than laser beams, the source solid angle is assumed to have an f/2effective aperture. The noise level, N, and the pathlength,  $\ell$ , depend on the particular detector used.  $\ell$  in each case has been taken as the diameter of the photocathode.

Since detection limits are generally expressed as a fractional unit (ppb) the above equation can be re-written with the substitution

$$n = 9.658 \times 10^9 \text{ px/T}$$

where p (torr) and T (K) are the total pressure and temperature, respectively, of the air sample.  $\chi$  is the required detection limit expressed in ppb. In cases where only a fraction of the total number of molecules of the particular species is in the absorbing energy level, i, the concentration n must be reduced by the factor  $n_i/n$  which can be calculated assuming a Boltzmann distribution over all the available energy levels. Also, in those cases where only a partial overlap occurs between the source line and the absorbing line, a factor has to be included which effectively reduces the absorption crosssection by an appropriate amount. Generally, this factor has been derived in only an approximate manner by considering the relative positions of the lines and assuming particular line shapes. This should be quite sufficient for these basic assessments. A temperature of 250 K has been assumed for the air in the test equipment. For conditions other than those assumed here, simple scaling can often be applied to the calculated detection limits.

# ATOMIC CHLORINE, C1

n.

20

Atomic resonance fluorescence of atomic chlorine is very sensitive; it occurs in the vacuum ultraviolet being excited in the region of 135 to 140 nm. Clyne and Cruse (1972) have reported a lower limit of detection of about  $5 \times 10^{10}$  atoms cm<sup>-3</sup>, which figure could be improved upon perhaps by a factor of 5 to 10. They found the technique inherently more sensitive than resonance absorption spectrometry. Wavelengths and relative line strengths for the  ${}^{4}P_{1/2, 3/2, 5/2} \leftarrow {}^{2}P_{1/2, 3/2}$  and  ${}^{2}P_{1/2, 3/2} \leftarrow {}^{2}P_{1/2, 3/2}$  transitions are given by Davis and Braun (1968) and Clyne and Cruse (1971). Exciting lamp intensities were of the order of  $1 \times 10^{15}$  quanta sec<sup>-1</sup>.

The low-lying, metastable J excited  ${}^{2}P_{1/2}$  level of the ground electronic state is 881 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the  ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$  component. At 298 K its population is only 0.8% that of the  ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$ . Even so, Clyne and Cruse (1971) noted strong fluorescence associated with absorptions from it. At 250 K its population would decrease to 0.3%. In systems free from oxygen this is a particularly sensitive monitor for Cl atoms in either or both of the ground state components. However, it holds no promise for the present task of analyzing stratos-pheric air samples.

. . .

# CHLORINE, Cl.

Chlorine exhibits absorption continua below 480 nm due to several electronic transitions, which are at a maximum around 330 nm. The well characterized  $A^3\Pi_0 + X^1\Sigma_g^+$  bands occur from this region to about 566.5 nm. Although spin-forbidden, the system is observed for Cl<sub>2</sub>. In the heavier iodine molecule this transition is particularly strong and its fluorescence is undoubtedly the most extensively studied for any one gaseous molecule (Table II). Halogens other than iodine do not absorb anything like as strongly in the visible region. The rotational lines of the O<sub>u</sub><sup>+</sup> state are identical to those for a  ${}^{1}\Sigma^{+}$  state; and the structure for Cl<sub>2</sub> is very similar to that of any  ${}^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+} - {}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$  band and shows single P and R branches. Its spectrum is somewhat complicated due to the isotopic components of naturally occurring Cl<sub>2</sub>. Vibrational spacings are such that at 250 K only about 4% of the molecules would be in the  $\upsilon'' = 1$  level so that absorptions involving the ground state are preferable.

The only detailed fluorescence studies reported in the literature are those for  ${}^{35}Cl_2$  by Holzer et al. (1970a, b) with the 487.986 nm Ar<sup>+</sup> laser line. The transition was identified as arising in the (22, 0) band at J ~ 38; at 250 K n<sub>0" = 0</sub> J" =  $38/n \sim 0.03$ . The fluorescence was particularly weak, in fact an order of magnitude less intense than the Raman fundamental band emission. Plumley (1934) excited fluorescence in  $Cl_2$  with the 546 nm Hg line but noted that the absorption coefficient was 1000 times less than that for Br<sub>2</sub> at this wavelength. Similarly, the fluorescence for Br<sub>2</sub> was about 300 times weaker than that from I<sub>2</sub>. Capelle et al. (1971) also have noted the weakness of Cl<sub>2</sub> fluorescence using as the exciting source a pulsed tunable dye laser, pumped with the 337 nm nitrogen laser line and operating in the spectral range 513-626 nm.

It is evident that fluorescence techniques are no use for the detection of Cl<sub>2</sub>. Being homonuclear, the molecule is also infrared inactive and can only be stimulated by the weak Raman interaction.

भारत्यक्री दिसम्बद्धाः स्टब्स् इति विवर्णना भारत्यत्वित् विवर्णनाः स्टब्स् विवर्णनाः स्टब्स् त्रिवे स्वयुक्तस्य स्वतः विवर्णनाः विवर्णनाः विवर्णनाः स्वतः स्वरूपति विवर्णनाः स्व

## - :68

# CHLORINE MONOXIDE, CIO

Absorption bands attributed to the  $A^2 \Pi_i - X^2 \Pi_i$  system extend from the vicinity of 300 nm to the convergence limit near 263 nm beyond which there is continuous absorption through to the vacuum ultraviolet. The absorption spectrum consists of a strong  $\upsilon' = 0$  progression. The bands have fairly sharp heads and are degraded to the red. A high resolution study by Durie and Rämsay (1958) showed that the rotational structure for many of the low  $\upsilon'$ bands is quite diffuse due to predissociation, higher  $\upsilon'$  bands are sharp. The (7,0) band is completely diffuse and no individual lines are seen. The most clearly resolved is the (12,0) band which is also the strongest. Table XVI lists the bandhead wavelengths and the relative band intensities for these transitions from the lowest  $\upsilon'' = 0$  level.

Table XVI. Absorption Bands of the Main  ${}^{2}\Pi_{3/2} - {}^{2}\Pi_{3/2}$  Subsystem of ClO (from Porter, 1950, and Durie and Ramsay, 1958)

-, · · · ·		and the second		÷		14 A
λ	I ט',ט'י	. λ 1	יט', טי	λ	I	ָט <b>י,</b> טיי
303.45	1 4,0	277.16 10	12, 0	265.25	5	20, 0
299.30	2 5, 0	274.95 8	13, 0	264. 58	3	21, 0
295.43	3 6, 0	272.94 7	14, 0	264.06	2	22, 0
291.80	5 7,0	271.11 7	15, 0	263.63	2	23, 0
288.40	5 8.0	269.50 6	16, 0	263.35	· - ·	24, 0
285.18	6 9,0	268.25 5	17, 0	263.10	-	25, 0
282.24	8 10, 0	267.12 💱 5	18, 0			
279.60	8 11, 0	266.10 5	19, 0		1	• • • • •
		Construction of the second				

Several weaker bands of the  ${}^{2}\Pi_{1/2} - {}^{2}\Pi_{1/2}$  subsystem also have been reported by Porter (1950) at the following wavelengths (nm),

297.50 (5,0)	286.67 (8,0)	278.14 (11,0)
293.76 (6,0)	283.57 (9,0)	275.80 (12,0)
290.20 (7,0)	280.70 (10,0)	273.53 (13,0)

Other characterized electronic systems lie in the vacuum ultraviolet (Basco and Morse, 1973). Various studies have been made of the extinction coefficient,  $\epsilon$ , for several of

these bands, where this is defined by:

$$\log_{10}(I/I_0) = - \varepsilon c k$$

and generally is expressed in cm<sup>2</sup> mole<sup>-1</sup> units with c the concentration, in mole cm<sup>-3</sup>. Such  $\epsilon$  values can be converted to the cross-sections  $\sigma$  (base e), used throughout this report, by multiplying by  $3.82 \times 10^{-24}$ . Values have been reported by two groups of researchers and are listed in Table XVII. The values illustrate the generally strong absorption in this system, peaking in the (12,0) band. Clyne and Coxon (1966) found that the detection limit for their system (deuterium lamp, 20 cm pathlength) was about  $5 \times 10^{13}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> which corresponds to about 2 ppm at atmospheric pressure. The detection of ClO using an absorption technique would run into the problem of interferences from SO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>3</sub> which also absorb quite strongly in this spectral region.

No fluorescence studies have been reported for CIO and little data appears to exist concerning its radiative lifetime or its rates of quenching. Since the absorption cross-section obtained with coarse spectral resolution is quite large, that for a particular rotational transition pumped for example with an atomic line, if a coincidence can be found, or a narrow tunable dye laser line, may provide a sufficiently sensitive technique for monitoring CIO if the fluorescence efficiency is favorable. By suitably locating the detector bandpass a potential interference from SO<sub>2</sub> could be avoided. That from NO<sub>2</sub> would have to be minimized.

Table XVI	. A	bsorption	<b>Cross-Sections</b>	for	<b>C10</b>
-----------	-----	-----------	-----------------------	-----	------------

Transition	<u>σ, cm<sup>2</sup></u>	Reference
(7,0) band	$4.0 \times 10^{-18}$	Basco and Dogra, 1971
(12, 0) band	$7.3 \times 10^{-18}$	Clyne and Coxon, 1968
	$6.5 \times 10^{-18}$	Basco and Dogra, 1971
257.7 nm	$4.8 \times 10^{-18}$	Clyne and Coxon, 1968
continuum	$4.4 \times 10^{-18}$	Basco and Dogra, 1971

. . . . ·

د. د میلاد میلاد میلاد .

# CHLORINE DIOXIDE, ClO2

For a triatomic molecule, OCIO shows a remarkably regular absorption system of welldefined single-headed bands, strongest in the 310 to 380 nm region but extending from about 270 to 480 nm. Coon and Ortiz (1957) list 143 vibronic bands in this region. The sharp-headed bands occur in regularly spaced groups, each of which consists of one strong band and two or three weaker ones to shorter wavelengths. These absorption transitions belong to the  $A^2A_2 \leftarrow X^2B_1$  electronic system and form several progressions, the strongest having the assignment  $(\upsilon'_1, 0, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0)$ , followed in intensity by those belonging to the  $(\upsilon'_1, 1, 0 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0)$  and  $(\upsilon'_1, 0, 2 \leftarrow 0, 0, 0)$  transitions. Relative intensities of various of these bands have been listed in Table XVIII.

Table XVIII. Relative Intensities for Vibronic Absorption Bands of  ${}^{35}$ ClO<sub>2</sub> Originating from the  $X^2B_1$  (0,0,0) Ground State (from Richardson et al., 1969)

Assignment '0', '0', '0' 3	λ nm	Relative Intensity*	Assignment $v'_1, v'_2, v'_3$	λ nm	Relative Intensity*
0,0,0	475.69	1.00	2, 1, 2	412.62	10.3
0, 1, 0	469.22	0.73	0,0,4	412.41	-
1, 0, 0	460.19	6.30	5,0,0	408.25	110.
1, 1, 0	454.23	4.39	3,0,2	405.79	<del>-</del> .
2,0,0	445.80	21.5	5, 1, 0	403.82	-
0,0,2	442.37	2.24	3, 1, 2	401.51	-
2, 1, 0	440.28	13.6	1, 0, 4	401.37	-
0, 1, 2	437.04	1.72	6,0,0	397.28	155.
3, 0, 0	432.42	38.4	4,0,2	395.04	-
1, 0, 2	429.40	7.11	6, 1, 0	393.16	-
3, 1, 0	427.31	22.1	4, 1, 2	391.10	-
1, 1, 2	424.45	5.92	2,0,4	390.96	-
4, 0, 0	419.94	68.3	7,0,0	386. <b>9</b> 7	-
2,0,2	417.23	17.8	5,0,2	384.91	-
4, 1, 0	415.18	34.7	7,1,0	383.11	-

\*Relative intensity for <sup>35</sup>CIO<sub>2</sub> at about 193K

ClO<sub>2</sub> vapor is rapidly photolyzed by ultraviolet radiation and below 385 nm the bands become quite diffuse. Strong bandheads in this region with high absorption cross-sections are at the wavelengths (nm),

377.25	336.05	305.09	that is the for the state of the
368.05	329.12	299.94	10× 100 100 100 + 100 10
359.41	322.60	295.35	i alter alteration ender en l'
351.14	316.35		
343.40	310.57		1997 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -

Other electronic absorption systems lie in the vacuum ultraviolet (Basco and Morse; 1974). The maximum absorption coefficient occurs at the 351 nm band center ( $\sigma = 1.2 \times 10^{-17} \text{ cm}^2$ , Clyne and Coxon, 1968; Basco and Dogra, 1971). This is as strong as the maximum at 250 nm in the O<sub>3</sub> ultraviolet absorption system. Clyne and Coxon (1966) reported a detection limit for ClO<sub>2</sub> in their system (deuterium lamp, 20 cm pathlength) of 5 x 10<sup>13</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> (2 ppm at atmospheric pressure). Cross-sections are much smaller at longer wavelengths, where predissociation is less ( $\lambda$  nm,  $\sigma$  cm<sup>2</sup>; 440.3, 2.6 x 10<sup>-19</sup>; 445.8, 3.4 x 10<sup>-19</sup>; 454.2, 5.8 x 10<sup>-20</sup>; 460.2, 7.4 x 10<sup>-20</sup>; 469.2, 8.0 x 10<sup>-21</sup>; 475.7, 9.4 x 10<sup>-21</sup>, Coon et al., 1962).

Two fluorescence studies of  $\text{ClO}_2$  have been reported (Table II), both utilizing the  $\text{Ar}^+$  laser as the exciting source. However, the lines used, 458 to 502 nm lie in the region of low absorption cross-section and the resulting fluorescence is very faint as compared visually with that of  $I_2$  or  $\text{NO}_2$ . There also appears to be considerable photochemical decomposition even at these longer wavelengths. Observations implied that most of the excited molecules predissociate rather than fluoresce. The 476.5 nm (60.00 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>) line has slightly higher energy than the molecule's bond dissociation energy at 298 K (59.4 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>, 248.5 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup>). Sakurai et al. (1971c) found that the excited ClO<sub>2</sub> was short-lived, the lifetime being  $\leq 5 \mu \sec$  at pressures in the range 0.1 to 0.2 torr. The 476.5 nm  $\text{Ar}^+$  laser line lies in the middle of the (0, 0, 0 - 0, 0, 0) transition and excites fluorescence in about 17 bands from 480 to 780 nm. Longer wavelength exciting lines have insufficient energy to pump the (0, 0, 0) ground state and must arise from hot bands, accounting for their additional weakness. As a consequence the fluorescence intensity for these can be expected to decrease at lower temperatures (Sakurai et al., 1971c).

The ClOO isomeric form of chlorine dioxide is very unstable,  $D_0^0$  (Cl-OO) = 6 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>; 25 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup> (Benson and Buss, 1957; Clyne and White, 1971) and rapid dissociation is expected even at 250-300 K. Although its uv and infrared spectra have been reported by Morris and Johnston (1968) and Johnston et al. (1969) its low level detection by fluorescence is unlikely.

The more stable OClO form, is probably best monitored via its strong absorption in the ultraviolet. The cross-section of  $1.2 \times 10^{-17}$  cm<sup>2</sup> for the 351 nm band is about 25 times larger than that for NO<sub>2</sub> which also shows continuous absorption in this region, and about 5 orders of magnitude larger than that for O<sub>3</sub>.

CANNEL VER

. . . .

. . . .

. 19 1 : : : e : ÷., • 4 1.1 6 4 1 24 - 1 - 1 - <del>1</del> - - <del>1</del> · ; . . . . . . · · · · . • . • ., . . . . . .. S. Barton

<sup>73</sup> 

## CARBON MONOXIDE, CO

This molecule has a very rich absorption spectrum in the 100 to 160 nm region with many strong bands, particularly the ubiquitous 4th position system,  $A^{1}\Pi \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ . The lowest lying electronically excited states of CO are triplets and although their absorption spectra have been recorded, transitions to all states below  $A^{1}\Pi$  are forbidden and much weaker (Krupenie, 1966; Tilford and Simmons, 1972).

The 4th positive system is dominant in absorption and appears in emission as an impurity in many systems since its spectrum is so readily excited. Unfortunately, its (0,0) bandhead lies at 154.43 nm in the region where oxygen absorbs strongly, so eliminating it from further detailed study. In passing though it may be noted that the radiative lifetimes of the first six vibrational levels of the  $A^1\Pi$  state are all ~10 nsec (Hesser, 1968; Wells and Isler, 1970; Imhof and Read, 1971; Chervenak and Anderson, 1971; Burnham et al., 1972). Collisional quenching is efficient, being of the order of unity for nitrogen, and vibrational relaxational rates within the A<sup>1</sup>II state similarly occur with a high probability per collision for many gases (Becker and Welge, 1965; Slanger and Black, 1969; Comes and Fink, 1972). Even so, owing to the short radiative lifetime, fluorescence efficiencies remain reasonably large at most operating pressures, falling to a possible minimum value of about 1% at atmospheric pressure. Slanger and Black (1969, 1970, 1971, 1973a, b, c) have extensively studied the resonance fluorescence, the sensitization with xenon, perturbations between the A<sup>1</sup>II state and the triplet levels, and collision-induced interstate conversions in the system. As a consequence, it is now quite well characterized, and in oxygen free systems provides an extremely sensitive technique for monitoring CO.

Its infrared spectrum has been extensively studied owing to its simplicity. The fundamental band is centered at about 4.67 um with the first overtone, which is about 100 times weaker, at 2.35  $\mu$ m. Stratospheric concentrations of CO have been measured via its infrared absorption spectrum (Goldman et al., 1973c). The R(2) and R(3) branch lines in the fundamental band are most free from interferences as is apparent from the high resolution spectra of McClatchey and Selby (1974). The interferences arise from overlapping bands of CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, O<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O in the fundamental, and from H<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> in the overtone band. Hanst (1971) has noted that absorption of an iodine laser line at 2056.39 cm<sup>-1</sup> and xenon laser line at 2168.77 cm<sup>-1</sup> may have potential for monitoring CO. However, these lines are located about 0.97 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 0.43 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, from the center of the CO lines and the extent of the overlap will be small. Green and Hancock (1973b) observed

a very close frequency matching between lines of the frequency-doubled CO, laser and the R(2). R(6), and P(14) transitions in the fundamental band of CO (Table III) which appear more promising. The degree of mismatch is 0.007, 0.072 and 0.005 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Of these the R(2) line of CO at 2154.598 cm<sup>-1</sup> with an exciting frequency doubled R(18)line of the CO<sub>0</sub> laser at 2154.605  $\rm cm^{-1}$  will be the best for atmospheric air samples. The R(6) and P(14) lines suffer interference from other species. For such a system the Doppler absorption width at this wavelength is  $\sim 0.004 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (Table XI). At 250 K the pressure broadened linewidth is  $\sim 0.06 \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ atm}^{-1}$  (Table XII). A CO, laser has a typical overall linewidth of about 100 MHz (0.003 cm<sup>-1</sup>). Consequently, the absorption cross-section will be pressure dependent and at low pressures the laser line will be located in the wing of the absorption line. Using the tables published by Young (1965) for calculating the Voight profile of a line it is possible to estimate the absorption crosssection at the laser frequency. A line strength of 5.643 cm<sup>-2</sup> atm<sup>-1</sup> for the R(2) CO line has been used (Benedict et al., 1962). This leads to values for the absorbing crosssections of 8.3 x  $10^{-21}$  cm<sup>2</sup> (10 torr), 5.3 x  $10^{-19}$  cm<sup>2</sup> (100 torr), and 1.8 x  $10^{-18}$  cm<sup>2</sup> (760 torr). At 250 K, 5% of the molecules are in the v'' = 0, J'' = 2 level. The radiative lifetime of U" = 1 is 0.033 sec (Millikan, 1963; Gerlovin and Orlova, 1964). At room temperature the rate constant for quenching by N<sub>2</sub> is 5.4 x  $10^{-15}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> which corresponds to  $\sim 5 \times 10^4$  collisions/deactivation. Similar values for O<sub>2</sub> are 7.6 x  $10^{-17}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>,  $\sim 3.5 \times 10^6$  collisions/deactivation, and for Ar,  $3.1 \times 10^{-18}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>,  $\sim 8 \times 10^7$  collisions/deactivation (Millikan, 1963; Green and Hancock, 1973b; Stephenson, 1973b). Consequently, nitrogen quenching will be predominant in air samples and fluorescence efficiencies are  $\sim (1.8-0.2)\%$  at 10 to 100 torr. If it is assumed that a 100 W cw laser can be frequency-doubled with a 1% efficiency. the detection limits for such an infrared fluorescence arrangement are as listed in Table XIX. The minimum sensitivity that could be hoped for would be about 1 ppm using an atmospheric pressure sample, insufficient for the current application.

Bortner et al. (1973) have established the feasibility of measuring atmospheric CO from a remote platform using a correlation interferometry technique. With such an approach various methods are available for overcoming any spectral interferences. In their application they found that the overtone band was more suitable owing to the effects of certain atmospheric parameters. A sophisticated  $C^{16}$ ,  $C^{18}$  fluorescent source NDIR detector also has been developed and is being further refined in an attempt to sufficiently

lower its range for stratospheric applicability (McClatchie, 1972). Absorption studies utilizing diode lasers have been reported and for a long pathlength are very sensitive (Nill et al., 1971; Sultzmann et al., 1973; Brockman and Seals, 1973). However, in a fluorescence mode of operation these absorption systems are insufficiently sensitive.

.

of the generation and the support

ار. محمد بر فران الجرافيون مراجع بر فرمو بر	760 Lorr	1. 2x10 <sup>3</sup>	6 <b>.</b> 9	90 90	
	betection Lin ppb 100 torr	4. 1×10 <sup>3</sup>	2.9 6.9	9017£	
sme	L 10 torr	2.7x10 <sup>5</sup>	5.2 7.6	3×10 <sup>6</sup>	
ence Syste	Scattering watts r 760 torr	3×10 <sup>-13</sup>	6x10 <sup>-8</sup> 4x10 <sup>-8</sup>	1×10 <sup>-15</sup>	
resc	h & Mie tector, 100 tori	1x10 <sup>-10</sup>	1x10 <sup>-8</sup> 8x10 <sup>-9</sup>	7*10 <sup>-14</sup>	
l Fluo	Rayleig at De 10 torr	5x10 <sup>-12</sup>	9x10 <sup>-10</sup> 7x10 <sup>-10</sup>	7×10-15	
), and HC	Detector Wavelength, nm	P branch filter	420 420	R branch filter	
нснс	N, watts	3x10 <sup>-12</sup>	6×10 <sup>-17</sup> 6×10 <sup>-17</sup>	3x10-12	
ćo,	æ	0.5	0.4	ග ප	
sno		0.5	0.1	ю •	
or Vari	ۍ وې	orr) L.O (orr) torr)	* * *	o -	
Limits 1	៓	8. 3x10 <sup>-21</sup> (101 5. 3x10 <sup>-19</sup> (100 1. 8x10 <sup>-18</sup> (760	5. 7×10 <sup>-20</sup> 2. 2×10 <sup>-20</sup>	1x10-18	
stection	ifency M]) 760 torr	2.4x10 <sup>-4</sup>	4.8×10 <sup>-5</sup> 4.9×10 <sup>-5</sup>	6x10 <sup>-5</sup>	
ă X	tcence Effic + k <sub>d</sub> + k <sub>q</sub> [ 100 torr	1.8x10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.4×10 <sup>-4</sup> 3.7×10-4	4x10-4	
ble XI	Fluores k <sub>f</sub> / (k <sub>l</sub> 10 torr	1. 8×10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.9×10 <sup>-3</sup> 3.4×10 <sup>-3</sup>	4x10 <sup>-</sup> 3	
Ta	Source Intensity, Is s <sup>û</sup> s wattá	1.0 (mean) N	1.0	10 <sup>-3</sup> (mean)	
	Source, nm	4.64µm Frequency- doubled R(1)	02	ം.ച്.മു.m P branch, HCI pulsed laser	
	Species	8	нсно	Б <del>л</del>	77

# HYDROGEN, H,

t de la companya de l

The lowest bound excited electronic state of hydrogen that has been characterized, the  $B^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$  is 90,633.8 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the ground state, locating the (0,0) band of the Lyman system in the vacuum ultraviolet region at 110 nm. Since at 250 K essentially all the molecules are in the  $\upsilon'' = 0$  level, absorptions at longer wavelengths than this are out of the question. The only reported fluorescence studies for H<sub>2</sub>, Table II, have used the 106.7 nm Ar line to excite the  $\upsilon' = 3$  level. Inducing electronic fluorescence from H<sub>2</sub> in air samples is, therefore, out of the question.

A homonuclear diatomic molecule,  $H_2$  is infrared inactive and can only be excited via the Raman effect. The very low cross-sections for spontaneous Raman scattering, enhanced somewhat using novel systems that invoke stimulated anti-Stokes scattering (Regnier et al., 1973; Regnier and Taran, 1973) can only monitor concentration levels down to about 100 ppm. As realized for a long time now, the monitoring of  $H_2$  at low levels in any system constitutes a difficult problem.

4.

:-:

#### FORMALDEHYDE, HCHO

The absorption spectrum of formaldehyde is complex. The lowest lying electronically excited singlet state, designated  $\widetilde{A}^{1}A''({}^{1}A_{2})$ , is 28, 188 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the ground  $\widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$ state. It is observed in absorption from 230 to 353 nm although 'symmetry forbidden' (Herzberg, 1966). The transition is induced by intensity borrowing from higher  ${}^{1}B_{1}$ and <sup>1</sup>B<sub>o</sub> levels. Its absorption and fluorescence spectrum have been described by Brand (1956). Absorption bands become diffuse at about 275 nm, and to shorter wavelengths the progression continues with increasing diffuseness and rapidly decreasing intensity to about 230 nm. It exhibits a very sharp spectrum in the ultraviolet, the strongest bands forming a long progression in a frequency ~1180 cm<sup>-1</sup> ( $\vee_2$ , CO stretch vibration). No absorption is apparent between 175 and 230 nm. The vacuum ultraviolet region has been studied by Gentieu and Mentall (1970) and will not be discussed here. The only other system in the visible region at 360 to 397 nm is very weak owing to its  $\tilde{a}^3 A''(A_2) \leftarrow \tilde{x}^1 A_1$ nature and need not be considered further. Vibrational structure of the singlet system is distinct within the molecule and well separated so that selective excitation of a single vibronic band poses no problem with a narrow bandwidth light source. However, rotational branches tend to overlap and if it were required, a selective rotational excitation would only be achieved with sources of a few tenths of a  $\rm cm^{-1}$  spectral width. Most levels are sharp and well resolved in spite of the fact that radiationless transitions occur, leading to a near unity quantum yield for dissociation. McQuigg and Calvert (1969) reported two primary processes in the 280 to 355 nm region leading to either H+ HCO or  $H_2$  + CO products.  $D_0^0$  (H - CHO) is ~76.0 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>, 318 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup>, which corresponds to a 375 nm wavelength limit. Yeung and Moore (1974) have presented a predissociation model where this collisionless non-radiative decay of the bound vibronic states of the excited  ${}^{1}A_{2}$  state strongly couple with high, bound vibronic levels of the ground  ${}^{1}A_{1}$  state which then dissociate.

Fluorescence studies of this system have been noted in Table II and involve absorptions in the  $4_0^1$ ,  $4_0^2 6_0^1$ ,  $2_0^1 4_0^3$  and  $2_0^2 4_0^1$  bands. Also, Yeung and Moore (1972) have studied the photopredissociation of HCHO with a high energy frequency-doubled, pulsed, ruby laser at 347.2 nm. However, the absorption cross-section at this wavelength is only 7.6 x  $10^{-22}$  cm<sup>2</sup>. The band notation used here is of the form  $X_m^n$ , where X is the number of the normal vibration and m and n are the number of quanta in the lower and upper states, respectively. Extinction coefficients and radiative lifetimes have been calculated by

Yeung (1973) for all the progressions in the normal modes. The absorption coefficients also have been measured by McQuigg and Calvert (1969). Intensities of absorptions involving the  $v_6$  mode are weak. Cross-sections for the stronger  $4_0^1$  and  $2_0^2 4_0^1$  bands are 2.2 x 10<sup>-22</sup> and 5.7 x 10<sup>-20</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>, the latter being about the maximum value noted in this system. Young also derived the relative radiative lifetimes from the Einstein coefficients and found them to vary by no more than a factor of 2 for all the bands. That for the  $2^{2}4^{1}$  level is 0.75 times the radiative lifetime of  $4^{1}$ . In comparison, measured lifetimes have been reported as varying by a factor of 100, a fact attributed entirely to non-radiative processes. Estimates of the lifetime from the integrated absorption coefficient data predict a value of about 7 µsec (Sidman, 1958). Yeung and Moore (1973) have obtained radiative lifetimes,  $(k_f + k_d)^{-1}$ , of 282 nsec (4<sup>1</sup>) and 29 nsec (2<sup>2</sup>4<sup>1</sup>) for these two excited levels, which values have been used in this assessment. Jeunehomme and Duncan (1964) obtained a value of 310 nsec for HCHO excited in a flash discharge. In the latter experiment many levels were excited, and since the higher levels appear to have much shorter lifetimes owing to enhanced rates of non-radiative processes only fluorescence from the lowest vibronic levels would have been observed. Sakurai et al. (1971b) and Aoki et al. (1973) each have investigated the fluorescence excited with a No pulsed laser and report radiative lifetimes of 27 nsec and 18 nsec. respectively. No pressure dependence of this  $4^{2}6^{1}$  level was observed in the range 1 to 10 torr. These values are in reasonable accord with the noted lifetime shortening at higher vibronic levels. The fluorescence spectrum observed in these studies extends to about 700 nm, peak emission being in the vicinity of 400 to 450 nm (Aoki et al., 1973; Yeung and Moore, 1973). The collisional quenching rate constants in formaldehyde at room temperature have been measured by Yeung and Moore (1973), who obtained 7.9 x  $10^{-10}$  and 3.1 x  $10^{-10}$  cm<sup>3</sup> sector molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> for the 4<sup>1</sup> and  $2^{2}4^{1}$  levels, respectively. These values are comparable to gas kinetic collision rates. Ar appeared to quench the fluorescence about 3.5 times less efficiently than HCHO. Aoki et al. (1973) noted that the effective fluorescence lifetime of the  $4^{2}6^{1}$  level decreased from 18 nsec to 14 nsec with air at atmospheric pressure, implying a quenching rate constant of 6.4 x  $10^{+13}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> or 0.002 times the gas kinetic collision rate. At 10 to 100 torr for the longer lived  $4^1$  level the fluorescence efficiency will be decreased by 30 to 200 fold if collisional quenching is assumed to be at the gas kinetic collision frequency rather than at such a value of  $6.4 \times 10^{-13} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ molecule}^{-1} \text{ sec}^{-1}$ . The shorter lived  $2^2 4^1$  level is less affected by such quenching and the corresponding reduction would be from 4 to 30 fold. The dilemma of

which rate to use for  $4^1$  and  $2^24^1$  levels quenched by air cannot be resolved here and consequently, a value of  $1 \times 10^{-10}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> has been used to assure that the detection limits are not overly optimistic. The expected sensitivity limits are shown in Table XIX. They have been calculated assuming the availability of a 1 W tunable, cw laser in this spectral range, although it is realized that this is rather beyond the state of the art at present. It has been further assumed that the line will encompass 10% of the ground state population.

With such a system, the practical sensitivity cannot be on the ppb scale indicated, since the very strong Rayleigh component of the scattered radiation, also listed in Table XIX will necessarily degrade these limits. Either a less intense source would have to be used or means invoked to effectively discriminate against the scattered radiation. Either step, reducing,  $I^{0}$ , or effectively decreasing the filter transmission,  $\theta$ , will substantially raise the detection limits. Since stratospheric HCHO is most probably at concentration levels below 1 ppb it is unlikely that this fluorescence approach will be fruitful.

As noted by Hanst (1971), coincidences between lines of the infrared bands of HCHO and available laser lines are disappointing. Although the 3.5080  $\mu$ m strong xenon line is close to an absorption line (Table III), and appears to suffer no absorbing interferences in the atmosphere (McClatchey and Selby, 1974), it lies in a weak absorption region of the spectrum. Johns and McKellar (1973) investigated the coincidences between various CO laser lines and absorption lines in the  $\nu_2$  band by Stark spectroscopy. No close matches were noted, the lowest field required was 0.71 kV/cm for the P<sub>16-15</sub> (13) CO line at 1707.887 cm<sup>-1</sup>. No infrared fluorescence studies have been reported for formaldehyde, and it is unlikely that it will produce the level of sensitivity required here. Recently, Nill et al. (1973) have, however, illustrated one important new asset of tunable diode lasers by studying part of the HCHO 3.5  $\mu$ m band with a spectral resolution of 10<sup>-5</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>.

. . . .

· . · . . .

· · · ·

. .

. . .

1. 11 2.

 $e_{A_2} U_{A_1} = e_{A_1} e_{A_2} e_{A_2} e_{A_3} e_$ 

The second se

.

2

. Also

#### HYDROGEN CHLORIDE, HCl

This stable molecule has no low lying bound electronically excited states and only exhibits continuous absorption at wavelengths less than about 230 nm. The only strong and distinctive spectral system is that of its fundamental vibration centered in the vicinity of  $3.5 \mu$ m. There have been no reported coincidences of rotational lines in this band with non-tunable exciting line sources other than with HCl lasing transitions.

Fluorescence studies using pulsed HCl lasers have already been listed in Table IIL and generally report a weakness of the fluorescence. This is due to the long radiative lifetime of about 0.03 sec for the v'' = 1 state (Margottin-Maclou et al., 1971; Emanuel and Cohen, 1974) and the relatively efficient collisional relaxation with nitrogen. At 250 K.  $k_{No} = 2.2 \times 10^{-14} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ molecule}^{-1} \text{ sec}^{-1}$  (Chen and Moore, 1971a, b). Consequently, the system is of little use for detecting HCl in low concentrations as illustrated by the crude but sufficient calculation of the potential detection limits which are listed in Table XIX. HCl lasers are operated at a low pulse rate. Assuming the availability of a 1 kW peak power, 1 $\mu$ sec pulsewidth, 1 pulse sec<sup>-1</sup> laser, to a first approximation this is basically equivalent to a  $10^{-3}$  W constant power source. The line strengths in the P branch are for example  $\sim 8 \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ atm}^{-1} - \text{H}^{35}\text{Cl P}(4)$  line (Toth et al., 1970) which corresponds to a peak absorption cross-section of about 1 x  $10^{-18}$  cm<sup>2</sup>. A low J number, P branch laser line, would have to be used since at 250 K only the J'' = 0 to 5 levels have a reasonable population. A fractional population of 0.15 has been assumed in these crude estimates. The poor sensitivity consequently arises partly from the low fluorescence efficiency and from the limited detector sensitivity. 22.

HCl is difficult to monitor by any means. However, a feasibility study of the application of existing techniques to remotely monitor HCl in the atmosphere has recently been published elsewhere (Zwick et al., 1973) under contract to NASA. This assessed the suitability of correlation spectrometers and interferometers and also evaluated their possible interferents. Remote monitoring sensitivities down to about 1 ppm-meter appeared possible with the most refined system.

## NITROUS ACID, HONO

In the uv-visible region, the absorption spectrum of HNO<sub>2</sub> has been reported by King and Moule (1962) and by Johnston and Graham (1974). Absorption occurs in the 300 to 400 nm region with very diffuse absorption bands indicative of predissociation that form the continuous absorption profile illustrated in Figure 6. The positions of the peaks in the two studies agree well and the cross-sections listed by Johnston and Graham (1974) have maximum values of the order of 10<sup>-19</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>. King and Moule (1962) observed no fine structure in these bands when photographed on a 20-ft grating spectrograph with a resolving power of 150,000. The dissociation threshold for HNO, to OH and NO products is at 590 nm and predissociation appears to occur efficiently in this 300 to 400 nm region. Johnston and Graham (1974) also report that preliminary studies indicate a quantum yield of the order of unity for this process. It therefore appears very unlikely that fluorescence can be excited in this system. Although NO, also absorbs in this region, it would have posed no interference problem since wavelengths < 398 nm photodissociate it and produce little if any fluorescence. It may be interesting to note that the HONO exists in two planar tautomeric cis and trans forms. These are separated by about 180 cm<sup>-1</sup> in energy, the trans being the more stable arrangement. However, the barrier height limiting their interconversion is about 4000  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  which will be sufficiently high to prevent their collisional equilibration at 250 K if the molecules are preferentially produced in one form.

The infrared spectrum of HONO is less well characterized but bands have been assigned to the 6 infrared-active vibrational frequencies which are listed in Table XX (Jones et al., 1951; McGraw, 1965). A check of these spectral regions illustrates that nearly all the fundamental bands, possibly with the exception of that at 853 cm<sup>-1</sup>, lie at wavelengths where absorptions also occur with other atmospheric components (Murcray et al., 1969; McClatchey and Selby, 1974). Infrared fluorescence holds no promise for this species. Moreover, detection by conventional absorption or emission techniques will be very difficult owing to these spectral interferences.

**83** -



Figure 6. Absorption Cross-Sections for Gaseous Nitric Acid,  $HNO_3$ , and Nitrous Acid,  $HNO_2$ , in the uv-visible Region

(from Johnston and Graham, 1974)

1. 1

Table XX. Fundamental Vibrations of HONO-cm<sup>-1</sup>, (from McGraw, 1965)

1 :

		cis	trans	<b>Relative Infrared Intensities</b>
ν <sub>1</sub> ,	O-H stretch	3424	3588	weak
ν <sub>2</sub> ,	N=O stretch	1640	1699	medium
ν <sub>3</sub> ,	HON bend	1261	1265	medium
ν <sub>4</sub> ,	N-O stretch	853	791	strong
ν <sub>5</sub> ,	ONO bend	608	593	strong
ν <sub>6</sub> ,	H out of plane	638	540	strong

# NITRIC ACID, HONO,

Unlike  $H_2SO_4$  it appears theoretically well justified that nitric acid is present in the stratosphere as a vapor and not as aerosol particles (Toon and Pollack, 1973). The nitric acid absorption spectrum in the uv region has been critically reviewed by Hampson et al. (1973) and further confirmed by more recent work (Biaume, 1973). It is characterized by a continuum profile, Figure 6, and the molecule appears to photodissociate to OH and NO<sub>2</sub> with a primary quantum yield of unity at these wavelengths (Johnston et al., 1974). Cross-sections decrease from  $10^{-17}$  cm<sup>2</sup> at 190 nm, to  $10^{-22}$  cm<sup>2</sup> at 320 nm, and is <<  $10^{-22}$  cm<sup>2</sup> in the 330 to 370 nm region. Consequently, although the data suggests that a significant portion of the spectrum does result from transitions between bound states, no fluorescent systems are expected to be observed in this or the visible region where it is completely transparent.

The molecule has nine fundamental vibration frequencies, all active in the infrared from 2.8 to 22  $\mu$ m, the strongest four of which have been observed in atmospheric absorption data (Murcray et al., 1969; Goldman et al., 1971). The 11.3 and 21.9  $\mu$ m bands have also been monitored by their atmospheric emission (Williams et al., 1972; Murcray et al., 1973). The 5.9 and 7.5  $\mu$ m bands are in a region where interference by lines of H<sub>2</sub>O, O<sub>3</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> may be severe. The  $\vee_5$  band at 11.3  $\mu$ m lies in a transparent atmospheric window, is relatively free from interfering factors but has a maximum absorption crosssection of about 10<sup>-21</sup> cm<sup>2</sup> (Goldman et al., 1971). It appears to hold little promise as a sensitive fluorescence detector.

11.13

 $\gamma_i$ 

# HYDROGEN SULFIDE, H<sub>2</sub>S

No fluorescence studies in the uv-visible or infrared spectral regions have been reported. The lowest lying electronically excited state is at 37,000 cm<sup>-1</sup> and gives rise to a broad absorption continuum from 190 to 270 nm with a maximum at 195 nm, corresponding to a peak absorption cross-section of about 7.4 x  $10^{-18}$  cm<sup>2</sup> (Watanabe and Jursa, 1964).  $D_0^0$  (H-SH) = 89.8 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>, 376 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup>, equivalent to a spectroscopic limit of 318 nm. Consequently, this observed dissociative continuum eliminates the possibility of fluorescence in the uv-visible region.

The intensities of the fundamental bands in the infrared are quite weak when contrasted to the strong bands of isoelectronic  $H_2O$ . The  $\nu_1$  and  $\nu_3$  bands are centered at about 3.81  $\mu$ m with the  $\nu_2$  band at 8.45  $\mu$ m. Owing to the complexity of these systems (Allen et al., 1956; Allen and Plyler, 1956) and the lack of any reported line coincidences, infrared fluorescence studies of  $H_2S$  are not appropriate at present.

Lowder et al. (1971) and Sulzmann et al. (1973) have estimated the limits of detectability for line-center absorption and derivative spectroscopy methods using tunable diode lasers. For the eight species that they considered, detection was the least sensitive for  $H_2S$ , even though its strongest  $\nu_2$  band was considered. This is primarily due to its weak integrated band intensity. For a laser diode of  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  W power output, in a system at atmospheric pressure, a detection limit of 431 ppb-meter was calculated for this line-center absorption approach. AMMONIA, NH<sub>3</sub>

The lowest lying electronically excited state of ammonia, designated  $\tilde{A}^1 A_2''$ , is 46, 136 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the  $\tilde{X}^1 A_1$  ground state. The absorption system associated with these states consists of rather diffuse double or triple-headed bands in the 170 to 217 nm region, which get stronger at shorter wavelengths and become well defined in the vacuum ultraviolet (Watanabe, 1954). However, none of the bands in this  $\tilde{A} \leftarrow \tilde{X}$  system show a resolved rotational fine structure (Douglas, 1963), and predissociation to NH<sub>2</sub> and H occurs on absorption (Okabe and Lenzi, 1967). All the excited states of NH<sub>3</sub> are in fact predissiociated. As a consequence, fluorescence from the  $\tilde{A}$  state will not occur. The gas is itransparent in all other regions of the ultraviolet and visible spectrum.

Ammonia displays four fundamental vibration bands, all infrared active. The  $\nu_1$  and  $\nu_3$ bands are at about 3.0  $\mu$ m,  $\nu_4$  at 6.1  $\mu$ m, and the strong  $\nu_2$  band at 10.5  $\mu$ m. The  $\nu_3$ fundamental band is particularly weak in NH<sub>3</sub>. These bands are subject to potential interferences from other atmospheric gases.  $\nu_1$  lies in a region of CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O absorption, and  $\nu_4$  is severely interfered with by H<sub>2</sub>O bands. Such invalidating absorptions appear to be least for the  $\nu_2$  band at 10.5  $\mu$ m.

The only reported fluorescence studies with ammonia are those of Borde et al. (1966) and Ronn (1968) listed in Table III. Hanst (1971) has measured the absorption coefficients of NH<sub>2</sub> at 21 CO<sub>2</sub> laser line wavelengths. Four of these were particularly strong, the P(32), R(22), P(34), and P(36) lines. By studying the pressure variation of the absorption it was established that the latter two were due primarily to absorptions in the wings of NH, lines. The P(32) line was the most strongly absorbed and quite sensitive to pressure showing it to have the best frequency matching value. Its absorption cross-sections at the pressures being considered here were  $2.0 \times 10^{-19}$  (10 torr),  $1.1 \times 10^{-18}$  (100 torr), and 1.3 x 10<sup>-18</sup> cm<sup>2</sup> (760 torr). Shimizu (1970a) studied the Stark spectrum of the NH<sub>3</sub> $\nu_2$  band with CO, and N<sub>o</sub>O laser lines. The relative positions of the lines was obtained for about 100 potential coincidences. All lines of the CO<sub>2</sub> laser between P(50) and R(50) were investigated together with those for the  $N_{0}O$  laser from P(5) to P(42) and R(5) to R(39). The strong absorption, noted above by Hanst (1971), with the P(32) CO, line was found to be mismatched by 950 MHz (0.032  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ ) illustrating the need for pressure broadening in the absorption line. With the CO, laser Shimizu (1970a) did note one closer coincidence for the R(6) CO, line, 200 MHz, that has not been otherwise investigated. However, these coincidences appear to be closer than would have been predicted using the available

12-

spectroscopic data (Taylor, 1973). For the N<sub>2</sub>O laser an almost exact coincidence, within the Doppler width, was found between the P(13) line and the Q(8, 7) NH<sub>3</sub> line, the numbers in parentheses referring to the J, K values, respectively. Shimizu (1970b) reported an absorption coefficient of  $0.7 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  torr<sup>-1</sup> for this transition. Assuming this value refers to 298 K and a base 10 definition it corresponds to an absorption crosssection of about 5.0 x  $10^{-17}$  cm<sup>2</sup>. The absorbing level is about 535 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the ground state and at 250 K will have a population of around 3% of the total number of molecules. This absorption has formed the basis for infrared-microwave double reson-34 ance (Shimizu and Oka, 1970a, b; Kreiner et al., 1973; Kreiner and Rudolph, 1973; Levy 10.00 et al., 1973; Kreiner and Jones, 1974; Kano et al., 1974), infrared-infrared double resonance (Freund et al., 1973) and infrared-microwave-microwave triple resonance studies (Jones and Eyer, 1973). Lambert and Salter (1959) found that molecules containing two or more H atoms suffer vibration to translational energy transfer very much more easily than for other molecules. They reported that an average of only 9 collisions deactivate a molecule of  $NH_3$  in its  $\upsilon'' = 1$  state (948 cm<sup>-1</sup>). Such a high relaxation rate implies a very low fluorescence efficiency and it is expected that even with a 5 W  $N_0O$ cw laser that the lowest detection limit conceivable would only be on a ppm scale. This system undoubtedly is of value in an absorption mode wherever the use of an N<sub>o</sub>O laser is practical, however, for infrared fluorescence it has very limited applicability. It might also be noted that certain organic molecules such as n-butane and ethylene also absorb in this region and interfere if present with the ammonia. The use of tunable diode lasers for the detection of NH<sub>3</sub> by absorption in the  $\nu_2$  band at around 10.5  $\mu$ m  $^{\prime}$ has been considered by Hinkley and Kelley (1971), Lowder et al. (1971), and Sulzmann et al. (1973). Such a technique appears quite sensitive for sufficiently long pathlengths.

## NITRIC OXIDE, NO

Nitric oxide fluorescence has been extensively studied utilizing numerous atomic line sources in the 191 to 227 nm regions (Table II). As illustrated in Figure 7, the absorption spectrum at room temperature is highly structured from 130 to 230 nm consisting of bands of the  $\gamma (A^2 \Sigma^+ - X^2 \Pi)$ ,  $\beta (B^2 \Pi - X^2 \Pi)$ ,  $\delta (C^2 \Pi - X^2 \Pi)$ , and  $\epsilon (D^2 \Sigma^+ - X^2 \Pi)$ systems. Below 130 nm the spectrum merges into a continuum. Owing to the discrete nature of the absorption spectrum, cross-sections at specific wavelengths have to be obtained from more detailed studies of the line structure of a particular absorption band and should not be taken from Figure 7, which was obtained with a spectral resolution of 0.1 nm. As will be seen later, cross-sections for specific lines are much higher than would be inferred from this low resolution data. Above 190 nm there is very little overlapping of the beta and gamma bands. No laser systems are available in this spectral region and only coincidences with atomic line or discharge sources that radiate the NO bands can be considered. Melton and Klemperer (1973) have undertaken a systematic search for coincidences in the (0, 0) to  $(3, 0)\gamma$  bands and the (3, 0) to  $(7, 0)\beta$  bands. They have measured the separation between the exciting and absorbing lines by using up to 20 kG magnetic fields to Zeeman shift one of the source components into exact coincidence. From their zero field separations it appears that the only atomic lines feasible for fluorescence measurements, in the absence of such fields, are the Cd<sup>+</sup>, 214 nm (0.45 cm<sup>-1</sup>); Ge. 226 (0.0); Se, 196 (0.2); Te 215, (0.1), 214 (0.45); and Zn, 214 (0.86), where the value in parentheses refers to the separation, in wavenumbers, from the nearest NO absorbing line. These lines all populate levels in the  $A^2\Sigma^+$  state and induce the strong  $\gamma$  band fluorescence.

Absorption cross-sections at the center of specific Doppler broadened lines in various NO  $\gamma$  bands have been calculated. The nomenclature, and hence consistent formulae for such calculations is quite confused and some care is required. Definitions of the appropriate relationships between oscillator strengths and line strengths have been taken from Schadee (1967) and Tatum (1967). The general working equation for the required cross-section used in these assessments is given by the expression

$$\sigma = \frac{\pi e^2}{mc} \left(\frac{4 \ln 2}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} \frac{f_{\cup' \cup''} \lambda_{\cup' \cup''} S_{J'J''} g_e^{J''} exp(-\epsilon_{J''}/kT)}{\lambda_{J'J''} g_e^{Q_{vib} Q_{rot} \Delta v_D}}$$

where:  $f_{\upsilon'\upsilon''} =$  vibrational transition probability for the ( $\upsilon'\upsilon'$ ) band. The values 4.0 x 10<sup>-4</sup> (0, 0); 8.1 x 10<sup>-4</sup> (1, 0) and 2.4 x 10<sup>-4</sup> (3, 0) have been taken (Farmer et al., 1972a)

 $\lambda_{U'U''}$ ,  $\lambda_{J'J''}$  = wavelength of the band origin and the particular (J'J'') transition, respectively. The ratio of the two is very close to unity.

 $S_{J'J''}$  = line strength of the particular line transition; values taken from Melton (1971)

$$g_e, g_e^J$$
 = electronic degeneracies of the ground state and the particular  
J" level. Values of  $3 \ge 2 (1 - e^{-hcA/kT})$  and  $3 \ge 2$  have been  
used, respectively, where A is the spin-coupling constant and has  
a value of 124.2 cm<sup>-1</sup> for NO.

٠,

 $\epsilon_{T} \approx$  energy of the rotational state, J"

 $Q_{vib}$ ,  $Q_{rot}$  = vibrational and rotational partition functions, respectively.





Absorption cross-section values for the various transitions of interest are given in Table XXI and are seen to be quite large. Also listed are the measured proximity of source to absorption lines and the relative populations of the J" levels at a temperature of 250 K.

Since in this case the fluorescence is excited with atomic line sources, a consideration in each case has to be made of the extent of the overlap between the source and absorbing line. The isotopes of cadmium of even atomic weight, about 75% of the natural abundance (108, 0.88%; 110, 12.39%; 112, 24.07%; 114, 28.86%; 116, 7.58%) all have zero nuclear spin. Those with odd atomic weights (111, 12.75%; 113, 12.26%) have nuclear spin of one-half. Kelly and Sutherland (1956), and Contreras and Kelly (1969) have measured the hyperfine splitting in the  ${}^{2}S_{1/2}$  ground state of the odd isotopes as  $0.5 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . They have noted also that the hyperfine splitting in the  ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$  state is negligibly small. Isotope effects are small and the line shape is controlled by the nuclear hyperfine components. The approximate line profiles of the Cd<sup>+</sup> 214 nm source and the position of the NO absorbing line are illustrated in Figure 8 for two source linewidths.

	Source λair, nm;	Line $1/\lambda vac, \ cm^{-1}$	Absort	NO Ding Li	γ Band ne; 1/λv	ac, cm <sup>-1</sup>	Separation <sup>†</sup> (source-line), cm <sup>-1</sup>	n <sub>j1</sub> /n _250 K	8 <sup>1,1</sup> .	σ, <u>(cm<sup>2</sup> x 10<sup>18</sup>)</u>
Se :	196.090*	50, 996. 93	υ' = 3 K' = 1	• <sub>P12</sub>	<b>(</b> 5/2)	50, 997.12	- 0.19	1.82x10 <sup>-2</sup>	0.567	2.65
Zn	213.856	46,745.7	υ' = 1 K' = 29	Q <sub>11</sub>	(5 <del>9</del> /2)	46, 746. 5	-0.86	6,92x10 <sup>-5</sup>	12.230	0.26 <sub>1</sub>
Cd <sup>+</sup>	214.438	46,618.6	υ' = 1 K' = 13	R <sub>11</sub>	(25 <b>/2</b> )	46,618.1	+0.45	3. 38x10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.196	18.7
Te	214.281	46,653.0	υ' = 1 K' ≈ 22	Q <sub>11</sub>	(45/2)	46,652.5	+0.45	1.88x10 <sup>-3</sup>	8.791	3. 91
:	214. 725	46, 556. 54	υ' = 1 K' = 10	<i>Q</i> <sub>11</sub>	(21/2)	46, 556. 67	-0.13	4.54x10 <sup>-2</sup>	3.536	<b>44.</b> 5
Ge	225.600	44, 312. 5	v' = 0 K' = 16	R <sub>11</sub>	(31/2)	44, 312. 5	+0.0	1.80x10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.820	6.10
			, · · ·	-	:			· · · ·		
* λ • Μe	ac Iton and Klen	aperer, 1973	e Maria e .				-			

Table XXI. Suitable Source and Absorption Lines for NO Fluorescence

Alignet Alignet and the second state of the second state of the second state. Alignet Alignet Alignet Alignet A The second state of the second state of the second state and state and state and state of the second state of t





Overlap is predominantly with one component of the odd isotopes and little interaction occurs with that part of the line produced by the even isotopes unless there is significant line broadening. Such broadening will mainly be a consequence of conditions that enhance self-absorption in the lamp. This has not been indicated in the figure and for a severely broadened source line the even isotope contribution will be less intense than illustrated. Corresponding linewidths for the Doppler broadened  $(0.1 \text{ cm}^{-1})$  or pressure broadened  $(0.16 \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ atm}^{-1})$  NO absorption line are also illustrated. Considerations of the extent of the overlap in the two cases predict a slightly enhanced absorption using a broadened source. However, a better approach would be to use a cadmium lamp enriched in the odd isotopes. Broida and Carrington (1963) concluded that the linewidth of their source line was  $0.7 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . Melton (1971) assessed his at  $0.4 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (FWHM). Assuming a value of  $0.5 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (FWHM) the fractional overlap can be considered as effectively reducing the peak absorption cross-section by about a factor of 25 for NO at 10 to 100 torr and about a factor of 18 for a sample at atmospheric pressure. Broida and Carrington (1963) did note that at low pressures. NO absorbs NO  $\gamma$  band emission from a discharge through NO more strongly by a factor of 40, than it absorbs the Cd<sup>+</sup> line. Metal vapor lamps appear to be the most intense source of the 214 nm line for our application and it has been assumed that its intensity is about a factor of 25 times weaker than the Cd 229 nm line which intensity is usually quoted. A source area of 0.5 cm<sup>2</sup> and f/2 optics have been assumed. Calculations are for a lamp containing natural Cd.

Isotope splittings in zinc are slight. The mass 64-68 shift is ~0.03 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Hately and Littlefield, 1958). Mass 67 (4.11% abundance) has a nuclear spin of 5/2 but any resulting hyperfine structure is not expected to play a significant role. There is no hyperfine structure associated with the ground  ${}^{1}S_{0}$  state. The 213.8 nm transition is the resonance line of zinc and is about equally intense in metal vapor, hollow cathode or electrodeless microwave discharge lamps. This zinc line is reportedly very easily broadened, a necessary requirement owing to the 0.86 cm<sup>-1</sup> separation between the source and absorbing line centers. Overlap will be small and limited to the far wings of the absorbing line. Crude estimates imply that the peak absorption cross-section will be effectively reduced in this case by factors of about 1/100 (10 to 100 torr) and 1/60 (sample at atmospheric pressure) based on a source line broadened to 1.0 cm<sup>-1</sup> (FWHM).

Tellurium exhibits small isotopic splittings and some hyperfine structure owing to odd isotopes (123, 0.9%; 125, 7.0%). The extent of the total splitting appears to be less than the expected linewidths and has not been considered further (Kuhn and Turner, 1961). Since the exactness of the coincidences with the 214.3 nm and 214.7 nm Te lines is only to within  $\pm 0.45$  cm<sup>-1</sup> and  $\pm 0.13$  cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, some broadening in the source will be necessary. Source lines of 0.4 cm<sup>-1</sup> (FWHM) will produce an overlap equivalent to reducing the peak absorption cross-section by factors of 1/300 (10 to 100 torr) and 1/200 (atm pressure) for the 214.3 nm line, and 1/6 (10 to 100 torr), 1/4 (atm pressure) for the 214.7 nm line. An electrodeless radio-frequency discharge lamp (Perkin-Elmer) is recommended for Te although in other applications where microwave power can be utilized such a discharge lamp would provide an order of magnitude increased intensity. The 214.7 nm line is assumed to be about five times weaker than that at 214.3 nm.

Selenium has one isotope with nuclear spin (I = 1/2, mass 77, 7.58% abundance). Hyperfine and nuclear splittings will be unimportant for a source line broadened to about  $0.4 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . The center wavelength is about  $0.19 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  out of coincidence with that of the NO line, effectively reducing the peak absorption cross-section by factors of about 1/8 (10 to 100 torr) and 1/5 (atm pressure sample). The 196 nm line is a strong feature in the spectrum of atomic Se. An electrodeless radio-frequency discharge lamp (Perkin-Elmer) appears the most intense source. It is assumed to be an order of magnitude brighter than a hollow cathode lamp.

The germanium 225.6 nm line is not a strong feature in its atomic spectrum. The line is much weaker by a factor of about 800 than the strongest Ge lines at 265 nm. Hollow cathode lamps or electrodeless microwave discharge lamps are available. Intensities of this line in such sources are expected only to be about  $3 \times 10^{-8}$  and  $6 \times 10^{-7}$  W cm<sup>-2</sup>. ster<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Of its five isotopes, the principle four are of even mass (92.2%) and show very small isotopic shifts (< 0.005 cm<sup>-1</sup> between consecutive even mass numbers) and hyperfine splitting produced in the odd mass component (7.8% abundance, I = 9/2) is considered negligible (Deverall et al., 1954; Heilig et al., 1966). Owing to the exact spectral coincidence, the source and absorbing lines will be considered to overlap completely. The extent of the absorption then can be calculated assuming that the cross-section is effectively  $\sigma/2^{1/2}$ .

Vibrational relaxation within the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  state during its lifetime is negligible compared to electronic quenching in systems containing oxygen. Removal of one quantum of vibrational energy by nitrogen requires about 790 collisions for the  $\upsilon' = 1$  to  $\upsilon' = 0$  transition or 220 collisions for  $\upsilon' = 3$  to  $\upsilon' = 2$  (Callear and Smith, 1963b). Electronic quenching by oxygen collisions is rapid,  $k_{O_2} = 1.7 \times 10^{-10} \text{ cm}^3$  molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> for  $\upsilon' = 1$  and 1.6 x 10<sup>-10</sup> for  $\upsilon' = 0, 3$ . Nitrogen is 2000-fold less efficient and can be ignored (Melton and Klemperer, 1972). The generally accepted value for the radiative lifetimes of these vibrational levels, and the value taken here, is about  $2 \times 10^{-7}$  sec [ $\upsilon' = 1$  (210 nsec),  $\upsilon' = 0$  (230 nsec), Callear and Smith, 1963a;  $\upsilon' = 0$  (196.5 nsec), Jeunehomme, 1966;  $\upsilon' = 0, 1$  (215 nsec), Bubert and Froben, 1971;  $\upsilon' = 1$  (181 nsec), German et al., 1971]. Other workers, though, have reported values that are difficult to reconcile with this [ $\upsilon' = 0$ , (108 nsec),  $\upsilon' = 1$  (106 nsec), Copeland, 1972;  $\upsilon' = 0$  (420 nsec),  $\upsilon' = 1$  (400 nsec), Fink and Welge, 1968;  $\upsilon' = 0$  (449 nsec),  $\upsilon' = 1$  (410 nsec), Jeunehomme and Duncan, 1964].

The systems of interest all involve the  $A^2\Sigma^+$  state. Consequently, fluorescence for each consists of  $\gamma$  band progressions, the intensities of which are controlled by the respective Franck-Condon factors, quint (Jain and Sahni, 1968; Spindler et al., 1970). Each band contains 8 resolvable branches. At low pressures these are represented solely by 8 lines. However, at high pressures rotational relaxation populates many more J' levels. For the exciting wavelengths considered here all Raman scattered components are displaced by less than 13 nm from the source line and would pose no particular detection problem. Band wavelengths and the Franck-Condon factors are listed in Table XXII. For excitation to the  $A^2\Sigma^+$ ,  $\upsilon' = 3$  level (Se line) the most suitable, and intense band for monitoring purposes is the (3, 4) transition at 229 nm. At these short wavelengths interference filters are available but their transmission is directly related to their bandwidth and a 10 to 20 nm FWHM filter has only a peak transmission of about 10%. Since the filters main role is to provide a means for rejecting scattered light, in this case at 196 nm, and the nitrogen Raman component at 205 nm, this might be accomplished more efficiently using  $NH_3$  as a filter (Callear and Smith, 1963b) to remove these shorter wavelengths, with a solar blind photomultiplier tube to limit the detector response to about 300 nm. In the other cases, the wavelength cutoff for an ammonia filter is too low and 20 nm FWHM interference filters with a 10% peak transmission might have to be used unless other chemical filters absorbing radiation at <230 nm can be found.

Based on such considerations the calculated detection limits, illustrated in Table XXIII, are seen to be quite high and show little promise for exploitation as an alternate stratospheric monitor. It appears unlikely that the sensitivity of the Se and Cd<sup>+</sup> systems can be sufficiently increased. Zinc loses much of its sensitivity at 250 K primarily due to the reduced concentration of the absorbing level  $(n_i/n = 6.9 \times 10^{-5})$ . However, the

				*		÷ . 
ט <b>י</b>		3		1		0
1.11						т. Р. с. – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –
	λ μμ	ີ້ ບ <sub>້</sub> ບ"	χ nm	<sup>4</sup> 0'0''	λ nm .	<sup></sup> ບ່າບ''
0	195.8	0.151	215.1	0.330	226.5	0.162
1.	203.3	0.198	224.2	0.107	236.6	0.262
2	211.2	0.045 <sub>5</sub>	233.9	0.000 <sub>6</sub>	247.4	0.237
3	219.7	0.0395	244.3	0.0693	259.1	0.161
4	228.7	0.112	255.4	0.132	271.7	0.0920
5	238.3	0.0502	267.5	0.133	285.4	0.0469
6	248.5	0.0006	280.5	0.098 <sub>9</sub>	300.2	0.022
7	259.6	0.022	294.6	0.0619	316.5	0.009
8	271.4	0.0637	310.0	0.0344	334.2	0.004
9	284.1	0.0835	326.7	$0.017_{7}^{-}$	353.8	0.001
10	297.9	0.0780	- 345.0	0.0085	375.4	0.000 <sub>7</sub>
11	312.8	0.0597	365.1	0.004	399.3	0.0003
12	328 <b>. 9</b>	0.0402	387.3	0.001	425.9	.0.000
13	346.4	0.0247	411.9	0.000	455.8	0.000
14	365.6	0.0143	439.2	0.0003	489.6	0.0000

.. ... † ... ¥

# Table XXII. Wavelengths and Franck-Condon FactorsFor Fluorescing $\gamma$ Bands

1

g<sub>uvu"</sub> values from Jain and Sahni, 1968

÷

- 1 - 1

Table XXIII. Detection Limits for Various NO Fluorescence Systems

.

. -1`

.

.....

,

.....

		.e.	•	•	۶۰۰ .					<del>.</del>	r , ·	•			
Source, nin	Source Intensity, I a <sup>2</sup> watts	F 10 torr	Nuorescence E $k_f / (k_f + k_d + 100 \text{ torr})$	sfficiency k <sub>q</sub> (M) 760 torr	6 <sup>73</sup>	<b>-</b> 6	-	θ N, watts	Detector Wavelength, nm	Raylei at D 10 torr 1	gh & Mie Sc etector, wa 100 torr	sattering tits 760 torr	I 10 torr	betection Lim ppb 100 torr	ldts, 760 torr
196,090 Se RF electrod	1x10 <sup>-5</sup> 'e-	0.28	3.7x10 <sup>-2</sup>	5. 1×10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.65×10 <sup>-18</sup>	1.6	0.45 ' (	0.8 5x10 <sup>-18</sup>	220-300	2.9x10 <sup>-14</sup> 2	2, 9×10 <sup>-13</sup>	2.2x10 <sup>-12</sup>	85	<b>64</b>	39
less lamp 213.856 Zn	5x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.27	3. 5×10 <sup>-2</sup>	4.8×10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.61×10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.6	0.25	0.1 5×10 <sup>-18</sup>	262± 10	9.6x10 <sup>-14</sup> 8	9.6x10 <sup>-13</sup>	7.3x10 <sup>-12</sup>	8.5x10 <sup>6</sup>	6.5x10 <sup>6</sup>	3.8x10 <sup>6</sup>
vapor lamp 214.438 Cd <sup>+</sup>	4x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.27	3.5×10 <sup>-2</sup>	4.8×10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.87×10-17	1.6	0.25 (	0.1 5×10 <sup>-18</sup>	262-10	7.7×10 <sup>-14</sup>	7,7×10 <sup>-13</sup>	5.8×10 <sup>-12</sup>	76	58	<b>6</b> 0
varpor lamp 214.281 Te 214.725	5x10 <sup>-6</sup> 1x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.27	3.5×10 <sup>-2</sup> 3.5×10 <sup>-2</sup>	4.6×10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.91×10 <sup>-18</sup> 4.45×10 <sup>-17</sup>	1.6 1.6	0.25	0.1 5x10 <sup>-18</sup> 3.1 5x10 <sup>-18</sup>	262 <sup>+</sup> 10 262 <sup>+</sup> 10	9.6x10 <sup>-15</sup> 8 1.9x10 <sup>-15</sup> 1	9.6×10 <sup>-14</sup>	7.7x10 <sup>-13</sup> 1.5x10 <sup>-13</sup>	6.3x10 <sup>5</sup> 228	4.8x10 <sup>5</sup> 175	3.1x10 <sup>5</sup> 112
RF electro less lamp 225.600 Ge	de- 3x10 <sup>-8</sup> .	0.28	3. 7×10 <sup>-2</sup>	5. 1×10 <sup>-3</sup>	6.10×10 <sup>-18</sup>	1.6	9.10	). Ĩ 5×10 <sup>-18</sup>	272 <sup>+</sup> 10	4.6×10 <sup>-17</sup> 4	1, 6x10 <sup>-16</sup>	3. 5×10 <sup>-15</sup>	7: 9×10 <sup>4</sup>	6. 0x10 <sup>4</sup>	5. 8×10 <sup>4</sup>
bollow cathode lan	Đ														
					••						· .				
									e.						

97

•.:

÷ .

; . ,

possibility of using an NO source to provide sufficient sensitivity cannot be ruled out. Use could be made of the integrated (0, 0) to (3, 0) bands in the 190 to 230 nm region to ... excite a larger fraction of the NO ground state population, with monitoring of the fluorescent bands in the 240 to 340 nm region. The factors limiting the line source sensitivity are the low source intensity  $(10^{-5} - 10^{-6} \text{ W})$ , the extent of the overlap with absorbing lines and the number density (2-4% of n) of the absorbing state. All these factors would be improved upon with such a system. It is far too involved an exercise to calculate here the ultimate sensitivity for such a system since it is a major task in its own right. The detailed factors involved have been outlined by McGregor et al. (1972, 1973) who isolated various lines in the (0, 0) band to monitor NO by line center absorption. Their source was a high voltage discharge through a flowing mixture of argon, nitrogen and oxygen at 5 torr. It would not be unreasonable to predict two orders of magnitude improvement for such a system if a source of  $5 \times 10^{-4}$  W cm<sup>-2</sup> ster<sup>-1</sup> ( ~ 5 x 10<sup>14</sup> guanta sec<sup>-1</sup>) was available. Whether the detection limit could be lowered to that of the NO chemiluminescent detector (0.02 ppb), requiring a factor of 4000 improvement over an arrangement using a Cd<sup>+</sup> source, would seem unlikely.

Although fluorescence appears not to have been reported in the infrared, various coincidences have been noted and absorption coefficients measured for the lines of the fundamental or overtone band with various laser lines (Table III). The NO fundamental band is centered at about 5.3  $\mu$ m, a region of appreciable water vapor absorption (Murcray et al., 1969; McClatchey and Selby, 1974). This potential interference becomes less serious if the sample pressure is reduced, and regions free from overlapping bands may exist. However, a detailed assessment would be necessary to establish this fact. At reduced pressure, absorption linewidths at 5 µm decrease from an atmospheric pressure value of about 0.06 cm<sup>-1</sup> towards the Doppler width of about 0.004 cm<sup>-1</sup>. At 10 torr the line will still be partially pressure broadened, but even so it is very narrow. Consequently, under such conditions, coincidences have to be quite exact to maintain a suitable overlap. Menzies et al. (1970) have measured the absorption coefficients in NO for various CO laser lines (Table III) at 20 and 50 torr. These correspond to absorption cross-sections in the range  $7 \times 10^{-21}$  to  $2 \times 10^{-19}$  cm<sup>2</sup>. Hanst (1971) also has obtained the cross-section of 5 x  $10^{-20}$  cm<sup>2</sup> for the iodine laser coincidence at atmospheric pressure. Such crosssections might be considered to be of an intermediate type strength. However, the long radiative lifetime of the  $X^2\Pi$  level, 80 msec (Stephenson, 1973a), may produce a low fluorescence efficiency. Quenching cross-sections although low for nitrogen and argon
may be quite large for oxygen. No data appears to be available at present. By placing the absorption cell within the CO laser cavity. Chackerian and Weisbach (1973) established that the absorption coefficient becomes enhanced about 250 times, implying an effective cross-section of  $1 \times 10^{-16}$  cm<sup>2</sup>. They estimated that 100 ppb could be measured at atmospheric pressure with such an absorption approach. Hinkley (1972b), Sulzmann et al. (1973), and Brockman and Seals (1973) also have discussed the feasibility of . . . using laser diodes tuned to NO absorption line centers in the infrared. Fluorescence in this region does not appear to hold any promise as a high sensitivity detector for NO.

2

.

۶. . 

: .-.... . . and the second . . .. .

• .

1a - 1 ۰. ., : . . . . . . . . . £ \*. 1. **3** • • • • • • ~ . The second second 12 ليوا العري ال . . · · · · · · · . . . . . . . . . . 3 a second second . . . . . · · · والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمحج والمحج والمحاج والمراجع والمراجع والمحج و And the second second

and the second · : • : . 99

# NITROGEN DIOXIDE, NO,

Nitrogen dioxide fluorescence has been extensively studied with both continuum and line sources (404.6 to 694.3 nm) in the visible spectral range. Absorption appears almost continuous in this region and the complex nature of the spectrum is evident in that fluorescence produced by a narrow line in a system at low pressure is a complex quasi-continuum which is probably a densely packed discrete spectrum. For the 488 nm Ar<sup>+</sup> laser line. Sakurai and Broida (1969b) found no change of transmission with electric or magnetic fields of  $3kV \text{ cm}^{-1}$  and 2kG, respectively. NO<sub>2</sub> is photodissociated at wavelengths less than 398 nm, its bond dissociation energy  $D_0^{o}$  (NO-O) is 71.8 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup> (300.5 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup>). Absorption coefficients for the 240 to 700 nm region are illustrated in Figure 9 from which values have been taken. More recent measurements by O'Shea and Dodge (1974) of the absorption coefficients for various mercury and argon ion laser lines confirm these values. Theoretical calculations (Gangi and Burnelle, 1971) predict a linear <sup>2</sup>B, and a bent <sup>2</sup>B<sub>o</sub> low-lying electronically excited state. Transitions to both appear to occur together over a large portion of the visible spectrum. However, Braslavsky and Heicklen (1973) have argued that the electronic state formed by absorption  $({}^{2}B_{1})$  is not the emitting state (<sup>2</sup>B<sub>0</sub>) and that a mechanism based on two electronic states is insufficient to explain all the observations. The value of the lifetime of these excited states, as with SO<sub>2</sub>, has been a long standing anomaly. Values obtained from various studies (Neuberger and Duncan, 1954,; Keyser et al., 1968, 1971; Schwartz and Johnston, 1969; Sakurai and Capelle, 1970; Sackett and Yardley, 1970, 1972; Sidebottom et al., 1972; Stevens et al., 1973) all lie in the range 45 to 85 usec, which is not only long for an allowed transition, but two orders of magnitude larger than that calculated from the integrated absorption coefficient. Solarz and Levy (1974), and Sackett and Yardley (1971) have found shortlived components that imply at least some excited levels have lifetimes approaching those calculated from the absorption coefficient. The observation and assignment of such shortlived states is difficult as a very large number of excited levels are certainly long-lived and the level density is sufficiently high that even the most narrow banded excitation sources will populate these longer lived states. Measured lifetimes have not been found to be wavelength dependent and in these estimates a value of 60 usec has been assumed for all the cases considered.

With exciting wavelengths at 400 to 470 nm the fluorescence spectrum is essentially a continuum extending from the line to about 800 nm. For 435.8 nm and 546.1 nm Hg



lines, Clyne et al. (1964) have measured the intensity distribution in the 500 to 800 nm range (Table XXIV).

There is a marked red-shift in the fluorescence spectrum with increasing wavelength of excitation or an increase in pressure. Distributions are fairly similar above 600 nm. Sakurai and Broida (1969b) exciting fluorescence with  $Ar^+$  and  $Kr^+$  laser lines between 457.9 and 520.8 nm found that the intensity of the continuum increases with increasing wavelength. Less pronounced with shorter wavelength excitation, but increasingly so for wavelengths >440 nm, discrete bands are evident, particularly at low pressures, with laser excitation in the 590 to 650 nm region (Brand et al., 1973a; Stevens et al., 1973). These bands are displaced from the excitation frequency by  $\nu_2$ ,  $\nu_1$ ,  $2\nu_2$ ,  $\nu_1 + \nu_2$  and  $3\nu_2$  etc. of the ground electronic state and represent ground state progressions such as the  $\nu_0, 2\nu_2, 3\nu_2$  bands (Abe et al., 1971; Abe, 1973). Sakurai and Broida (1969b) have shown that these line features are quenched to a greater extent than the continuum background. Problems associated with monitoring the bands displaced by  $\nu_1$  (1318 cm<sup>-1</sup>),  $2\nu_2$  (1499.6 cm<sup>-1</sup>) or  $3\nu_2$  (2249.4 cm<sup>-1</sup>) arise owing to their close proximity to Raman scattered bands of CO<sub>2</sub> (1285, 1388 cm<sup>-1</sup>), O<sub>2</sub> (1566 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and N<sub>2</sub> (2330 cm<sup>-1</sup>). The  $v_1 + 2v_2$  band displaced by 2818 cm<sup>-1</sup> is the first that might be monitored with some assurance. It has to be assumed that particularly at higher pressures the continuum fluorescence is most persistent and the more desirable for monitoring purposes, otherwise attempts to include the band displaced by  $\nu_1 + 2\nu_2$  within the accepted detection bandpass would be necessary. For exciting wavelengths up to 500 nm a detection bandwidth located anywhere from 600 to 720 nm would appear most appropriate. For the other exciting lines, filters have to be used with a short wavelength cutoff that will efficiently exclude the No Raman band which can be several orders of magnitude above the dark current noise level of the photomultiplier tube. This factor is very important in positioning the detection bandwidth to insure sufficient blocking at the Raman band. position. Appropriate detection wavelengths and bandwidths have been listed in Table XXVII. Estimates of the fraction of the fluorescence monitored, f, have been drawn mainly from the intensity distributions reported by Clyne et al. (1964). Collisional quenching rate constants are dependent on both the exciting wavelength and the fluorescence detection wavelength. Values are largest for fluorescence near the exciting wavelength and decrease with increasing energy separation between the exciting and fluorescent radiations, an effect explained assuming the importance of vibrational relaxation processes within the excited state. Quenching rates are high and are a reasonable fraction of the gas kinetic collision rate (~2.6 x  $10^{-10}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>). Reported values have been listed in Table XXV for the self-quenching rate constant, k<sub>NO2</sub>.

Table XXV.	Collisional Self-Quenching Rate C	onstants
for NO, Fluores	scence at 298 K (x10 <sup>11</sup> cm <sup>3</sup> molecu	$1e^{-1} \sec^{-1}$

e.			•			•				1	λ fluor	escen	ce, ni	n			. •						
λ exciti	ng	436	458	> 462	468	470	475	>480	489	509	<b>546</b>	548	566	580	592	599	>630	633	635	660	700	725	785
405		18		(4.2)						6.4			5,5						3.7		3.5		3.5
436		÷ ,	(8.0)	(5.1)	(8.2)	13*	11†	4.8*	(6,5)	8.2	6.6*	(4.2)	5.6	(3.1)	(2.9)	5.1	<u>3.0</u> †	(2.4)	<b>3.</b> 8*	3.7	3.3*	3.2	2.7*
1		570	> 570	583	. >594	599	>600	603	623	635	660	700	720	725	785								
532		9.0*	7.1*		· .		7.5	-										_					
546			(9.5)	(8.2)		19		(8.2)	(8.2)	12	11	11		8.6	7.6								
578					(10)					20	16	14		12	10				•				
694					•								8,1*										
No ider	ntifyi	ng m	ark -	Keyser	et al.	, 1971	L																
Ο.			-	Meyer	s et al.	, 196	6																
•			-	Keyse	r et al.	, 196	8										-						
+			-	Sidebo	ttom et	al.,	1972																

Rates for other gases relative to that for  $NO_2$  show no pronounced dependence on exciting and detecting wavelengths, and values for  $k_M/k_{NO_2}$  of 0.36 (M = Ar), 0.44 (M =  $O_2$ ), and 0.40 (M =  $N_2$ ) are suggested (Table XXVI). Lee and Uselman (1972) have measured the fluorescence efficiency at sufficiently low pressures that collisional quenching becomes negligible. Efficiencies approached unity for most exciting wavelengths. However, below 415 nm it declined sharply, being attributed to an early onset of predissociation. From their data a value for  $k_d$  of 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> can be derived for the 404.6/407.8 nm Hg exciting lines. At 10 torr or higher pressures this makes a negligible contribution to the fluorescence efficiency at these wavelengths owing to the predominance of collisional quenching.

As seen from Table XXVII the potential detection limits for the various systems considered are remarkably low. Scattering is a severe problem though and a limiting factor. In order to reduce it to manageable levels, it may be necessary to use less intense sources and degrade the limits proportionally. Mie scattering is expected to produce a onequarter to three-quarter contribution to the total scattering. Values from Figure 5 have been used to estimate its magnitude, the 30 km data for a 10 torr system and that at

Table XXVI. Quenching Rate Constants for  $\mathrm{NO}_2$  Fluorescence With

· . . .

Various Gases Relative to  $k_{NO_2}$  (1.0)

$\lambda_{\text{exciting,}}$	fluorescing, nm	<sup>k</sup> Ar	<sup>k</sup> 0-2	<sup>k</sup> N2	Reference
404.7	557.7		0.29	0.29	Braslavsky and
	630.0	•	0.40	0.39	Heicklen, 1973
435.8	486.0		0.42	<b>0.3</b> 8	. •
	557.7		0.43	0.38	
	630.0		0.35	0.36	
480.0	557.7		0.26	0.29	
·	630.0		0.35	0.36	
435.8	>462.0	0.30	0.48	0.44	Myers et al., 196
	468.0	0.39			
	489.0	0.36			
	548.0	0.36	·		
	> 570.0		0.55		
	592.0	0.39			:
	633.0	0.37			
Recommended values	2	0.36	0.44	0.40	· ·
		•		•	
			· ·	•.	· .

104

•

Table XXVII. Detection Limits for Various NO<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence Systems

Matrix										•						
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Source, nm	Source Intensity, I <sub>s</sub> a <sub>s</sub> n <sub>b</sub> watts	Fluorescence Effic k <sub>f</sub> /(k <sub>f</sub> + k <sub>d</sub> + k <sub>g</sub> [M 10 torr 100 torr	iency ' ]) 760 torr	د. وي	38	-	ъ	N, wetts	Detector wavelength, nm	Rayle at De 10 torr	igh & Mie Scat tector, watts 100 torr	tering 760 torr	Deci 10 torr	ppb 100 torr	760 torr
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	441.56	0.05, cw	2.7×10 <sup>-3</sup> 2.7×10 <sup>-4</sup>	3.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.4x10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.30	0.50	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	660 <sup>+</sup> 30	3.6×10 <sup>-12</sup>	4. 3x10 <sup>-11</sup>	2.0x10 <sup>-10</sup>	0.015	0.015	0:015
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	He. Cd laser				:						-	01-	đ			
	457.934	0.3, CW	2.4x10 2.4x10	". 2x10 <sup>-3</sup>	4.6×10-13	1.0	0.30	0.50	1×10 <sup>-10</sup>	660-30	2.0x10	2. 4x10	1.0x10	0, 0033	0.0033	0.003
	465.789	0.3	2 2×10 <sup>-3</sup> 2.2×10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.9×10 <sup>-5</sup>	4.2×10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.30	0.50	1×10-15	660-30	1.8x10 <sup>-11</sup>	2. 2x10 <sup>-10</sup>	9.7×10 <sup>-10</sup>	0.0040	0.0040	0.0040
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	472.685	0.2	2.0x10 <sup>-3</sup> 2.0x10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.9×10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.30	0.45	1×10-1×	660- 30	1.1×10 <sup>-11</sup>	1.4x10 <sup>-10</sup>	5.9x10 <sup>-10</sup>	0.007 <sub>9</sub>	0.007	0.007 <sub>7</sub>
	476.486	0.5	2.0x10 <sup>-3</sup> 2.0x10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.6x10 <sup>-3</sup>	3. 7×10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.30	0.45	1×10-1×1	, 660- 30	2.9x10 <sup>-11</sup>	3.5×10 <sup>-10</sup>	1.5x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.003	0.0033	0.003
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	487.986	2.0	1.8×10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.8×10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	3. 2×10 <sup>-19</sup>	. 1.0	0.30	0.45	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	670-30	1.0x10 <sup>-10</sup>	1. 3x10 <sup>-9</sup>	5.3x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.001	100.0	0.001
001.713       0.6       1.060 <sup>3</sup> 1.060 <sup>3</sup> 1.060 <sup>3</sup> 1.060 <sup>3</sup> 1.060 <sup>3</sup> 1.060 <sup>3</sup> 0.000	496.507	1.0	1.6x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.7x10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	2. HX10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.25	0.45	1x10 <sup>-18</sup>	680-30	5.1x10 <sup>-11</sup>	6. 2×10 <sup>-10</sup>	2.5x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.003	0.003	0.003
16.4 kin       2.0       1.eat0 <sup>3</sup> 1.kat0 <sup>3</sup> 2.nat0 <sup>-13</sup> 1.eat0 <sup>3</sup> 2.nat0 <sup>-13</sup> 2.nat0 <sup>-13</sup> 4.nat0 <sup>3</sup> 6.nat0 <sup>-13</sup> 4.nat0 <sup>3</sup> 6.nat0 <sup>-13</sup> 4.nat0 <sup>3</sup> 6.nat0 <sup>3</sup> <sup>3</sup> 6.	501.715	0.6	1.6x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.6x10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	2. 6×10-19	1.0	0. 25	0, 45	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	680 <sup>±</sup> 30 ·	3.0x10 <sup>-11</sup>	3.9×10 <sup>-10</sup>	1.4x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.0059	0.0059	0. 006 <u>-</u>
Arklauer	514.532	2.0	1.4x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.4x10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	2. 1x10 <sup>-19</sup>	1.0	0.25	0.45	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	680-30	9.2x10 <sup>-11</sup>	1.9×10 <sup>-9</sup>	4. 3x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.002	0.002	0.002 <sub>6</sub>
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ar <sup>t</sup> laser													•	\$	•
correction       correction <td>404.656</td> <td>0.01</td> <td>3.0x10-3 3.0x10-4</td> <td>4.0×10<sup>-5</sup></td> <td>6.4x10-19</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>0.30</td> <td>0.50</td> <td>1×10<sup>-18</sup></td> <td>660-30</td> <td>9. 5x10-1</td> <td>1. LK10<sup>-11</sup></td> <td>5.6×10<sup>-11</sup></td> <td>0.057</td> <td>0.087</td> <td>0.057</td>	404.656	0.01	3.0x10-3 3.0x10-4	4.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	6.4x10-19	1.0	0.30	0.50	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	660-30	9. 5x10-1	1. LK10 <sup>-11</sup>	5.6×10 <sup>-11</sup>	0.057	0.087	0.057
445.647 0.01 2.840 3.7410 5.740 3.7410 5.740 3.7410 5.740 3.5410 3.5410 3.5410 3.1410 <sup>-11</sup> 1.240 3.1410 <sup>-11</sup> 2.70 2.19 3.1410 <sup>-11</sup> 1.240 3.140 3.140 4.144 4.144 4.144 4.144 4.144 4.144 4.144 4.1440 <sup>-11</sup> 1.2410 <sup>-11</sup>	407.761		۳ ۲	4 1	81- -				81 <del>.</del>	•	Ţ	- - -	Ŧ			
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	435. 835	0.01	2.8x10 2.8x10	3.7×10	5. 7×10 <sup>-12</sup>	1.0	0.30	0.50	1x10 5	660-30	7.6x10	9. IX10	4.2x10	0.069	0. 069	0.069
916.686       0.01       9.68.10 <sup>-4</sup> 1.8.10 <sup>-5</sup> 1.8.10 <sup>-6</sup> 1.8.10 <sup>-16</sup> 0.000       0.000	546.074	0.01	1.0×10 1.1×10	1.4x10 <sup>79</sup>	1.2×10 <sup>-13</sup>	1.0.	0.25	0.45	IX10_TO	720-30	3. 8x10 <sup>-14</sup>	5. 1x10	1. 7×10 <sup>-11</sup>	1.23	1.23	<b>1.15</b>
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	576.959	0.01	9.6x10-4 9.6x10-5	1.3x10 <sup>-5</sup>	6.4x10 <sup>-20</sup>	1.0	0.25	0.44	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	750-30	3. 3×10 <sup>-15</sup>	4.7×10 <sup>-12</sup>	1. 3x10 <sup>-11</sup>	2.70	2.70	2.62
47.0       1.5. cm       2.58:10 <sup>-3</sup> 3.84:10 <sup>-5</sup> 5.24:10 <sup>-13</sup> 1.84:10 <sup>-3</sup> 3.84:10 <sup>-3</sup> 0.0004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004       0.004 <td< td=""><td>579, 065 J</td><td>÷</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>•</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	579, 065 J	÷					•									
46:00       1.5       2.5       0.500       1.0       0.550       0.550       1.5       1.5       0.500 <td></td> <td></td> <td>F</td> <td></td> <td> 19</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>6</td> <td>6-11</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			F		19					+		6	6-11			
25.0 I.1.5 E.	420.0	1.5, 64	2.9×10 2.9×10	3. 9×10	6.2×10	0.1	0.30	0. 00	1×10	660-30 20+20	1.3610	1.5010	7.4x10	0.0041	0.00041	0 <b>*</b> 000 0
The first of the	0.025	1.0		1.7×10	2.0x10 2.5-10-20		62 -0 - 52		1×10	080-30 250-800	6.6X10	8.5X10	3. 1810	8200 0	0.00 <sup>4</sup>	0.038
Open based       Open based       State $1.1 \text{ Mi} 1^{-3} 1.1 \text{ Mi} 1^{-4} 1.5 \text{ Mi} 1^{-5}$ $1.6 \text{ Mi} 1^{-13}$ $1.6 \text{ Mi} 1^{-3}$ $0.25$ $0.45$ $0.45$ $1.6 \text{ Mi} 1^{-13}$ $2.6 \text{ Mi} 1^{-11}$ $4.5 \text{ Mi} 1^{-13}$ $2.6 \text{ Mi} 1^{-13}$ $2.6 \text{ Mi} 0^{-13}$ $2.2 $	Turable		ÁTHO 0 ATHO 0		0 YWD 17							1140	A TIM • 1	-		
Reference $3.0 \text{ ord}$ $1.1 \text{ km} 10^{-4} \text{ 1.1 km} 0^{-4} \text{ 1.1 km} 0^{-5}$ $1.6 \text{ km} 10^{-18}$ $1.6 \text{ km} 10^{-18}$ $1.6 \text{ km} 10^{-18}$ $1.6 \text{ km} 10^{-18}$ $0.04_{18}$ <																
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				 	61- <sup>01-2</sup> .		ł				11-01-0	8-01-0	6-			.00.0
Nd. Yig lase: Nd. Yig lase: 43. et a. 0.03, cm $9.6x10^{-6}$ 1.5x10^{-5} 2.0x10^{-20} 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x10^{-18} 760-800 1.5x10^{-12} 1.8x10^{-11} 2.16 2.19 2.10 44. No 44. No 4	Toubled			1. 20110									1.11	0. UUT 2	0. UU 2	<b>0</b>
<b>632.82</b> 0.03, cm $9.6x_{10}^{-6}$ 0.64 $10^{-5}$ 1.3x_{10}^{-5} 2.0x_{10}^{-20} 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x_{10}^{-18} 760-800 1.3x_{10}^{-12} 1.8x_{10}^{-11} 2.16 2.16 2.10 Unset $40.86$ 40.8% $4.0, cm$ $9.6x_{10}^{-6}$ 9.6x_{10}^{-5} 1.5x_{10}^{-5} 1.5x_{10}^{-5} 1.5x_{10}^{-5} 1.5x_{10}^{-20} 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x_{10}^{-18} 740-800 9.9x_{10}^{-11} 1.4x_{10}^{-9} 3.3x_{10}^{-9} 0.038 0.038 0.038 1.5x_{10}^{-10} 1.5x_{10}^{-10} 1.5x_{10}^{-10} 1.5x_{10}^{-10} 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x_{10}^{-18} 740-800 2.2x_{10}^{-11} 1.4x_{10}^{-9} 0.038	Nd. Yng laser	•		•											-	۰.
$ \frac{40.166}{1.461.066} \frac{4.0}{6.0} e^{40} e^{40} \frac{9.6x10^{-5}}{1.5x10^{-5}} \frac{1.5x10^{-20}}{1.5x10^{-5}} \frac{1.0}{1.5x10^{-20}} \frac{0.02}{1.0} \frac{0.040}{1.0} \frac{1.00}{1.0} 1.00$	622.82	0.05, CW	8.6x10-4 8.6x10-5	1.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	Z. 0×10-20	1.0	0.20	0.40	4x10 <sup>-18</sup>	760- 900	1.3410-12	1. 8410 <sup>-11</sup>	4. 5x10 <sup>-11</sup>	2.16	2.16	2.10
Luer Luer (1.06 4.0, ev $9.6x10^{-5} 1.5x10^{-5} 1.5x10^{-5} 1.5x10^{-20} 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x10^{-18} 780-900 9.9x10^{-11} 1.6x10^{-9} 0.036 0.035$ 647.086 0.035 6.035 6.035 6.035 6.035 7.5x10.6 1.5x10^{-1} 1.5x10^{-1} 1.5x10^{-1} 1.5x10^{-1} 1.5x10^{-1} 1.5x10^{-5} 1.5x10^{-5} 1.5x10^{-1} 1.0 0.20 0.028 0.028 7.5x10 2.5x10^{-10} 1.5x10^{-9} 0.028	He. Ne															Ì
647.088 4.0. cw B.6x10 <sup>-3</sup> 8.6x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.5x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.5x10 <sup>-20</sup> 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x10 <sup>-18</sup> 780-900 8.5x10 <sup>-11</sup> 1.6x10 <sup>-3</sup> 3.5x10 <sup>-19</sup> 0.038 0.038 0.038 K <sup>1</sup> haar 10.0, pulsed 1.3x10 <sup>-11</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-13</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-15</sup> 1.0x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.0x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.0x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x10 <sup>-14</sup> 1.3x1	laser			•	ġ				:							
N. Marten 1. 2. 2. 10.0, pulsed 1. 3x10 <sup>-3</sup> 1. 3x10 <sup>-5</sup> 1. 3x10 <sup>-5</sup> 1. 3x10 <sup>-21</sup> 1.0 0.20 0.40 1x10 <sup>-11</sup> 840-900 2. 2x10 <sup>-10</sup> 3. 3x10 <sup>-9</sup> 0.028 0.028 0.028 Nuby has Ruby has 10.0, pulsed 1. 3x10 <sup>-11</sup>	641.088 v=1000	4.0, cw	9.6x10 9.6x10	1. 3x10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.5x10 <sup>-20</sup>	•·· `	0.20	0.40	1×10 <sup>-18</sup>	7 H0-900	9.9x10 <sup>-11</sup>	1.4±10	3. 3x10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.036	0, 036	0.035
	Ruby laser	10.0, pulsed	1.3×10 <sup>-3</sup> 1.3×10 <sup>-4</sup>	1. 7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	6×10 <sup>-21</sup>	1.0	0.20	0.40	1×10 <sup>-14</sup>	840-900	2.2×10 <sup>-10</sup>	3. 3±10 <sup>-9</sup>	6.2×10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.028	0.028	0.029
	1	•														
		۔ بر م														
		• •					•					•				

15 km for 100 torr. It has been assumed that in a pressurized system at 760 torr particulates will be largely removed and for this only the Rayleigh component is quoted. The sensitivity expressed in ppb is seen to be independent of altitude (pressure). Since stratospheric concentrations appear to be in the range of 1 to 10 ppb a system utilizing excitation in the 405 to 465 nm region is recommended. The He.Cd laser has been reported to be a little noisy (Brown and Ginsburg, 1974) and unless a suitably amplitudestabilized model can be attained, a source of the blue Hg lines may be superior for incorporation in a piece of flight hardware.

Gelbwachs et al. (1972) and Tucker et al. (1973) have measured the sensitivity of laser fluorescence systems at atmospheric pressure using a 100 mW, 488 nm Ar<sup>+</sup> laser, and a 15 mW, 441.6 nm He.Cd laser. They noted that concentrations of 1 ppb could readily be detected. No interferences from NO, SO<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>3</sub>, or H<sub>2</sub>O were observed, and it is unlikely that other gaseous atmospheric constituents are likely to produce interfering signals. However, they did note that large particles ( $>5 \mu$ m diameter) did contribute to the fluorescence signal (Gelbwachs and Birnbaum, 1973). Stratospheric particles are of a much smaller size though and should only Mie scatter.

Infrared fluorescence from NO<sub>2</sub> appears not to have been studied, but various coincidences have been noted (Table III) between CO laser lines and absorption lines in the strong  $\nu_3$  fundamental band centered at about 6.2  $\mu$ m (1618 cm<sup>-1</sup>). The wavelengths of the latter system have been measured recently to high accuracy and it appears that several coincidences are sufficiently exact to be within the Doppler width of the lines even at reduced pressure. However, potential interferences from the H<sub>2</sub>O lines particularly in its  $\nu_2$  band in this same spectral region appears severe (Murcray et al., 1969; McClatchey and Selby, 1974). Time does not permit a more detailed assessment of such spectrally overlapping interferences, but a preliminary examination does appear to rule out such an infrared fluorescence approach for NO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere.

· \*\* "

and a start of the second s Second second

# NITROUS OXIDE, N<sub>2</sub>O

In the uv-visible region, N<sub>2</sub>O shows only a continuous, dissociative absorption in the far ultraviolet, which is composed of three overlapping transitions. That associated with  $\tilde{a}^{3}\Pi \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$  is weak and lies at 280 to 306.5 nm having a flat maximum in the vicinity of 290 nm (absorption cross-section ~5 x 10<sup>-24</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>). From 260 to 280 nm an equally weak  $\tilde{b}^{3}\Pi \leftarrow X^{1}\Sigma^{+}$  transition has a maximum value at 273 nm and a similar absorption cross-section. Below 260 nm absorption rises sharply to a maximum value at 182 nm (1.2 x 10<sup>-19</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>) and has been assigned to transitions to the lowest singlet state,  $\tilde{A}^{1}\Sigma^{+}$ . Absorption cross-sections for these regions have been given by Bates and Hayes (1967). The first discrete region of absorption lies in the vacuum ultraviolet between 140 and 160 nm. Preston and Barr (1971) have established that the primary quantum yield for photolysis of N<sub>2</sub>O in these spectral regions is unity and that radiation at 180 to 300 nm produces N<sub>2</sub> + O (<sup>1</sup>D). As a consequence of the repulsive nature of the upper state involved in absorption in the uv region (Holliday and Reuben, 1968) it will not be possible to stimulate fluorescence from N<sub>2</sub>O at these wavelengths.

The likelihood that the infrared region holds any promise is equally remote since all three fundamental bands lie in regions where there is significant absorption by other atmospheric species. Goldman et al. (1970, 1973a) and Murcray et al. (1969) have managed to reduce solar absorption data for a spectral region near the center of the 4.5  $\mu$ m band (N-N stretch frequency), which is otherwise overlapped by CO and <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> lines, and have observed the 7.8  $\mu$ m band (N-O stretch frequency), although the latter is quite severely obscured by overlapping bands of CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O. The possibility of exciting fluorescence in these or the 17 $\mu$ m band (bending frequency) for analytical purposes appears remote. Some care has to be taken in discussing the frequencies since the commonly labelled  $\nu_1$  (1285 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and  $\nu_3$  (2224 cm<sup>-1</sup>) frequencies have been inter-changed in Shimanouchi's (1972) tabulation of molecular vibrational frequencies so that the 2224 cm<sup>-1</sup> value is labelled  $\nu_1$ .

The only fluorescence studies with  $N_2O$ , Table III, have involved the  $N_2O$  10.6  $\mu$ m laser, resonantly pumping from 001 (1285 cm<sup>-1</sup>) to 100 (2224 cm<sup>-1</sup>), fluorescence being observed at 4.5  $\mu$ m from the latter. This transition cannot of course occur in room-temperature  $N_2O$  samples. Recently, Mills and Long (1974) have reported absorption measurements for  $N_2O$  pressure broadened samples (atm pressure) using 5 DF laser wavelengths between 2546.42 and 2594.25 cm<sup>-1</sup> lying in the  $N_2O$  overtone band (N-O stretch frequency). Two

of these lines are nearly coincident with absorption lines and measurements are reportedly in progress to establish the extent of the frequency mismatch. Lowder et al. (1971) and Sulzmann et al. (1973) have also assessed the potential of center line absorption and derivative spectroscopy for lines in the 4.5  $\mu$ m band using tunable diode lasers. However, such approaches appear to hold little promise in a fluorescence mode of detection.

11

er Porti Service

1241 3

: ...

1.00

. . . .

## HYDROXYL RADICAL, OH

As was noted in Table I, the concentrations of OH in the stratosphere are expected to be particularly low and may be of the order of 10 parts per trillion or less; consequently, fluorescence systems for its detection will have to be efficient, use a reasonably intense source, and be relatively free from spectral interferences. The extreme sensitivity of OH fluorescence has long been recognized and was utilized several years ago aboard rocket flights through the upper atmosphere for which the resonance fluorescence of the (0, 0) band of the  $A^2\Sigma^+ - X^2\Pi$  transition at 306.4 nm was monitored in evening twilight conditions (Anderson, 1971a, b). More recently, its potential has been clearly illustrated by the work of Wang (1974) and Wang and Davis (1974) who measured OH concentrations in atmospheric pressure air down to  $5 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (0.2 parts per trillion). Other reported fluorescence studies using line excitation are listed in Table II. Anderson (1974) also is finalizing the development of a highly sensitive system using an OH source of the (0, 0) band radiation ( $10^{15}$  photons cm<sup>-2</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>) and predicts a lower limit of detection in the stratosphere ~ $10^5$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

The systems that are most sensitive have been fully described in detail by Wang and Davis (1974) and by Anderson (1974). The former tunes a pulsed, frequency doubled dye laser to the  $P_1(1)$  or  $P_1(2)$  line at 282.17 nm or 282.58 nm, respectively (Engleman, 1972) to pump the (1,0) transition in the  $A^2 \Sigma^+ \leftarrow X^2 \Pi$  system. Frequency narrowing of the line was accomplished using a Littrow grating and an intracavity Fabry-Perot etalon, fine tuning being achieved by varying the mixture of helium and propylene in the etalon spacing. An output of up to 6 mJ per pulse (  $\sim 8 \times 10^{15}$  guanta) of the 2nd harmonic was obtained. Fluorescence near 309 nm ascribed to (0, 0) radiation was monitored, it lying sufficiently removed from the N<sub>o</sub> Raman band (695 cm<sup>-1</sup>) to eliminate any interference from this. They calculated an absorption cross-section of  $1.2 \times 10^{-17} \text{ cm}^2$  for this transition and a detection limit of  $5 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Earlier development work was reported by Baardsen and Terhune (1972). Lengel and Crosley (1974) have noted that gases such as N<sub>2</sub> or Ar rapidly relax  $\upsilon' = 1$  to  $\upsilon' = 0$  in the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  state. Transfer is only slightly less efficient than rotational relaxation. For N<sub>2</sub> a preliminary value of  $\sim 0.15 \text{ nm}^2$  was quoted which corresponds to  $\sim 3.6 \times 10^{-10} \text{ cm}^3$  molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>. This explains the presence of intense (0,0) fluorescence in this system even though pumping is to v'=1, and also the extreme weakness of the (1,1) fluorescence in spite of its large Franck-Condon factor. To convey the relative spectral positions of these OH bands of interest their approximate bandhead wavelengths are (0,1) 342.8 nm, (1,1) 312.2 nm, (0,0) 306.4 nm, and (1,0) 281.1 nm. Wang and Davis (1974) have discussed the background signals observed and the potential interferences. SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub> can constitute an interference since they absorb at these wavelengths and fluoresce in the detection bandpass. Becker et al. (1972, 1974) similarly have worked with a pulsed, frequency doubled tunable dye laser but in the 300-320 nm region pumping the resonance (0,0)fluorescence excitation and using a monochromator to isolate a section of the band. Such systems are rather sophisticated and require occasional adjustment. Consequently, although satisfactory sensitivity is attainable it is an impractical approach for placement aboard a U2 plane for automated stratospheric OH concentration monitoring.

The system that has been fully described in an as yet unpublished report by Anderson (1974) appears a more feasible approach for flight hardware. This utilizes either an RF or microwave discharge in an Ar/H<sub>2</sub>O mixture to produce the intense (0, 0)  $A^{2}\Sigma^{+} - X^{2}\Pi$  radiation (~10<sup>15</sup> photons cm<sup>-2</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>). Rayleigh and Raman scattering effects are avoided by monitoring the (0, 1) band. Assessments of the detection limit give values of about ~10<sup>5</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, sufficiently sensitive for stratospheric applications.

The natural lifetime of the  $\upsilon' = 0$ , and 1 levels has been extensively studied. Recently reported values all fall within the range of about 514 to 830 nsec and have been summarized by Becker and Haaks (1973) and Becker et al. (1974). Older literature values, which show a wider spread are given by DeZafra et al. (1971) and German et al. (1973). The lifetimes of the two levels are quite similar and a mean value of about 670 nsec appears a best estimate, and has been used here. Several states are known to exist that cross the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  state. However, although predissociation is observed in the OH ( $A^2 \Sigma^+ - X^2 \Pi$ ) system it is only apparent at high K levels in the  $\upsilon' = 0$  (K > 30) and  $\upsilon' = 1$  (K > 21) bands and will not be of concern here (Sutherland and Anderson, 1973) Electronic quenching of the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  vibrational levels has been studied with various gases. For nitrogen, values range from about 5 x 10<sup>-12</sup> to 5 x 10<sup>-11</sup> cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> and a mean value of about 1.2 x 10<sup>-11</sup> might be assumed (Kaneko et al., 1968; Kley and Welge, 1968; Becker and Haaks, 1973). With argon, values are lower, being in the range  $< 2 \times 10^{-13}$  to  $1 \times 10^{-12}$ ; a value of  $5 \times 10^{-13}$  has been taken (Kley and Welge, 1968; Becker and Haaks, 1973; Becker et al., 1974). For oxygen, data have only been obtained in flames and correspond to a rate constant of about 5 x 10<sup>-11</sup> (Carrington, 1959; Hooymayers and Alkemande, 1967). Consequently, nitrogen and oxygen will contribute equally to the quenching of OH (A<sup>2</sup> $\Sigma^+$ ) in air samples. Fluorescence efficiencies are 0.16 (10 torr), 0.019 (100 torr), and 0.0025 (760 torr).

The fluorescence excited with the Bi 306.7 nm resonance line has been studied in flames by Carrington (1959, 1960) and Hooymayers and Alkemade (1967). This source line is composed of 4 hyperfine components that lie between the  $R_0(9)$  and  $R_0(10)$  lines in the (0,0) band of OH. In a reduced pressure sample the extent of the overlap will become significantly reduced. Also at a temperature of 250 K the absorbing population density is quite low since these transitions are from levels that are at 1693.2 and 2056.5 cm<sup>-1</sup> respectively, above the ground state (Hooymayers and Alkemade, 1967). Consequently, since a Bi line source of only  $5 \times 10^{-3}$  W ster<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> is available (Table IX) it would seem unlikely that such a system could be refined to measure the exceedingly low concentrations of OH that are predicted for the atmosphere. Similarly the possibility of using the Zn 307.2 nm line (Table II) to pump the ground rotational level can be discarded since this line is weak, being only  $10^{-2}$  times that of the zinc resonance line which has been seen elsewhere in this report to be available with intensities of about  $5 \times 10^{-4}$  W ster<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. This is unfortunate since its coincidence with an OH line is very close, which fact has been used by Hollander and Broida (1967, 1969) to measure line profiles in flames by the Zeeman scanning technique.

Although OH can also be monitored in absorption (McGregor et al., 1972) the fluorescence mode is more sensitive and less subject to spectral interferences. Infrared fluorescence is not possible for OH detection with atmospheric samples owing to severe interferences by  $H_{\rm o}O$ .

5.25

•

# SULFUR DIOXIDE, SO,

The spectroscopy of the low-lying electronically excited states of SO<sub>2</sub> has long been a difficult problem. Much work has been devoted to elucidating the nature of the two excited states  ${}^{3}B_{1}$ ,  ${}^{1}B_{1}$  produced by absorption of radiation at wavelengths greater than 250 nm where no photochemical dissociation occurs. The dissociation limit of the ground state  $\widetilde{X}^{1}A_{1}$  corresponds to a wavelength of about 219 nm,  $D_{0}^{0}$  (SO-O) = 130.8 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup> (547.3 kJ mole<sup>-1</sup>), and absorption at this or shorter wavelengths is accompanied by predissociation of the molecule.

In the near ultraviolet there are three main regions of absorption. A very weak 'forbidden' absorption to the  ${}^{3}B_{1}$  electronic state in the region 340 to 390 nm. A strong absorption between 250 and 340 nm generally attributed to the  ${}^{1}B_{1} \leftarrow {}^{1}A_{1}$  transition, but probably consisting of more than one electronic transition. Brus and McDonald (1973) have presented evidence for the existence of two emitting singlet states. A still stronger absorption lies in the 190 to 235 nm range and has been identified with the  ${}^{1}B_{2} \leftarrow {}^{1}A_{1}$  and possibly other systems. Cross-sections for these absorptions are illustrated in Figures 10 and 11 and show a complex coarsely structured nature:

The lowest excited state,  ${}^{3}B_{1}$ , phosphoresces with a radiative lifetime of about 9 x 10<sup>-4</sup> sec (Otsuka and Calvert, 1971; Sidebottom et al., 1971; Strickler et al., 1974) and is quenched by air species at a rate of about 5 x 10<sup>-14</sup> cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> at 250 K (Wampler et al., 1973). The very low absorption cross-section (~3 x 10<sup>-22</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>) together with the small fluorescent efficiency is sufficient to eliminate this region from further consideration.

Absorptions in the 250 to 340 nm region populate the  ${}^{1}B_{1}$  electronic state and possibly others. Resulting fluorescence emission extends in a continuous band from the exciting line to about 500 nm, peak emission being in the vicinity of 340 nm. The spectral distribution of the envelope is fairly independent of the exciting wavelength (Mettee, 1968). As with NO<sub>2</sub>, the measured fluorescent collision-free lifetime is at least 2 orders of magnitude larger than that computed from the integrated absorption coefficient (0.2  $\mu$ sec). This anomaly discussed by Douglas (1966) has been ascribed to the mixing and perturbation of vibrational levels of the state with those of other electronic states. Previous considerations as to whether the measured collision-free lifetime was entirely radiative or whether additional non-radiative unimolecular internal conversions played a role have now been discarded (Brus and McDonald, 1973; Calvert, 1973). Absorption in this region can best



Figure 10. Absorption Cross-sections of  $SO_2$  at 200 to 260 nm, 0.2 nm Spectral Resolution (from Warneck et al., 1964)



be interpreted as producing two different states which appear to have different quenching rates and zero pressure lifetimes (Brus and McDonald, 1973). The principal group has unusually long radiative lifetimes (80 to 600 #sec) decreasing to shorter excitation wavelength. The second group has lifetimes of about 49  $\mu$ sec. Collisional quenching rates are very high. For the long-lived states these are within a factor of 2 to 5 of the collision frequency, which is  $\sim 2.5 \times 10^{-10}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> (Mettee, 1969; Sidebottom et al., 1972; Brus and McDonald 1973). The short-lived states have quenching rates that appear to be larger than this. In spite of the many detailed studies, available data for the radiative lifetime are still inconsistent. Greenough and Duncan (1961) obtained a value of  $42 \mu$ sec using broadband flashlamp excitation. Brus and McDonald's values range from 79 µsec (261.7 nm) to 532 µsec (320 nm), and Martin (1973) obtained 35 to 57 µsec (250 to 315 nm). Disagreement is particularly evident at the longer wavelengths. In these assessments a value of 80 µsec and a collisional quenching rate of one-quarter the gas kinetic frequency has been assumed. The very low fluorescence efficiency reflects the high collisional quenching rate. The detection limits have been calculated for the two sources that have been used to excite fluorescence in this region, namely the fourth harmonic of the neodymium laser and the strong 253.6 nm Hg line which is the predominant radiation from a low-pressure lamp. Values are listed in Table XXVIII. A 10 nm (FWHM) interference filter centered at 340 nm has been assumed. The dark current noise level of the photomultiplier tube corresponds to about 100 quanta  $\sec^{-1}$  at this detection wavelength. A frequency-doubled tunable, cw dye laser also could be used as a source operating in the 260 to 310 nm region. At these short wavelengths the Rayleigh scattering is very severe. Raman scattering from the air components will fall outside of the filter bandpass and poses no problem. The nitrogen Raman band at 284 nm lies closest to the 340 nm detection channel. For these 0.1 W sources, the magnitude of the scattering is listed in Table XXVIII. Contributions from Mie scattering are negligible at these wavelengths. It will therefore be necessary to provide 6 to 8 orders of magnitude attenuation to sufficiently reduce the Rayleigh component. An interference filter provides about 5 orders. The photomultiplier, fitted with a lime-soda window will provide a further attenuation factor. Additional Corning filters might also be used, for example filter number 0-54, or polarizers. The calculation has simply assumed the use of two interference filters, each with a peak transmission of 25%, in series, so producing an overall transmission of 6%. Since the scattering is so severe at these short wavelengths, little is to be gained by using higher power cw sources or pulsed systems to lower the sensitivity

											•
	•	760 torr	=	9	0,12	0. 23				<b>1</b> 4	
		otton Limit arb 100 torr	=	56	0.40	0.33	•			••	
	· .	Dates 10 torr	n	92	3.4	1.3					
		oring 30 torr	6×10 <sup>-8</sup>	Br10 <sup>-8</sup>	Dx10 <sup>-11</sup>	0x10 <sup>-10</sup>			·		•
scence System		Rayleigh & Mie Boatt at Detector, watta 10 torr 100 torr 76	1.9×10 <sup>-10</sup> 1.9×10 <sup>-9</sup> 1.4	2. 4x10 <sup>-10</sup> 2. 4x10 <sup>-9</sup> 1.	.8x10 <sup>-13</sup> 2.6x10 <sup>-12</sup> 2.	8.8×10 <sup>-18</sup> 3.8×10 <sup>-11</sup> 3.	1 - - - -	, <del>-</del>	•		,
SO <sub>2</sub> Fluore	· · ·	Detector Vawlength, nm	340+ 5	3404 5	330 <sup>+</sup> 0	330 <sup>+</sup> 5			•		 , .
for Various	•	f 8 N, watte V	0.10 0.06* 6x10 <sup>-17</sup>	0.10 0.06* 6×10 <sup>-17</sup>	0.08 0.26 6±10 <sup>-17</sup>	0.08 0.25 6x10 <sup>-17</sup>	·		·	3 . 	
tion Limits	· · ·	a, l, om <sup>2</sup> om	0.84x10 <sup>-18</sup> 4.4	0.13x10 <sup>-18</sup> 4.4	. 5.6x10 <sup>-18</sup> 4.4	0.10x10 <sup>-18</sup> 4.4	- -		,		•- •
Detec	· · · ·	Nclency ( [M] ) 750 torr	6. 8±10 <sup>-6</sup>	6. 8x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.044	0.084	۰.				.'
жип.	· ·	ل المحمد الم 100 torr	5.2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.10	0.34	• •		••• •		•• • •
Tablé X	•	Fh. . ) 10 torr	5. 2210-4	5. 2×10-4	0.12	0.84					•
		oe usity. watta	1	, 1 umeđ)	x10 <sup>-5</sup>	×10 <sup>-3</sup>	oe filter				· . ·
*		Bour Inten Inten Inten	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		re laundo		e interferen	••••			
	n an str an Station	Source, nm	266. 2 4th Hat	Nd laa 253.6 Hg low	pressu 213.86 Zn van	lamp 228.80 Cd vap	qmai Iduod	•	• .		•

limits. Some assessments have been made by Measures and Pilon (1972) of the potential of SO<sub>2</sub> laser fluorescence for mapping pollution in the air at ground level. They use the second harmonic of a high-power ruby laser at 347.2 nm and lidar techniques comparing the fluorescence approach with the differential absorption and scattering method. The absorption coefficient is much reduced at this wavelength and consequently fluorescence levels are very low.

From the analytical point of view, emphasis has been placed on the third spectral region, 190 to 235 nm, owing to its much reduced radiative lifetime. However, less is known of the  $\widetilde{C}$  and  $\widetilde{D}$  states lying more than 40,000 cm<sup>-1</sup> above the ground state. The radiative lifetime has been taken as 10 nsec (Smith, 1969, 1971b; Okabe, 1971), however, Hui and Rice (1972, 1973) have reported a value of 32 nsec. Fluorescence quantum vields have been measured by Okabe (1971), and Hui and Rice (1972, 1973) in the 200 to 230 nm region. At low pressures these fall away sharply for excitation energies of less than 220 nm due to predissociation of the electronically excited SO<sub>2</sub> state. This shortens the effective fluorescent lifetime by about a factor of 8 from which a value of  $k_d = 7 \times 10^8$  sec<sup>-1</sup> can be derived. Collisional quenching rates for the state are high,  $\sim 5 \times 10^{-11}$  cm<sup>3</sup> molecule  $^{-1}$  sec  $^{-1}$  (Okabe, 1971) which is about 0.2 times the gas kinetic collision frequency. Fluorescence studies in this region have used Zn, Zn<sup>+</sup>, Cd line sources. Zn<sup>+</sup> (210 nm) sources are very weak and do not merit further consideration. Zn (213.86 nm) and Cd (228.80 nm) are the strongest lines of these elements. Cd appears to be most intense in metal vapor discharge lamps, whereas comparable intensities are emitted from hollow cathode, metal vapor or electrodeless microwave discharge lamps for Zn. The assumed intensities used in these calculations are  $10^{-2}$  W cm<sup>-2</sup> ster<sup>-1</sup> for cadmium and 5 x  $10^{-4}$ W cm<sup>-2</sup> ster<sup>-1</sup> for zinc. A source area of  $0.5 \text{ cm}^2$  is assumed. The fluorescence spectrum appears to be continuous over the range 240 to 420 nm with a broad maximum at about 320 nm (Okabe et al., 1973). Although the zinc source is twenty times weaker and also predissociates a fraction of the excited  $SO_{0}$  the absorption cross-section is 56 times larger. Calculated detection limits (ppb) for these systems are listed in Table XXVIII and are smallest for Cd, decreasing with increasing pressure.

Okabe et al. (1973) have investigated experimentally the analytical potential of  $SO_2$  fluorescence excited by these Zn and Cd lines. Their preliminary system produced a detection limit of 20 ppb which is consistent with these calculated estimates. They also investigated possible interferences from a series of gases known to be present in ambient air and found the system interference free for the current application. Although NO also fluoresces when excited with the Zn 213.86 nm line it is very weak at room temperatures and predominantly 116

## in the 215 to 280 nm region.

 $\mathbf{r}_{i}^{(1)}$ 

Infrared fluorescence appears not to have been studied for SO<sub>2</sub>. However, various line coincidences have been noted of potential interest for absorption techniques. Hanst (1971) has observed that a neon laser line at  $7.4237 \,\mu\text{m}$  (1347.04 cm<sup>-1</sup>) lies in the strongest SO<sub>2</sub> infrared band ( $\nu_3$ ) centered at about  $7.35 \,\mu\text{m}$ . However, this lies in a region seriously overlapped with water bands which might produce a severe interference for any ppb detector. Also, owing to the narrowness of infrared laser lines in this region (< 0.002 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and the Doppler width of an absorbing SO<sub>2</sub> line (0.002 cm<sup>-1</sup>) little absorption would be expected at reduced pressure for such systems unless an almost exact coincidence occurs. The same considerations also apply to the possible coincidences noted by Menzies (1971) between some very high vibrational CO laser and SO<sub>2</sub> lines (Table III). Brockman and Seals (1973) have assessed the feasibility of absorption measurements in this region using tunable diode lasers. The low sensitivity derived by them would apply equally well to any fluorescent type approach. Similarly, Hinkley (1972a) has also considered the use of diode lasers but operating on the slightly weaker  $\nu_1$  band centered at 8.7  $\mu$ m, a region less susceptible to spectral interferences.

It appears that a system based on Cd (228.8 nm) induced fluorescence is feasible for  $SO_2$ . Rayleigh scattering can be eliminated by the combined interference filters and photomultiplier attenuation factors. Mie and Raman scatterings pose no problems.

		, · · · ,	(* + 23 # <sup>*</sup> * *		
			.1 .		and the standard states
,;	• •;	1	Ster 20	·	•
			1. 22.6		
	. · · · · ·	1. A.	.: •		· · · · . ·
	t. e	· .	, <b>·</b>	t tage of the second	· · · ·
•	· · · · · ·	1		$(\mathbf{p}_{1},\ldots,\mathbf{p}_{n})$	and the second
				s -13 e e	

(Assumption of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second s second secon second se

. 117

#### SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

It may be appropriate at this point to briefly summarize the conclusions reached for the individual species considered here. It will also serve to concisely illustrate the promise and limitations of this molecular fluorescence approach for future stratospheric monitoring applications.

**C1** Although atomic fluorescence is extremely sensitive for chlorine, absorptions lie in the vacuum ultraviolet and so are inappropriate for air samples.

<u>C1</u>, Fluorescence is too weak for chlorine to be of any analytical value. Otherwise. it can only be stimulated by the weak Raman interaction.

ClO Although predissociation is evident in several of the absorption bands, the (12,0) at 277 nm is sharp. Absorption cross-sections are large and it may offer some promise. However, its fluorescence is as yet uninvestigated and the ClO  $(A^2\Pi_{3/2})$  state is poorly characterized concerning its radiative lifetime and its and it quenching rates.

The strongest region of absorption at 351 nm photodissociates the stable <u>ClO</u>, OCIO molecular form. Longer wavelength excitation with, for example, an Ar<sup>+</sup> laser line is weak, partly due to a small absorption cross-section and also due to extensive dissociation, which appears to be predominant at all these wavelengths. 201 The cross-section for the 351 nm band is such that an absorption technique may be suitable for this species. The isomeric form ClOO is very unstable and its detection at low concentration levels is unlikely with a fluorescence technique.

CO The very sensitive CO (4th positive) fluorescence lies at wavelengths <154 nm and is unsuitable for air samples. Although CO infrared fluorescence can be induced. a minimum detection of no less than 1 ppm is feasible.

Ţ

- <u>H</u>2 Since ground state absorption lies at wavelengths  $\leq$  110 nm the direct detection . of hydrogen other than by Raman scattering poses a difficult task.
- Absorptions in the 280 to 350 nm region produce fluorescence from the  $\widetilde{A}$   $\widetilde{X}$ HCHO system. Levels are sharp in spite of the fact that radiationless transitions lead to a near unity quantum yield for dissociation. Lifetimes of some of the vibronic levels are sufficiently short that in spite of this and the fast collisional quenching rates

reasonably strong fluorescence is still observed. However, the system is limited by Rayleigh scattering and a practical detection limit of about 50 to 100 ppb may be about the best achievable; too high for stratospheric application.

- <u>HC1</u> The only spectral feature of interest for this molecule is the infrared fundamental band at  $3.5 \mu m$ . Low fluorescence efficiencies and limited detector sensitivity predict such high detection limits that the system is of little use analytically.
- HONO Nitrous acid vapor appears to photodissociate in the ultraviolet with a primary quantum yield of unity. The infrared fundamental bands have been characterized but lie in regions where other atmospheric components absorb. Fluorescence techniques hold no promise. Moreover, detection by any absorption or emission technique may prove to be difficult.
- $\frac{\text{HONO}_2}{\text{HONO}_2}$  This molecule is photodissociated with a primary quantum yield of unity in the ultraviolet where its absorption spectrum is continuous. Infrared bands are either severely interfered with by overlapping H<sub>2</sub>O, O<sub>3</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> lines or too weak to show any promise for fluorescence detection.
- $\frac{H_2S}{M_2}$  This only exhibits a dissociative continuum in the far ultraviolet and weak infrared bands. No fluorescence studies have been reported, or are likely to be.
- <u>NH</u><sub>3</sub> Its only uv-visible region absorption system lies at 170 to 217 nm. Predissociation is evident with no fluorescence. In the infrared an almost exact coincidence between the P(13) line of the N<sub>2</sub>O laser and a line in the strong  $\nu_2$  band of NH<sub>3</sub> at 10.8  $\mu$ m (928 cm<sup>-1</sup>) may have potential, in fact more than any other infrared fluorescence system considered, for monitoring ammonia. However, sensitivity at best will be in terms of ppm.

<u>NO</u> Several atomic lines coincide to various extents with absorptions in the  $\gamma$  bands of NO. However, the lowest calculated fluorescence detection limits are in the range 40 to 80 ppb, the most sensitive systems being those with Cd<sup>+</sup> or Se line sources in the vicinity of 200 nm. The low sensitivity results from a combination of factors, source intensities, a low concentration in the absorbing level, and only partial overlap between the source and absorbing lines. Sensitivity could be improved several fold by using a Cd<sup>+</sup> lamp enriched in its odd isotopes or by using an NO  $\gamma$  band molecular source. However, these systems will never be serious competitors for the NO chemiluminescent detector.

- <u>NO</u><sub>2</sub> As a result of its complex nature, although NO<sub>2</sub> fluorescence has been extensively studied, various spectral features are still not entirely characterized. However, potential detection limits can be calculated and for various exciting line sources are remarkably low, the monitoring of concentrations at the 1 ppb level, being easily attainable. Light scattering can be severe and may ultimately control the lower limit of detection. A system using a He.Cd laser or the blue Hg lines appears best for incorporation in flight hardware.
- N<sub>2</sub>O

 $\underline{so}_2$ 

This only shows dissociative absorption continua in the far ultraviolet. The infrared region is equally inappropriate since the three fundamental bands lie in regions where there is significant absorption by other species.

<u>OH</u> A tunable laser system is sufficiently sensitive for OH measurements but impractical for the fully automated system demanded by a U2 plane. Its application to lower altitude measurements aboard larger aircraft is probably assured. A system incorporating an RF discharge source of OH radiation is particularly appropriate and appears to have a detection limit near 10<sup>5</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, quite sufficient for flights through the stratosphere.

Of the three main regions of absorption in the ultraviolet the most sensitive is that lying at 190 to 235 nm. Zn and Cd exciting systems are appropriate in this region, the latter being 'the more sensitive. Measurements down to about 1 ppb appear feasible.

It should be noted therefore, that as a result of various factors, infrared fluorescence techniques in general cannot be exploited in sensitive analyzers. The species OH,  $NO_2$ , and  $SO_2$  all can be monitored using uv-visible fluorescence systems with a sufficient sensitivity to warrant their development as analytical flight hardware. It might also be appropriate, at some period, to obtain the data required to permit a characterization of the potential of ClO fluorescence.

, en altre en **unit**e anticipation autoritation

the end of the second second

• .

1: 5 :

32 ST

· · · /

## REFERENCES

- Abe, K., "Laser Excited Fluorescence Spectrum of Nitrogen Dioxide", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 48, 395 (1973).
- Abe, K., F. Myers, T.K. McCubbin, and S.R. Polo, "Resonance Fluorescence Spectrum of Nitrogen Dioxide", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 38, 552 (1971).
- Abramov, V.G., O.V. Konstantinov, N.N. Kostin, and V.A. Khodovoi, "Nonlinear Absorption of Ruby Laser Light by Molecular Potassium Vapor", <u>Soviet Physics</u> <u>JETP</u> <u>26</u>, 503 (1968).
- Ackerman, M., F. Biaume, and G. Kockarts, "Absorption Cross Sections of the Schumann-Runge Bands of Molecular Oxygen", <u>Planet. Space Sci.</u> 18, 1639 (1970)
- Ackerman, M., D. Frimout, C. Muller, D. Nevejans, J.- C. Fontanella, A. Girard, and N. Louisnard, "Stratospheric Nitric Oxide From Infrared Spectra", <u>Nature 245</u>, 205 (1973).
- Ackerman, M., D. Frimout, C. Muller, D. Nevejans, J.C. Fontanella, A. Girard, L. Gramont, and N. Louisnard, "Recent Stratospheric Spectra of NO and NO<sub>2</sub>", <u>Can. J.</u> Chem. 52, 1532 (1974).
- Ackerman, M., and C. Muller, "Stratospheric Methane from Intrared Spectra", <u>Aeronomica</u> Acta No. 105, 1972a (N73-10757).
- Ackerman, M., and C. Muller, "Stratospheric Nitrogen Dioxide from Infrared Absorption Spectra," Nature 240, 300 (1972b).
- Ahl, J.L., and T.A. Cool, "Vibrational Relaxation in the HF-HCl, HF-HBr, HF-HI, and HF-DF Systems", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 5540 (1973).
- Airey, J.R., and S.F. Fried, "Vibrational Relaxation of Hydrogen Fluoride", <u>Chem.</u> <u>Phys. Letters 8</u>, 23 (1971).

- Akins, D.L., E.H. Fink, and C. Bradley Moore, "Rotation-Translation Energy Transfer between Individual Quantum States of HD (B  ${}^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$ )", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 1604 (1970).
- Alexander, J.A. F., J.T. Houghton, and W.B. McKnight," Collisional Relaxation from the v<sub>3</sub> Vibration of CO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Phys. B. (Proc. Phys. Soc.</u>) Ser. 2., <u>1</u>, 1225 (1968).
- Alferov, G.N., V.I. Donin, and B. Ya. Yurshin, "CW Argon Laser with 0.5 kW Output Power", JETP Letters 18, 369 (1973).
- Allen, H.C., Jr., L.R. Blaine, E.K. Plyler and P.C. Cross, "Infrared Spectrum of Hydrogen Sulfide from 2200-2800 cm<sup>-1</sup>", J. Chem. Phys. <u>24</u>, 35 (1956).
- Allen, H.C., Jr., and E.K. Plyler,"Infrared Spectrum of Hydrogen Sulfide", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys.</u> <u>25</u>, 1132 (1956).
- Alzetta, G., A. Kopystynska, and L. Moi, "Laser Induced Molecular and Atomic Fluorescence Spectra of Alkali Vapors", <u>Lett. Nuovo Cimento 6</u>, 677 (1973).
- Anderson, J.G., "Rocket-borne Ultraviolet Spectrometer Measurement of OH Resonance Fluorescence with a Diffusive Transport Model for Mesospheric Photochemistry", J. Geophys. Res. 76, 4634 (1971a).
- Anderson, J.G., "Rocket Measurement of OH in the Mesophere", <u>J. Geophys. Res.</u> <u>76</u>, 7820 (1971b).

Anderson, J.G., Private communication (1974).

Aoki, T., T. Morikawa, and K. Sakurai, "Fluorescence Lifetime Measurement of the <sup>1</sup>A<sub>2</sub> - <sup>1</sup>A<sub>1</sub> Transition of Formaldehyde - h<sub>2</sub> and - hd Excited by the N<sub>2</sub>, Pulsed Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 1543 (1973).

11.42

- Arecchi, F.T., and E. O. Schulz-Dubois, Editors, "Laser Handbook", Volume 1, (North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, 1972).
- Arnot, C., and C.A. McDowell, "The Quenching of the Iodine Fluorescence Spectrum", <u>Can. J. Chem. 36</u>, 114 (1958).

122

- Atkinson, G.H., A.H. Laufer, and M.J. Kurylo, "Detection of Free Radicals by an Intracavity Dye Laser Technique", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 350 (1973).
- Baardsen, E. L., and R.W. Terhune, "Detection of OH in the Atmosphere using a Dye Laser", Appl. Phys. Letters 21, 209 (1972).
- Bailey, R.T., F.R. Cruickshank, and T.R. Jones, "Carbon Dioxide Laser Excited Infrared Fluorescence", Nature Phys. Science 234, 92 (1971).
- Baluteau, J. P., E. Bussoletti, P. Lena, and A. Marten, "High Resolution Spectra of the Stratophere between 30 and 200 cm<sup>-1</sup>". Proc. 2nd Conf. on Clim. Impact Assess. Program, November 1972, p. 99 (PB221166).
- Banks, P. M. and G. Kockarts, "Aeronomy", Part A, (Academic Press, New York, 1973).
- Baranov, S. V., L. K. Mashtakov, and L. G. Pofralidi, "Basic Characteristics of High Frequency Electrodeless Lamps and Power Supplies", J. Appl. Spectroscopy USSR 10, 393 (1969). • •
- Barnes, R. H., C. E. Moeller, J. F. Kircher, and C. M. Verber, "Dye-Laser Excited CH Flame Fluorescence", Applied Optics 12, 2531 (1973).
- Barrow, R. F., I. R. Beattie, W. G. Burton, and T. Gilson, "Resonance Fluorescence Spectra of <sup>80</sup>Se,", Trans. Faraday Soc. 67, 583 (1971).
- Barth, C. A., "Rocket Measurement of the Nitric Oxide Dayglow", J. Geophys. Res. 69, 3301 (1964). . .
- Barth, C. A., "Rocket Measurement of Nitric Oxide in the Upper Atmosphere", Planet . · 11 . Space Sci. 14, 623 (1966a).
- Barth, C. A., "Nitric Oxide in the Upper Atmosphere", Ann. Geophys. 22, 198 (1966b).

1 ( <sup>1</sup> ) Basco, N., and S.K. Dogra, "Reactions of Halogen Oxides Studied by Flash Photolysis. I The Flash Photolysis of Chlorine Dioxide." Proc. Roy. Soc. A323, 29 (1971). ....

- Basco, N., and R.D. Morse, "The Vacuum Ultraviolet Absorption Spectrum of ClO", J. Mol. Spectroscopy <u>45</u>, 35 (1973).
- Basco, N., and R. D./Morse, "Reactions of Halogen Oxides Studied by Flash Photolysis.
   IV Vacuum Ultraviolet Kinetic Spectroscopy Studies on Chlorine Dioxide", <u>Proc.</u>
   <u>Roy. Soc.</u> A336, 495 (1974).
- Bates, D. R. and P. B. Hayes, "Atmospheric Nitrous Oxide", <u>Planet. Space Sci 15</u>, 189 (1967).
- Bates, R. D., Jr., G. W. Flynn, J. T. Knudtson, and A. M. Ronn, "Laser Induced 16μ Fluorescence in SF<sub>6</sub>: Acoustic Effects", J. Chem. Phys. 53, 3621 (1970).
- Bates, R.D., Jr., G. W. Flynn, and A. M. Ronn, "Laser Induced Vibrational Fluorescence in Nitrous Oxide", J. Chem. Phys. 49, 1432 (1968).
- Bates, R. D., Jr., J. T. Knudtson, G. W. Flynn, and A. M. Ronn, "Energy Transfer Among Excited Vibrational States of SF<sub>6</sub>", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 8, 103 (1971).
- Bates, R. D., Jr., J. T. Knudtson, G. W. Flynn, and A. M. Ronn, "Laser Induced Infrared Fluorescence: Thermal Heating, Mass Diffusion, and Collisional Relaxation in SF<sub>6</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys. 57</u>, 4174 (1972).
- Baumgartner, G., W. Demtroder, and M. Stock, "Lifetime Measurements of Alkali Molecules Excited by Different Laser Lines", Z. Physik 232, 462 (1970).
- Bazhov, A. S., and A. V. Zherebenko, "High Frequency Metal Vapor and Metal Salt Electrodeless Flashlamps", J. Appl. Spectroscopy USSR 14, 833 (1971).
- Beattie, I. R., G. A. Ozin, and R. O. Perry, "The Gas Phase Raman Spectra of P<sub>4</sub>, P<sub>2</sub>, As<sub>4</sub>, and As<sub>2</sub>. The Resonance Fluorescence Spectrum of <sup>80</sup>Se<sub>2</sub>. Resonance Fluorescence Raman Effects in the Gas Phase Spectra of Sulfur and Iodine. The Effect of Pressure on the Depolarization Ratios for Iodine", <u>J. Chem. Soc.</u> (London) A 2071 (1970).

- Becker, K. H., and E. H. Fink, "Relative Line Intensities in the Lyman Bands of HD and H<sub>2</sub>", <u>Z. Naturforsch. 26a</u>, 319 (1971).
- Becker, K. H., and D. Haaks, "Measurement of the Natural Lifetimes and Quenching . Rate Constants of OH  $(^{2}\Sigma^{+}, \upsilon=0, 1)$  and OD $(^{2}\Sigma^{+}, \upsilon=0, 1)$  Radicals," <u>Z. Naturforsch.</u> 28a, 249 (1973).
- Becker, K. H., D. Haaks, and T. Tatarczyk, "Monitoring of Radicals by a Tunable Dye Laser", <u>Z. Naturforsch. 27a</u>, 1520 (1972).
- Becker, K. H., D. Haaks, and T. Tatarczyk, "The Natural Lifetime of OH ( $\Sigma^{+}$ ,  $\upsilon = 0$ , N=2, J=3/2) and its Quenching by Atomic Hydrogen", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> <u>25</u>, 564 (1974).
- Becker, K. H., and K. H. Welge, "Fluorescence Studies of Reactions of Electronically Excited CO in its Singlet and Triplet States Stimulated by Monochromatic Vacuum Ultraviolet Radiation", <u>Z. Naturforsch. 20a</u>, 1692 (1965).
- Bemand, P. P., and M. A. A. Clyne, "Kinetic Spectroscopy in the Far Vacuum Ultraviolet. I Detection of (2p<sup>5</sup>)<sup>2</sup>P<sub>3/2, 1/2</sub> Fluorine Atoms using Atomic Resonance Spectrometry in the Wavelength Range 95-98 nm", Chem. Phys. Letters 21, 555 (1973).
- Benedict, W. S., R. Herman, G. E. Moore, and S. Silverman, "The Strengths, Widths, and Shapes of Lines in the Vibration – Rotation Bands of CO", <u>Astrophys. J.</u> <u>135</u>, 277 (1962).
- Benson, S. W. and J. H. Buss, "Halogen-Catalyzed Decomposition of N<sub>2</sub>O and the Role of the Hypohalite Radical", J. Chem. Phys. 27, 1382 (1957).
- Bergmann, K., and W. Demtroder, "Inelastic Collision Cross-section of Excited Molecules. I Rotational Energy Transfer with the  $B^{1}\Pi_{u}$  State of Na<sub>2</sub> Induced by Collisions with Helium", <u>Z. Physik 243</u>, 1 (1971).

المراجع المحافظ والمعادية والمع

- Bergmann, K., and W. Demtroder, "Inelastic Collision Cross-section of Excited Molecules, II Asymmetrics in the Cross-section for Rotational Transitions in the Na<sub>2</sub> (B<sup>1</sup>I<sub>1</sub>) State", J. Phys. B: Atom. Molec. Phys. <u>5</u>, 1386 (1972).
- Biaume, F., "Nitric Acid Vapor Absorption Cross-section Spectrum and its Photodissociation in the Stratophere", J. Photochem. 2, 139 (1973).
- Bigg, E. K., A. Ono, W. J. Thompson, "Aerosols at Altitudes between 20 and 37 Kilometers", <u>Tellus 22</u>, 550 (1970).
- Bina, M. J., and C. R. Jones, "Use of Direct Overtone Excitation in the Measurement of HF ( $\upsilon$ =2) Deactivation Rate", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> 22, 44 (1973).
- Blair, L. S., W. D. Breshears, and G. L. Schott, "Vibrational Relaxation of HF in the Temperature Range 600-2400 K", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 1582 (1973).
- Bonczyk, P. A., and C. J. Ultee, "Nitric Oxide Detection by Use of Zeeman-Effect and CO Laser", <u>Optics Commun</u>. <u>6</u>, 196 (1972).
- Borde, C., A. Henry, and L. Henry, "Radiation from Gaseous Ammonia Excited by a CO<sub>2</sub> Laser", <u>Compt. Rend. Acad. Sc. Paris</u> <u>262</u>, 1389 (1966).
- Bortner, M. H., F. N. Alyea, R. N. Grenda, G. R. Liebling, and G. M. Levy, "Analysis of the Feasibility of an Experiment to Measure Carbon Monoxide in the Atmosphere", National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington, D.C. NASA CR-2303, 1973.
- Bott, J. F., "HF Vibrational Relaxation Measurements Using the Combined Shock Tube -Laser Induced Fluorescence Technique", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 96 (1972).
- Bott, J. F., "Vibrational Energy Exchange of the DF (u=2) State with DF (u=0)", <u>Chem.</u> <u>Phys. Letters 23</u>, 335 (1973).
- Bott, J. F., "Temperature Dependence of Vibrational Energy Transfer from DF (U=1) to Several Diatomics", J. Chem. Phys. 60, 427 (1974).

- Bott, J. F., and N. Cohen, "Temperature Dependence of V-V and V-R, T Energy Transfer Measurements in Mixtures Containing HF", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 4539 (1973a).
- Bott, J. F., and N. Cohen, "Temperature Dependence of Several Vibrational Relaxation Processes in DF-CO, Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 447 (1973b).
- Brand, J. C. D., "The Electronic Spectrum of Formaldehyde", <u>J. Chem. Soc.</u> (London) 858 (1956).
- Brand, J. C. D., J. L. Hardwick, R. J. Pirkle, and C. J. Seliskar, "The Resonance Fluorescence and Absorption Spectrum of Nitrogen Dioxide", <u>Can. J. Phys. 51</u>, 2184 (1973a).
- Brand, 'J. C. D., D. R. Humphrey, A. E. Douglas, and I. Zanon, "The Resonance Fluorescence Spectrum of Sulfur Dioxide", Can. J. Phys. 51, 530 (1973b).
- Braslavsky, S., and J. Heicklen, "Quenching of the Fluorescence of NO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Photochem.</u> <u>1</u>, 203 (1973).
- Breeding, R. J., J. P. Lodge, J. B. Pate, D. C. Sheesley, H. B. Klonis, B. Fogle,
  J. A. Anderson, T. R. Englert, P. L. Haagenson, R. B. McBeth, A. L. Morris,
  R. Pogue, and A. F. Wartburg, "Background Trace Gas Concentrations in the
  Central United States", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 7057 (1973).
- Brewer, A. W., C. T. McElroy, and J. B. Kerr, "Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations in the Atmosphere", Nature 246, 129 (1973).
- Brockman, P., and R. K. Seals, Jr., "Laser Measurement of High-Altitude Aircraft Emissions", AIAA Paper No. 73-704, July 1973.
- Broida, H. P., and T. Carrington, "Rotational, Vibrational, and Electronic Energy Transfer in the Fluorescence of Nitric Oxide", J. Chem. Phys. <u>38</u>, 136 (1963).
- Brown, D.C., and N. Ginsburg, "Study of Noise in the He-Cd<sup>+</sup> Laser", <u>Appl. Phys.</u> Letters 24, 287 (1974).

- Brown, R. L., and W. Klemperer, "Energy Transfer in the Fluorescence of Iodine Excited by the Sodium D Lines", J. Chem. Phys. 41, 3072 (1964).
- Browner, R. F., and J. D. Winefordner, "Optimization of Thermostated Electrodeless Discharge Lamps for Analytical Atomic Spectrometry", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 28B</u>, 263 (1973).
- Bruce, C. F., and P. Hannaford, "On the Widths of Atomic Resonance Lines from Hollow Cathode Lamps", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 26B</u>, 207 (1971).
- Brus, L. E., "Two Exponential Decay of 3371Å Laser Excited CS<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 12</u>, 116 (1971).
- Brus, L. E., and J. R. McDonald, "Collision Free, Time Resolved Fluorescence of SO<sub>2</sub> Excited Near 2900 Å", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 21, 283 (1973).
- Brunet, H., "Vibrational Excitation of SF<sub>6</sub> by the Absorption of Laser Radiation", <u>Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci. Paris 264B</u>, 1721 (1967).
- Brunet, H., and F. Voignier, "Passive Q-Switching of a N<sub>2</sub>O Laser using Ethylene", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> 15, 423 (1969).
- Bubert, H., and F. W. Froben, "Direct Lifetime Measurements of NO  $(A^2\Sigma^+)$ ", <u>Chem.</u> Phys. Letters 8, 242 (1971).
- Burak, I., Y. Noter, A. M. Ronn, and A. Szoke, "Vibration Vibration Energy Transfer in Gaseous HBr", Chem. Phys. Letters 16, 306 (1972a).
- Burak, I., Y. Noter, A. M. Ronn and A. Szoke, "Vibration Vibration Energy Transfer in Gaseous HCl", Chem. Phys. Letters 17, 345 (1972b).
- Burnham, R. L., R. C. Isler, and W. C. Wells, "Zero-Field Level-Crossing Spectroscopy of the A<sup>1</sup> State of Carbon Monoxide", <u>Phys. Review</u> <u>6A</u>, 1327 (1972).

Callear, A. B., and I. W. M. Smith, "Fluorescence of Nitric Oxide. I Determination of the Mean Lifetime of the  $A^2\Sigma^+$  State", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc. 59</u>, 1720 (1963a).

- Callear, A. B., and I. W. M. Smith, "Fluorescence of Nitric Oxide. II Vibrational Energy Transfer between NO  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  ( $\upsilon = 3, 2$ , and 1) and  $N_2 X {}^1 \Sigma_g^+$  ( $\upsilon = 0$ )", <u>Trans.</u> <u>Faraday Soc. 59</u>, 1735 (1963b).
- Calvert, J. G., "Non-radiative Decay Processes in Isolated SO<sub>2</sub> Molecules Excited within the First Allowed Absorption Band (2500-3200 Å)", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 20, 484 (1973).
- Capelle, G. A., R. S. Bradford, and H. P. Broida, "Chemiluminescence and Laser Photoluminescence of Some Diatomic Metal Halides", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 21</u>, 418 (1973).
- Capelle, G. A., and H. P. Broida, "Magnetic Field Dependence of I<sub>2</sub> B-State Lifetimes", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 5027 (1972).
- Capelle, G. A. and H. P. Broida, "Lifetimes and Quenching Cross-sections of  $I_2$  (B<sup>3</sup> $\Pi_0$ +) J. Chem. Phys. 58, 4212 (1973).
- Capelle, G. A., S. E. Johnson, and H. P. Broida, "Radiative Lifetimes of BeO", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 6264 (1972).
- Capelle, G., K. Sakurai, and H. P. Broida, "Lifetimes and Self Quenching Crosssections of Vibrational Levels in the B State of Bromine Excited by a Tunable Dye Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys. 54</u>, 1728 (1971).
- Carrington, T., "Electronic Quenching of  $OH(\Sigma^+)$  in Flames and its Significance in the Interpretation of Rotational Relaxation", J. Chem. Phys. 30, 1087 (1959).
- Carrington, T., "Rotational Transfer in the Fluorescence Spectrum of  $OH(^{2}\Sigma^{+})$ ", J. Chem. Phys. 31, 1418 (1959),
- Carrington, T., "Fluorescence and Rotational Relaxation of OH Radicals in Flames", <u>8th Symp. (Int) on Combustion</u> (Williams and Wilkins Company, Baltimore, 1960) p. 257.

- Carrington, T., and H. P. Broida, 'Wall Effects on Rotational Population of  $OH^2\Sigma^+$  in a Microwave Discharge'', <u>J. Mol. Spectroscopy</u> 2, 273 (1958).
- Chackerian, C., Jr., and M. F. Weisbach, "Amplified Laser Absorption: Detection of Nitric Oxide", <u>J. Opt. Soc. Am.</u> 63, 342 (1973).
- Chang, T. Y., "Accurate Frequencies and Wavelengths of CO<sub>2</sub> Laser Lines", <u>Optics</u> <u>Commun. 2</u>, 77 (1970).
- Chen, H-L., "Vibrational Relaxation of Hydrogen Bromide in Gaseous Hydrogen Halide Mixtures," J. Chem. Phys. 55, 5551 (1971a).
- Chen, H-L., "Vibration to Vibration Energy Transfer in Hydrogen Bromide Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 55, 5557 (1971b).
- Chen, H-L., and C.B. Moore, "Vibration-Rotation Energy Transfer in Hydrogen Chloride," J. Chem. Phys. <u>54</u>, 4072 (1971a).
- Chen, H-L., and C.B. Moore, "Vibration-Vibration Energy Transfer in Hydrogen Chloride Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 54, 4080 (1971b).
- Chen, H-L., J. C. Stephenson, and C. B. Moore, "Laser-Excited Vibrational Fluorescence of HCl and the HCl-CO<sub>2</sub> Laser," <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 2</u>, 593 (1968).
- Chen, M. Y-D., and H-L.Chen, "Vibration to Rotation Energy Transfer in HBr and DBr Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 3315 (1972).
- Chervenak, J. G., and R. A. Anderson, "Radiative Lifetime of the A<sup>1</sup>II State of CO", J. Opt. Soc. Am. <u>61</u>, 952 (1971).
- Christophe, B. M., and A. A. Offenberger, "Excitation and Relaxation of the Upper Laser State in a CO<sub>2</sub> Discharge", <u>Can. J. Phys. 50</u>, 368 (1972).
- Chutjian, A., J. K. Link, and L. Brewer, "Measurement of Lifetimes and Quenching Cross-sections of the B State of I<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>46</u>, 2666 (1967).
- Clemesha, B. R., and S. N. Rodrigues, "The Stratospheric Scattering Profile at 23° South", J. Atmosph. Terr. Phys. 33, 1119 (1971).

n3(

130

- Clyne, M. A. A., and J. A. Coxon, "Reactions of Chlorine Oxide Radicals. I Reaction Kinetics of the C10 Radical", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc.</u> 62, 1175 (1966).
- Clyne, M. A. A., and J. A. Coxon, "Kinetic Studies of Oxy-Halogen Radical Systems", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc.</u> A303, 207 (1968).
- Clyne, M. A. A., and H. W. Cruse, "Studies of Ground State  ${}^{2}P_{3/2}$  Halogen Atoms using Atomic Resonance Absorption", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc.</u> <u>67</u>, 2869 (1971).
- Clyne, M. A. A., and H. W. Cruse, "Atomic Resonance Fluorescence Spectrometry for Rate Constants of Rapid Bimolecular Reactions. I Reactions O+NO<sub>2</sub>, Cl+ClNO, Br+ClNO", <u>J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. II 68</u>, 1281 (1972).
- Clyne, M. A. A., B. A. Thrush, and R. P. Wayne, "Kinetics of the Chemiluminescent Reaction between Nitric Oxide and Ozone", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc. 60</u>, 359 (1964).
- Clyne, M. A. A., and I. F. White, "Reactions of Chlorine Oxide Radicals. III Kinetics of the Decay Reaction of the ClO (X<sup>2</sup>II) Radical", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc. 67</u>, 2068 (1971).
  - Collins, C. B., and B. W. Johnson, "Study of Excitation Transfer in a Flowing Helium Afterglow Pumped with a Tunable Dye Laser. II Measurement of the Rate Coefficient for the Rotational Relaxation of He<sub>2</sub> (3p  ${}^{3}\Pi_{g}$ )", J. Chem. Phys. <u>57</u>, 5317 (1972).
  - Comes, F. J., and E. H. Fink, "Deactivation of CO(A<sup>I</sup>II) in Individual Vibrational Levels", Chem. Phys. Letters 14, 433 (1972).
  - Contreras, R. H., and F. M. Kelly, "Isotope Shift in the Second Spectrum of Cadmium", <u>Can. J. Phys.</u> 47, 1979 (1969).
  - Coon, J. B., R. E. DeWames and C. M. Loyd, "The Franck-Condon Principle and the Structures of Excited Electronic States of Molecules", <u>J. Mol. Spectroscopy</u> <u>8</u>, 285 (1962).
  - Coon, J. B., and E. Ortiz, "The Vibrational Analysis of the 2700-4800Å Absorption System of ClO<sub>2</sub> and the Vibrational Constants of the Associated Electronic States", <u>J. Mol. Spectroscopy 1</u>, 81 (1957).
  - Cooney, J. A., "Measurements on the Raman Component of Laser Atmospheric Backscatter", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters 12</u>, 40 (1968).

- Copeland, G. E., "Lifetimes of the  $\upsilon' = 0$ , 1, 2 Levels of the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  Electronic State of NO", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 689 (1972).
- Cramp, J. H. W., and J. D. Lambert, "Vibrational Relaxation of CO<sub>2</sub> ( $\nu_3$ ) by O Atoms", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 22</u>, 146 (1973).
- Cruse, J. A., and R. N. Zare, "Fluorescence of the KH Molecule", J. Chem. Phys. <u>60</u>, 1182 (1974).
- Crutzen, P. J., "Ozone Production Rates in an Oxygen-Hydrogen-Nitrogen Oxide Atmosphere", J. Geophys. Res. 76, 7311 (1971).
- Cummings, C., and R. P. Lowe, "Balloon-borne Spectroscopic Measurement of Stratospheric Methane", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 5259 (1973).
- Curl, R. F., Jr., K. Abe, J. Bissinger, C. Bennett, and F. K. Tittel, "Fluorescence Spectrum of Chlorine Dioxide Induced by the 4765 Å Argon-Ion Laser Line", <u>J. Mol.</u> <u>Spectroscopy 48</u>, 72 (1973).

. ч.

- Davis, D., and W. Braun, "Intense Vacuum Ultraviolet Atomic Line Sources", <u>Applied</u> Optics 7, 2071 (1968).
- Dawson, J. B., and D. J. Ellis, "Pulsed Current Operation of Hollow Cathode Lamps" to Increase the Intensity of Resonance Lines for Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy", <u>Spectrochim. Acta</u> 23A, 565 (1967).
- DeGalan, L., W. W. McGee, and J. D. Winefordner, "Comparison of Line and Continuous Sources in Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry", <u>Anal. Chim. Acta</u> <u>37</u>, 436 (1967).
- Degenkolb, E. O., H. Mayfarth, and J. I. Steinfeld, "Laser Excited Fluorescence of Tellurium Vapor", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 8, 288 (1971).
- Demtroder, W., M. McClintock, and R. N. Zare, "Spectroscopy of Na<sub>2</sub> using Laser-Induced Fluorescence", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>51</u>, 5495 (1969).
- Deverall, G. V., K. W. Meissner, and G. J. Zissis, "Precision Wavelength and Isotopic Shift Measurements of Germanium Arc Lines", Phys. Review 95, 1463 (1954).

- Dewey, C. F., Jr., R. D. Kamm, and C. E. Hackett, "Acoustic Amplifier for Detection of Atmospheric Pollutants", Appl. Phys. Letters 23, 633 (1973).
- DeZafra, R. L., A. Marshall, and H. Metcalf, "Measurement of Lifetime and g Factors by Level Crossing and Optical Double Resonance in the OH and OD Free Radicals", Phys. Review 3A, 1557 (1971).
- Dixon, J. K., "The Absorption Coefficient of Nitrogen Dioxide in the Visible Spectrum", J. Chem. Phys. 8, 157 (1940).

. ....

Douglas, A. E., "Electronically Excited States of Ammonia", Discussions Faraday Soc. 35, 158 (1963).

Douglas, A. E., "Anomalously Long Radiative Lifetimes of Molecular Excited States", J. Chem. Phys. 45, 1007 (1966).

- Drullinger, R.-E., and R. N. Zare, "Optical Pumping of Molecules", J. Chem. Phys. 51, 5532 (1969).
- Drullinger, R. E., and R. N. Zare, "Optical Pumping of Molecules. II Relaxation Studies", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 4225 (1973).
- Durand, E., "Quenching and Vibrational Energy Transfer in the Fluorescence Spectrum of S<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>8</u>, 46 (1940).
- Durie, R. A., and D. A. Ramsay, "Absorption Spectra of the Halogen Monoxides", Can. J. Phys. 36, 35 (1958).
- Dworetsky, S. H., and R. S. Hozack, "Selective Isotopic Molecular Excitation with a Single-Moded Laser", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 3856 (1973a).
- 21 0**08**0041 0 Dworetsky, S. H., and R. S. Hozack, "Comment on 'Resonance Raman Scattering in I, Below the Dissociation Limit ", Phys. Review 8A, 3257 (1973b).
- . dr.C. 50 Dworetsky, S. H., and R. S. Hozack, "Fluorescence Spectrum of Iodine Excited with 5287 Å Light", J. Opt. Soc. Am. 63, 483 (1973c).

the second se e ser l'izza e estre a contra con estre e la contra par 

. 4.

- Ehhalt, D. H., "Sampling of Stratospheric Trace Constituents", <u>Can. J. Chem. 52</u>, 1510 (1974).
- Ehhalt, D. H., and L. E. Heidt, "Vertical Profiles of Molecular  $H_2$  and  $CH_4$  in the Stratosphere", AIAA Paper No. 73 518, June 1973a.
- Ehhalt, D. H., and L. E. Heidt, "Vertical Profiles of CH<sub>4</sub> in the Troposphere and Stratosphere", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 5265 (1973b).
- Elterman, L., "UV, Visible, and IR Attenuation for Altitudes to 50 km, 1968", AFCRL-68-0153, Environmental Research Papers No. 285, April 1968 (AD 671933).
- Emanuel, G., and N. Cohen, "Theoretical Performance of an HCl Chemical cw Laser", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 14, 613 (1974).
- Eng, R. S., H. Kildal, J. C. Mikkelsen, and D. L. Spears, "Determination of Absolute Frequencies of <sup>12</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O and <sup>13</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O Laser Lines", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> <u>24</u>, 231 (1974).

- Engleman, R., Jr., "Accurate Wavenumbers of the  $A^2 \Sigma \rightarrow X^2 \Pi(0, 0)$  and (1,0) Bands of OH and OD", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 12, 1347 (1972).
- Ernst, K., R. M. Osgood, Jr., A. Javan, and P. B. Sackett, "Measurement of the Vibrational-Vibrational Exchange Time (v = 2) for DF Gas", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 23, 553 (1973).
- Ezekiel, S., and R. Weiss, "Laser-Induced Fluorescence in a Molecular Beam of Iodine", Phys. Rev. Letters 20, 91 (1968).
- Fairbank, W. M., Jr., T. W. Hansch, and A. L. Schawlow, "Use of Resonance Fluorescence to Measure the Sodium Vapor Pressure down to Room Temperature and as a Detector of Quarks", Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. Series II 18, 1587 (1973).
- Farmer, A. J. D., V. Hasson, and R. W. Nicholls, "Absolute Oscillator Strength Measurements of the ( $\upsilon'' = 0$ ,  $\upsilon' = 0-3$ ) Bands of the ( $A^2\Sigma X^2\Pi$ )  $\gamma$  System of
  - Nitric Oxide", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 12, 627 (1972a).
- Farmer, C. B., R. A. Toth, R. A. Schindler, and O. F. Raper, "Near Infrared Interferometric Measurements of Stratospheric Composition to be made from the Concorde", <u>Proc. 2nd Conf. on Clim. Impact Assess. Program</u>, November 1972b.
  p. 65 (PB221166).
- Farmer, C. B., "Infrared Measurements of Stratospheric Composition", <u>Can. J. Chem.</u> 52, 1544 (1974).
- Felder, W., W. Morrow, and R. A. Young, "Experimental Evidence of the Photochemical Instability of a Pure CO<sub>2</sub> Planetary Atmosphere", <u>J. Geophys. Res.</u> <u>75</u>, 7311 (1970).
- Fenner, W. R., H. A. Hyatt, J. M. Kellam, and S. P. S. Porto, "Raman Cross Section of some Simple Gases", <u>J. Opt. Soc. Am.</u> 63, 73 (1973).
- Field, R. W., R. S. Bradford, H. P. Broida, and D. O. Harris, "Excited State Microwave Spectroscopy on the A<sup>1</sup>Σ State of BaO", J. Chem. Phys. <u>57</u>, 2209 (1972a).
- Field, R. W., R. S. Bradford, D. O. Harris, and H. P. Broida, "Microwave Optical Double Resonance Spectroscopy of BaO", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 4712 (1972b).
- Fink, E. H., D. L. Akins, and C. Bradley Moore, "Relative Line Intensities in the Lyman Bands of HD", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 4, 283 (1969).
- Fink, E. H., D. L. Akins, and C. Bradley Moore, "Energy Transfer in Monochromatically Excited Hydrogen  $(B^{1}\Sigma_{u}^{+})$ . I Excitation Processes, Electronic Quenching, and Vibrational Energy Transfer", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 900 (1972).
- Fink, E. H., and K. H. Welge, "Lifetimes and Quenching Cross-sections for Electronically Excited States of N<sub>2</sub>O<sup>+</sup>, NO, O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>, CO<sup>+</sup>, and CO", <u>Z. Naturforsch.</u> 23a, 358 (1968).
- Fox, K., "Coincidence of Er: YAG Laser Emission with Methane Absorption at 6077 cm<sup>-1</sup>", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> 24, 24 (1974).
- Fox, R. J., G. W. Grams, B. G. Schuster, and J. A. Weinman, "Measurement of Stratospheric Aerosols by Airborne Laser Radar", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 7789 (1973).

- Freund, S. M., J. W. C. Johns, A. R. W. McKellar, and T. Oka, "Infrared-Infrared Double Resonance Experiments Using a Two-Photon Technique", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 3445 (1973).
- Gangi, R. A., and L. Burnelle "Electronic Structure and Electronic Spectrum of NO<sub>2</sub>. III Spectral Interpretation", J. Chem. Phys. 55, 851 (1971).
- Garbuny, M., and J. D. Feichtner, "Pressure Dependence of Resonance Fluorescence Lifetimes in  $SF_6$  and  $SF_6$ -Air Mixtures", <u>Appl. Optics 11</u>, 1019 (1972).
- Gelbwachs, J., "Limitation to Optoacoustic Detection of Atmospheric Gases by Water Vapor Absorption", <u>Appl. Optics</u> <u>13</u>, 1005 (1974).
- Gelbwachs, J., and M. Birnbaum, "Fluorescence of Atmospheric Aerosols and Lidar Implications", <u>Appl. Optics</u> 12, 2442 (1973).
- Gelbwachs, J. A., M. Birnbaum, A. W. Tucker, and C. L. Fincher, "Fluorescence Determination of Atmospheric NO<sub>2</sub>", <u>Opto-electronics</u> <u>4</u>, 155 (1972).
- Gentieu, E. P., and J. E. Mentall, "Formaldehyde Absorption Coefficients in the Vacuum Ultraviolet (650 to 1850 Angstroms)", Science 169, 681 (1970).
- Gerlovin, Ya. I., and I. N. Orlova, "Measurement of the Spontaneous Emission Probability of Several Gases", Optics and Spectroscopy 16, 9 (1964).
- German, K. R., T. H. Bergeman, E. M. Weinstock, and R. N. Zare, "Zero-Field Level Crossing and Optical Radio-Frequency Double Resonance Studies of the  $A^2\Sigma^+$  States of OH and OD", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 4304 (1973).
- German, K. R., and R. N. Zare, "Measurement of the Hanle Effect for the OH Radical", Phys. <u>Review 186</u>, 9 (1969a).

German, K. R., and R. N. Zare, "Optical Radio-Frequency Double Resonance in Molecules: The OH Radical", <u>Phys. Rev. Letters</u> 23, 1207 (1969b). German, K. R., R. N. Zare, and D. R. Crosley, "Reinvestigation of the Hanle Effect for the NO  $A^2\Sigma^+$  State", J. Chem. Phys. 54, 4039 (1971).

- Goldman, A., T. G. Kyle, and F. S. Bonomo, "Statistical Band Model Parameters and Integrated Intensities for the 5.9µm, 7.5µm, and 11.3µm Bands of HNO<sub>3</sub> Vapor", <u>Applied Optics 10</u>, 65 (1971).
- Goldman, A., D. G. Murcray, F. H. Murcray, and W. J. Williams, "Balloon Borne Infrared Measurements of the Vertical Distribution of N<sub>2</sub>O in the Atmosphere", <u>J.</u> <u>Opt. Soc. Am.</u> 63, 843 (1973a).
- Goldman, A., D. G. Murcray, F. H. Murcray, W. J. Williams, and J. N. Brooks,
  "Distribution of Water Vapor in the Stratosphere as Determined from Balloon Measurements of Atmospheric Emission Spectra in the 24-29µm Region", <u>Applied</u> Optics 12, 1045 (1973b).
- Goldman, A., D. G. Murcray, F. H. Murcray, W. J. Williams, J. N. Brooks, and C. M. Bradford, "Vertical Distribution of CO in the Atmosphere", <u>J. Geophys.</u> <u>Res.</u> 78, 5273 (1973c).
- Goldman, A., D. G. Murcray, F.H. Murcray, W. J. Williams, T. G. Kyle, and J. N. Brooks, "Abundance of N<sub>2</sub>O in the Atmosphere between 4.5 and 13.5 km", <u>J. Opt.</u> Soc. Am. <u>60</u>, 1466 (1970).
- Gordon, R. J. and M. C. Lin, "The Reaction of Nitric Oxide with Vibrationally Excited Ozone", Chem. Phys. Letters 22, 262 (1973).
- Gouedard, G., and J-C. Lehman, "Optical Resonance and Hanle Effect for the Molecule NO", <u>Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci. Paris</u>, 270B, 1664 (1970).
- Grabiner, F. R., and G. W. Flynn, "Intermode Vibrational Energy Transfer in Laser Excited CH<sub>3</sub>Cl", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>60</u>, 398 (1974).
- Grabiner, F. R., G. W. Flynn, and A. M. Ronn, "Vibration Vibration Equilibration in Laser Excited CH<sub>3</sub>F and CH<sub>3</sub>F-X Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 2330 (1973).

- Green, W. H., and J. K. Hancock, "Laser-Excited Vibrational Energy Transfer Studies of HF, CO and NO", <u>IEEE J. Quant. Electronics QE9</u>, 50 (1973a).
- Green, W. H., and J. K. Hancock, "Measurement of CO ( $\upsilon = 1$ ) Vibrational Energy Transfer Rates using a Frequency - Doubled CO<sub>2</sub> Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 4326 (1973b).
- Greenough, K. F., and A. B. F. Duncan, "The Fluorescence of Sulfur Dioxide", <u>J. Am.</u> <u>Chem. Soc.</u> <u>83</u>, 555 (1961).
- Grimm, W., "A New Glow Discharge Lamp for Spectral Emission Analysis", <u>Spectrochim.</u> <u>Acta 28B</u>, 443 (1968).
- Haarsma, J. P. S., G. J. deJong, and J. Agterdenbos, "The Preparation and Operation of Electrodeless Discharge Lamps - A Critical Review", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 29B</u>, 1 (1974).
- Hall, T. C., Jr., and F. E. Blacet, "Separation of the Absorption Spectra of NO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> in the Range of 2400 5000 Å," J. Chem. Phys. <u>20</u>, 1745 (1952).
- Halldorsson, Th., and E. Menke, "Interferometric Measurements of Laser Excited Resonance Fluorescence of Iodine", Z. Naturforsch. 25a, 1356 (1970).
- Hampson, R. F., editor, W. Braun, R. L. Brown, D. Garvin, J. T. Herron, R. E.
  Huie, M. J. Kurylo, A. H. Laufer, J. D. McKinley, H. Okabe, M. D. Scheer, and
  W. Tsang, "Survey of Photochemical and Rate Data for Twenty-eight Reactions of
  Interest in Atmospheric Chemistry", J. Phys. and Chem. Ref. Data 2, 267 (1973).
- Hancock, J. K., and W. H. Green, "Laser-Excited Vibrational Relaxation Studies of Hydrogen Fluoride", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 2474 (1972a).
- Hancock, J. K., and W. H. Green, "Vibrational Deactivation of HF ( $\upsilon = 1$ ) in Pure HF and in HF-Additive Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 4515 (1972b).
- Hancock, J. K., and W. H. Green, "Vibrational Deactivation Rates of HF:  $(\upsilon = 1)$  by CH<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>H<sub>8</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>10</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>H<sub>6</sub>, and ClF<sub>3</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 6350 (1973).

- Hanst, P. L., "Spectroscopic Methods for Air Pollution Measurements", <u>Advances</u> Environ. Sci. Technol. 2, 91 (1971).
- Harries, J. E., "Measurements of Some Hydrogen-Oxygen Nitrogen Compounds in the Stratosphere from Concorde 002", <u>Nature 241</u>, 515 (1973).
- Harries, J. E., and W. T. Burroughs, "Measurement of Submillimeter Wavelength
- Radiation Emitted by the Stratosphere", <u>Royal Meteorological Society</u>, <u>Quart. J.</u> 97, 519 (1971).
- Hately, G. F., and T. A. Littlefield, "Isotope Shift in the Arc Spectrum of Zinc", <u>J. Opt.</u> <u>Soc. Am.</u> <u>48</u>, 851 (1958).
  - Headridge, J. B., and J. Richardson, "A Comparison of Electrodeless Discharge Tubes and Hollow Cathode Lamps in Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy", <u>Laboratory Practice</u> 19, 372 (1970).
  - Heilig, K., D. Riesner, and A. Streudel, "Isotope Shift in GeI" J. Opt. Soc. Am. 56, 1406 (1966).
  - Heller, D. F., and C. Bradley Moore, "Relaxation of the Asymmetric Stretching Vibration of CO<sub>2</sub> by Collisions with H<sub>2</sub>O, D<sub>2</sub>O, and HDO", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>52</u>, 1005 (1970).
  - Herzberg, G., "Atomic Spectra and Atomic Structure", 2nd Edition, Dover Publications, New York, 1944.
  - Herzberg, G. "Molecular Spectra and Molecular Structure. III Electronic Spectra and Electronic Structure of Polyatomic Molecules", (Van Nostrand Company, New York, 1966).
  - Hessel, M. M., "Experimental Observation of the NaLi Molecule", <u>Phys. Rev. Letters</u> <u>26</u>, 215 (1971)

. . .

. . . . .

Hesser, J. E., "Absolute Transition Probabilities in Ultraviolet Molecular Spectra", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>48</u>, 2518 (1968).

and the second second

- Hinchen, J. J., "Vibrational Relaxation of Hydrogen and Deuterium Fluorides", <u>J.</u> Chem. Phys. <u>59</u>, 233 (1973a).
- Hinchen, J. J., "Temperature Dependence of Deuterium Fluoride Vibrational Relaxation", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 2224 (1973b).
- Hinkley, E. D., "Development and Application of Tunable Diode Lasers to the Detection and Quantitative Evaluation of Pollutant Gases", MIT Lincoln Laboratory Report, March 1972a (PB 214240).
- Hinkley, E. D. "Tunable Infra-red Lasers and their Applications to Air Pollution Measurements", Opto-electronics 4, 69 (1972b).
- Hinkley, E. D., and P. L. Kelley, "Detection of Air Pollutants with Tunable Diode Lasers", <u>Science 171</u>, 635 (1971).
- Hocker, L. O., M. A. Kovacs, C. K. Rhodes, G. W. Flynn, and A. Javan, "Vibrational Relaxation Measurements in CO<sub>2</sub> using an Induced Fluorescence Technique", <u>Phys.</u> <u>Rev. Letters 17</u>, 233 (1966).
- Hollander, Tj., and H. P. Broida, "Zeeman Scanning of Absorption Line Profiles in Flames", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 7, 965 (1967).
- Hollander, Tj., and H. P. Broida, "Zeeman Scanning of Hydroxyl and Zinc Absorption Line Profiles in Flames at Atmospheric and Reduced Pressure", <u>Combustion and</u> <u>Flame 13</u>, 63 (1969).
- Holleman, G. W., and J. I. Steinfeld, "Time-Resolved Fluorescence of Iodine Monochloride", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 12, 431 (1971).
- Holliday, M. G., and B. G. Reuben, "Temperature Dependence of the Absorption of Nitrous Oxide in the Quartz Ultra-Violet", <u>Trans. Faraday Soc.</u> <u>64</u>, 1735 (1968).

Holzer, W., W. F. Murphy, and H. J. Bernstein, "Resonance Raman Effect and Resonance Fluorescence in Halogen Gases", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 399 (1970a).

140

U

## DELCO ELECTRONICS DIVISION . SANTA BARBARA OPERATIONS . GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION

- Holzer, W., W. F. Murphy, and H. J. Bernstein, "Resonance Fluorescence of Iodine, Bromine, and Chlorine Gases Obtained with Argon-Ion Laser Excitation", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys.</u> 52, 469 (1970b).
- Hooymayers, H. P., and C. Th. J. Alkemade, "Quenching of Excited Hydroxyl  $(^{2}\Sigma^{+}, \upsilon'=0)$  Radicals in Flames", <u>J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 7</u>, 495 (1967).
- Hopkins, B. M., and H-L.Chen, "Vibrational Excitation and Relaxation of HBr (U=2) State", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 17, 500 (1972a).
- Hopkins, B. M., and H-L.Chen, "Vibrational Excitation and Relaxation of HCl ( $\upsilon$ =2) State", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 3816 (1972b).
- Hopkins, B. M., and H-L. Chen, "Vibrational Relaxation of HBr (u=1) State in Methane, Water, Helium, and Hydrogen Gaseous Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 1495 (1973).
- Hopkins, B. M., H-L. Chen, and R. D. Sharma, "Temperature Dependence of near Resonant Vibration-Vibration Energy Transfer in HCl-D<sub>2</sub> Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 5758 (1973).
- Houghton, W. M., and C. J. Jachimowki, "An Absorption Technique for Measuring OH Concentrations in Shock Tubes", Applied Optics 9, 329 (1970).
- Hudson, R. D., "Critical Review of Ultraviolet Photoabsorption Cross-sections for Molecules of Astrophysical and Aeronomic Interest", <u>Rev. Geophys. Space Physics</u>
  <u>9</u>, 305 (1971); <u>Nat. Stand. Ref. Data Ser.</u>, Nat. Bur. Stand. (US) <u>38</u> (1971).
- Hui, M-H., and S. A. Rice, "Decay of Fluorescence from Single Vibronic States of SO<sub>2</sub>", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> <u>17</u>, 474 (1972); <u>20</u>, 411 (1973).
- Hurlock, S. C., "High Resolution Absorption Spectra of the Isotopic Modifications of Nitrogen Dioxide and other Small Molecules", Dissertation, Ohio State University 1970.
- Hurlock, S. C., W. J. Lafferty, and K. N. Rao, "Analysis of the  $\nu_3$  Band of  ${}^{14}N{}^{16}O_2$ ", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 50, 246 (1974).

- Imhof, R. E., and F. H. Reed, "Measured Lifetimes of the First Seven Vibrational Levels of the  $A^{1}\Pi$  State of CO", Chem. Phys. Letters 11, 326 (1971).
- Jackson, W. M., "Laser Induced Fluorescence of CN Radicals", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 960 (1973).
- Jain, D. C., and R. C. Sahni, "Quantum Mechanical Treatment of Molecules. IV RKR Franck-Condon Factors for the  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  Band Systems of the NO Molecule", <u>Trans.</u> <u>Faraday Soc. 64</u>, 3169 (1968).
- James, T. C., and R. J. Thibault, "Spin-Orbit Coupling Constant of Nitric Oxide. Determination from Fundamental and Satellite Band Origins", <u>J. Chem. Phys. 41</u>, 2806 (1964).
- Jansen, B.J., Tj. Hollander, and L. P. L. Franken, "Some Observations on Small-Size Electrodeless Discharge Lamps for Strontium used for Zeeman Scanning of Absorption Line Profiles in Flames", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 29B</u>, 37 (1974).
- Jenkins, D. R., "An Analysis of the Optimum Conditions for the Detection of Metals in Flames by Atomic Fluorescence", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 23B</u>, 167 (1967).
- Jeunehomme, M., "Transition Moment Variation in the  $\gamma$  System of NO", J. Chem Phys. <u>45</u>, 4433 (1966).
- Jeunehomme, M., and A. B. F. Duncan, "Lifetime Measurements of some Excited States of Nitrogen, Nitric Oxide, and Formaldehyde", J. Chem. Phys. 41, 1692 (1964).
- Johns, J. W. C., and A. R. W. McKellar, "Stark Spectroscopy with the CO Laser: The  $\nu_2$  Fundamentals of H<sub>2</sub>CO and D<sub>2</sub>CO", <u>J. Mol. Spectroscopy</u> <u>48</u>, 354 (1973).
- Johnson, S. E., "Spectroscopy of Selected Diatomic Metal and Metal-Oxide Molecules using Laser Excited Fluorescence", University of California, Santa Barbara, Dissertation, December 1971 (AD 737753).
- Johnson, S. E., "Measured Radiative Lifetimes and Electronic Quenching Crosssections of BaO (A<sup>1</sup>∑)", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 149 (1972).

- Johnson, S. E., D. Cannell, J. Lunacek, and H. P. Broida, "New Molecular Constants for the Ground Electronic State of Pb,", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>56</u>, 5723 (1972a).
- Johnson, S. E., G. Capelle, and H. P. Broida, "Laser Excited Fluorescence and Radiative Lifetimes of AlO  $(B^2\Sigma^+X^2\Sigma^+)$ ", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 663 (1972b).
- Johnson, S. E., K. Sakurai, and H. P. Broida, "Fluorescence of Na<sub>2</sub> Induced by a Helium - Neon Laser at 632.8 and 640.1 nm", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>52</u>, 6441 (1970).
- Johnston, H. S., S-G. Chang, and G. Whitten, "Photolysis of Nitric Acid Vapor", J. Phys. Chem. 78, 1 (1974).
- Johnston, H. S., and R. Graham, "Photochemistry of NO<sub>x</sub> and HNO<sub>x</sub> Compounds", <u>Can. J. Chem. 52</u>, 1415 (1974).
- Johnston, H. S., E. D. Morris, Jr., and J. Van den Bogaerde, "Molecular Modulation Kinetic Spectrometry, ClOO and ClO<sub>2</sub> Radicals in the Photolysis of Chlorine in Oxygen", <u>J. Am.Chem. Soc.</u> <u>91</u>, 7712 (1969).
- Jones, H., and A. Eyer, "Collisional Transfer of Energy in Ammonia; Some Triple Resonance Experiments", <u>Z. Naturforsch.</u> 28a, 1703 (1973).
- Jones, L. H., R. M. Badger, and G. E. Moore, "The Infrared Spectrum and the Structure of Gaseous Nitrous Acid", J. Chem. Phys. 19, 1599 (1951).

Junge, C. E., "Air Chemistry and Radioactivity", (Academic Press, New York, 1963).

- Kaldor, A., W. B. Olson, and A. G. Maki, "Pollution Monitor for Nitric Oxide: A Laser Device Based on the Zeeman Modulation of Absorption", <u>Science 176</u>, 508 (1972).
- Kaneko, M., Y. Mori, and I. Tanaka, "Electronic Quenching and Rotational Relaxation Rate of  $OH(^{2}\Sigma^{+})$  Produced by the Vacuum Ultraviolet Photodecomposition of Water", J. Chem. Phys. 48, 4468 (1968).

م به این اور مربود

1.5

- Kano, S., T. Amano, and T. Shimizu, "Collisional Relaxation among Rotational Levels of NH<sub>3</sub> Studied by Infrared - Microwave Double Resonance", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> <u>25</u>, 119 (1974).
- Kantor, A. J., and A. E. Cole, "Abbreviated Tables of Thermodynamic Properties to 85 km for the U.S. Standard Atmosphere, 1974," Air Force Surveys in Geophysics No. 278, AFCRL-TR-73-0687, Air Force Cambridge Research Laboratories, November 1973.
- Karny, Z., A. M. Ronn, E. Weitz, and G. W. Flynn, "Vibration Vibration Energy Transfer in CH<sub>2</sub>F", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> <u>17</u>, 347 (1972).
- Katskov, D. A., G. G. Lebedev, and B. V. L'vov, "Spectral Characteristics of Hollow-Cathode Flashlamps for Atomic Absorption Measurements", <u>J. Appl. Spect. USSR</u> <u>10</u>, 144 (1969).
- Kaufman, F., and F. P. Del Greco, "Fast Reactions of OH Radicals", <u>9th Symp. (Int)</u> on Combustion (Academic Press, New York 1963) p. 659.
- Kellogg, W. W., R. D. Cadle, E. R. Allen, A. L. Lazrus, and E. A. Martell, "The Sulfur Cycle", <u>Science 175</u>, 587 (1972).
- Kelly, F. M., and J. B. Sutherland, "A Note on Optical Hyperfine Structure in Cd", <u>Can. J. Phys.</u> 34, 521 (1956).
- Keyser, L. F., F. Kaufman, and E. C. Zipf, "Radiative Lifetime and Collisional Quenching of NO<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence and Nature of the Air Afterglow", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 2, 523 (1968).
- Keyser, L.F., S.Z. Levine, and F. Kaufman, "Kinetics and Mechanism of NO<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 54, 355 (1971).

Kiefer, W., and H. W. Schrotter, "Simultaneous Observation of Resonance Fluorescence and Resonance Raman Effect in Gaseous Bromine", J. Chem. Phys. 53, 1612 (1970).

King, G. W., and D. Moule, "The Ultraviolet Absorption Spectrum of Nitrous Acid in the Vapor State", <u>Can. J. Chem.</u> <u>40</u>, 2057 (1962).

- Kley, D., and K. H. Welge, "Quenching and Rotational Relaxation of  $OH(A^{2}\Sigma^{+}, \upsilon = 0, K')$ ", J. Chem. Phys. 49, 2870 (1968).
- Knudtson, J. T., and G. W. Flynn, "Laser Fluorescence Study of the Equilibration of Excited Vibrational States of SF<sub>6</sub> during SF<sub>6</sub>-Rare Gas Collisions", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>58</u>, 1467 (1973a).
- Knudtson, J. T., and G. Flynn, "Laser Fluorescence Study of Vibrational Energy Transfer in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>58</u>, 2684 (1973b).

1.1.1.1

برا العرب الأبيار ال

RECEIPTION 1

5 1 E -

- Kostin, N. N., M. P. Sokolova, V. A. Khodovoi, and V. V. Khromov, "Nonlinear Absorption of Ruby Laser Emission by Molecular Rubidium Vapor", <u>Soviet Physics</u> <u>JETP</u> <u>35</u>, 253 (1972).
- Kovacs, M. A., and A. Javan, "Pressure Dependence of the Decay Rate for Imprisoned 4.35µ Spontaneous Emission in CO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 50, 4111 (1969).
- Kovacs, M., D. R. Rao, and A. Javan, "Study of Diffusion and Wall De-excitation Probability of 00°1 State in CO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>48</u>, 3339 (1968).
- Kreiner, W. A., and H. Jones, "Investigation of Collisional Transfer of Energy between Hyperfine Levels of Ammonia by Infrared-Microwave Multiple-Resonance Experiments", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 49, 326 (1974).

Kreiner, W. A., M. Romheld, and H. D. Rudolph, "Infrared-Microwave Double Resonance Experiments with NH<sub>2</sub>", <u>Z. Naturforsch.28a</u>, 1707 (1973).

Kreiner, W. A., and H. D. Rudolph, "On the Influence of a Finite Pump Width in IR-MW Double Resonance Experiments", Z. Naturforsch. 28a, 1885 (1973).

Kreuzer, L. B., "Ultralow Gas Concentration Infrared Absorption Spectroscopy", <u>J. Applied Phys.</u> 42, 2934 (1971).

Kreuzer, L. B., N. D. Kenyon, and C. K. N. Patel, "Air Pollution: Sensitive Detection of Ten Pollutant Gases by Carbon Monoxide and Carbon Dioxide Lasers", <u>Science</u> <u>177</u>, 347 (1972).

145

- Kreuzer, L. B., and C. K. N. Patel, "Nitric Oxide Air Pollution: Detection by Optoacoustic Spectroscopy", Science 173, 45 (1971).
- Krost, K. J., J. A. Hodgeson, and R. K. Stevens, "Flame Chemiluminescent Detection of Nitrogen Compounds", Anal. Chem. 45, 1800 (1973).
- Krupenie, P. H., "The Band Spectrum of Carbon Monoxide", <u>Nat. Stand. Ref. Data Ser.</u>, Nat. Bur. Stand (US) 5, 1966.

- Kuhn, H. G., and R. Turner, "Isotope Shift and Hyperfine Structure in the Spectrum of Tellurium", Proc. Roy. Soc. A265, 39 (1961).
- Kurzel, R. B., E. O. Degenkolb, and J. I. Steinfeld, "Energy Transfer Processes in Monochromatically Excited Iodine. VI Quenching and Vibrational Relaxation in U'= 6", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 1784 (1972).
- Kurzel, R. B., and J. I. Steinfeld, "Energy Transfer Processes in Monochromatically Excited Iodine Molecules. III Quenching and Multiquantum Transfer from U' = 43", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>53</u>, 3293 (1970).
- Kurzel, R. B., J. I. Steinfeld, D. A. Hatzenbuhler, and G. E. Leroi, "Enery-Transfer Processes in Monochromatically Excited Iodine Molecules. V Rotational Energy Transfer in Argon-Excited I<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 55, 4822 (1971).
- Kurzweg, U. H., A. M. Bass, and H. P. Broida, "Spectra of Afterglows and Discharges from Nitrogen-Oxygen Mixtures", <u>J. Mol. Spectroscopy</u> <u>1</u>, 184 (1957).
- Lambert, C., and G. H. Kimbell, "The Fluorescence of CS<sub>2</sub> Vapor", <u>Can. J. Chem. 51</u>, 2601 (1973).
- Lambert, J. D., and R. Salter, "Vibrational Relaxation in Gases", Proc. Roy. Soc. A253, 277 (1959).

"Laser Focus, 1974 Buyers Guide," January 1974.

- Lee, E. K. C., and W. M. Uselman, "Molecular Predissociation of Nitrogen Dioxide Studied by Fluorescence Excitation Spectroscopy", <u>Faraday Discussions Chem.</u> <u>Soc. 53</u>, 125 (1972).
- Lee, S. M., and A. M. Ronn, "Laser Induced Fluorescence Study of Vibration Vibration Equilibration in CH<sub>3</sub>Cl and CH<sub>3</sub>Cl - X Mixtures", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 22, 279 (1973).
- Lengel, R. K., and D. R. Crosley, "Collisionally Induced Energy Transfer in the  $A^{2}\Sigma^{+}$  State of OH", <u>Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. Series II</u> 19, 159 (1974).
- Leone, S. R., and C. B. Moore, "V-V Energy Transfer in HCl with Tunable Optical Parametric Oscillator Excitation, <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 19, 340 (1973).
- Leovy, C. B., "Atmospheric Ozone: An Analytical Model for Photochemistry in the presence of Water Vapor", J. Geophys. Res. 74, 417 (1969).
- Letokhov, V. S., "Use of Lasers to Control Selective Chemical Reactions", <u>Science 180</u>, 451 (1973).
- Levenson, M. D., and A. L. Schawlow, "Hyperfine Interactions in Molecular Iodine", Phys. Review 6A, 10 (1972).

the state of the second

- Levy, H. "Photochemistry of the Lower Troposhere", Planet. Space Sci. 20, 919 (1972).
- Levy, H., "Photochemistry of Minor Constituents in the Troposphere", <u>Planet. Space Sci.</u> <u>21</u>, 575 (1973a).
- Levy, H., "Tropospheric Budgets for Methane, Carbon Monoxide, and Related Species", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 5325 (1973b).
- Levy, J. M., J. H. S. Wang, S. G. Kukolich, and J. I. Steinfeld, "Direct Observation of Rotational Energy Transfer in Ammonia by Time-Resolved Infrared - Microwave Double Resonance", Chem. Phys. Letters 21, 598 (1973).
- Lidholt, L. R., "Laser Raman Radar Detection based on a Sampling Technique", <u>Opto-</u> electronics 4, 133 (1972).

- Lobet, D., M. Berjot, and L. Bernard, "Study of the Resonance Fluorescence of Iodine Excited with 5017 Å Radiation of an Argon Ion Laser", <u>Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci.</u> <u>Paris 273 B</u>, 207 (1971).
- Lodge, J. P., Jr., and J. B. Pate, "Atmospheric Gases and Particulates in Panama", <u>Science</u> 153, 408 (1966).
- Lowder, J. E., K. G. P. Sulzmann, and S. S. Penner, "Comparison of a Multiple-Slit Correlation Spectrometer with Laser Absorption in Air Pollutant Detection", <u>J. Quant.</u> <u>Spectrosc.</u> Radiat. Transfer 11, 1877 (1971).
- Lowe, R. P., and D. McKinnon, "Measurements of Stratospheric Methane over North America", <u>Can. J. Phys. 50</u>, 668 (1972).
- Ludwig, C. B., W. Malkmus, J. E. Reardon, and J. A. L. Thomson, "Handbook of Infrared Radiation from Combustion Gases", National Aeronautics and Space Administration, NASA SP-3080, 1973 (N73-27807).
- Mansfield, J. M., Jr., M. P. Bratzel, Jr., H. O. Norgordon, D. O. Knapp, K. E. Zacha, and J. D. Winefordner, "Experimental Investigation of Electrodeless Discharge Lamps as Excitation Sources for Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", <u>Spectrochim. Acta 23B</u>, 389 (1968).
- Mantz, A. W., E. R. Nichols, B. D. Alpert, and K. N. Rao, "CO Laser Spectra Studies with a 10-Meter Vacuum Infrared Grating Spectrograph", J. Mol. Spectroscopy <u>35</u>, 325 (1970).
- Margottin-Maclou, M., L. Doyennette, and L. Henry, "Relaxation of Vibrational Energy in CO, HCl, CO<sub>2</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O", <u>Applied Optics 10</u>, 1768 (1971).
- Marmo, F. F., "Absorption Coefficients of Nitrogen Oxide in the Vacuum Ultraviolet", J. Opt. Soc. Am. 43, 1186 (1953).
- Martin, D. R., "Kinetics of Sulfur Dioxide Fluorescence", Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Report, University of California, Berkeley, March 1973 (LBL-1199).

• ; •

Mastenbrook, H. J., "The Variability of Water Vapor in the Stratosphere", J. Atm. Sci. 28, 1495 (1971). . •

Mastenbrook, H.J., "Water-vapor Measurements in the Lower Stratosphere," Can. J. Chem. 52, 1527 (1974).

McCarthy, W. J., M. L. Parsons, J. D. Winefordner, "Derivation of General Expressions for Quantum and Power Efficiencies for Atomic Fluorescence of Atoms in a Hot Gas with Emphasis on Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", Spectrochim. Acta 23B, 25 (1967).

- McClatchey, R. A., R. W. Fenn, J. E. A. Selby, F. E. Volz, and J. S. Garing, "Optical Properties of the Atmosphere (Revised)", AFCRL-71-0279, Environmental Research Papers, No. 354, May 1971 (AD 726116).
- McClatchey, R. A., and J. E. A. Selby, "Atmospheric Attenuation of Laser Radiation from 0.76 to 31.25µm", Air Force Cambridge Research Laboratories Report AFCRL-TR-74-0003, Environmental Research Papers No. 460, January 1974.

. .

• . • .

McClatchie, E. A., "Development of an Infrared Fluorescent Gas Analyzer", Arkon Scientific Laboratories Report ARFR-14, August 1972 (PB 213846).

Second and the second secon McClintock, M., and L. C. Balling, "Atomic and Molecular Fluorescence from Laser Excited Diatomic Cesium and Rubidium", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 9, 1209 (1969).

McClintock, M., W. Demtroder, and R. N. Zare, "Level Crossing Studies of Na, Using Laser Induced Fluorescence", J. Chem. Phys. 51, 5509 (1969).

- ser and a McConnell, J. C., M. B. McElroy, and S. C. Wofsy, "Natural Sources of Atmospheric" · · · · . . . . . . CO", Nature 233, 187 (1971).
- the the mit McGraw, G. E., "Vibrational Spectra of Some Nitrogen Oxyacids", The Pennsylvania State University, dissertation, 1965. University Microfilms, Ann Arbor, No. 66-8743.

· 24 ··· McGregor, W. K., J. D. Few, and C. D. Litton, "Resonance Line Absorption Method for Determination of Nitric Oxide Concentration", Arnold Engineering Development Center, AEDC-TR-73-182, December 1973 (AD 771642).

- Murcray, D. G., A. Goldman, A. Csoeke-Poeckh, F. H. Murcray, W. J. Williams, and R. N. Stocker, "Nitric Acid Distribution in the Stratosphere", <u>J. Geophys. Res.</u> 78, 7033 (1973).
- Mureray, D. G., A. Goldman, F. H. Murcray, W. J. Williams, J. N. Brooks, and D. B.
  Barker, "Vertical Distribution of Minor Atmospheric Constituents as Derived from Airborne Measurements of Atmospheric Emission and Absorption Infrared Spectra", <u>Proc.</u>
  2nd Conf. on Clim. Impact Assess. Program, November 1972, p. 86 (PB221166).
- Mureray, D. G., F. H. Mureray, W. J. Williams, T. G. Kyle, and A. Goldman, "Variation of the Infrared Solar Spectrum between 700 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2240 cm<sup>-1</sup> with Altitude", <u>Applied Optics 8</u>, 2519 (1969).
- Myers, G. H., D. M. Silver, and F. Kaufman, "Quenching of NO<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence", <u>J.</u> <u>Chem. Phys. 44</u>, 718 (1966).
- Nachshon, Y., and P. D. Coleman, "Measurement of the  ${}^{2}\Pi_{1/2}\upsilon = 0 \rightarrow 2$ , P(17/2) Line Width of NO with an HF Laser", Applied Optics 12, 2810 (1973).
- Neuberger, D., and A. B. F. Duncan, "Fluorescence of Nitrogen Dioxide", J. Chem. Phys. 22, 1693 (1954).
- Nielsen, H. H., "The Infrared Absorption Spectrum of Formaldehyde. Part I", <u>Phys.</u> <u>Review</u> 46, 117 (1934).

"Nighttime Detection of Pollutants", Optical Spectra 7 (11), 39 (1973).

1.16

- Nill, K. W., F. A. Blum, A. R. Calawa, and T. C. Harman, "Infrared Spectroscopy of CO Using a Tunable PbSSe Diode Laser", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> 19, 79 (1971).
- Nill, K. W., A. J. Strauss, and F. A. Blum, "Tunable cw Pb 0.98 Cd<sub>0.02</sub>S Diode Lasers Emitting at 3.5μm: Applications to Ultra-High Resolution Spectroscopy", <u>Appl. Phys.</u> Letters 22, 677 (1973).
- Noter, Y., I. Burak, and A. Szoke, "Temperature Dependence of Vibration to Vibration Energy Transfer in HCl and HBr", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 970 (1973).

- Offenberger, A. A., L. M. Lidsky, and D. J. Rose, "Induced Fluorescence and Temperature Jump in  $CO_2$  by Resonant Absorption of 10.6 $\mu$ CO<sub>2</sub> Laser Radiation", <u>J. Appl.</u> <u>Phys.</u> <u>43</u>, 2257 (1972).
- Okabe, H., "Fluorescence and Predissociation of Sulfur Dioxide", <u>J. Am. Chem. Soc.</u> <u>93</u>, 7095 (1971).
- Okabe, H., and M. Lenzi, "Photodissociation of NH<sub>3</sub> in the Vacuum Ultraviolet", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys.</u> <u>47</u>, 5241 (1967).
- Okabe, H., P. L. Splitstone, and J. J. Ball, "Ambient and Source SO<sub>2</sub> Detector Based on a Fluorescence Method", <u>J. Air Pollution Control Assoc.</u> 23, 514 (1973).
- Omenetto, N., L. M. Fraser, and J. D. Winefordner, "Pulsed Source Atomic Fluorescence Spectrometry", Appl. Spect. Reviews 7, 147 (1973a).
- Omenetto, N., L. P. Hart, P. Benetti, and J. D. Winefordner, "On the Shape of Atomic Fluorescence Analytical Curves with a Laser Excitation Source", <u>Spectrochim. Acta</u> <u>28B</u>, 301 (1973b).
- Osgood, R. M., Jr., A. Javan, and P. B. Sackett, "Measurement of Vibration Vibration Energy Transfer Time in HF Gas", Appl. Phys. Letters 20, 469 (1972).
- Osgood, R. M., Jr., P. B. Sackett, and A. Javan, "Measurement of V-V Transfer Rate from HF (U = 3) using Simultaneous Optical Pumping on the HF U = 2→1 and U = 1→0 Bands", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters</u> 22, 254 (1973).
- O'Shea, D. C., and L. G. Dodge, "NO<sub>2</sub> Concentration Measurements in an Urban Atmosphere Using Differential Absorption Techniques", <u>Appl. Optics</u> <u>13</u>, 1481 (1974).
- Otsuka, K., and J. G. Calvert, "Decay Mechanism of Triplet Sulfur Dioxide Molecules formed by Intersystem Crossing in the Flash Photolysis of Sulfur Dioxide (2400 -3200 Å)", J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 2581 (1971).
- Ottinger, Ch., and D. Poppe, "Collision Induced Rotational and Vibrational Quantum Jumps in Electronically Excited Li<sub>2</sub>", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 8, 513 (1971).

• • • • •

taria. taria.

- Ottinger, Ch., R. Velasco, and R. N. Zare, "Some Propensity Rules in Collision-Induced Rotational Quantum Jumps", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 1636 (1970).
- Parmenter, C. S., "Resonance Fluorescence and Non-Radiative Relaxation in Polyatomic Gases", Ch. 8, p. 297 in MTP International Review of Science, Physical Chemistry Series One, Vol. 3 Spectroscopy. Ed. D. A. Ramsay, (Butterworths, London, 1972).
- Parsons, M. L., W. J. McCarthy, and J. D. Windfordner, "The Selection of Optimum Conditions for Spectrochemical Methods. III Sensitivity of Atomic Fluorescence, Absorption, and Emission Flame Spectrometry", J. Chem. Education 44, 214 (1967).
- Pate, J. B., J. P. Lodge, Jr., D. C. Sheesley, and A. F. Wartburg, "Atmospheric Chemistry of the Tropics," Symposium Proceedings on Environment in Amazonia, Pt. I, Manaus, April 1970, p. 43.
- Penndorf, R., "Tables of the Refractive Index for Standard Air and the Rayleigh Scattering Coefficient for the Spectral Region Between 0.2 and 20.0 $\mu$  and their Application to Atmospheric Optics", J. Opt. Soc. Am. 47, 176 (1957).
- Penney, C. M., L. M. Goldman, and M. Lapp, "Raman Scattering Cross Sections", <u>Nature Phys. Science</u> 235, 110 (1972).
- Phaneuf, R. A., J. Skonieczny, and L. Krause, "Formation and Decay of Excited Hg<sub>2</sub> Molecules in Hg -N<sub>2</sub> Mixtures", <u>Phys. Review</u> 8A, 2980 (1973).

Plumley, H., "Resonance Spectrum of Bromine," Phys. Review 43, 495 (1933).

- Plumley, H., "Isotope Effect and Quenching in the Fluorescence of Bromine", <u>Phys.</u> <u>Review 45</u>, 678 (1934).
- Poland, H. M., and H. P. Broida, "Fluorescence of Nitric Oxide Excited by the 2139 A Zinc Resonance Line", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>54</u>, 4515 (1971a).
- Poland, H. M., and H. P. Broida, "Fluorescence of the  $\gamma$ ,  $\in$  and  $\delta$  systems of Nitric Oxide; Polarization and Use of Calculated Intensities for Spectrometer Calibration", <u>J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 11</u>, 1863 (1971b).

, 1 , *1* 

- Polanyi, J. C., "Quenching and Vibrational-Energy Transfer of Excited Iodine Molecules", Can. J. Chem. <u>36</u>, 121 (1958).
- Porter, G., "The Absorption Spectroscopy of Substances of Short Life", <u>Discussions Fara-</u> day Soc. 9, 60 (1950).
- Pressley, R. J., Editor, "Handbook of Lasers", The Chemical Rubber Co., Cleveland, Ohio (1971).
- Preston, K. F., and R. F. Barr, "Primary Processes in the Photolysis of Nitrons Oxide", J. Chem. Phys. 54, 3347 (1971).
- Prugger, H., "Light Sources for Atomic Absorption and Atomic Fluorescence Analysis", Spectrochim. Acta 24B, 197 (1969).
- Rao, Y. V. C., V. S. Rao, and D. R. Rao, "Laser Induced Fluorescence in  $CO_2$ ,  $CO_2 + {}^{14}N_2$ ,  $CO_2 + {}^{15}N_2$ , and  $CO_2 + He$ ", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 17</u>, 531 (1972).
- Regnier, P. R., F. Moya, and J. P. E. Taran, "Gas Concentration Measurement by Coherent Raman Anti-Stokes Scattering", AIAA Paper No. 73-702, July 1973.
- Regnier, P. R., and J. P. E. Taran, "On the Possibility of Measuring Gas Concentrations by Stimulated Anti-Stokes Scattering", Appl. Phys. Letters 23, 240 (1973).
- Richardson, A. W., R. W. Redding, and J. C. D. Brand, "The 4750Å Band System of Chlorine Dioxide", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 29, 93 (1969).
- Ridley, B. A., H. I. Schiff, A. W. Shaw, L. Bates, C. Howlett, H. LeVaux, L. R. Megill, and T. E. Ashenfelter, "Measurements in Situ of Nitric Oxide in the Stratosphere between 17.4 and 22.9 km", Nature 245, 310 (1973).
- Ridley, B. A., H. I. Schiff, A. W. Shaw, L. R. Megill, L. Bates, C. Howlett, H. LeVaux, and T. E. Ashenfelter, "Measurement of Nitric Oxide in the Stratosphere between 17.4 and 22.9km", <u>Planet. Space Sci.</u> 22, 19 (1974).

- Ridley, B. A., H. I. Schiff, K. H. Welge, "Measurement of NO in the Stratosphere by NO.O<sub>3</sub> Chemiluminescence", York University, Center for Research in Experimental Space Science Report, February 1972a (COM-72-10476).
- Ridley, B. A., K. H. Welge, H. I. Schiff, L. R. Megill, and A. W. Shaw, "Instrumentation for NO Measurement in the Stratosphere", 2nd Conf. on CIAP, November 1972b, p146 PB 221166).
- Robinson, J. W., and J. D. Dake, lation Between Laser Induced Infrared Fluorescence and Laser Absorption by Pollutar Gases", Spectroscopy Letters 6, 569 (1973a).
- Robinson, J. W., and J. D. Dake, "Parameters Governing the Intensity Laser Induced Infrared Fluorescence", Spectroscopy Letters 6, 685 (1973b).
- Robinson, J. W., and J. Guagliardo, "Laser Induced Infrared Fluorescence of Ozone. Application to Remote Sensing", Spectroscopy Letters 6, 271 (1973).
- Rodman, J. P., and H. J. Smith, "Tests of Photomultipliers for Astronomical Pulse-Counting Applications", <u>Applied Optics 2</u>, 181 (1963)
- Roh, W. B., and K. N. Rao, "CO Laser Spectra", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 49, 317 (1974).
- Ronn, A. M., "Laser-Induced Infrared Fluorescence", J. Chem. Phys. 48, 511 (1968).
- Rosen, D. I., and T. A. Cool, "Vibrational Deactivation of O<sub>3</sub>(101) Molecules in Gas Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 6097 (1973).
- Rosenberg, C. W. von, Jr., and A. Lowenstein, "Vibrational Relaxation of  $CO_2(\nu_3)$  by Ozone", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 2751 (1973).
- Rosengren, L-G., E. Max, and S. T. Eng, "A Study of Laser Acoustic Air Pollution Monitors", J. Phys. E. Scient. Inst. 7, 125 (1974).
- Rosser, W. A., Jr., and E. T. Gerry, "De-excitation of Vibrationally Excited  $CO_2(\nu_3)$  by Collisions with He,  $O_2$ , and  $H_2O$ ", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>51</u>, 2286 (1969).

- Rosser, W. A., Jr., and E. T. Gerry, "De-excitation of Vibrationally Excited CO<sub>2</sub>(001) by Collisions with CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, NO, and Cl<sub>2</sub>," <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>54</u>, 4131 (1971).
- Rosser, W. A., Jr., R. D. Sharma, and E. T. Gerry, "Deactivation of Vibrationally Excited Carbon Dioxide (001) by Collisions with Carbon Monoxide", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 54, 1196 (1971).
- Rosser, W. A., Jr., A. D. Wood, and E. T. Gerry, "Deactivation of Vibrationally Excited  $CO_2$  ( $\nu_3$ ) by Collisions with Carbon Dioxide or with Nitrogen", <u>J. Chem. Phys. 50</u>, 4996 (1969).
- Ruben, D. J., S. G. Kukolich, L. A. Hackel, D. G. Youmans, and S. Ezekiel, "Laser Molecular Beam Measurement of Hyperfine Structure in the I<sub>2</sub> Spectrum", <u>Chem.</u> <u>Phys. Letters 22</u>, 326 (1973).

۰, ۱

- Rusch, D. W., "Satellite Ultraviolet Measurements of Nitric Oxide Fluorescence with a Diffusive Transport Model", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 5676 (1973).
- Sackett, P. B., A. Hordrik, and H. Schlossberg, "Measurement of the V-V Energy Transfer Rate from CO (v = 2) using Tunable Parametric Oscillator Excitation", <u>Appl.</u> <u>Phys. Letters 22</u>, 367 (1973).
- Sackett, P. B., and J. T. Yardley, "Radiative Lifetime of Nitrogen Dioxide Using a Tunable Organic Dye Laser", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters 6</u>, 323 (1970).
- Sackett, P. B., and J. T. Yardley, "Short-Lived Fluorescence from Nitrogen Dioxide", Chem. Phys. Letters 9, 612 (1971).
- Sackett, P. B., and J. T. Yardley, "Dynamics of NO<sub>2</sub> Electronic States Excited by a Tunable Dye Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>57</u>, 152 (1972).
- Sakurai, K., and H. P. Broida, "Observation and Identification of I<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence Excited by a 5682Å Krypton-Ion Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>50</u>, 557 (1969a).
- Sakurai, K., and H. P. Broida, "Spectral Study of NO<sub>2</sub> Fluorescence Excited by 11 Lines of Argon and Krypton Ion Lasers", J. Chem. Phys. 50, 2404 (1969b).

- Sakurai, K., and H. P. Broida, "Iodine Fluorescence Excited by the He-Ne 6328 Å Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys. 53</u>, 1615 (1970).
- Sakurai, K., and G. Capelle, "Lifetime Measurements of NO<sub>2</sub> by Dye Laser Excitation", J. Chem. Phys. 53, 3764 (1970).
- Sakurai, K., G. Capelle, and H. P. Broida, "Measurements of Lifetimes and Quenching Cross-sections of the  $B^{3}\Pi_{+}$  State of Iodine using a Tunable Dye Laser", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys. 54</u>, 1220 (1971a).
- Sakurai, K., J. Clark, and H. P. Broida, "Laser Induced Fluorescence of ClO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J</u>. <u>Chem. Phys. 54</u>, 1217 (1971c).
- Sakurai, K., S. E. Johnson, and H. P. Broida, "Laser-Induced Fluorescence of BaO", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 1625 (1970).
- Sakurai, K., K. Uehara, M. Takami, and K. Shimoda, "Stark Effect of Vibration-Rotation Lines of Formaldehyde Observed by a 3.5µm Laser", J. Phys. Soc. Japan 23, 103 (1967).
- Schadee, A., "The Relation between the Electronic Oscillator Strength and the Wavelength for Diatomic Molecules", J. Quant. Spectros. Radiat. Transfer 7, 169 (1967).
- Schiff, H. I., "Measurements of NO, NO<sub>2</sub>, and HNO<sub>3</sub> in the Stratosphere", <u>Can. J. Chem.</u> <u>52</u>, 1536 (1974).
- Schiffner, G., "Calculation of Accurate CO<sub>2</sub> Laser Transition Frequencies and their Standard Deviations", <u>Opto-electronics</u> 4, 215 (1972).
- Schlossberg, H. R., and P. L. Kelley, "Using Tunable Lasers", Physics Today 25 (7), 36 (1972).

- Schultz, A., H. W. Cruse, and R. N. Zare, "Laser-Induced Fluorescence: A Method to Measure the Internal State Distribution of Reaction Products", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 1354 (1972).
- Schutz, K., C. Junge, R. Beck, and B. Albrecht, "Studies of Atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O", <u>J</u>. <u>Geophys. Res.</u> <u>75</u>, 2230 (1970).
- Schwartz, S. E., and H. S. Johnston, "Kinetics of Nitrogen Dioxide Fluorescence", J. Chem. Phys. <u>51</u>, 1286 (1969).
- Seiler, W., and P. Warneck, "Decrease of the Carbon Monoxide Mixing Ratio at the Tropopause", J. Geophys. Res. 77, 3204 (1972).
- Shaw, J. H., "Nitric Oxide Fundamental", J. Chem. Phys. 24, 399 (1956).
- Shelton, R. D., A. H. Nielsen, and W. H. Fletcher, "The Infrared Spectrum and Molecular Constants of Sulfur Dioxide," J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2178 (1953).
- Shimanouchi, T., "Tables of Molecular Vibrational Frequencies. Consolidated Volume 1", Nat. Stand. Ref. Data Ser., Nat. Bur. Stand. (US) 39 (1972).
- Shimizu, F., "Stark Spectroscopy of  $NH_{3}\nu_{2}$  Band by  $10\mu CO_{2}$  and  $N_{2}O$  Lasers", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys. 52</u>, 3572 (1970a).
- Shimizu, F., "Q Switching of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> Lasers by Stark Effect of Ammonia", <u>Appl.</u> <u>Phys. Letters 16</u>, 368 (1970b).
- Shimizu, T. and T. Oka, "Infrared-Microwave Double Resonance of NH<sub>3</sub> using an N<sub>2</sub>O Laser", J. Chem. Phys. 53, 2536 (1970a).
- Shimizu, T., and T. Oka, "Infrared-Microwave Double Resonance of NH<sub>3</sub> using an N<sub>2</sub>O Laser", <u>Phys.Review A2</u>, 1177 (1970b).
- Sidebottom, H. W., C. C. Badcock, J. G. Calvert, G. W. Reinhardt, B. R. Rabe, and
  E. K. Damon, "A Study of the Decay Processes in the Triplet Sulfur Dioxide Molecule
  Excited at 3828.8 Å", J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 2587 (1971).

- Sidebottom, H. W., K. Otsuka, A. Horowitz, J. G. Calvert, B. R. Rabe, and E. K. Damon, "Vibronic Effects in the Decay of the Fluorescence Excited in SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub>", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 13, 337 (1972).
- Sidman, J. W., "Spin-Orbit Coupling in the  ${}^{3}A_{2}-{}^{1}A_{1}$  Transition of Formaldehyde", <u>J</u>. <u>Chem. Phys. 29</u>, 644 (1958).
- Silvers, S. J., T. H. Bergeman, and W. Klemperer, "Level Crossing and Double Resonance on the A<sup>1</sup>I State of CS", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 4385 (1970).
- Silvers, S. J., and C-L. Chiu, "Hanle Effect Measurement of the Lifetime of the  $A^{1}\Pi$ State of CS", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>56</u>, 5663 (1972).
- Silvers, S. J., and C-L. Chiu, "Fluorescence and Zero-Field Level Crossing Spectroscopy of the  $C^2\Sigma^+$  State of NS", <u>28th Symp. on Molecular Structure and Spectroscopy</u>, Columbus, Ohio, June 1973, p. 91.
- Sinha, M. P., A. Schultz, and R. N. Zare, "Internal State Equilibrium of Alkali Dimers in Supersonic Nozzle Beams", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 549 (1973).
- Sissenwine, N., A. J. Kantor, and D. D. Grantham, "How Dry is the Sky? A Decade Later and the SST", Air Force Cambridge Research Laboratories AFCRL-72-0294, Air Force Surveys in Geophysics, No. 240, April 1972.
- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "Resonance Fluorescence and Xenon Sensitization of the CO  $(A'\Pi X'\Sigma^{+})$  System", J. Chem. Phys. <u>51</u>, 4534 (1969).
- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "The Perturbation Spectrum of CO", <u>Chem. Phys. Letters</u> 4, 558 (1970).
- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "CO(a<sup>3</sup>II) its Production, Detection, Deactivation and Radiative Lifetime", J. Chem. Phys. 55, 2164 (1971).
- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "Relaxation Processes in Excited CO States. I Spin Multiplet Relaxation and Radiative Lifetimes of  $CO(d^3 \Delta_{U=5})$ ", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 58, 194 (1973a).

- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "Relaxation Processes in Excited CO States. II Elastic Cross-Relaxation", J. Chem. Phys. <u>58</u>, 3121 (1973b).
- Slanger, T. G., and G. Black, "Relaxation Processes in Excited CO States. III Inelastic Cross-Relaxation and Radiative Transitions caused by Weak Perturbations", J. Chem. Phys. <u>59</u>, 4367 (1973c).
- Smith, R., "Flame Fluorescence Spectrometry", Chapter IV in Spectrochemical Methods of Analysis, Ed., J. D. Winefordner (Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1971a) p. 235.
- Smith, W. H., "Radiative Lifetimes and Total Transition Probabilities of some Polyatomic Species", J. Chem. Phys. <u>51</u>, 3410 (1969).
- Smith, W. H., "Internal Conversion in Benzene, Benzene -d<sub>6</sub>, and Sulfur Dioxide", <u>J.</u> <u>Chem. Phys. 54</u>, 4169 (1971b).
- Sokoloff, D. R., and A. Javan, "Precision Spectroscopy of the N<sub>2</sub>O, 00°1 10°0 Laser Band by Frequency Mixing in an Infrared, Metal-Metal Oxide-Metal Point Contact Diode", J. Chem. Phys. <u>56</u>, 4028 (1972).
- Solarz, R., and D. H. Levy, "Lifetime of Electronically Excited NO<sub>2</sub>. Evidence for a Short-lived State", J. Chem. Phys. <u>60</u>, 842 (1974).
- Spindler, R. J., Jr., L. Isaacson, and T. Wentink, Jr., "Franck-Condon Factors and r-Centroids for the Gamma System of NO", <u>J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 10</u>, 621 (1970).
- Steinfeld, J. I., and W. Klemperer, "Energy-Transfer Processes in Monochromatically Excited Iodine Molecules. I Experimental Results", J. Chem. Phys. <u>42</u>, 3475 (1965).
- Steinfeld, J. I., and A. N. Schweid, "Energy Transfer Processes in Monochromatically Excited Iodine Molecules. IV Collisional Release in v' ~ 50", J. Chem. Phys. 53, 3304 (1970).
- Steinfeld, J. I., R. N. Zare, L. Jones, M. Lesk, and W. Klemperer, "Spectroscopic Constants and Vibrational Assignments for the B<sup>3</sup>II<sub>0</sub>+ State of Iodine", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys.</u> <u>42</u>, 25 (1965).

- Stevens, C. G., M. W. Swagel, R. Wallace, and R. N. Zare, "Analysis of Polyatomic Spectra using Tunable Laser-Induced Fluorescence: Applications to the NO<sub>2</sub> Visible Band System", Chem. Phys. Letters 18, 465 (1973).
- Stephens, R. R., and T. A. Cool, "Continuous Wave Chemical Laser for Laser-Induced Fluorescence Studies", <u>Rev. Sci. Instruments</u> 42, 1489 (1971).
- Stephens, R. R., and T. A. Cool, "Vibrational Energy Transfer and De-excitation in the HF, DF, HF-CO<sub>2</sub>, and DF-CO<sub>2</sub> Systems," <u>J. Chem. Phys. 56</u>, 5863 (1972)
- Stephenson, J.C., "Vibrational Energy Transfer in NO", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 1523 (1973a).
- Stephenson, J. C., "Vibrational Excitation and Relaxation of the  $CO(\upsilon = 1)$  and  $CO(\upsilon = 2)$ States", Appl. Phys. Letters 22, 576 (1973b).
- Stephenson, J. C., and C. Bradley Moore, "Near-Resonant Vibration-Vibration Energy Transfer:  $CO_2$  ( $\nu_3 = 1$ ) + M  $\rightarrow$   $CO_2$  ( $\nu_1 = 1$ ) + M<sup>\*</sup> +  $\Delta E$ ", J. Chem. Phys. <u>52</u>, 2333 (1970).
- Stephenson, J. C., and C. Bradley Moore, "Temperature Dependence of Nearly Resonant Vibration - Vibration Energy Transfer in CO<sub>2</sub> Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> 56, 1295 (1972).
- Stephenson, J. C., J. Finzi, and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibration-Vibration Energy Transfer in CO<sub>2</sub>-Hydrogen Halide Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>56</u>, 5214 (1972b).
- Stephenson, J. C., R. E. Wood, and C. Bradley Moore, "Near-Resonant Energy Transfer between Infrared-Active Vibrations", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>48</u>, 4790 (1968).
- Stephenson, J. C., R. E. Wood, and C. Bradley Moore, "Temperature Dependence of Intramolecular Vibration - Vibration Energy Transfer in CO<sub>2</sub>", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>54</u>, 3097 (1971).
- Stephenson, J. C., R. E. Wood, and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibrational Relaxation of Laser-Excited CO<sub>2</sub>- Polyatomic Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>56</u>, 4813 (1972a).
- Strickler, S. J., and D. B. Howell, "Luminescence and Radiations Transitions in Sulfur Dioxide Gas", J. Chem. Phys. 49, 1947 (1968).

- Strickler, S. J., J. P. Vikesland, and H. D. Bier,  ${}^{"3}B_1 {}^1A_1$  Transition of SO<sub>2</sub> Gas. II Radiative Lifetime and Radiationless Processes", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>60</u>, 664 (1974).
- Sulzmann, K. G. P., J. E. L. Lowder, and S. S. Penner, "Estimates of Possible Detection Limits for Combustion Intermediates and Products with Line Center Absorption and Derivative Spectroscopy using Tunable Lasers", Combustion and Flame 20, 177 (1973).
- Sutherland, R. A., and R. A. Anderson, "Radiative and Predissociative Lifetimes of the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  State of OH", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 1226 (1973).
- Svobada, V., R. F. Browner, and J. D. Winefordner, "Analytical Curves in Atomic Fluorescence Spectrometry", <u>Appl. Spectroscopy</u> 26, 505 (1972); 27, 252 (1973).
- Tanaka, T., A. D. English, R. W. Field, D. A. Jennings, and D. O. Harris, "Microwave Optical Double Resonance of NO<sub>2</sub> with a Tunable CW Dye Laser", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>59</u>, 5217 (1973).
- Tango, W. J., J. K. Link, and R. N. Zare, "Spectroscopy of K<sub>2</sub> Using Laser-Induced Fluorescence", J. Chem. Phys. 49, 4264 (1968).
- Tatum, J. B., "The Interpretation of Intensities in Diatomic Molecular Spectra", Astrophys. J. Supplement 14 (124), 21 (1967).
- Taylor, F. W., "Spectral Data for the  $\nu_2$  Band of Ammonia with Applications to Radiative Transfer in the Atmosphere of Jupiter", J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 13, 1181 (1973).
- Tilford, S. G., R. A. Howard, and M. L. Ginter, "Fluorescence of Carbon Monoxide Excited by the 1306 Å Oxygen Resonance Line", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 1413 (1972).
- Tilford, S. G., and J. D. Simmons, "Atlas of the Observed Absorption Spectrum of Carbon Monoxide between 1060 and 1900 Å", <u>J. Phys. and Chem. Ref. Data</u> 1, 147 (1972).
- Toon, O. B., and J. B. Pollack, "Physical Properties of the Stratospheric Aerosols", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 7051 (1973).
- Toth, R. A., C. B. Farmer, R. A. Schindler, O. F. Raper, and P. W. Schaper, "Detection of Nitric Oxide in the Lower Atmosphere", Nature Phys.Science 244, 7 (1973).

- Toth, R. A., R. H. Hunt, and E. K. Plyler, "Line Strengths, Line Widths, and Dipole Moment Function for HCl", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 35, 110 (1970).
- Tucker, A. W., A. B. Petersen, and M. Birnbaum, "Fluorescence Determination of Atmospheric NO and NO2", Applied Optics 12, 2036 (1973).
- Turner, W. H., "Photoluminescence of Color Filter Glasses", Applied Optics 12, 480 (1973).  $^{\circ}$

٠.

- Urani, J. R., R. K. Phillips, and M. R. Querry, "Emission Spectra of RF-Excited NO from 200 to 600 nm", J. Opt. Soc. Am. 63, 1298 (1973); Bull. Amer. Phys. Soc. Series II 19, 424 (1974).
- Valley, S. L., Editor, "Handbook of Geophysics and Space Environments", Air Force Cambridge Research Laboratories, United States Air Force, 1965.
- Vear, C. J., P. J. Hendra, and J. J. MacFarlane, "Laser Raman and Resonance Fluorescence Spectra of Flames", J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 381 (1972).
- Velasco, R., Ch. Ottinger, and R. N. Zare, "Dissociation Energy of Li, from Laser-Excited Fluorescence", J. Chem. Phys. 51, 5522 (1969).
- Vidal, C. R., and M. M. Hessel, "Heat-Pipe Oven for Homogeneous Mixtures of Saturated and Unsaturated Vapors: Application to NaLi", J. Appl. Phys. 43, 2776 (1972).
- Vigue, J., and J-C. Lehmann, "Assignment of the Transitions Induced in Molecular Iodine Vapor by a Krypton Ion Laser", Chem. Phys. Letters 16, 385 (1972).
- Wagenaar, H. C., and L. DeGalan, "Interferometric Measurements of Atomic Line Profiles Emitted by Hollow Cathode Lamps and by an Acetylene-Nitrous Oxide Flame", Spectrochim. Acta 28B, 157 (1973).
- Wampler, F. B., K. Otsuka, J. G. Calvert, and E. K. Damon, "The Temperature Dependence and the Mechanism of the  $SO_2$  ( ${}^{3}B_1$ ) Quenching", Int. J. Chem. Kinetics 5, 669 (1973).

- Wang, C. C., "Measurement of Hydroxyl Concentrations in Air using a Tunable uv Laser Beam", <u>Bull. Amer. Phys. Soc. Series II</u> 19, 24 (1974).
- Wang, C. C., and L. I. Davis, Jr., "Measurement of Hydroxyl Concentrations in Air using a Tunable uv Laser Beam", Phys. Rev. Letters 32, 349 (1974).
- Warneck, P., F. F. Marmo, and J. O. Sullivan, "Ultraviolet Absorption of SO<sub>2</sub>: Dissociation Energies of SO<sub>2</sub> and SO", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>40</u>, 1132 (1964).
- Watanabe, K., "Photoionization and Total Absorption Cross-sections of Gases. I Ionization Potentials of Several Molecules. Cross-Sections of NH<sub>3</sub> and NO", <u>J. Chem.</u> <u>Phys.</u> <u>22</u>, 1564 (1954).
- Watanabe, K., and A. S. Jursa, "Absorption and Photoionization Cross-Sections of H<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>S", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>41</u>, 1650 (1964).
- Wauchop, T. S., and H. P. Broida, "Cross-sections for the Production of Fluorescence of CO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> in the Photoionization of CO<sub>2</sub> by 58.4 nm Radiation", <u>J. Geophys. Res.</u> 76, 21 (1971).
- Weide, J. O., and M. L. Parsons, "The Use of Pulsed Hollow Cathode Lamps in Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", Analytical Letters 5, 363 (1972).
- Weinstock, E. M., and R. N. Zare, "High-field Level-crossing and Stark Studies of the  $A^2 \Sigma^+$  State of OD", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 4319 (1973).
- Weinstock, E. M., R. N. Zare, and L. A. Melton, "Lifetime Determination of the NO  $A^2\Sigma^+$  State", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 3456 (1972).
- Weitz, E., and G. W. Flynn, "Deactivation of Laser Excited CH<sub>3</sub>F in CH<sub>3</sub>F-X Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 2679 (1973a).
- Weitz, E., and G. W. Flynn, "Partial Vibration Energy Transfer Map for Methyl Fluoride: A Laser Fluorescence Study", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 2781 (1973b).
- Weitz, E., G. Flynn, and A. M. Ronn, "Laser Excitation and Equilibration of Excited Vibrational States in CH<sub>9</sub>F", J. Chem. Phys. 56, 6060 (1972).

- Wells, W. C., and R. C. Isler, "Measurement of the Lifetime of the A<sup>1</sup> Π State of CO by Level-Crossing Spectroscopy", Phys. Rev. Letters 24, 705 (1970).
- West, T. S., and M. S. Cresser, "Atomic Fluorescence Spectrometry", <u>Appl. Spect.</u> <u>Reviews 7</u>, 79 (1973).
- White, K. O., and S. A. Schleusener, "Coincidence of Er: YAG Laser Emission with Methane Absorption at 1645.1 nm", Appl. Phys. Letters 21, 419 (1972).
- Whiting, E. E., "An Empirical Approximation to the Voigt Profile", <u>J. Quant. Spectrosc.</u> <u>Radiat. Transfer 8, 1379 (1968).</u>
- Whitten, R. C., J. S. Sims, R. P. Turco, "A Model of Carbon Compounds in the Stratosphere and Mesosphere", J. Geophys. Res. 78, 5362 (1973).
- Willett, C. S., "Laser Lines In Atomic Species", <u>Progress In Quantum Electronics 1</u>, 273 (1971).
- Williams, P. F., D. L. Rousseau, and S. H. Dworetsky, "Resonance Fluorescence and Resonance Raman Scattering: Lifetimes in Molecular Iodine", <u>Phys. Rev. Letters</u> <u>32</u>, 196 (1974).
- Williams, W. J., J. N. Brooks, D. G. Murcray, F. H. Murcray, P. M. Fried, and J. A. Weinman, "Distribution of Nitric Acid Vapor in the Stratosphere as Determined from Infrared Atmospheric Emission Data", J. Atm. Sci. 29, 1375 (1972).
- Winefordner, J. D., and J. M. Mansfield, Jr., "Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", <u>Appl. Spectroscopy Reviews</u> 1, 1 (1967).
- Winefordner, J. D., M. L. Parsons, J. M. Mansfield, and W. J. McCarthy, "Intensity of Atomic Fluorescence as a Function of Atomic Concentration in Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", Spectrochim. Acta 23B, 37 (1967a).
- Winefordner, J. D., M. L. Parsons, J. M. Mansfield, and W. J. McCarthy, "Derivation of Expressions for Calculation of Limiting Detectable Atomic Concentration in Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", Anal. Chem. 39, 436 (1967b).

- Wofsy, S. C., J. C. McConnell, and M. B. McElroy, "Atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub>, CO, and CO<sub>5</sub>", <u>J. Geophys. Res</u>. <u>77</u>, 4477 (1972).
- Wood, O. R., and S. E. Schwarz, "Study of Fluorescent Lifetime of the  $v_3$  Vibrational Mode in SF<sub>6</sub>", <u>Appl. Phys. Letters 16</u>, 518 (1970).
- Yardley, J. T., "Vibration to Vibration Energy Transfer in Gas Mixtures Containing Nitrous Oxide", J. Chem. Phys. 49, 2816 (1968).
- Yardley, J. T., "Vibrational Energy Transfer in CO-He Lasers", J. Chem. Phys. <u>52</u>, 3983 (1970a).
- Yardley, J. T., "Laser Action in Highly-Excited Vibrational Levels of CO", <u>J. Mol.</u> Spectroscopy 35, 314 (1970b).
- Yardley, J. T., and C. Bradley Moore, "Laser Excited Vibrational Fluorescence and Energy Transfer in Methane", J. Chem. Phys. 45, 1066 (1966).
- Yardley, J. T., and C. Bradley Moore, "Intramolecular Vibration-to-Vibration Energy Transfer in Carbon Dioxide", J. Chem. Phys. 46, 4491 (1967).
- Yardley, J. T., and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibration Vibration and Vibration Translation Energy Transfer in Methane Oxygen Mixtures", <u>J. Chem. Phys.</u> <u>48</u>, 14 (1968); <u>49</u>, 3328 (1968a).
- Yardley, J. T., and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibrational Energy Transfer in Methane", J. Chem. Phys. <u>49</u>, 1111 (1968b).
- Yardley, J. T., M. N. Fertig, and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibrational Deactivation in Methane Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 52, 1450 (1970).
- Yee, K. K., and R. F. Barrow, "Absorption and Fluorescence Spectra of Gaseous Se.", J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. II 68, 1181 (1972a).
- Yee, K. K., and R. F. Barrow, "Observations on the Absorption and Fluorescence Spectra of Gaseous Te<sub>2</sub>", J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. II <u>68</u>, 1397 (1972b).

- Yee, K. K., R. F. Barrow, and A. Rogstad, "Resonance Fluorescence and Raman Spectra of Gaseous Sulfur", J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. II 68, 1808 (1972).
- Yee, K. K., and G. J. Miller, "Resonance Fluorescence and Absorption Spectra of Molecular Iodine: Identification and Molecular Assignment", <u>J. Chem. Soc. Chem.</u> Comm. 1054 (1972).

Yeung, E. S. "Radiative Pathways in Formaldehyde", J. Mol. Spectroscopy 45, 142 (1973).

- Yeung, E. S., and C. Bradley Moore, "Tunable Ultraviolet Laser Excitation of Formaldehyde. An Application of Nonlinear Optics in Chemistry", J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>93</u>, 2059 (1971).
- Yeung, E. S., and C. Bradley Moore, "Isotopic Separation by Photopredissociation", Appl. Phys. Letters 21, 109 (1972).
- Yeung, E. S., and C. Bradley Moore, "Photochemistry of Single Vibronic Levels of Formaldehyde", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 3988 (1973).
- Yeung, E. S., and C. Bradley Moore, "Predissociation Model for Formaldehyde", J. Chem. Phys. 60, 2139 (1974).
- Youmans, D. G., L. A. Hackel, and S. Ezekiel, "High Resolution Spectroscopy of I<sub>2</sub> using Laser Molecular Beam Techniques", J. Appl. Phys. <u>44</u>, 2319 (1973).
- Young, C., "Tables for Calculating the Voigt Profile", University of Michigan Report, Ann Arbor (1965).
- Young, C., and R. H. L. Bunner, "Absorption of Carbon Dioxide 9.4µm Laser Radiation by Ozone", <u>Applied Optics</u> 13, 1438 (1974).
- Young, R. A., private communication.
- Yuan, R. C. L., and G. W. Flynn, "Laser Induced Combination Band Fluorescence in Ethylene Gas", J. Chem. Phys. 57, 1316 (1972).

- Yuan, R. C. L., and G. W. Flynn, "Laser Induced Combination Band Fluorescence Study of Vibrational Deactivation of Ethylene in C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub> X Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. <u>58</u>, 649 (1973).
- Zacha, K. E., M. P. Bratzel, Jr., J. D. Winefordner, and J. M. Mansfield, Jr., "Improvements in Preparation and Operation of Electrodeless Discharge Lamps as High Intensity Sources in Atomic Fluorescence Flame Spectrometry", <u>Anal. Chem.</u> 40, 1733 (1968).
- Zittel, P. F., and C. Bradley Moore, "Models for V-T, R Relaxation: CH<sub>4</sub> and CD<sub>4</sub> Mixtures", J. Chem. Phys. 58, 2004 (1973a).
- Zittel, P. F., and C. Bradley Moore, "V-T, R and V-V Relaxation in DCl Systems", J. Chem. Phys. <u>58</u>, 2922 (1973b).
- Zittel, P. F., and C. Bradley Moore, "Vibrational Relaxation in HBr and HCl from 144 K to 584 K", J. Chem. Phys. 59, 6636 (1973c).
- Zwick, H., V. Ward, and L. Beaudette, "Feasibility Study of the Application of Existing Techniques to Remotely Monitor Hydrochloric Acid in the Atmosphere", NASA CR-112274, April 1973 (N73-24431).

\* U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 1975---635-048 / 65

......

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20546

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

PENALTY FOR PRIVATE USE \$300

## SPECIAL FOURTH-CLASS RATE BOOK

POSTAGE AND FEES PAID NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION 451



POSTMASTER :

If Undeliverable (Section 158 Postal Manual) Do Not Return

"The aeronautical and space activities of the United States shall be conducted so as to contribute . . . to the expansion of human knowledge of phenomena in the atmosphere and space. The Administration shall provide for the widest practicable and appropriate dissemination of information concerning its activities and the results thereof." —NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ACT OF 1958

NASA SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS

TECHNICAL REPORTS: Scientific and technical information considered important, complete, and a lasting contribution to existing knowledge.

TECHNICAL NOTES: Information less broad in scope but nevertheless of importance as a contribution to existing knowledge.

## **TECHNICAL MEMORANDUMS:**

Information receiving limited distribution because of preliminary data, security classification, or other reasons. Also includes conference proceedings with either limited or unlimited distribution.

CONTRACTOR REPORTS: Scientific and technical information generated under a NASA contract or grant and considered an important contribution to existing knowledge. TECHNICAL TRANSLATIONS: Information published in a foreign language considered to merit NASA distribution in English.

SPECIAL PUBLICATIONS: Information derived from or of value to NASA activities. Publications include final reports of major projects, monographs, data compilations, handbooks, sourcebooks, and special bibliographies.

TECHNOLOGY UTILIZATION PUBLICATIONS: Information on technology used by NASA that may be of particular interest in commercial and other non-aerospace applications. Publications include Tech Briefs, Technology Utilization Reports and Technology Surveys.

Details on the availability of these publications may be obtained from:

SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL INFORMATION OFFICE

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

-Washington<del>, D.C. 20546</del>